Volume 30, Number 1

International UFO Reporter

TE YT

o THE _/‘)l
cH. FA.

f\!"l-/ RESt‘{VtS ARﬂontw
oN PENWN  AVE. TFAST, LIBER

o' 1 AtRERY PMueH r’\q,,r',u o1 THE

—_riv U

(foMs. AMD o e L ¥

My

wWHO MADE

AME LEAVE, BUT

r WwAS BtER. 1 SAW

THE ARMy FLA

=y TAVCK., THAT HAD THE OBTFCT
M L A AT

LEY DROVE 1T, I e
b 1VE SEEN  MANY ARAY TT
yjc  one HAD A wHiTE SHAC o¥ TF
N T S S o .
Iﬁ'
{ - T W
{ ) ~,
. 4 DETE N S
L : Artist’s conception (above) by Charles Hanna of the object that crashed
By el /9/ . ,!'{‘, A near Kecksburg, Pennsylvania. December 9, 1963, Statement of jazz
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area after he and his friends saw a large acorn-shaped object on the back
of an drmy flathed truck the night of the alleged UFO crash.

Nearby resident Bill Bulebush saw the object
descend and located it hefore the military arrived.

John Podesta, White House chief of siaff under
President Clinton, backs the Kecksburg initiative.
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FORTY YEARS OF SECRECY:
NASA, THE MILITARY, AND
THE 1965 KECKSBURG CRASH

BY LESLIE KEAN

his December marks the 40th anniversary of one
ol the most thoroughly rescarched and intrigu-
ing crash/retrieval cases in America. Despite a
top-notch investigation spanning more than
threedecades and world-wide attention inrecent years from
anew campaign probing the case, the Kecksburg, Pennsyl-
vania, UFO crash of 1965 remains unsolved, due mainly to
the stubborn silence ol American governmentagencies.
Unlike the Roswell crash. this case has been relatively
uncontaminated by commercialism and the popular media.
It does not feature bodies found at the scene: it involves an
atypical object. suggesting a range of explanations: and it
includes many living witnesses. The central witnesses re-
main unknown to most people interested in UFOs, and none
of them have benelited from coming forward. Also in
contrasttothe Roswell case. the dramatic military response
to the crash was reported by television. radio, and newspa-

pers as it developed. and was witnessed by hundreds of

people who descended on the tiny town from miles around.
Unfortunately. no high-level Army, Air Force. or intelli-
gence personnel involved withthe Kecksburg retrieval have
come forward in any way that can be ol use to the case. as
they did tor the Roswell case many years after it occurred.

The sheer volume of witness and local news reports
show that on December 9. 1965, an object landed near the
village of Kecksburg, Pennsylvania, about 40 miles south-
east of Pittsburgh, after being observed as a lireball in the
skyacrossseveral U.S. statesand Canada. Some Pennsylva-
nia residents saw the ob ject moving slowly in the sky: others
saw smoke and brilliant bluish-white lights like an electric
arc whenitfirsterashed. Five witnesses eventually provided
independent. corroborated descriptions of the objectand its
exact location in the woods. Dozens of others—including

Leslie Kean is an investigative jour-
nalist who has published pieces
related to the UFQ subject for the
Boston Globe and the Providence Jour -
nal, and through wide distribution by
the Newe York Times and Knight Ridder-
Tribune wire services.
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firefighters. newspaper reporters, and a radio news director
at radio station WHJIB (who was on the scene taping inter-
views)—describe the large military and police presence at
the impact site and the cordoning ol of the arca. Observers
provided detailed descriptions of an object being trans-
ported out on a flatbed truck. Many witnesses have signed
statements for imvestigator Stan Gordon of Greensburg,
Pennsylvania. who has been working on the case for over
three decades. (Sce his website at www.stangordon.com.)

Tothisday.nooneknowswhat triggered the interestof
the U.S. military, or why the Army wasso intenton hiding
the object that it threatened civilians with weapons. The
subsequent AirForce denial that anything atall came down
is even more perplexing, and has led to heated speculation.
[n the ensuing 40 years. members of the once tightly knit
community inrural Pennsylvaniahave beentornapartby the
continuing unanswered questions about what happened. As
American citizens,they have not been granted the informa-
tion due them by law under the Freedom of Information Act.
This case addresses issues that go beyond the question of
determining the origin of the strange object that—as indi-
cated by so many accounts—was recovered by our govern-
ment that night.

However twoexciting breakthroughs occurred in 2003
that have moved the investigation lorward many steps: a
scientist’s discovery ol physical cvidence showing that
something crashed through the trees in 1965 at the location
designatedby witnesses: and the elimination of the possibil-
ity that the ob ject was a Russian satellite or any man-made
object at all. according to the world’s leading authority on
space systems. These two developments demolish the two
preferred explanations used by the skeptics—that the object
was eitherameteor(the Air Force explanation) ora Russian
satellite—and heighten the mystery by further reducing
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Sci Fi Channel

P

The full CFiteam, including Larry Landsman (fer left). Lee
tsecond from left), and Stan Gordon (fur vight), at a Washington. D C .

press confercence in Octoher 20003.

possible conventional explanations.

These breakthroughs occurred after the Sci Fi Channe!
launched its historic “UFO Advocacy Initiative™ in which,
forafew years, unprecedented resources were appliedtothe
investigation of'a UFO case. As an independent journalist.
I wasasked by Larrry Landsman, Sci Fi“sdirector ofspecial
projects, to spearhead an effort seeking new government
records on a well-documented American UFO case that
includedtheretrieval of physical evidence. The Kecksburg
incident satisfied these and other criteria used to select a
case,and the Washington law firm Lobel.Novins & Lamont

came on board to assist with FOIA appeals and lawsuits. it

they should become necessary. “This was, and still is. a
freedom of information story,” says Landsman. “Many
witnesses say something occurred that night. and so we
provided our support to those investigating.™

Inaddition,aprivateinvestigator who formerly worked
for the congressional General Accounting Oftice and an
independentarchival research firmjoinedthe team. expand-
ing the scope of the investigation beyond FOIA. Working
with the Washington public relations tirmPodestaMattoon,
the core group undertaking this project called itself the
Coalitionfor Freedom of Information (CF1), for which I was
appointed director of investigations. See our website at
www. freedomotinfo.org.

The CFi Kecksburg initiative won the support of

Washington insider John Podesta. President Clinton’s
former chief of’ staf fand member of the 1997 Moynihan
Commission on Protecting and Reducing Government
Secrecy, who at the time was a law professor at
Georgetown University and now heads the Center for
American Progress. Podesta was instrumental in the de-
classitication of 800 million pages of documents during

the Clinton administration and is an outspoken critic of

unnecessary government secrecy. “This initiative will
help keep the pressure on.™ he explained.

“I think it’s time to open the books on questions that
have remained in the dark, on the question of government
investigations of UFOs,” Podesta told the media at CFi's
tirst press conference launching the Kecksburg initiative in
October 2002, *1t's time to find out what the truth really is
that's out there. We ought to do it because it's right; we

ought to do it because the American people
quite frankly can handle the truth: and we ought
to do it because it’s the law.”

“Clinton Aide Slams Pentagon’s UFO Se-
crecy” was the headline on the CNN story that
day.“Thenew initiative isnot setting out to prove
the existenceofaliens. Rather the group wants to
legitimize the scientific investigation of unex-
plained aerial phenomena,” CNN reported.
“Podesta was one of numerous political and
media heavyweights on hand in Washington,
D.C., to announce a new group 1o gain access 10
secret government records about UFOs.”

Helfrich

“UFO rALLS NEAR KECKSBURG”

The CFi campaign could not have proceeded without the
solid base of meticulous work on the Kecksburg case
performed by researcher Stan Gordon for close to 40 years.

Gordon’s curiosity was piqued when, as a teenager in
nearby Greensburg, he spent the evening of Becember 9,
1965, glued to the radio and television as events untolded.
He heard reports that something crashed in the woods near
the tiny village of Kecksburg at approximately 4:45 p.m.
that evening. after being seen over a number of other states
and Canada. “Many persons in the Greensburg area saw the
phenomena. State police say there is a tire in the Kecksburg
area. They are investigating.” said the 9 o’clock news on
KBKA radio in Pittsburgh.

On his black-and-white TV, Gordon watched the local
news and occasional special bulletins that broke into regular
programming to state that the military had arrived on the
scene and that the area was cordoned oft. A search was
underway to locate the object.

“Unidentitied Flying Object Falls near Kecksburg.
Army Ropes oftf Area”exclaimedthe front-page headline on
the Greenshurg Tribune-Review the next morning. The
article said that “the area where the object landed was
immediately sealed offon the order of U.S. Army and State
Police otticials. reportedly in anticipation of a close inspec-
tionof'whatever may have fallen.”” U.S. Army engineers and
scientists were brought in. ;
“Excitement caused by
the apparent landing pro-
duced a massive trattic
jam,” as hundreds drove
tothe site fromsurround-

Ing areas.
Tribune-Review re-
porter Robert Gatty in-
terviewed an eight-year-
old boy who saw the
objecttallintothewoods,
and his mother, Mrs.
Arnold Kalp. who saw
blue smoke rising and

Tribune-Review reporter
Robert Garty (left) with news
anchor Bryvant Gumbel,
host of the Sci Fi Channel
documentary on Keckshurg.
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alerted the authorities. Gatty's December 10 story, head-
lined “Unidentitied Flying Object Report Touches oft Probe
near Kecksburg.” recounts that he was denicd access to the
site, by order of the Army.

Gatty’s stories were quickly superseded by reports in
numerous late-edition papers withthe headlines “Searchers
Fail to Find Object™ and “Fireball a Meteor, Astronomer
Explains.” Reports said that 25 state policemen and mem-
bers of Army and Air Force searched a 75-acre area until 2
a.m. and found nothing. The Air Force explained the inci-
dent as “a meteor or meteors.” adding that “there has been
no evidence of space dcbris . . . and all aircraft and missiles
have been accounted for.”

[n a recent interview, Gatty said that his editor sent
him out that night to cover “thestory of the century,” and
thathe is convinced something did indeed come down in
the Kecksburg woods. "The Army appeared to be pro-

S

tecting something,”™ he wrote in a 2003 statement for a
CFi press conference. “At this point in time, nearly 40
years later, what possibly could be the reason for continu-
ing this cover-up?”

Reporter John Murphy,
newsdirectorforlocalradio sta-
tion WHLIB. made itdown to the
site before the authorities ar-

calls from alarmed citizens to
the station. His former wife
Bonnie Milslagle (Murphy died
in 1969)and WHIB office man-
ager Mabel Mazza both later
reported that Murphy had pho-
tographed the object.

“He gotdown there before the police, betore any of the
armed forces were there, "said Milslagle. “He called me and
told me he’d gotten pictures of it. but some of the {ilm had
been confiscated. But he’d gotten one roll through.™

Mazza says she saw one picture. “It was very dark and
itwas with a lot of trees around and everything. And | don’t
know how far away from the site he was. But | did see a
picture of asort of a cone-like thing. It’s the only time I ever
saw it,”" she said.

[n the weeks thatfollowed, Murphy became obsessed
with the case and developed a radio documentary called
“Objectinthe Woods thatincluded interviews conducted
that night. One day, he received an unexpected visit from
authoritiesin plain clothes. WHIB employee Linda Foschia
recalls that some of Murphy’s tapes were confiscated: no
one knows what happened to the photographs. A week
af'ter this visit, which lett him at {irst very agitated and then
uncharacteristically despondent and depressed. Murphy
aired a censored version of the original documentary.
Some interviewees had requested he remove them from
the broadcast due to fears of getting in trouble with the
police and the Army. Murphy explained on the air. (The
sudden fear of these previously forthcoming sources,

rived, in response to a flood of

initially excited by the mysterious event as was Murphy,
raises the possibility that they too were visited by intimi-
dating officials.)

Afterairing the documentary, Murphy clammed up and
would no longer talk aboutwhathad initially beenthe story
of his lifetime, according to his wife. Yet Murphy had no
idea how important his special documentary report would
becometo investigators years later,providingan intriguing,
first-hand window into the drama as it unfolded. The reso-
lute reporter did everything he possibly could to probe and
document the story. In the beginning of the piece. for
example. he providesthe crucial fact that “the control tower
at the Greater Pittsburgh Airport definitely confirmed the
fact that there was an object in the sky at that time, 13
minutes before 5.

“Object in the Woods™ chronicles Murphy’s move-
mentsand encountersthroughoutthe evening ingreatdetail.
At 8:30 p.m., alter arriving on the scene at Kecksburg, he
saw State Police Fire Marshal Carl Metz and another inves-
tigator go into the woods with a Geiger counter and flash-
light, returning up the hill 16 minutes later. While Meltz
headed for his car, Murphy stopped him where no
oneelse could hear and asked i’ he had found anything. “He
looked puzzled forasecondandsaid."mnotsure.” Murphy
says in the broadcast. Murphy then decided to ask the
question in a different way. “Alter you make your report to
the captain, do you think you or the captain, perhaps. may
havesomething to tellme? And he [Metz] said, " You better
get your information from the Army.”” Sounding a bit
stunned by this statement, Murphy makes the point that it
was “very unusual” forthe tire marshal, examining a fire “*in
almostaclearbluesky.”to turn him overto the United States
Army, indicating thatsomething therein the woods “showed
some significance of military value.”

A little later, at the Greensburg State Police barracks,
Murphy reportsthat he saw members of the army and the air
force there in uniform, along with Carl Metz. The captain
told him that he had an olTicial statement For the record: the
state police had conducted athorough scarchand “there was
nothing whatsoever in the woods.” Murphy called this in to
WIIB headquarters F'or broadcast during the station’s on-
going news coverage ol untolding events. When Metz and
others then got ready to leave the barracks and return to the
wooded area a second time. Metz told Murphy that he could
go with the group to the location.

While Murphy waited in his car to lollow the caravan of
vehicles heading to Kecksburg, a state police officer came
from the barracks and approached him.**We got something
out there.” the ofticer told the radio news director, only
moments after the release of the oflicial statement to the
contrary. “It’s blue and it’s pulsating and there's a light on
it,” he said. adding that the military wanied to go see this
puisating light. Murphy notes that this report matched
carlier eyewitness descriptions of bluc lights emanating
fromthewoodsrightafterthe ob ject landed and that, in fact,
several people said they saw alight. “I myself'did notsee any
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Photos of dumaged trees near the crash location which were used by
scientists in 2003 10 locate the site und conduct a forensic investigation
revealing new, physical evidence.

particularlightthat I could have definitely said was the light
everybody was referring to,” he adds.

When they finally arrived back at the scene of the crash,
Metz tirmly forbade Murphy to accompany them into the
woods. and, despite Mumphy’s pleading for permission
based on his earlier invitation, Metz offered no explanation
for the sudden change.

THE WITNESSES

During the following decades. Stan Gordon. interviewing
countless people with varying levels ot involvement. be-
came increasingly unable to accept the official explanation
that whatwassecnin the sky was a meteor. and that nothing
atall came down. Forexample. Pennsylvaniaresidents saw
the object moving slowly and making turns, as if under
intelligent control. Randy Overly told Gordon that the
objectpassed about 200 feet over his head and stayed level,
maintaining the same height the whole time, moving about
as fastasasingle-engine plane. The acorn-shaped, brownish
ob jectmade a hissing sound as it spewed greenish fire from
its rear, which territied the young Overly and his friend.
B1ll Bulebush said he was working on his car in nearby
Mammoth when he saw the object hesitate and make a turn
before descending into the woods. He and other observers
saw the object go down slowly, as if controlled.
Hundreds of people. along with the media. witnessed
different aspects of the extensive military and state police
presence in the area that night. Fireman Bob Bitner saw a
small convoy of military trucks going into the ravine and
coming out later, and was refused permission to go into the
woods himself. From his nearby upstairs bedroom window,

young John Hays watched a spectacle of tlashlights, cars.
and trucks going into the woods while military officials
gathered in his living room downstairs, talking in small
groupsandusinghis parents”telephone. These are justa few
ofthemanyindependentreports Gordon acquired following
the event, all in great detail.

Later that night, witnesses saw an ob ject transported
outof theareaatgreatspeed on the back ofamilitary tlatbed
tractor-trailer truck. “Not only did we see the Hatbed going
up empty, we saw the {latbed coming down—loaded,”
reports Mike Slater, who said that Army of ficials asked him
to provide false directions to people looking for the crash
site. Sometimes these officials pointed guns at civilians
when they were oo close to the barricades.

JazzmusicianJerry Betters said he was harshly ordered
at gunpoint to leave the area after he and his friends caught
a glimpse of an acorn-shaped ob ject, “a little bigger than a
Volkswagen,” on the back of an Army flatbed truck as it
struggled up through a field. For some reason, it was not
fully covered. “I could see this hieroglyphic stuff all on the
back,” Betters said. “ would swear on the Bible and take a
lie detector test,” he wrote in a notarized statement with a
drawing, for one of CFi’s FOIA requests to the Army.

e~
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Firetighter James Romansky saw the Natbed truck
speeding down the hill in a military convoy. past the
Kecksburg tirehouse. 1 and many others could see the
object and its shape under the tarpaulin. There is no meteor-
ite in the world that looks like that,” Romansky said in a
recent interview.

Romansky, one ofthe very tirstto see the ob ject on the
ground before the military arrived. has been a crucial
witness. providing a detailed description from a few feet
away. He said he saw abronze-colored.acorn-shaped object
with no windows, doors, or seams, partially buried in a
gully. It was about 10-12 feettall, large enough for aman to
stand up in. and 8-12 feet in diameter. Romansky said he
saw strange symbols thatlooked like Egyptian hieroglyph-
ics on the back, or *bumperarea™ of the acorn. He stayed on
the scene with a group of firemen until ordered to leave by
two men in trench coats followed by uniformed military.

In August 1987, Romansky was the first witness 1o take
Gordon to the impact site, which turned out to be the same
area where Gordon had previously photographed damaged
trees. Six months later. John Hayes escorted Gordon to the
same location, where as a boy he had seen the disturbed area
around the wash the morning af'ter the object was removed.
In 1988, Gordon received a tip that Bulebush had also
approachedthe object at closerange. A fier providing Gordon
with a detailed description, Bulebush went into the woods to
tind the location from a different entry point than that used
by Romansky. He found a particulartree that he remembered.
and pointed to the exact same spot in the streambed that
Romansky and Hayes had previously identitied.

The most extraordinary part of this story is that
Romansky. Hayes, and Bulebush independently took Gor-
don to the same location, without having ever discussed the
case among themselves, and each had no idea what the other
had said to Gordon. The descriptions of the ob ject provided
by Romansky and Bulebush (who had never even met at the
tume) were extremely similar. Since then, three additional
people have reported to Gordon that theytoosaw the ob ject
before it was removed rom the ground, although they are
not willing to go public.

State Police Fire Marshal Carl Metz, whom John Murphy
witnessed going into the wooded impact area twice that
evening, apparently saw something extraordinary but kept
the information close to his chest until his death in 1989.
Former Pennsylvania State Trooper Bob Koveleskie. who
wasworkingin eastern Pennsylvaniathatnight,says that he
asked Metz shortly after the event whathad happened, and
Metz replied that he was sworn 1o secrecy by the Army and
couldn’t discuss it. Years later. former Greensburg Police
Bispatcher Howard Burns reported in a videotaped inter-
view with Gordon that Metz took part in a group discussion
at the Greensburg police station in the early 1980s. Burns
says that Metz told the group that he was one of the first at
the Kecksburgimpactareaand initially thought he hadcame
uponacrashedaircrattduetothetree damage. According to
Burns, Metz reported that when he saw the object close up,

“it was like no object he had ever seen before™ and he was
ordered not 1o talk about it. Burns says Metz wasn't reveal-
ing everything he knew by keeping the details secret. He
wouldn’t say what it was—only that it was like nothing he
had ever seen before. Both Kovaleskie and Burns told
Gordon ontapethat Metz was highly respected, honest and
had greatintegrity, andthatthey would believe anything he
said.

InApril 2005, Gordon interviewedanotherretired police
ofticer with an extensive and distinguished law enforcement
background who verified that he also spoke to Metz, a good
friend at the time, within a day or two of the incident. Metz
told him that he had seen the object in the woods.

“Multitudes of people had some association with this
incident,”says Gordon."Mostdo notacceptthegovernment’s
explanation.™ If this were simply a meteor. then these
witnesses to the acorn-shaped object—in the sky. on the
ground, and on the flatbed truck—are either lying or sufter-
ing from some kind of mass hallucination. Neither possibil-
ity seems plausible.

In the 1980s. investigators obtained copies of the Air
Force Project Blue Book file on the case. A handwritten
memo stated that a “three man team™ was sent out from
Oakdale, Pennsylvania. ™o investigate and pick up an
object that started a fire.” The files say that members of the
662nd Radar Squadron searched until 2 a.m. and found
nothing.

Maxwell Air Force Base sent CFi the Becember 1965
Historical Record of the 662nd Radar Squadron based in
Oakdale—the same document released to Stan Gordon
years earlier—that provided the relevant names. The squad-
ronhad a liaison of ficer with Pro ject Blue Book, and it was
fromthe Oakdale base,about 30 miles from Kecksburg, that
the “three man team™ was sent to search forthe object. One
officer, James Cashman, later called Blue Book headquar-
ters from Oakdale toreport that nothing was found. accord-
ingto the Blue Book files, although he was not one of those
sent out on the search.

Our private investigator was able to locate Cashman

Sketch v Charles Hanna of the Kecksburg object seen in
a building ar Wright-Patterson Air Force Base. based on
an evewimess accotnt.
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A model of the object
that sits behind the
Keckshurg Volunteer
Fire Department. made
Jor the Unsolved
Mysteries TV series in
1990. According 1o
James Romansky, the
back. or bumper end
(bottom of the acorn).
is too wide in
proportion 1o the rest.

and three other key personnel from the 662nd. and Gordon
interviewed a filth in 1991. Only one of these, a lieutenant
whom I'will notname torespecthis privacy,said heactually
wentouttosearch for the object thatnight. This ol Ticersaid
he did notobserveany Army presence in the area, any excess
civilian activity, or the large spotlights in the woods ob-
served by witnesses and reporter John Murphy. This seems
impossible if he wasanywhere near the correct location and
directly contradicts press reports about the large military
presence and civilian crowds. He said he and three other
members of the 662nd searched the woods with lashlights
and found nothing.

Itis revealing that puzzling discrepancies exist among
key points of the various accounts, as well as between
aspects of the statements of these otticers and reports from
both the media and Project Blue Book. For example, the
licutenant who searched the woods said there were four in
his scarch team: another of ficer told us that he had driven
with the team to a nearby barrack while two Irom Oakdale
conducted the search with a state trooper. (This could have
been the “three man team™ referred to by Blue Book,
althoughBlue Bookssaidthat thethree werealtfrom Oakdale.)
Another ofticer told me there was no search at all, and that
the reports coming in to the Oakdale base concerned only an
object in the sky and not an object on the ground. He
remembers very wellthehighvolume of'calls from thelocal
area and speaking to some of the callers, and says that if
there had been asearch, he definitely would have known. [He
wasadamant that there wasn't one. And yet another told me
that the object was a Russian satellite, but insisted that he
made that determination only tfrom newspaper and televi-
sion reports.

AccordingtoProject Blue Bookrecords, Cashman called
Blue Book headquarters at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base
twice from the Oakdale base, including a linal call at 2 a.m..
toreportthatnothing wasfound. Oddly, Cashmansays he has
no memory of any event, phone calls, or heightened activity
atthattime, Hestated thathe wasthe Blue Book liaison ol ficer
(as stated in the Blue Book liles), as opposed to the lieutenant
who told me /1e was the Blue Book otticer.

We are not certain whether these contradictory and

sometimesconfusing reportsare simply aquestion of jumbled
memories atter all these years, or if other factors are at play.
Is it possible that this small group was taken to a ditferent
location from the one that was cordoned off by the Army,
and that they searched the wrong site? If this did occur, was
the state trooper who took the Air Force team to the wrong
site instructed by someone to do so? If so, the officers are
honestly reporting that nothing was found. Would it there-
fore have been possible—since Project Blue Book did not
have access to cases higher than a secret clearance—that
Biue Book actually never knew about an object retrieved
from another location by the Army?

On the other hand, Murphy reports seeing what ap-
peared to be members of the 662nd Radar Squadron at the
edge ofthe woods after leaving the police barracks where he
hadtirstencountered them. Ifthe lieutenant wasonc ofthese
men, he could not possibly have missed the surrouncling
military and civilian activity. Were these ofticers perhaps
sworn not to reveal what happened tor national security
reasons, and thus their cover stories have difTerences? We
don’t know. and we won't know until the government
releases the records.

After the Air Force search for the object was com-
pleted. the lieutenant who searched prepared a handwritten
investigation report as required by Air Force regulations,
which was then typewritten by an administrative specialist
(the same person who told me he believed the object was a
Russian satellite, oddly enough). Forreasons unknown, this
report. which documented the unsuccessful scarch tor the
object.wasnotincluded withthe Blue Book caselilesonthe
Kecksburg incident at the National Archives. "It was an
inconclusive report that it could have beena meteorite,” the
former leutenant. now 62, told me in a 2003 telephone
interview, He provided CFi's attorney with a signed aflida-
vit regarding his writing and {iling of this report, and we
submitted the affidavit to the Air Force requesting a copy of
thiscrucialdocument. “*Becausetheinvestigation wasunder
Project Blue Book. acopy of my report would have eventu-
ally been forwarded to the Project Blue Book headquarters,
Wright-Patterson Air Force Base.™ he wrote in the atfidavit.
So far, no responsc has been forthcoming to this request.

WHAT WAS—OR WASN’T—THE OBJECT?

“Based on the accounts of the many eyewitnesses whom |
haveinterviewed., lam convinced that an object did fall from
the sky and apparently was removed by the military.” said
Stan Gordon. “Many have asked me what | believe the
object was, and my reply still is ‘I don’t know.” As | have
stated in the past,themost likely possibilitiesare(1)ahighly
advanced man-made space probe with some controlled-
reentry capability. (2) a secret military or government ex-
periment. (3) an extraterrestrial spacecralt.”

In looking at item (1) above, many have proposed that
the object may have been some kind of Soviet satellite or
debris that was secretly hidden away during the cold war.
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The leading contender. argued mainly by space consultant
James Oberg. hasbeenCosmos96.a failed Russian Venera
probe that the U.S. Space Command reported reentered the
earth’satmosphercoverCanadaat 3:18 a.m. the same day—
far from Kecksburg and more than 13 hours carlier.

In 2003, [ conducted a series of decisive interviews

exploring this question with Nicholas L. Johnson. chief

scienust for orbital debris at the NASA Johnson Space
Center, who is recognized internationally as the leading
authority onorbitaldebrisand forcign space systems. Among

many otherworks. lohnson authored the book /andbook of

Soviet Lunar and Planetary Exploration (American Astro-
nautical Society, 1979), in which he wroteabout Cosmos 96
and related spacecrait.

At my request, Johnson examined the orbital data for
Cosmos 96 and was able to calculate when it would have
passed over Pennsylvaniaifithad continued in orbitthat day
(whichmeansdisregarding the U.S. Space Command infor-
mation). That time, when 1t would have traveled from north
to south, was approximately 6:20 a.m. I can tell you
categorically that there is no way that any debris from
Cosmos 96 could have landed in Pennsylvania anywhere
around 4:45 p.m..”" Johnson told me. “That’s an absolute.
Orbital mechanics is very strict.” One part of Cosmos 96
could nothavestayed inorbituntil 4:45 p.m. afterthe object
came apart hours earher in Canada. as some had speculated.

Inan April 2005 emailto Towers Productions during its
production of a documentary for the History Channel.
Johnson summarized his investigation as follows:

In response to a request by Ms. Kean. | researched the
NASA Orbital Debris Program Oftice data tiles for
tracking data (aka two-line element scts from the U.S.
Space Surveillance Network)on Cosmos 96 (U.S. Cata-
log Number 01742): however, no data for that object
were tound. I later contacted Air Force Space Com-
mand and received historical tracking data for Cosmos
96. Using these dataand an Air Force Space Command

A drawing of the Soviet space capsule fron Cosmos 96,
about three feet in cliameter, which reentered the
atmosphere 13 hours before the Kecksburg incident.
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software package, | was able to reconstruct the possible
flight path (groundtrack) of Cosmos 96 on 9 December
1965, [ sentto Ms. Kean on 10 @ctober [2003] ancmail
containing two graphics depicting the only possible
southbound pass of Cosmos 96 on 9 December 1965, if
ithad not already reentered the atmosphere. No part of
Cosmos 96 could have landed i Pennsylvania in the
local afternoon of 9 December 1963,

Even more intriguing than the fact that the Kecksburg
object could nor have been any part of Cosmos 96 is that
Johnson stated that Cosmos 96 was the only catalogued
object to reenter on Becember 9, and that no other man-
made object J'rom any country came down that dav. He
explained that anything not catalogued would have been so
small that it would not have survived reentry. and anything
larger would have been detected. [ cannot absolutely con-
firm that it was not some completely unreported event, but
the chances of that are virtually nil.™ Johnson said. “You
can’t launch something without somebody seeing it. By
1965the U.S.andSovietswere bothreporting theirlaunches.™

The possibility ofa U.S. reconnaissance satellite drop-
ping a large {ilm canister for recovery on that day has also
been ruled out. These capsules were dropped following
secretmissionsoverthe Soviet Union.and Johnson said that
sometimes they fell where they weren’t supposed to. The
ClArecentlydeclassitieddataon thereconnaissance flights,
and by checking launch and retrieval times. Johnson deter-
mined that there was no secret mission that could have led
1o an inadvertent reentry of a capsule on that day. “This was
the only otherthing ! couldthink of that could have frallen out
of'space and was man-made.” he said.

Before consulting Johnson. [ had spoken with PhillipS.
Clark of London’s Molniya Space Consultancy by tele-
phonein the U.K. Another renowned expertwhostudied the
Soviet and Chinese space programs for more than 20 years,
Clark also eliminated Cosmos 96 as a possibility, based
simply on the comparison with the many eyewitness reports
providing almost identical descriptions of the object. The
Cosmos capsule was only three feet in diameter—much
smaller than the object reported by Kecksburg witnesses.
Clark also pointed out that the Cosmos capsule could not
have made turns or descended stowly at an angle, since it
would have been propelled only by the pull of gravity
towardsearth. and itmost likely would have created a crater
upon impact. The letters CCCP (Russian for USSR) which
appear prominently on the body of Cosmos capsule would
have been casily recognized by the witnesses, if the letters
had not burned of f'upon reentry.

In 1965, uniike today, the U.S. governmentdid not have
the technical means of detecting natural bodies, such as a
meteor, suddenly coming into the earth’s atmosphere, so
NORAD space surveillance radar could not detect meteors.
Therefore, unfortunately, we do not have tracking data that
can tell us anything about the 1965 fireball shooting across

(continued on page 28)
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AS GREAT AN ENIGMA
AS THE UFQOS THEMSELVES

BY MiCHAEL D. SWORDS

e've been in the UFO research business tor
along time now. and probably all of us who
read JUR are convinced that this statement
is true: A large number of witnesses have
observed apparently technological devices in the skies that
have occasionally landed on the ground and are in no way
explainable by mundane natural or current human technol-
ogy.” When 1I'm asked the naive, misleading, and rather
stupid question, “Do you believe in UFOs?™” | say that |

won'tbotherresponding to that, but if you wantto ask me if’

I believe in something like the statement above, | say “No,
I don’t believe that. | know it to be true.”

I know it to be true because there are so many cases in
which the quality and humtlity of the witnesses, the details
observed, the convincing contexts of the sightings, the

surprises in the “little things™ reported. and the absence of

other embellishments when those would be so easy to add,
produce a powert'ul and undeniable set of narratives thatare
simply and overwhelmingly inexplicable.

Meditatingon this while browsingthroughthreeterrific
resources for the UFO scholar (Loren Gross's series titled
UFOs: A History: Tom Tulien’s oral history project video-
tapes: and the personal files of James McDonald), the
enigma of the title of this article crystallized for me. Why
hasn’t this problem-—that apparently technological objects
have graced our skies—been dispensed with long ago? The
question of whetherthere reallyare UFOs should have been
setaside as ano-brainer almost as soon as the phenomenon
began flapping in 1947.

For some of those {irst individuals who seriously tried
o study it, it was. For George Garrettin July 1947 in the
Pentagon, the disks werereal. For Howard "Mac”McCoy at
Wright-Patterson AFB in the summerof 1947, the same was
true. Forthose in Project Sign, likewise,and Dewey Fournet,

atthe Pentagon’s UFO intelligence desk—to say nothing of’

Donald Keyhoe. Coral Lorenzen, Isabel Davis,andon and
on. But in 2005 adebate still exists, and we are generally on
the losing side as portrayed by media, academia. and the
government. Patanswers to this enigmaarenotvery cogent.
This isn’t a simple cover-up or the Robertson Panel.

Michael D. Swords is professor emeritus of the Environ-
mentallnstitute, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo.

AtaCenterfor UFO Studies board meeting, Jerry Clark
said to me that as of the early summer of’ 1952, this matter
should have been settled once and for all. He was. in part,
thinking of the Nash-Fortenberry incident. 1 agreed. In fact,
I thoughtthatitshould have beensettled even earlier. (Note
that neither Jerry nor 1 were adding Roswell into this
equation. Why? Speaking for myself, Roswell could well
have been managed uniquely: that is, buried in a level of
secrecy and cloaked handling where almost no one was
privy toany ot thedetails. [twas notonly secretto the public,
but was also closed to the general intelligence community.
As such. it would remain in a perpetual gray arca, whether
you believed in it or not. But regular cases, like Nash-
Fortenberry, werecompletely outof'the can, inthcopen,and
could not be rationally denied.)

Previous to Nash-Fortenberry, one recalls the General
Mills balloon cases ot Charles Moore, Commander Robert
McLaughlin, J. J. Kaliszewski, among others. Those inci-
dentsshouldhaveended the debate as well, giventhecaliber
of the witnesses, back in the late 1940s. And even. on
reflection, so should the Kenneth Arnold casc and a few
others of thattime, such as Captain E. J. Smith. These should
have ended the matterin July 1947 and. as we've seen with
Garrett and McCoy, they did. So why is the matter still
debated, and the question not answered, in 2005?

THE EpwaRrRDS AIR FORCE BASE FILM

Whatinspired this hair-pullerwasthe May 3, 1957, Edwards
AFB case, first noticed by Max Miller in his Saucers
magazine, then pursued, as usual, by James McDonald and
then immortalized in print and video by Loren Gross and
Tom Tulien. Perhaps/UR readers are familiar with the case,
but I'll bet many of you are not. It is another powerhouse
case, another debate-ender. in my view. Here’s how itwent:

On the morning of May 3, 1957, the supervisor of
civilian camera operators at Edwards AFB in California’s
Mo jave Desert, Frank E. Baker, sent the standard two-man
crewsout to their Askania tracking telescopes tor their 8-5
shifts. A normal day tor the teams would be photographing
airplanes on speed runs to accurately measure their veloci-
ties, or to tilm a dummy bomb drop, or perhaps even the
U-2 high-altitude spyplane. Previously the telescopes were

[UR + 30:1

10




Qu ta2 of Siatico “C’ la e
Bat derert. the Askosia theod.
ollte Le aliing alse Ie visually
{ollow ard record on Him the
loutney of e Matin Viklaq

2£R0 HOUR! Viong Ne. 12
i c toward the oaosphese.
She's a qoed misstlel” cries
out the Fugit Solewy Conirol
han theocad (ke loudipeoikers

Various types of Askania tracking
telescopes in use by the U.S. military.,

calibrated by focusing on stars, and sometimes even by
balloons deliberately launched for this purpose. The opera-
tors were familiar with all types of aerial technologies.

Themasterstation fort he telescopecrewswas 1 2 miles
outside the main area of Edwards. and the five telescope
installations a little further into the surrounding desert. The
crews drove out to their positions. Veterans James Bittick
andJackGettys were intheir pickup expecting anormalday.
As they approached their station. they saw an object in the
sky.shining brightly. [twas. initially. atabout 45 elevation
andseemedto be hovering. Gettys. who was very interested
in UFOs, immediatcly stated that they had a UFO on their
hands.

The crew had to get permission from Baker before
trying to photograph the object. So they called in, began
readying the scope, loaded the Iilm (as they would have
done regardless to begin the day). and waited tor the OK.

This interlude lasted tor a few minutes while they
worked atthe scope and snuck peeks atthe hovering object.
Gettys, wholooked through the side-mounted spotting scope,
said that the basc of object had a circular appearance when
high in the sky. Bittick apparently didn*tlook at it through
the spotting scope until it was lower in the sky, as he
remembered only the side view.

The go-ahead trom Bakercame in time. and they began
filming.each viewing the ob ject through the spotting scopes

while the Iilm rolled at a rapid pace (probably eight frames
per second. as Bittixk recounted to McDonald 10 years
later). They shot about 100 feet and stopped. When they
started tilming. the object began to move away from its
cstimated distance of one mile. When they quit Filming, it
wasaboutfive milesdistant.and itsmotionhadbeen fastand
steady with no wobbling.
Whatthey saw wasadisk-
shaped object (acigar™ from
the side) with a low dome on
top. Gettys feitthe edges were
more rounded. while Bittick
thought them more pointed.
The dome had little ports
around it, perhaps five or six.
and the device was spinning.
It was shiny metallic in ap-
pearance, but whether it was
gold in color or silver withthe
golden morningsunlightglint-
ing off it was not obvious.
Gettys thought it was defi-
nitely gold-colored. Guessing
at its size, he thought it was
“parkinglotsized.”about 1 00
feet in diameter. At no ime did the men hear any engine
sound trom the UFO.

Gettvs s memorv of the
UFO (10 vears later)

Bittick s memory of the
UFO 40+ vears later)

- [} (] .

= .,
.'.' M X AT Y P ...o-"”’
Baker's memory of the
UFO (10 vears later),
with hazv edges

|AIR FORCE STUDIES PHOTOS

~ Cameras Track Flying

AF Sﬂ;ﬁdng

Gettys'saccountditters from Bittick’s in
only a few details. First, he said he could see
the underside ot the ob ject, which was circular

- Object Over Desert

| .
| a n un-specialized camera equip-
:ic cc:t];;(:; ;;Y:J;:Q}rwat pho- xrizent, Films and information
y . |were dispatched immediately
tographed 3t Edwa.rds Al to the intelligence center.
Force Base last Friday arel {jpofficial reports said Lhe
[veing analyzed by the Air|object appeared round, that
Technical Inteltigence Center|it caught the merning sun
‘al W right-Patterson AFB,jand that it moved but not at
{payton. O, The Times|any great speed. There were
jearned yesterday, nu‘esh\males as to its size or
cesmen at Lhe secrctfaltitude.
:deggrotkelcme center north of| Edwards officers would not
|Los Angeles would say only hazard a guess as to what the
that the object was spotted|object was, although one said
Ly two civilizn photo theodo-jit could have been a weather
lite operators. - . tbal]ocn.
They tracked the oblec
’and '.gok pictures with the things,” he added.

"“This desert alr does crazy.

Saucer Photo?

EDWARDS A!R FORCE
BASE, Callf., Mey 10 (INS)—

Base today were studying films
made of a purported “unident!-
fied flying object’ seen over the
base. o

The object was photographed
by two civilisn technliclans who
used specie] equlpment to treck
and record It,

Unofficial sources said theob-
ject appeared circular and
glinted brightly in the momning
sun when observed last Friday.
However, intelllgence officers at
Edwards base, a hush-hush alr
| |force test center, would say &i-

|{most nothing of the incident.
| ——

Officers at Edwards Alr Force,

Left, Los Angeles Times, Mav 9, 1957;
right. New York Jowrnal-American. May 10. 1957.
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(planiform) whenatithighestelevationangle.
Also. he didn’t sce any ports on the dome.
They contacted the base and ultimately
two jets were scrambled. By the time these
came overhead. the UFO had disappeared in
aneasterly direction. The jets never caught up
to it or even saw it.
AfterGettysand Bittick turned inthe film,
it apparently stayed at Edwards to be devel-
oped. the normal procedure. Following the
incident, possibly even the next work day.
three ofticers showed up at Frank Baker's
station: a major, a captain, and a lieutenant.
Bittick and Gettys were interrogated sepa-
ratcly. but their storics matched and neither



would back oft what they had seen. The oftficers were
insulting, suggesting that the desert sun does thingsto one’s
cyes (despite the factthatthey had film),and wondering how
late they™d been out the previous night or how long they'd
been in the sun (despite the incident occurring at about 8
a.m.). Bittick got angry enough to turn to Frank Baker and
ask: Dol have to put up with this crap?™ Rellecting back on
this 49-odd years later, he told Tom Tulien, “It’s a funny
thing how they try to cover up what they know, and use a
stupid answer for it.”

The stupid answer was a balloon. Both men knew that

it wasn't a balloon. Not only did they have the evidence of

their eyes checked against the years of experience with the
trackingtelescope, butalsothere wasthe film itself. A friend
of theirs who worked at Edwards knew the fellow who
developed the Askania tilms. He got the guy to clip offa
strip that he ultimately gave to Bittick (who kept it for
several years then burned it because he shouldn’t have had
it in the firstplace). Other clips from the tilm apparently got
to Bakeras well. The film showed a cigar shape witha bump
ontop. (A few prints fromthe tilmarein the Blue Book files,
but they scemto be more distant examples and are little more
than light blobs. See them in Brad Steiger’s 1976 paperback,
Projecr Blue Book.) Baker later said that he saw closer
photos that definitely showed what Bittick and Gettys
claimed.

And.whataboutthe balloon? Well, there was a balloon
released from Edwards atabout 7:40 a.m. on May 3. It was

very well tracked. Lt. Col. Raymond Klein, the deputy chict

of statf for operations at Edwards, compared it to what the
observers saw and where they were located. and wrote:
“Based on the above track made and the location of the
observers at the time of the sighting [all known quantities].
the weather balloon released at Edwards could not have
been the unidentitied object reported.”

Jim McDonald rechecked the data and confirmed

UFO SIGHTINGS
IN THE NEW MILLENNIUM

This revised edition of Richard Hall's monograph on
21st-century UFO sightings is now available from
CUFOS. Thisis areport forthose who like to read about
stghtings, showing that
UFOs are still around and
doingamazing things. Wit-
nesses are seeing all the

classic types ol UFOs re-
ported over the years, and
thercisaspecialsectionon
large triangular objects.
Send a check for $12.00
($15.001f you reside out-
side the U.S.) to CUFOS,
2457 W. Peterson, Chi-
cago, IL 60659.

Klein’s analysis. Nevertheless, Project Blue Book wrote
the incident off as a balloon with total disregard for the
facts. Someone at Edwards may have been UFO-sympa-
thetic, asthe story was quickly leakedto California newspa-
pers. The Air Force was very unhappy aboutthis. The horse,
thereby, was let out of the barn enough that we didn’t
entirely lose this case.

Well. there we are again: Expert, multiple witnesses
and hundreds of frames of tilm. The deputy of stalf for
operations knows that it was not aballoon, and is thereby an
unidentified physical object in the air near the base—just
like Kaliszewski, Moore, and McLaughlin knew the same
after their sightings. But, somehow, USAF intelligence
refusesto know. And it can’t be just Project Blue Book and
an understaffed and not-a-little-incompetent project of ficer
there. This information is passing through other oftices as
well, including Air Defense Command, the Air Force of-
fices at the Pentagon, very probably the Oftice of Naval
Research, and/or the Office of Naval Intelligence, and our
friends in the CIA. And people inside these organizations
arehearingaboutthescexpert-witnesscases,hereandthere,
in at least a constant trickle, it not a llow. Doesn’t anyone
have any memory? Doesn't an accumulation of anomalies
build up in anyone’s mind? Why doesn’t this stuft stick
anywhere? Of course, it sticks with us. but we obviously
don’tcount.

AN EXPLANATION, PLEASE?

Theexplanation for this rather astounding selective amne-
siais somethingthat I'd very much like someoneto clearly
elucidate for me. What is it about an organization like
USAF Intelligence, or the Pentagon, orthe CIA, or a fuzzy
concept like “the media™ that allows something of this
potential importance and clear evidence to be constantly
fuzzed out of existence, despite incidents that just can 't be
so discarded? A colossal example: How can the General
Mills balloon cases of the late 1940s and carly 1950s not
evenbe presented atthe C1As Robertson Panel in January
19537 My cyeballs start revolving independently in my
skull 1] think too long about that! I the most undeniable
expert witness, multiple witness, device-recorded inci-
dentsarenoteven resident enough in the consciousnesses
of Ruppelt, Fournet, or Hynek to bother to sell them to
Robertson, what explains that?

I've bored my colleagues at CUFOS tor several years
with the statement thatut'ology is notatield of study because
it never establishes anything. It has no real history, no
foundation of “givens.™ This is despite Nash-Fortenberry,
Father Gill, Lawrence Coyne, and the General Mills and
Edwards AFB boys. But why aren’t these “givens™? They
are.forany intellectually honest student of'the phenomenon,
certainly “undeniables.” But they don't stick together and
they don'tallow utology to “stick™ in the consciousness of
the government, military, and academy. Please educate me
on this, dear readers. 4
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VENUSIAN DREAMS

BY JEROME CLARK

nly slightly smaller than the earth and once

called its sister world, Venus is the second

planet tromthe sun. Otten likened to hell. it isno

place you would wantto live or even visit. Its
dense atmosphere, shrouding theentireplanet under acloud
cover and consisting ol 96% carbon dioxide and a minute
amount of watervapor. traps surface heat in a tierce green-
house etlect. The average temperature is a tropical 840° F.
—Dblistering enough to melt lead. The atmosphere also
produces surface pressure 90 times what we experience on
earth. unless we happen to be standing on the occan floor at
a depth ot 3000 feet. It rains droplets of sulluric acid. The
presenceof sullur-dioxide concentrations may imply ongo-
ing volcanic activity.

This scientitic description of the Morning Star and the
Evening Star, as earthlings have called this bright and
beautiful presence (which the ancients thought were two
separate celestial bodies) in our heavens. would not have
beenpossible ifnotforspace probesand technical advances
in astronomy in the mid- to latter 20th century. Betore that,
it was possible to imaginc justabout anything about Venus.
including the beings and creatures that lived on it, and
human beings did precisely that.

THE DREAMS OF THE SCIENTISTS

Among the most notable ol the early
speculators was the philosopher
Immanuel Kant (right) (1724-1804). In
Universal Natural History and Theory
of the Heavens (1755) he outlined the
astronomically and logically dubious
hypothesis that distance from the sun
determines the intelligence level of a
world’s inhabitants: thus. the people who
live on Mercury are the stupidest, and Venusians are only
dimly brighter. Kantand his contemporaries knew nothing o’

Jerome Clark. co-editor of VUR. is author of the multi-
volume UFO Encyclopedia (1990-1998) and other works.
His latest book, Unnatural Phenomena, published by ABC-
CLIO in2005, examines the Fortean landscape of 1 9th-and
carly 20th-century America.

Uranus and Neptune, not discovered until the [ollowing
century, or Pluto. not until 1930, so in the Kantian cosmic
scheme ol things, the smartness of the people of Jupiter (hitth
in the solar system) was excceded only by that of Saturn (the
sixth and, to mid-18th-century knowledge, the last).

On the other hand. to Bernard Le Bovier de Fontenelle
(1657-1757), author ot'a widely read 1686 book on lite on
other worlds, Venusians are “little black people, scorch’d
with the Sun, witty, tull ol Fire, very Amorous.™ In the
generally comparable imagining ot JacquesHenri Bernardin
de Saint-Pierre (1737-1814), Venusians live in a paradisal.
pastoral realm. The mountain people are shepherds, while
“the others, on the shores of their [ertile islands. give
themselvesovertodancing.to feasts,divertthemselves with
songs, or compete for prizes in swimming, like the happy
islanders of Tahiti.”

An observer in 1743 reported seeing “ashen light™—
mysterious illumination—on Venus™ dark side. Since then
otherastronomershave described the phenomenon, still not
conclusively explained though generally thought to be the
consequence of clectricity in the atmosphere. To German
astronomer Franz von Paula Gruithuisen
(right) (1774-1852), however, the phe-
nomenon could beexplained aslight given
ol by *“general l'estivalsof1ire™ in which
the Venusians periodically participate.
corresponding with “changes in govern-
ment” or perhaps to religious celebra-
tions. This and other luminous anomalies
led French inventor Charles Cros (1842—188&) to wonder il
Venusians were trying to signal the earth and to propose
ways of sending signals back.

Using earthly population-density figures as a guide,
Scottish clergyman and amateur scientist Thomas Dick
(1774-1857) startlingly pegged the Venusian population at
adensely packed 53.500.000.000. Popular science journal-
ist Richard Proctor (1837—1888) wrote in Other Worlds
Than Owurs (1870), “On the whole. the evidence we have
pomts very strongly to Venus as the abode of living crea-
tures not unlike the inhabitants of earth.™

Because the clouds covering the planct rendered tele-
scopic observation ol its surface impossible, much about
Venus remained unknown even in the lirst halt ot the 20th
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century. Thus, the sorts of speculation in which even main-
stream astronomers sometimes engaged look outlandish in
retrospect, more science fiction than science.

For example, in common with his French colleague
Edmond Perrier (1844-1921) and others, Harvard Univer-
sity astronomer William H. Pickering (1858-1938)—inci-
dentally an ally of Pereival Lowell in the Mars canal contro-
versy—argued that Venus is a tropical planct teeming with
waterand humid swamps. harboring giantreptiles of the sort
thatroamedthe earth during the age of dinosaurs. “As to the
question of intelligent life,” he added ina 1911 interview
with a Boston Post reporter. “the question is still open.™
Around the same time another then-prominent astronomer.,
Thomas Jefterson Jackson See (1866—1962). of the U.S.
Naval Observatory at Marc Island. California, declared the
issue of intelligent Venusian life a settled one, based on his
years ol observation.

Beginning in the 1920s. a handful of astronomical
ivestigators were collecting more reahstic data that sug-
gested, tirst, fierce surface temperatures and then (in 1932)
the absence of oxygenand water vapor, plus an abundance
of carbon dioxide in Venus™ atmosphere. This sparked an
inevitable skepticism about life. even vegetable life, among
scientists who were paying attention.

Others, however, acted as if oblivious 1o the new
developments, treating the planet as it had always been
depicted: as a warmer earth. In 1922 Salt Lake City meteo-
rologist Alfred Rordame, speaking before the American
Metcorological Society. argued that spectroscopic findings
whichappearedtoshow nooxygenorwatervaporcouldnot
be trusted: in reality, he contended, the “spectroscope is
incapable of penetration below these clouds around Venus,
asthe lightis reflected from the upper surface of them. The
bulk of whatever oxygen and water vapor exists must be
beneath this veil in the stormy atmosphere nearerthe planet.™
That same year Charles G. Abbot (1872-1973) of the
Smithsonian Institution remarked that Venus is the only
noncarthly planetlikely to harbor intelligent life because it
has. he claimed, both “water vapor and water clouds.™ As
late as 1946, Abbot lantasized about radio communication
with Venusians “brought up completely separate [from
earthlings], having their own systems of government, social
usages, religions. and surrounded by vegetationand animals
entirely related to any here on earth.”

In his best-selling Astronomy (1935) astronomer/cler-
gyman(and, in subscquentdecades. creationist hero) Arthur
M. Harding(1884—1947)wrote,"Noone would imagine for
aninstantthatalterthe Creatorhad constructed thismagnifi-
cent solar system . . . He would have neglected our little
globe to be the abode of life and overlooked its twin sister

and neighbor, Venus. Surely there must be some forms of’

life on Venus thatare notso very different from whatwe find
on the earth. The objection hasbeen raised that Venus is too
near the sun to have life on it. Itis true that Venus is a little
warmer than the earth, butthis is no barrier. We have life at
the tropics and also lite at the poles.™

Still. no one had glimpsed Venus® surface. so those
inclined to do so continued to imagine everything from a
massive dust bowl to lush vegetation to a planet-encircling
occan. Writing in The Universe We Live In (1951). John
Robinson revived the venerable vision of Venus—most
prominently put torth more than three decades earlier by
Swedishchemist and Nobel laureate Svante Aithenius( 1859-
1927)—as a place like “the far-ott Carboniterous Period of
the carth’s geologicalhistory™ with “seas and swampsand the
steamy. heavily carbonatedatmosphere. ... Venus hascevery
appearance of being a world something like our world
hundreds of millions of years ago.”

Donald H.Menzel (1901-1976). of the Harvard Obser-
vatory, had a reputation as a tierce debunker of UFO
reports, but he was also a wildly imaginative theorist about
Venus, in one instance in the same book (F/yving Saucers,
1953). He envisioned “warm seas™ in which life forms of all
kind.fromthe microscopic to large invertcbrates and verte-
brates. {Tourish. "Itis somewhat interesting to note that, had
we ourselves developed on Venus instead of on the earth,”
he reflected. it is not at all unhikely that we might have
developed to a race ol mermaids and mermen.”™ On the
otherhand.inthesamedecade Sovietastronomer Gavriil A.
Tikhov (1875-1960) pictured Venusasaworld of glimmer-
ing, ray-emitting flowers. In a December 1959 presentation
totheyear-oldNational Aeronautics and Space Administra-
tion (NASA), the California Institute of Technology’s
Harrison Brown (1917-1986) spoke ot'a Venus ot mostly
seas, harboring jellylish-lhke creatures.

FromFebruary 1961 and through the next two decades,
the United States and the Soviet Union launched a series of’
space probes. Some sailed near the planet, others entered its
atmosphere, and a few successfully landed on its surtace.
The discoveries ended all talk that intelligent Venusians, or
even life forms larger than microbes. populate that world.

THE occuLTisTts® VENUS

in his S0th year the Swedishscientist
Emanuel Swedenborg (right) (1688—
1772), the author already (in the
words of one biographer) of 160
works and [founder of| six new sci-
ences,” began experiencing mysti-
cal visions which occupied him the
restof his lite. Amongotherspiritual
adventures he traveled to the moon
and all the planets known n the
eighteenth century. All of these bodies, he reported in
Earths in Our Solar Svstem (1758)., are populated by intel-
ligent beings, sometimes by more than one kind.
Venusians, he wrolte, “are oftwo kinds; somearc gentle
and benevolent. others wild. cruel and of gigantic stature.
The latter rob and plunder. and live by this means; the
formerhave so greata degree of greatness and kindness that
theyarcalwaysbeloved by the good; thus they ottensecthe
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Lord appear n their own form on theirearth.” The bad guys
not only robbed their victims but ate them.

Anotherinfluential mystic who spoke
with certainty of Venusians was Helena
Petrovna Blavatsky (right) (1831-1891),
lounder of Theosophy. Blavatsky, with
Swedenborg one of the most important
ligures in the history ot Western occult-
ism, proposed an enormously complex
cosmic order and alternative history. in-
cluding “Lords of the Flame™ on Venus.
Blavatsky had not muchto say aboutthem, perhaps because
she had so much else to invent.

It was Martians. not Venusians, whom people of the
19th century were morclikely toclaimtheyhadmetor heard
[rom. Martians either communicated through mediums or,
as dubious late-century newspaper accounts alleged. tlew,
sometimes landing, airships (sce my “Conversations with
Martians.” /R 29, no. 3, pp. 19-23). For the most part,
Venusians existed only as abstract possibilities, not as
entities one might encounter.

In the 20th century, Guy Warren
Ballard (right) (1878-1939) set a dubi-
ous precedent for a later generation of
claimants to extraterrestrial contact (by
the early 1930s being called *“con-
tactees™). Ballard was a man with a
checkered past and little claim to per-
sonal accomplishment until in the last
decade of his lite he came lorth with bizarre and escalating
claims about his interactions with Ascended Masters, com-
mencing with a 1930 visit to California’s Mount Shasta

(whose interior, mystical legend has it, harbors survivors ol

the lost Pacific continent Lemuria).

As hetold the story in Unveiled Mysteries (pscudony-
mously bylined “Godtré Ray King,™ 1934), Ballard—well
versed in Theosophical and other occult writings—had
decided to take a day of ffrom his job as a mining engineer
to investigate the alleged presence of'a supernatural group
of'deities called the Brotherhood of Mount Shasta. He was
taking a drink at amountain stream when a young-looking
strangerapproached to poura creamy liquid into Ballard’s
cup. Ballard drank it without question. The substance had
an “electrical vivifying ctlect in my mind and body,™ he
would report.

Soon the mysterious tigure introduced himsell'as Saint
Germain. an Ascended Master,and proved it by supernatu-
ral demonstrations. Ballard had been chosen, he said, to be
the Messenger of the Masters. With his wite Edna (1886
1971) he went on to form the I AM Religious Activity
(“AM” standing tor Ascended Master), an intensely contro-
versial group, formed in Chicago and later moved to Los
Angeles, the Ballards’s home base, in 1932, ("I AM™ also
is an allusion to Exodus 3:14, where God says to Moses, ™1
amwho | am.” In the Ballards’s Theosophy-based theology
—Saint Germain is borrowed I'tom Blavatsky—Ascended

Masters are former humans who used the divine energy of
God’s lightthatexists in each of ustoascendtoGod’slevel.)
The group, albeit diminished, survives to the present, even
after Edna’s death in 1971 and son Donald’s retirement
lromthemovementin 1957. Guy Ballard died on December
29, 1939.

In the 1930s the Ballards roamed the nation with what
amounted to a mediumistic road show, producing extrava-
gant pageants, thrilling followers with communications
from Saint Germain and others, and enraging others who
saw them, with some justice, as charla-
tans and fascists. The Ballards had both
been enthusiasts of American Nazi
William Dudley Pelley (right) (1890—
1965). In the wake of an out-of-body
encounterwith Ascended Masters which
he detailed in a widely read 1929 maga-
zine article, Pelley had assembled a para-
military army ol pro-Hitler, anti-Semitic lowlifes known as
Silver Shirts because they wore, well, silver shirts in their
taux-German uniforms. Whenthe Ballardsbroke with Pelley
to form their own organization, they borrowed many of
Pelley’s political precepts and ambitions but-—whatever
their other intellectual. philosophical, and moral failings—
did not tralfic in anti-Semitism.

Among the otherworldly entities Guy Ballard inter-
acted with were Venusians. He lirst met them in Saint
Germain’scompany when the twoattended (in out-ot-body
states) a convention of Masters in their gold-laden retreat
beneath the Grand Tetons in Wyoming. Twelve ot them—
men and women—showed up for the confab, appearing
suddenly in a blaze of light. They were beautitul, golden-
haired, and violet-blue-eyed, all in all looking very much
like the Venusians who would become standard issue in
tales of the saucer-contactee era. They entertained the
assembled mystical masters with a violin and harp concert.
Perhapsnot coincidentally. in consensusreality Edna Ballard
was a harpist.

Venusians were enlisted into the Ballards’s unending
crusade against the sinister lorces, including press critics
and disenchanted former I AM followers (one ot whom
remarked drylythatthe couplehadawell-delined persecu-
tion complex™), who sought to trustrate Guy and Edna’s
struggle to bring humans to divine light and ascension. A
regular communicant in their mediumistic demonstrations
was the “Tall Master from Venus,™ a Lord of the Flame. To
rapturous crowds the Tall Master. speaking through Guy,
praised Guy and Edna as “"the most precious Beings on the
tacc ol'thisearthtoday.™ Another Venusian, Sanat Kumara.
grumpily scolded the faithful. “The greatest mistake of
mankind today is to think that they must have physical
contact in order to express love.”™ The Ballards and their
otherworldlyassociates forbade all forms ot sexual expres-
sion. even hand-holding and kissing.

Many prophets, even ones who claim experiences of a
tantastic and outlandish nature, are sincere visionaries, and
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some aren’t. More than a tew observers think that the
Ballards consciously and deliberately concocted an elabo-
rate hornswaggle, its particulars cobbled together from
Blavatsky and other sources. A par-
ticularly prominent influence is the
occult novel A Dweller on Two Plan-
ers. by “Phylosthe Tibetan™ (right.the
supposed channeler of the contents to
automatic writer Frederick Spencer
Oliver[1866-1899], composed in the
mid-1880s but unpublished until
1905). It is certainly the model—
Ballard barely changes the language
—for many of Ballard’s adventures with the Masters.
(Oliver’s hero Walter Picrson is taken 1o Venus whose
inhabitants have, it turns out, “splendid physiques . .
gracel'ul and perfect [in] every line.™)

A second, Will L. Garver's 1894 mystical novel The
Brother of the Third Degree, features as a leading charac-
ter the Comte de St. Germain. The Comte de St. Germain
was an actual historical figure, an 18th-century dabbler in
the mysticartsand anotorious charlatan who hinted that he
was immortal in the most literal sense. Voltaire famously
sneered thatthe attention-obsessed countwas “theman who
never dies.”

In the March/April 1961 issue of England’s Flving
Saucer Review, W. R. Drake deduced exactly who St.
Germain really was:

Viewed in our tlying saucer context. the appearances
and disappearance across the centuries of this fantastic
man with phenomenal talents and inexhaustible wealth,
without origin or social background. which so bafited
his contemporaries, become suddenly illumined in one
startling wondrous revelation, Is it not plausible to
suggest that Count St. Germain was a missionary from
Space, an avatar from Venus with remarkable powers,
who throughout the ages has selflessly descended to
Earth to direct Man’s evolution, and who periodically
returns to direct Man's evolution. and who periodicalty
returns to Venus i spaceships to recuperate? His ex-
traordinary longevity may be normal for that lovely
planet. the source of his diamonds: his spiritual ideals
and nobility of lile. acknowledged by all witnesses,
testitving toa civilization there lar transcending our own.

VENUSIANS AND FLYING SAUCERS

In a little-noticed story published in a Washington newspa-
per. Centralia Daily Chronicle, on April 1, 1950, an elderly
man related his recent meeting just days before with the
crew of"a Venusian spacecraft. It was not an April Fool's
Day joke. Kenneth Arnold (whose June 24, 1947 sighting
over Mount Rainier brought {lying saucers into public
consciousness) andhis wite Doris interviewed the claimant,
an elderly retired railroad worker named Samuel LEaton
Thompson, soon afterwards and taped his account.

Thompson, a poorly educated, unsophisticated man,
was returning from a visit to relatives when he pulled over
1o take a break in a wooded arca between Morton and
Mineral, Washington. As he walked into the trecs, he came
upon a clearing in which a large globe-shaped structure
hovered justabovethe ground. He noticed several strikingly
beautiful children playing on steps whichled fromadooron
the side of the crafl. They had a deeply tanned appcarance,
with long blond hair which came all the way to their waists.
They were naked. Soonsimilar-appearingadults came to the
door and watched him, apparently uneasy about his inten-
tions. Thompson managed to persuade them that he meant
no harm.

He ended up, he said, spending some 40 hours (includ-
ingoneovernight) intheir company over the nexttwo days,
mterrupted only by a quick trip home tor a camera (which
recorded nothing except a bright glow as if from overexpo-
sure). The Venusians were innocents who seemed to have
stepped out of an nterplanetary Garden ol Eden, without
sin,shame,oreventechnological knowledge: all they knew
about their ship was its four buttons took one up ordownor
toearth from Venus or the reverse. The Venusians had come
to spread peace and good will. though they had notreceived
it from earthlings. whose aircratt had shot at their ship. All
planets of'the solar system are inhabited. the Venustans told
him. but only Martians are morc warlike than the people of
our world. Thompson’s companions consumed only nuts.
vegetables, and fruits, and their exemplary dietary habits
keptthem from ever suftering illness: they died only of old
age. They lived not by intellect but by instinct, yet “they're
really smarterthan we think they are. They've got a gift that
is so much greater than ours that there is no comparison.”
According to them, Jesus Christ will returnin A.D. 10,000.

The Arnolds did not believe Thompson had a literal
physical encounter. Kenneth Arnold. who considered much
of the story absurd to the point of comedy. thought it was
something like a vivid dream or hallucination. They did not
doubt, however, that Thompson believed every word he was
saying. Anyone who hears the tape-recorded interview is
likely 1o agree. It is hard to overstatc Thompson's naivete,
evinced. tor example, in his struggle to describe concepts
(vegetarianism, reincarnation, and sun signs) for which he
lacked a vocabulary.

Alterthe newspaperarticle and the Arnolds’s interview
(the contents of which werenot released until three decades
later), Thompson disappeared from history. his vision—
arguably literal as much as metaphorical—ol Venusian
visitors casting no shadow on the saucertall tales that would
surface in the next few years. Unlike '
Thompson’s, the Venusians of the
contactee movement would be techno-
logically sophisticated and scientifically
advanced.

No evidence indicates that George
Adamski(right) (1891-1965) everheard
of Thompson, but as a longtime figure
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on the Californiaoccult scene he knew ol Blavatsky and was
conversant in Theosophy, and he may or may not have
known the Ballards personally. What is certain is that the
golden-haired. peace-loving, long-winded Venusians he
claimed to know personally had been heard of before, but
this time there was the additional element of tlying saucers,
heretolore unmentioned cven in mystical literature dealing
specifically with interplanetary intelligences. The UFO
controversy that erupted in the summer of 1947 and contin-
ues uninterrupted to the present changed torever the land-
scapeofalternative realitics: from then on,no talk of pcople
rom other worlds could lail to mention the nuts-and-bolts
vehicles in which they arrived.

Adamski came to modest public visibility in the 1930s
as a kind of low-rent guru, tounder of the Royal Order of
Tibet and the teacher ol a doctrine he called ““Universal
Progressive Christianity.™ Known to his followers as “pro-
tfessor,” he set up a tiny observatory, with a I5-inch tele-
scope, onthe southern slope ol Mount Palomar, causing him
to be mistaken—or perhaps that was the intention—as a
prolessional astronomer Irom the Palomar Observatory a
few miles away. His emergence on the international scene
awaited the saucer craze, however. By 1949 he was adding
Juicy items about olticial cover-ups ol UFO [lights rom
“the other side of the moon™ and about secret government
knowledge that all plancts are inhabited. That same year he
published a didactic novel. Pioneers of Space. which pre-
viewed interplanetary tales sometimes much like those he
would soon peddle as actual events.

In 1950 and 1951, in Fate. a digest popular among
enthusiasts ot the paranormal, Adamski published picturcs
ofalleged spaceships. The photographsstirred considerable
interest. but nothing compared to what would happen in late
1952—November 20. specilically—when Adamski, ac-
companied by six “witnesses,™ | g —
watched a saucer land in the Cali-
fornia desert near Desert Center:
alone. he went on to speak with its
occupant, the Venusian Orthon
(right). Orthon’s essential message
was that earthlings’ warring ways
were generating concern through- R
out the solar system. e _ -

That was only the start. There were other photographs,
other contacts with Venusians, Martians, and Saturnians, a
trip into space and around the moon, and lmally (and
unacceptably to his followers) voyages to Venus and then
Saturn. He reported most ol this in three books, in pam-
phlets. in private conversations, on lecture platforms around
the world. To some he was “earth’s cosmic ambassador,”
and to others he was a shameless con man. He did not get
rich, but he did get famous in a way. Soon enough a small
army of contactees joined him in friendship and solidarity
with Venusians.

Initially, Adamskihad to be contented with pictures ol
the Venusian surlace. In his remarkably tedious /nside the

Space Ships (1955) herecounts histravels in “*Scouts™ from
Venus and Saturn and conversations—whole pages ol dron-
ing (all of it inexplicably transcribed verbatim) by assorted
spacemen. In the last chapter he boards a Venusian craft one
August day in 1954 to meet with, among others. Orthon,
who—using laserlike images—shows him scenes from Ve-
nus. “I saw magnificent mountains . . . some not very
differentlromthose ol Earth,™ Adamski wrote. “Some were
thickly timbered and 1 saw water running in streams and
cascades down the mountainsides.” Orthon noted that Ve-
nus has a system ol canals which link the planet's seven
oceans and many lakes. (In thescience-fictional Pioneers of
Space the “Venetians™ tell the narrator that they have “nine
oceans, many lakes and rivers, majestic, towering moun-
tains.™) Adamskialso saw cities consisting ol dome-shaped
buildingsand houses “radiating in prismatic colors that gave
the impression of a revitalizing force. . . . The people | saw
on the streets ot these cities scemed to be going about their
business in much the samemanneras Earth lolk, except (or
the absence ol rush and worry so noticeable with us.”
Cylinder-shaped cars glided just above the ground. (2io-
neers: “Venetian™ cars “'seem to be gliding right over the
surlace ol the ground.™)

He also observed an ocean and a beach, animals and
flowers. The clouds surrounding the planet, Orthon ex-
plained, area “lilter system’ counteracting “‘the destructive
rays which otherwise would enter its atmosphere.” That is
why the average Venusian lives a thousand earth years.

[n his last four years Adamski’s claims greweven more
outlandish, if that is imaginable, so extreme that even thosc
who had swallowed in their entirety all the previous yarns
started to suspect that he was now making upstories. Either
that, or the CIA was setting him up. Or maybe it was evil
space people; alter all, Adamski hiad acknowledged that
lately a“*new sctol’boys' had come ontothe scene, replacing
the beloved and always trustworthy Orthon and associates.
In 1961, in any event, Adamski reported that he finally got
to make the trip to Venus. Alter a 12-hour flight the ship
landed on the surtace. ltsearthly passenger wandered about
for tivehours betore boarding the Venus-Californiaexpress
tor the return trip.

Naturally, this was all exhausting. Adamski felt ta-
tigued al'ter a short walk, but that was not just because ol his
tiring travel schedule. It also had something to do with the
atmospheric pressure, which was comparable to what one
might encounter “at the altitude and in a comparable loca-
tion with Mexico City.” He noted that “80% ol the planet is
covered with water. The cloud cover that does not permit us
to sec the surtace of Venus is caused by constant evapora-
tion of moisture. This permits a large tropical area where
I'ruits and vegetables are plentutul.™

Though many contactees have told tates of adventures
with Venusians,only arelatively small numberhave claimed
actual visits to Venus. None have had much, if'anything, of
interest to say about it, though one anonymous American
wrote to the Australian Saucer Record in 1961 to state that
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his space friends denied Adamski’s contacts; Venusians do
not exist, they said, and to prove it they flew the writer to
Venus, where he saw a swampy planet with oceans and
jungles. “The reason there is no human life on Venus is that
ahumanbeingcould only livefora few days on thatplanet,”
he said. “Everything grows very fast and dies fast.”

Another Venusian traveler. who re-
ported the more typical paradisal. inhabited
world, was 1950s contact claimant Buck
Nelson (right). An Ozark farmer, Nelson
attracted even more ridicule than most with
hisstories—always related inakind of back-
woods English—which fused a naive homo-
eroticism (beautitul Venusian men who shed
theirclothing for reasons that never manage to make sense)
with racist notions (a Venus segregated by skin color) and
laughable swindles (the marketing of packets of Venusian
dog hair).

The moreobscureJohn Langdon Watts interacted with
Venusians, who., he learned, live to 2.500 of our years
because. like Thompson's friends, they eat good vegetarian
food. They are here. he wrote in the 1970s, to prepare us for
aplanet-wide cataclysm that will occasion massive damage
in the seminal year 2000. He took up residence for atime on
Venus. living in adomed city with a female resident, Mara.
From his earthly home in Florida, he published books
detailing cosmetic and diet tips he had picked up from the
lovely Mara.

The Englishman
George King (right)
zipped to Venus in his
astral body. arriving in
the Valley of the Sun at
the Temple of Solace. A
guide named Patana took
him to another temple,
from which spiritual vi-
brations were beamed into the brain ol every Venusian.
For his part King experienced “a supreme, pulsating.
scintillating, living brilliance which knew me more com-
pletely than I had ever known myself.” King subsequently
moved to Los Angeles, where he continued to channel
assorted space communications. His Aetherius Society—
named after his principal contact, a Venusian—is one of
themostsuccessfuland long-lasting ofthe contactee sects.
King himself died in 1997.

Another astral visitor, Allen Noonan (whom a cosmic
voice had asked to be “Savior of the World™: he assented).
noticed architectural marvels which somehow escaped the
attention of other pilgrims to earth’s sister planet. “There is
a city on Venus that would be called the New Jerusalem if
itwerehere.” hetold journalist Lloyd Mallan. *The cities of
ourownplanetareobsolete. On Venusthereismoststriking
city. The City of Spirals. It hasno streets. Everything is built
ofbeautiful spirals. The people and the traffic move around
on elegant spirals.™

A NIGHTMARE OF VENUSIANS

The conactees’ Venusians havebeen a tediously virtuous
lot, with very. very rarc exception. The unscttling stories
told by aSwedish man known only asHelge. whose apparent
sincerity in the face of his highly improbable testimony
puzzled some observers. including investigator Hakan
Blomqvist. are perhaps the sole exception. Helge's alleged
adventures are hard to read as either literal truth or deliber-
ate ficton, but whatever their ultimate ontological nature,
they are undeniably more interesting—quite a lot more
mteresting—than the competition in the ET-contactsection.
Like Thompson's tale. it leads one to retlect that things are
neither true nor false. The story is long and complex. and
what follows necessarily skips over a great deal of detail to
getto the core.

Bornin 1913, Helge (not hisrealname). arock blasterby
profession, lived with his wife Anna in Uddevalla, near
Goteborg. He is said 1o have been an atheist and an open
scoffer at UFO reports. though he did believe he possessed a
talent for telepathy. In the late autumn of 1965 kidney stones
were causing him discomfort. and he was to undergo an
operation on December 10. On impulse he abruptly lelt the
house withhisdogandtook awalkalonganearby frozen lake.

Something disturbed the dog, which began running in
circles and acting up. Helge put the animal on a leash, and
then he heard a whirring sound above him. Looking up. he
spotted a disc-shaped object with a translucent surface
through which he could glimpse moving tigures. The UFO
descended until itwasa few teetabove theice. A tube came
out of the bottom. and through it four humanlike entities
floated as if on an invisible elevator. Once outside, they
approached him. They were one older man. two younger
men. and a woman, all covered in a transparent overall
which revealed their nude. unblemished bodies. Entirely
hairless. they had big dark. slightly slanted eyes and perfect
teeth. Their ears were pointed. the openings inside so big
that Helge thought he could see inside their heads. On their
wrists eachworea broad dark braceletwith a yellow button
on it. The men were thick-necked and built like wrestlers.

Over the next hour the beings communicated with
Helge via drawings in the snow. They were curious about
such earthly activities as hunting and dancing, and at one
point the oldest of the group retrieved a cylinder-shaped
device from the ship, gliding it along Helge’s back. Helge
felt a warm sensation. then a cessation of the pain from his
Kidney stones. The four then returned to their cralt, which
took off'at a dizzying rate of speed.

The next day. when Helge was X-rayed prior to his
operation, medical personnel were puzzled to discover that
his physical problem had been cured. Notlong afterwards a
Stockholm ufologist interviewed him about his encounter.

In August 1966 llelge had a second contact. Again
drawn outside by some mysterious instinct, he again ob-
served the UFO hovering above the lake. This time, how-

(continued on page 26)
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DoOTY AND THE BODY SNATCHERS

3Y ROBERT DURANT

Greg Bishop. Project Beta: The Story of Paul Bennewitz,
National Securire, and the Creation of a Modern UFO
Myth. New York: Paraview. 2005.

The late Peter Jennings sneeringly dismissed Roswell
as a “myth” on his two-hour ABC network UFO show in
February 2005. How oftenhave we
ufologists impotently squirmed
as the mainstream brushes us off
as purveyors of myth and
tairytales?

Let me adopt the mainstream
mindset for a moment. | will tell
you a myth, a fairytale.

Once upon a time, an alien
was held captive by the U.S. gov-
ernment for many years atasecret
location in the Southwest. The
ET was telepathic, transferred
technologytous. and managed tosalvage from his crashed

e

The Story of Paul/Bennewitz,
National Security, ond the
Creation ofia Modern UFO Myth

GREG BISHOP

saucer a device that showed the past and futurc history of

this and other planets. Regardless of the viewer’s native
language. the information was conveyed in that language.
That is. a Russian heard Russian, and an American heard
English. The alien liked Tibetan music and savored straw-
berry ice cream. Through the captive alien’s intervention,
diplomatic relations were initiated between the U.S. and
his race. Eventually, a treaty was signed. allowing the
aliens free reign to carry out experiments on this planet.
Pursuant to the treaty. large numbers of aliens moved to
anotherlocation in the southwest U.S.. specilically,a huge
facility under Archuleta Mesa north of Dulce. New Mexico.
But things went sour when it was discovered thatthe aliens
had been abducting humans and had vats full of human
body parts in their lair. Our military forces attacked the
aliens. and eventually prevailed. but only ajter massive
casualties on both sides.

Readers of /UR are not likely to believe any of this.
Probably only some willhaveheard these storics. Butthey are
taken as gospel by multitudes who follow the UFO contro-
versy not from the pages of serious books and journals. but
from Coast to Coast AM and similar radio talk shows.

And it would come as a shock not just to UFO special-
ists. but to the general public as well, to learn that these

stories were concocted by the U.S. government and inserted
into the UFO community and thus into the publicdomain by
the U.S. government. Your tax money was put to work on a
disinformation project that achieved amazing success.

This was a serious project. carried out systematically
over a period of at least five years, and used as its primary
modalitydisinforming” anumberofkey tigures. including
ufologist William Moore, journalist Linda Howe. and of
special importance tothisdiscussion,an Albuquerque UFO
enthusiast named Paul Bennewitz.

Patl. BENNEWITZ

Project Bera recounts the harrowing story of the central
figure in this drama, Paul Bennewitz. Unlike the aliens in
underground bases scenario. this partis all true. But it is so
nearly impossible to imagine as true that [ am forced to begin
by saying that “Once upon a time™ there lived in Albuquer-
que. New Mexico. in a fairly fancy house in a fairly fancy
neighborhood. a man named Paul Bennewitz. And he was a
successtul businessman, married with two children. and an
entreprencur who started andran Thunder Scientific, a firm
selling humidity-sensing devices to various clients. includ-
ingthe military. He wasstudying for his doctorate in physics
when the business suddenly became so successtul that he
quit school to devote full time to it.

Bennewitzhad two hobbices. He tlew light airplanes as
a private pilot, which is expensive but neither controversial
nor dangerous. His other hobby was UFOs. This turned out
tobedisastrous. leading to the near-collapse of his business,
which was saved only when his sons were forced to take
over.and the total collapse ot his mental health culminating
withthreemonths in a psychiatric facility. Paul Bennewitz
died a broken man.

His house was located nearthe fence separating Kirtland
Air Force Base from the city of Albuquerque. and afforded
aview decp into the military facility. It was around 1979 that
he began to see strange lights lying in that vicinity. In a
mannertypical of his skills and scientist’s mentality. he took
still and motion picture photographs of the lights. Eventu-
ally. he accumulated 6,000 teet of movie film. At about the
same time. he begandetecting unusual radio signals. and he
custom-built special electronic equipment to enhance and
record these signals.
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STRANGE LIGHTS

Strange lights and strange electronic pulses—his UFO ob-
session came into play, connecting the dots. The lights plus
the radio signals equaled alicn spacecrall. Or so he specu-
lated. but Bennewitz took the logical and responsible step,
and called Kirtland, eventually explaining the data he had
collected to Major Ernest Edwards. commander of the
security police contingent at the base. Edwards passed the
problem ontothe Air Force Oflice ol Special Investigations
(OS1), the unit responsible tor counterintelligence.

As a consequence. Bennewitz was invited to the base
for a mecting. A group of about 20 military and civilian
otficials heard his presentation, including the movies, still
photos and the recorded radio signals.

Soon thereafter, OSI decided that they had to know
more about this gentleman. From that point lorward,
Bennewitz was treated as il he were a Russian spy. He had
mounted an extremely cfticient data-gathering program
including photography and detection ol electromagnetic
signals. Was he sending that data to Moscow? Or was he
innocent, butwere real spicsintercepting his data? Could his
network of UFO and cattle-mutilation enthusiasts harbor
Soviet spies?

So lar, so good. with Bennewitz and the Air Force
acting responsibly.

But at this point a critical decision was made by OSI.
Regardless of what they discovered about Bennewitz’s
status as a Russianagent,they would treat him as if he were
one, or as if his information could be intercepted by a spy.
(No hint of malign intent or connections was ever found.)

The alternative was to take Bennewitz aside. thank him
for his diligence. but simply say that the lights and the
signals were “ours.” And plcase, Sir, turn of 'yourradiosand
cameras. because your data could fall into the wrong hands.
Why this second option was not taken remains a prof ound
mystery.

Doty GETS A JOB

The plan wasto feed Bennewitz “disinlformation,” meaning
lalse information mixed with true information. He would
then communicatethe liestoothers.and eventually the KGB
might waste valuable resourcestrying to confirm the lies, or
even getreckless enough intheir questto be caught in the act
of spying.

Author Greg Bishop tells us that no plausible explana-
tion lor the strange lights has been lForthcoming. But his
sources attributed the anomalous radio signals to a top-
secret projectat Kirtland that concerned attempts to neutral-
ize Russian “spy satellites™ by beaming specially coded
transmissions at them. [ronically, we were trying to
“disinform™ the Russian satellites.

OSl assigned the Bennewitz job to a sergeant named
Richard C. Doty, on his first assignment with OSI, fresh
rom counterintelligence school. Doty began by belriending

Bennewitz, establishing a social bond. emphasizing his Air
Force “intelligence insider™ connections and special knowl-
edge about UFOs. With Bennewitz entranced, Doty began
to relate the preposterous “aliens in underground bases™ lie
concoctedbyOSlofticials. whichthey continued totell him
inincreasingly grisly elaborations until he was institutional-
ized and no longer available to listen.

Apparently, Bennewitz died in the firm beliefl that the
lights he photographed were ET craft landing at Kirtland in
cooperation with the U.S. government,andtheradiosignals
were communications between the ET fleet and Air Force
officials.

USEFUL 1D1IOTS

AsDoty fed the storics,and Bennewitz evangelized, spread-
ing them far and wide, the lies were enthusiastically re-
ceived by multitudes, mainly listeners to the very popular
Art Bell and similar talk radio programs. It seems that in the
intelligence profession people like Bennewitz are known
dismissivelyasuselul idiots.” This idiot proved exception-
ally useflul, and spawned a generation ol equally useful
idiots.

Eventually, personalities such as John Lear and Will-
iam Cooper took these tales to new heights. Always the
information was attributed to "highly placed sources in the
intelligence community.” But the real fountainhead wasan
otherwise nondescript junior sergeant, Richard Doty.

Soon atter going to work on Bennewitz. Doty met and
recruited mainstream ulologist William Moore. who had
already been approached by the Delense Intelligence Agency.
Moore was coauthorol'the first book on Roswell and was an
ofticer of the Aerial Phenomena Research Organization
(APRO), based in Arizona. Doty’s offer to Moore was
simple: Go to work tor us, and we will let you in on what the
government really knows about UFOs.

Mooreaccepted the ofter, and immediately beganpass-
ing to Doty all he knew about other ufologists, as well as
giving him access to the APRO files. and even going so far
as to recruit APRO’s secretary to provide instant notice of’
new developments to Moore. so that he could better serve
Doty. Several years later, Moore 'ound himself. innocently
orotherwise. inthe midst ofa major UFO controversy, when
aroll of film wasreceived by his colleague Jaime Shandera.
The tilm showed the MJ-12 documents, a briefing allegedly
prepared lor President Eisenhower describing UFO crash
retrievals. stamped with top-secret security classification
caveats,

In 1989, apparently having gotten the short end of this
Faustian deal, Moore stunned the UFO community in a
speech in which he told the details of his association with
Doty and other intelligence community characters. Of par-
ticular interest here is that Moore admits that they knew
Bennewitz was psychologically marginal to begin with and
steadily deteriorating under pressure ol the unremitting
disinformation from Doty. Further. Moore said that Doty
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and others had surreptitiously entered Bennewitz's house
and rearranged the furniture in the livingroomas a deliber-
ate ploy to lurther destabilize him.

Doty says his efforts to betriend Bennewitz had a very
practical basis, in that it he invited him (Doty) and other
intelligence operatives into his house, they could proceed
without a search warrant. But elsewhere. Doty admits to
what Moore claims, surreptitious entry into the Bennewitz
house intheabsence ot Bennewitz and without permission.

Linda Howe is an Emmy-winning TV journalist and
writer. and producer of three documentaries tor the United
Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) about international
child survival eftorts, but she is best known to the UFO
community for her books and television documentaries
about the cattle mutilation controversy.

Howe produceda TV show about cattie mutilations that
caught the eyes of the spooks, and Doty, having had such
success with Bennewitz and then Moore, was tasked with
disinforming her. Inviting Howe to his OSI office on the
grounds of Kirtland AFB, Doty said that the Air Force was
ready to disclose UFQ secrets to the public, and wanted to
use her as the conduit. She would be provided with motion-
picture film of an alien craf't landing at an Air Force basce, of’
the aliens disembarking, and of a short conference between
the aliens and government officials.

Then Doty gave Howe a document to read, but warned
she could not make notes or keep it. Her recollection of the
textis that it was much like the "MJ-12 Eisenhower Brief-
ing™ which reached the public much later. On the basis of
these representations, and the seemingly otficial circum-
stances in which they were made, Howe approached HBO
with a proposal for a UFO spccial. Naturally. I1IBO was
enthusiastic. But of course Howe never got the film, and
cventually gave up. correctly concluding that she had been
deceived.

Howe has written extensively about this al'fair. Doty
categorically denied the meeting ever took place, even in the
facc of'an aftidavit from Howe. andachallengeto Doty that
he swear to his version. In a recent radio interview, Doty
recounted the story. admitting the truth ot Howe's account.
and said by way ot explanation that the plan was to dissuade
Howe from making any UFO-related television shows!
Obviously. the affair did no good for Howe’s reputation as
a journalist. But it did nothing to take Howe's attention of t
UFOs. In fact. Doty conceded the Howe project had to be
counted as one of his l'ew failures.

Richard Doty enlisted in the Air Force fresh out of
high school. spent nine years as a military policeman. and
then shifted to OSI. After his service at Kirtland, he was
sent to an OSI office in Germany, where things went sour.
Various versions have made the rounds, but it is almost
certain that Doty was dismissed from OS! “for cause,™ and
shipped backto Kirtland. wherc he ignominiously linished
his Air Force career in the services tield. reportedly in
charge of the mess hall.

Afterretiring with20yearsofservice.hewasemployed

as a New Mexico state trooper. With regard to recent
employment, he claimedto be an investigator tor the Albu-
querque District Attorney, and then that he was an attorney.
But the New Mexico barhas norecord ofa Richard C. Doty.

Philip Klass focused his attention on Doty and per-
suaded the FBI to look into his activitics, apparently in
connection with the MJ-12 document. The existence of an
oflicial program ot disinformation aimed at utfologists does
not sit well with Klass, the premier spokesman for the
position that UFOs are bunk. But it Klass found anything
showing that the Bennewitz alfair was carried out without
sanction and authority, he never published it.

Do71y’s CoveEr-up LIVE ON ART BELL

On February 27, 2005, Doty appeared as a gueston the Art
Bell Coast to Coast radio program. This was his first public
appearance, and Greg Bishop was on the air with him. The
tollowing are fragments {rom the program, which will give
a flavor for what you will find in Project Beta. but these
come directly trom Doty.

|Referringtotheinitial approach to Bennewirz] "So we
became very, very good friends, which is one thing you do
in counterintelligence. You become friends with a person.
you start abetting him. Yeah, and then eventually, you start
teeding him information. And what we did was convinced
him that what he was picking up wasn'tanything classified
trom the base, but in lact it probably was of alien origin.”

|Bennewitz flew his private airplane to observe and
photograph Archuleta Mesa. where Doty hadsaidthe alien
base was situated. And Doty is able to gather other re-
sources to enhance the illusion.]Paul was a pilot. he would
fly up there, and he would photograph things. And he was
convinced that the things that he was photographing was
actually an alien base. So. what we did was we went ahead,
tortitied his thought by putting a fence up there around
certainthings, bringing in some helicopters trom FortCarson,
Colorado. Army helicopters. which by the way, they were
using that area as a training base, also. We had a couple of
black helicopters.™

(Ofinterest perhaps to those with knowledge ofthe law
is Doty’s explanation of the utility of the disinformation
campaign as a way around the “rules. "] 1t was casier. it’s
easier for us to have done it that way than to get a warrant,
search warrant, and a seizure warrant, seize all his property,
seize his equipment. You know, what would that do? It
would cause a lot ol publicity. And the wrong type of
publicity the base wanted.™

[Though he was the primary agent working on Bennewitz,
Dorv was only one of a team involved in the broader
disinformation campaign. which ranged far from Kirtland')
“Well, itjustwasn’tme. it wasateam, | mean, [ couldn’thave
done this all myselt'” [And then referring 1o Linda Howe.]
“Well we, Linda was invited to Kirtland Air Force Base, and
I was the primary agent. There weretwo other agents involved
in it, not just me. but there’s two others.”
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[ArtBell challenges Doty: 1 followed orders. but those
orders never came down intentionally ordering me to lie to
somebody. "1 “Well, 1 didn’t, | do f'eel the way you do, now,
Art.  do, | really do. Then, I didn’t. | mean, | didn’t, | was
a2&, 29-year-old. I didn't think of it that way. [ was, it was
an order, and it was an operation, and we were doing what
we were told to do.”

[Doty is indoctrinated in UFO “facts ™ in preparation
for his assignment to UF O disinformation projects.] “They
took me into a room and, at Air Force Special Security
Of'fice. There was a colonel and a civilian. There was two of
usin there at thattime to be briefed. They sat us down, and
they gave us a slide presentation of, a short slide presenta-
tion of what we were going to get, and some other things.
And then they showed us film, a 16-millimeter [1lm, classi-
fied, coded word classifted, which started, and it was a
narration of Roswell. I mean this, what we were watching
there was the actual film of the recovery operation in
Roswell.”

[Doty: meets William Moore.] “l was tasked with, Bill
Moore was recruited by another person within Defense
Intelligence Agency, to provide, as a disinformation, he was
recruited as an asset. That’s what within the intelligence
community they call a spy, a person that’s working for you
is an asset. And, Bill came toNew Mexico, and | was tasked
with contacting Bill atter he had a, Ithink he did a radio clip
ona talk show.”
| Art Bell asks. " How many of these big-tinie ujologists,
names we would know, so to speak, have been approached
by people who were in vour line of work? "] =l think prob-
ably a good number of prominent ufologists were
approached at one time or the other. Some of them took the
bait. some of them said. screw you. walked away.™

[On why the government continues to cover up the
alien presence.] **A lot of the disinformation is to protect
technology. There's some things that we got [rom them,
fromthe visitors that we're tryingto protect. And that has to
be satfeguarded. And | agree with that. But]l don’tagree that
just the mere lact that we were visited should be held up.™

PAID TO LIE

Doty presents us with a concrete example ol the paradox,
“Everything |say is a lie.” He was paid to lie, trained in the
artof lying. and rewarded for his success in lying.

There is little doubt that Doty is less than perfectly
truthf'ul about the events in Germany that affected his
military career. And he seems uneasy with his status on the
lower rungs of the educational and military rank hierar-
chies. Several times in Project Bera we tind him boasting
about having lunch in the Of'ficer’s Club. Early during the
Art Bell interview we heard this exchange: Bell: “You
were officer rank, by the way?” Doty: [pause] “l was a
Special Agent, yes.”

Ithink it entirely possible that the introductory brieting
Doty reccived was itsel { phony. Itincluded details about the

Yellow Book and the Red Book, presented to Doty as
complete manuals describing the aliens and their culture, as
well as film clips of the Roswell clcanup and the captured
alien. At the risk of stating the obvious. headquarters would
wanttohaveits minionsbelievingthatstory. It would insure
the Dotys did their jobs with great zeal. And it is so [ull of
preposterous details that the emergence of a whistle-blower
like Doty would be insignificant. Who would believe him?

Great care mustbeexcrcised todistinguish between his
account of the disinlormation campaigns on the one hand,
and his apparent belief” in the substantive content ol the
disinformation he conveyed. There is ample external verif'i-
cation for the stories of disinformation campaigns against
Bennewitz and Howe, per Doty’s accounts in Project Beta
and on the Art Bell program. But there is no external data
supporting the Yellow Book scenarios.

In sum. the post-Air Force Doty is probably being
honest. Almost.

Doty says his ultimate supervisor at OSI Headquarters
was Colonel Barry Hennessey. When a colleague of mine
asked Hennessey about Doty, Hennessey denounced him.
Butonemustask,where was Hennessey when he could have
court-martialed Doty? Another supervisor was Colonel
Richard Weaver. chiet of counterintelligence during much
of the Bennewitz period. Yes, this is the same Richard
Weaver appointed by the Sccretary of the Air Force to
“investigate™ the Roswell Incident.

An acquaintance of mine who spent a career as an
intelligence ofTicial,and whohasfollowedthe UFO contro-
versy with great interest and is well versed in the Bennewitz
affair, was kind enough to offer me his opinion ol Doty. |
asked about Doty’s credibility, but also commented on the
questions raised by the existence ol formal disinformation
programs in the UFO lield. He replied. “In fact, the only
persons have ever knowntodoubtMr. Dotyarepersonsnot
in government, and who don't know him.” And in a general
comment on the UFO problem, he stated, "My personal
view on the entire area, come to af'ter 30 years of analysis,
isthat the subjectin its entirety isnota proper one for public
discussion. To the extent the corestory is true, it is legally
protected by legitimate clearances and sateguards.™

FAILED OPPORTUNITIES

Much of what I have recounted so Far appears in Project
Beta, but the reader could do almost as well by consulting
Jerome Clark’s The UFO Encyclopedia, in the section he
whimsically calls “The Dark Side.” Unfortunately, author
GregBishop hasmissed multiple opportunities to make this
a significant book with broad appeal far beyond the UFO
and conspiracy readerships. The subtitle ot the book i1s* The
story ol Paul Bennewitz, National Security, and the Cre-
ation of a Modern UFO Myth.™ Three major topics. three
golden opportunitics to educate and fascinate the reader, but
Bishop is never up to the task.

We learn nextto nothing about Bennewitz the man, his
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personality and how he changed over the years since the
pivotal firstencounter with Doty. Surely he had friends and
business associates who could have fleshed it out. With a
full social life and a thriving business at the outset, his
decline could not have gone unnoticed.

Mooreand Doty werethe primary sources for this book.
Bishop says he regularly lunches with Moore, and that he
interviewed Doty at length over a long period. These men
spent much time with Bennewitz and must have anccdotes
to share that shed light on Bennewitz the human being,
beyond Bennewitz the useful idiot that emerges monochro-

matically from the pages of Project Beta. Even stripped of

the UF O context.thestory of Paul Bennewitz is high drama,
or would be atthe hands of nearly any other author. Here he
appears merely weird and wooden.

Bishop knows very little about ufology and his con-
tempt ftor the field is evident throughout. That serious
people take UFOs seriously seems to have escaped him.
Thus any and all engaged in the field are painted as
marginal characters. This ignorance infects the entire
enterprise embarked upon by Bishop. which is to tell the
story of systematic government lying about UFOs to onc
man, Paul Bennewitz.

Because he does not take UFOs seriously. Bishop fails
to consider the broader issues. The book could have and
should have dealt with the Bennewitz case as mercly one in
a long series of analogous operations. stretching at least as
far back asthe 1970s. In this way he could have tulfilledthe
promised exploration of “*national security and the creation
of a modern UFO myth.™

BEFORE AND BEYOND BENNEWITZ

In addition to the instances of disinformation listed previ-
ously, it is useful to consider other cases in which individu-
als wereapproached by intelligence olficers with supposed
inside information about UFOs. Herc is a partial list:
1972—Movic producers Robert Emeneggerand Allan
Sandler were approached by Air Force of'ficials and asked
to cooperate in a documentary in which the government
wouldreveal thereality of ET cratt. The producers metatthe
Pentagon with Colonel William ColemanandColonel George
Weinbrenner, who told about various saucer crashes, and
showed film of captive alicns. survivors of a crash. A year
later, the producers were invited to Norton Air Force Base,
where they were told by the head of OSI at the base and Paul
Shartle. chief of the audiovisual program, that film of the
aliens would be made available tor the planned documen-
tary. Soon thereatter. the offer was rescinded, and the Air
Force rebuffed further inquiries from the puzzled produc-
ers. [n 1988 Shartle said he was told by the Air Force thatthe
film in question was*'theatrical footage lor a training tilm.”
Early 1980s—Colonel William Coleman again con-

tacted Robert Emenegger. this time rencwing the olffer of
film and other proof of the ET nature of UFOs, but only if

Emenegger could convince ufologists Jacques Vallee and

J. Allen Hynek to get involved. Coleman was retired from
the Air Force when he made this contact. Hynek, and then
Vallee, visited Norton AFB, where they were briefed by
Brigadier General Glenn E. Miller, deputy director of the
Defense Audiovisual Agency (DAVA), and the director,
Major General Robert Scott. According to Vallee, the
briefing by these senior officers sounded like the rantings of’
a contactee. Neither Vallee nor Hynek wanted any part of
this obvious fraud.

1986—AF Captain Robert Collins, an associate of
Richard Doty contacted uf ologist Leonard Stringticld, spe-
cialist in crash stories. Collins offered documents and an
introductionto Lieutenant Colonel Ernie Kellerstrauss, who
claimsawealth of “insider™ information. Stringlielddoesn’t
bite,so Collins moveson to Dr. Bruce Macabbee, who does
engage in lengthy contact with Kellerstrauss, the thrust of
which is Collins-Doty UFO history.

1987—UFO and stealth aircralt hobbyist Lee Graham
was employed as an aerospace technician when he was
approached by Bill Moore and given copies of the MJ-12
documents. Afraid he might lose his clearance and thus his

job, Graham took the documents to his supervisors, request-

ing an investigation. Moore was untouched, but the Detense
Investigative Service grilled Graham! Later, he was visited at
work by FBIl agent William Hurley, in company with Ma jor
General Michact Kerby. Both praised Graham for his work in
disseminating the MJ-12 papersto the public. Kerby told him
details ofthe stealth tighter that werestill secret. A mystitied
and still frightened Graham cut of f contact with Moore.

1987—Whitley Stricber reccived a provocative letter
that included a telephone number. When he called. he was
told, “We are in a war here, and you're on the tront line,”
along with detailsaboutthe alien invaders. Stricber hired a
private detective, who traced the telephone number and mail
drop to a Defense Department exchange n Colorado.

1988—Stringflield issuddenly and simultaneously con-
tacted by no less than 10 “informants.™ all of whom have
crashed saucer stories to tell.

1988—A televisionspecialtitled *UFO Cover-up Live™
isaired. Richard Doty and RobertCollins appear on camera,
though with facesand voices distorted, giving the public the
“truth™ about the aliens in captivity, etc. The program is
remembered mainly for the straight-faced claim that the
aliens living in captivity like strawberry ice cream and
Tibetan music.

Late 1980s—John Lear emerges with essentially the
same story fed to Bennewitz, but with more grisly elabora-
tions. He insists that his source is “a highly placed intelli-
gence official.”” People who know Learattestto his honesty
and common sense in all areas other than UFOs.

Late 1980s—Film producer Robert Emenegger is ap-
proached again, and this time he is promised a meeting with
a live alien.

1989—British ufologist and author Timothy Good is
approached by the Ringling Brothers Circus with an ofterto
produce a traveling UFO display. Good was assured that
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NASA and other government agencies would support the
project. It came to nothing.

1989—Veteran New York Times journalist Howard
Blum was preparing a book about the Walker family spy
case when in the course of interviewing a senior NSA
official he was given a strange tip. Although the tip had
nothing to do with the Walker casc, Blum was told that a
high-level group within the intelligence community was
studying the UFO problem. and thatapparently they favored
the ETexplanation. Blum’s book Our There recounts histrip
through this UFO (and disinforination) never-never land.
Doty is prominently mentioned in the book.

1995—Jenny Randles and several other British
ufologists aretold of the Alien Autopsy tilmand then watch
a presentation of the ftlm. It causes a sensation until serious
questions are asked about its provenance. But television
programs continue to show stills of the ““alien™ when intro-
ducing UFO programming.

1996—Ufologist Nick Redfern is approached by a
British civil servant, beginning a series of referrals to other
“sources™ who combine to build a case l'or an alternative to
an ET Roswell. In the new version, all is explained by
nuclear experiments, Japanese super-balloons. and horrid
experiments on human sub jects.

Nick Redfern, Bodv Snarchers inthe Desert: The Horrible
Truth ar the Heart of the Roswell Storv. New York:
Paraview, 2005. $14.00.

I will admit that when [ first read Bodv Snarchers |
thought Redfern had written a novel. Just flesh out the
characters, add some sex and vio-
lence, and voila! And then he de-
cided there was a bigger market in
nontiction Roswell. But Redfern is
a known quantity in ufology. the
author of a series of good books in
the lield. The alternative, which 1
think 1is almost certainly the truc
state of affairs. is that he isthe latest
victim of'the relentless program to
disinform ufology. When the book
isread with thisin mind, itbecomes
coherent, even humorous.

- THE HORRIBLE TRUTH &'
THE HEART OF THE ROSWELL STORY

NiCK REDFERN

THE REAL ROSWELL INCIDENT

In Redfern’s words,

Forget flying saucers. Roswell had nothing to do with
the crash ot an extraterrestrial space vehicle. The truth
1s much darker and far more disturbing and has becn
covered up for more than hall a century.

What happened. in short. is this: in May 1947, an
experimental aircraft that was born out ol the revolu-
tionary aviation research ol the Horten brothers of
Germany was test-flown from White Sands. New

Mexico. The [Tight was partof a larger project begun in
1946 to examine the teasibility of both constructing and
flying a nuclear powered aircratt. On board the vehicle
were a number ot physically handicapped people who
hadbeen found in the remnants of'the Japanese military’s
Unit 731 laboratories and who were used in this dark
and disturbing experiment—the purpose ol which was
to try to better understand the effects of nuclear-pow-
ered Hlights on an aircrew. The experiment ended in
disaster when the aircratt crash-landed at White Sands.
killing some ol the crew.

Two months later. in early July 1947, a second and
similar vehicle was. once again, flown from White
Sands. In this particular instance. the aircrait was af-
fixed to a huge balloon array that was based upon
advanced Fugo balloon designs developed in the clos-
ing stages of World War 11 by Japanese forces. The
aircratt was piloted by a crew of Jupanese personnel
who had been specifically trained for the task and
crashed near the Foster Ranch. . . .

Judging from the uproar on Internet chat sites (for
example, www.virtuallystrange.net/ufo/updates/), Redfern
is being taken very seriously. Those who have beencritical
ot'the ET hypothesis tor Roswell. and who now admit the
deficiencies ot the Mogul explanation, have rushed to em-
brace the new revelations.

OPERATION PAPERCLIP

Operation Paperclip was the codename under which the
U.S. intelligence and military services extracted approxi-
mately 500 scientists from Germany. during and atter the
linal stages of World Warll. Most ol'these were involved in
the V-1 and V-2 rocket projects. The scientists and their
families were spirited into the U.S. in great secrecy and
without State Department approval. Some aspects ol
Paperclip remain classitied. although there is a large litera-
ture on this fascinating episode.

Redlern claims that there was an analogous Japanesc
Paperclip project, comprised of two elements. (1) biologi-
cal warfare and, (2) long-range manned balloon technology.
Experts in both arcas. whose hands were as bloody as those
ol the Nazi Paperclip crowd, were secretly brought to the
United States and employed in research projects.

RICE-PAPER CLiIP

The Japancese operated a truly hideous biological warfare
laboratory using human sub jects. This was known to the
Allies and the project’s files remaining upon capitulation
were sent back to the U.S. At least a few of the project
personnel were questioned at length in Japan. There is
ample documentation ol the existence ol the project, the
specific activities it encompassed, and the interrogation of
the few principals who were found. A considerable litera-
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ture produced by American and Soviet investigators is
available onthe Japanese Army’sUnit 73 1. However, there
isno documentation offered by Redfernforthe pivotal claim
that the U.S. imported Unit 731 personnel and put them to
work. a la Paperclip.

Similarly. there was a Japanese long-range balloon
project. but it consisted of primitive rice-paper balloons
carrying several small incendiary bombs. These were the
Fugo balloons, 32 feet in diameter, lotted into the strato-
sphere where they were pushed eastward toward North
America by the prevailing jet streams. Over 9.000 were
launched. with an estimated 300 arriving on this side of the
Pacific Ocean, landing all the way from Alaska to Mexico.
but few making itoverthe mountain ranges.and withalmost
no damage inflicted. As a military weapon. Fugo has to be
one of the least cffective on record. But apparently it will
live foreveras a prop inthe search for explanations of UFO
reports.

In Redfern’s version, the Fugo designers were not
hapless dead-enders. but brilliant engineers ready to launch
“a huge balloon array that was based upon advanced Fugo
balloon designs developed in the closing stages of World
War I1.” But he provides absolutely no documentation even
tor the claim that they were designing such a device. much
less that they were ready to launch one. Unlike Bill Moore.
who proftered as documentation for his MJ-12 disin formation
photocopies of the MJ-12 briefing document. Redfern leaves
us berett ot even questionable documentation!

Andthisarrayreallyhadto behuge.because if we credit
Redfern. it was to have a crew of four. and would fly in the
stratosphere just like the Fugo. Thus it would need oxygen
and heat 10 keep the crew alive during the two or three-day
light. They would have no more control of the {light path
than did the Fugos, sotheir deadly Ireight of microbes might
be wasted on an Alaskan glacier or Mexican desert. The
practical difficultics with this proposed balloon arc such
that it strikes me as ridiculous. Even in recent years. with
modern technology available. mannedballoons flying long
distancesareaverytricky proposition, one in which the rare
success makes headlines.

DOCUMENTATION?

But what really sinks Redfernis that. once again ona pivotal
claim. he has absolutely no documentation. What he offers
us is asingle 1945 American newspaper article! The article
quotes a Japanese military source in what is obviously
desperate bravado, probably propaganda designed to lift
domestic spirits by invoking a super-weapon.

The insertion of nuclear power and radiation experi-
ments into the story is puzzling, and similarly flawed. The
well-documented ettorts to create nuclear propulsion came
much later than 1947, there is norecordof such experiments
in the White Sands area.and what scientists wanted toknow
about the eftects of radiation on humans was tound without
resortingto flyingtest sub jects seated nearradiation sources

n an aircraft. Again, the studies of radiation on humans are
the sub ject of extensive documentation, most of it commen-
tary on the lamentableamorality of the researchers, butthere
for all to study. Redfern’s version is not part of the record.

And finally, there is the matter of the “revolutionary
aviation research of the Horten brothers of Germany.”
Redtern devotes an entire chapter (Hitler's Disks) to the
Nazi super-weapons, a standard explanation for UFOs with
its own fairly extensive literature, all of it based on rumors,
none of it based on fact. The Horten brothers developed
several models of flying wings. a design that never found
significant practical application until years later. They were
failed experimenters i their native Germany and later in
England immediately af'ter the war, where their “revolution-
ary” research wasstudied and found wanting. On the general
topic of Hitler's Disks and so on. one should ask why. asthe
Red Army bore down on Berlin and the Americans formed
a wall to the west, the German hicrarchy did not deploy any
of these purportedly revolutionary flying machines?

The flying wing, Redfern insists, was attached to the
huge balloon.and was meantio beameansto glide tosaf ety
after spraying the Reds with deadly microbes or plutonium
dust. The contraption got hit by lightning, gotentangled. and
crashed. ending the research program. but of course launch-
ing the Roswell Incident.

As a veteran of 36 years as a pilot with the U.S. Navy
and twomajorairlines. including a stint as manager of flight
engineering for one of the airlines. | have developed a feel
For what a practical 1Tying device can and can not be. The
balloon-wing combination fails the common-sense test.
Furthermore, there are sources of true expertise on the
history of aviation that Redfern could have consulted. such
asthe Experimental Aircratt Association and the Smithsonian
Institution. T will defer to experts like these to judge the
fundamental feasibility of the Redfern balloon-wing and
whether anything like iteverexisted.

SOURCES?

By farthe most interesting aspect of Body Snatchiers are the
sources for the Redfern scenario. As we have seen, he has
nothing in the way ot the documentation that would satisty
even the tlexible standards of utology, much less those ofa
historian. But he has a great wealth of help from voluble
“insiders”™ who belicve it is high time the real story of
Roswell was told. They are quoted throughout the book
without the slightest wink or nod.

Redfern: “From 199610 2004. 1 spoke with anumberof
military and intelligence whistle-blowers. all of whom re-
lated 10 me the details of a series of shocking post—World
War Il experiments undertaken on American soil.™ Here
they are. with what little we arc told about them by way of
biographical information. (Before proceeding, it might be
instructive to return to and review the short history of
disinformation projects in the section titled "Betore and

(continued on page 31)
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cver, the older man stood outside in mid-air. and he spoke.
but his words were not coordinated with his lips; they
scemed to emanate trom the ship moments after the mouth
movement. Helge was given a metal plate and instructed to
wear it always. The being instructed him to go to the
Bahamas (and specifically to the Bahamian island of Little
Exuma)astheirrepresentative. Helge declined onthe grounds
that he could not speak English. was uneducated. and had a
wite to care for. All to no avail—he was told that he had no
choice in the matter.

Afterwards, Helge buried the plate. a small rectangle
made of'an aluminum-like material. about three inches wide
by two inches thick. with threerows of' symbols on one side.
The following March, leaving it behind, he and Anna
nonetheless wenttothe Bahamasto live. On the tlight there,
they noticed 14 men who, because of their black dress, they
assumed were Catholic priests. The “priests.” however,
were nowhere in sight when everyone else left the airliner.
Beyond that curious little incident, nothing of significance
happened. Too embarrassed to return to their hometown,
Helge and Anna moved south of' Stockholm to an apartment
arranged for them by a small UFO group which knew
something about his experience. A wealthy member of the
club offered to finance further trips to the Bahamas.

Helge drove to Uddevalla and dug up the plate. Head-
ing back to Stockholm. he stopped at a gas station where an
oddly dressed old man. sporting black slouch hat and black
cape, approached and asked if he could accompany him.
Helge agreedtotake him. Onthe way the stranger revealed
himsclt1o be one of the “priests™ on the light, identitying
himself” as Father Rapas (“'Ra Paz" in one account). He
worked for the “overlords.” as he called them, who had
contacted Helge earlier. He directed Helge to return to the
Bahamas and to bring along the plate this ime. Rapas took
over the driving, and Helge dosed oft. When he awoke. the
car was parked near its destination, and the driver was gone.

The couple stayed at a hotel in Nassau as 1967 turned
into 1968. This time Helge was taken alone in a boat with
two others to a small Bahamian island. Through an opening
they entereda mountain. and inside itthey found themselves
in an extraterrestrial basc where they observed several kinds
of entities, including giants. dwarfs. and hermaphrodites.

From then on, however, Helge would deal with the sorts of

Venusians who occupy more typical contactee literature:
beautiful and golden-haired.

Helge came back with orders to found a group to be
called the New Generation, which was to attract young
peopletowork forpeaceandjustice. The core was the small
UFO group that had formed around Helge. who showed its
members what he alleged was a letter from Rapas. Its
language was bluntto the point of rudeness: “We detest you.
Thatis why we believe in the youth; they are the only ones
whose hands are notsotled with the blood of others. ... Your
catchword shall be: Freedom from violence—trom hun-

ger—we are all brothers and sisters. . . . You who have
supported [Helge] shall not be forgotten; you shall reap a
hundredtold. but it someone hurts him or his devoted wite.
| say, they shall be revenged sevenfold.” Rapas also pro-
duced a list of'65 rules members were obliged to follow—
or clse. Helge himself was to stay n the background.

The New Generation fellapart within months. Its mem-
bers, unenthusiastic from the start. felt anxious about the
threats, and the group’s wealthy benefactor expressed dis-
pleasure at being asked for large sums of money whose
purpose was never explained to him. The New Generation
did generate some coverage in the Swedish press. but its
origins in space-contact claims were keptsecret. Following
the movement's collapse. Helge withdrew into seclusion
and cut of f'ties with nearly everyone.

His adventures continued. and he traveled to the Baha-
mas and to Mexico doing the work ot the spacemen (there
were no women involved past the first incident in 1965).
Sometimes he flew in spacecrafi. I-le met other humans.
including an American whowas murderedsoonalterwards;
the space people explained that the man had either been a
CIA agent or leaked information about their whereabouts to
theagency. Helge hated and feared the overlords, character-
1zing his association with them a"hell.” He was afraid to cut
himselfof f from them because he was sure they would kill
him it he did. The overlords lacked any sense of compas-
sion: whatever their verbal assertions to the contrary. their
actions showed they cared nothing about human suftering.
evenifitwasoccurringright in frontof them. Helge telt like
no more than an animal when he was around them. They
never slept, as far as he could tell. and they lived on no more
than liquid sustenance. They were either ignorant or disin-
genuous: when asked a question. they would not respond
immediately butcome back up witha vagueanswer24 hours
later. Helge came to suspect that they harbored sinister
intentions on the human race, perhaps planning to infiltrate
the population until they could take over.

At one point. noting that contactces such as Adamski
and Howard Menger, who purportedly worked with good
space people. also spoke of evil aliens who opposed them,
Ilelge said he had fallen in with the wrong group. He died of
a heart attack on October 23, 1977, at the age of 64.

The Swedish ufologist Hakan Blomgvist spoke with
Helge only once, in 1973, and the phone conversation was
brief. Helge said little morce than that he was forbidden to
talk about his experience. Overaperiod of years. Blomqvist
pieced it together trom informants who knew Helge. After
thecontactee’sdeath he wasabletotrack downthe Stockholm
doctor who had treated him between 1968 and 1972. The
physician saw no evidence that Helge suftered from any
mental disorder; yet he spoke from time to time of his
dealings with extraterrestrials. Most of all. the doctor had
the impression ot a badly frightened individual.

Blomgvist interviewed Helge's widow Anna in June
1984, “Likeherformerhusband.™ the investigator wrote. ““she
is very down to earth and practical. She confirmed almost all
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the details of the contact and added several interesting pieces
of information. What startled me somewhat was her almost
total lack of interest in the subject of UFOs.™

She recalled that her tirst meeting with an ostensible
spacemanwas during the third trip to the Bahamas. Insisting
thathe wassupposedto meetone of hiscontactsthere,Helge
led her to a Nassau disco. There she encountered a short,
peculiar-looking man with hypnotic eyes. At one point the
stranger produced a photograph which he said depicted his
family who lived on Venus (or maybe it was Saturn: Anna
was not sure about the precise planet of residence). After
that Anna stayed home while her husband traveled alonc to
the islands. He sometimes would be gone as long as amonth,
returning with a deep tan. The spacemen frequently came to
the couple’splace in Sweden, however, and she witnessed—
at least peripherally—some of their interactions with Helge.

After years of monitoring developments to the bestof’
his ability, Blomqvist was inclined to the view that every-
one was sincere and that something very strange had
indced taken place. On the other hand. he confessed.
“sometimes | get a feeling of unrcality, like reading a
science fiction novel. " More specifically. Helge's tale has
the resonance of a tale written by the late Argentine
Fantasist Jorge Luis Borges.

Italso 1s consistentwith a notion argued in the writings
ofthe controversial occultjournalistJohn A. Keel(b. 1930),
In Keel's judgment Venusians and other ostensible space
people exist as extraordinary entities but arc not who they
say they arc. Beneath their friendly extraterrestrial exteri-

ors, theyaresinister-ultraterrestrials ™" —demons by another
name—I{rom an invisible realm Kecel calls the “Super-
spectrum.” known in traditional mystical lore as the astral or
ctheric world. In UFOs: Operation Trojan Horse (1970) he
puts it this way:

Suppose a strange metallic disk covered with flashing
colored lights settled in yourbackyard and atall man in
a onc-piece silver space suit gat out. Suppose he looked
unlike any man you had everscen before, and when you
asked him where was he was from. he replied. *'1 am
from Venus.” Would you argue with him? Chances are
you would accept his word for it. ... Buried within the
contextofallthe contactees” messages there are cluesto
an even more complex threat. A directthreatto us. . . .
The endless descriptions of peaceful far-ott worlds and
shining cities of glass are only subterfuges.

Even those taking a more benign view of’ Venusians
have beenforced tobow to the reality that the planet cannot
possibly supportintelligentlife. While Venusians no longer
comprise the leading extraterrestrial faction in contact claims,
they still make the rounds, almost always these days as
channeling spirit entities rather than as physical saucer
pilots. Contactees and their followers now say that the
“Venus™ of Adamskiand his successors wasand is a sortof
parallel-universe—orhigher-vibrational—counterparttothe
planet of our lower-vibrational place on the vibrational
scale. Themoralofthe story isthatastronomical discoveries
can’tkill Venusians. but they can renderthem invisible. 4

Philip J. Klass, 1919-2005

Philip J. Klass. aviation journalist and UFO debunker, died
in a nursing home in Cocoa, Florida. on August 9, 2005.
Cause of death. according to press reports, was prostate
cancer. He had moved to Merritt Island, Florida. in 2003
afterresiding in Washington, D.C.. formore than
halfa century.

Klass rose to prominence on the UFO scene
with an article in the August 22, 1966, issue of
Aviation Week and Space Technology, of which
he was an editor. Klass theorized that UFOs are
indeed extraordinary phenomena: a form of
plasma (electrified air), some of whose manifes-
tations are so dramatic that science has yet to
document orunderstand them. He expanded this
idea into a full-length book. UFOs Explained
(1968). The theory was dismissed as scientifi-
cally unsustainable—pseudoscientific, to put it
bluntly—by atmospheric physicists, including the Univer-
sity ol Arizona’s James E. McDonald and. later, a pane!
assembled by the Condon Commuittee.

The approach that Klass would bring to his UFO work
became evident early on. after UFO proponent McDonald's
debunking ofKlass’s plasmatheory (which Klass refused to

disavow, though he ceased to discuss it publicly ever after).
Hedevoted thenext I8 monthstoaneffortto cause McDonald
trouble and embarrassment. going so far as to pressure the
Office of Naval Researchtocancel acontract withMcDonald
forascientific projectunrelated to UFOs. Klass
also launched. and distributed as widely as pos-
sible, a series of white papers. heavily italicized,
intended to raise questions about McDonald's
personal integrity—a method he would employ
against other antagonists in later years. none
more so than abductce Travis Walton.

With UFOs — Explained (1974) Klass intro-
duced the style for which he would be best
known: seeking to account for puzzling reports
withexplanations presentedas prosaic. buttressed
with accusations that witnesses were lying or
exaggerating in the interest of lnancial gain or
public attention. Other books in that vein followed. Klass
became a hero to the emerging debunking movement and
was a founding member in the 1970s of the mfluential
Committee for the Scientilic Explanation of Claims of the
Paranormal (CSICOP). Not all fellow skeptics were taken
with his approach. and some were publicly or privately
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critical of what they viewed as his excesses, including a
penchant for lacerating personal attacks on those who too
firmly dissented from Klassian dicta.

1 met Klass on a few occasions, the first of them at his
condominium in Washington in September 1980, and tound
him a hard man to like, and not because we disagreed about
UFOs. He simply struck me as a man not overflowing in
socialgraces. Still, we corresponded at great length between
the late 1970s and the carly 1990s, when Klass angrily
terminated the exchange.

[ once wrote a comprehensive survey of his methods
(*Klass vs. the *"UFO Promoters,’™” Fate. February 1981).
Even then, it seemed to some observers that ufology had
been transtormed intoKlass's personal Satan; in some of his
polemicalexcesses, heappeared toview utologistsas some-
thing like the personification of evil. once even depicting
them as de facto allies of the Soviet Union because. like the
Communists, UFO proponents judged some U.S. govern-
ment pronouncements to be dubiously credible.

As [ remarked m the Fare profile, “Klass neverhas missed
an opportunity to portray himself as the martyr. the outcast
whosesoleinterestis intindingand perpetuatingTruth ... while
*UFO promoters’—hecannolonger bring himself to call them
UFO proponents- —<ynically exploit public credulity and ig-
norehisreasonable explanations of cases.” Inasense Klass was
less a UFO antagonist than a demonologist.

Some excitable UFO proponents returned the favor,
with dark hints or overheated chargesthat he was actually a
CIA agent tasked to cover up the reality of extraterrestrial
visitation. Klass, of course, was no such thing. [f anything,
he suftered from too much sincerity. More soberutologists
provided point-by-point ref'utations ot his explanations for
prominent cases. But as with all crusaders. Klass barely
noticed. Facts were not ends in themselves. only a means to
a larger end, and if'they did not serve, they were discarded.

He attracted an audience of those who, if they knew
nothing else about UFOs, know they are nonsense, and they
had Klass to speak for them. For years he published a
newsletter which catered to UFOphobes and to those who
like their sentences italicized. underlined. set in bold type,
and ending in exclamation points—sometimes all at the
same time. Though Klass more and more came across as a
self-parodist, he was—and doubtless will remain—the hero
of'a movement of true-believing disbelievers. To the more
open-minded. however, he will serve as the personitication
of the fanatic: one who. having lost sight of his objective,
redoubles his eftorts. —Jerome Clark

FUND FOR UFO RESEARCH

As a partner with CUFOS in the UFO Research
Coalition, the Fund fer UFO Research has long
been engaged in the support of scientific research

and education. Tax-deductible contributions can
be sent to: Fund for UFO Research, P.O. Box

277, Mt. Rainier, MD 20712.
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four states betore entering the Pennsylvania skies: we have
torely on witness reports and amateur photographs for this
part of the object’s journey.

In order to address whether the object was a secret
military or government experiment, we need a greater
understanding of the technology our government possessed
in 1965. Could the military have created devices with the
capabilities that this ob ject demonstrated? [f this is some-
thing so secret that there is no accessible paper trail. there
may not be any way to delinitively answer this question, no
matter how far-fetched the possibility becomes.

The more we learn about the Kecksburg case. the tewer
the options become to explain the mysterious ob ject, mak-
ing the case all the more compelling. As Peter Sturrock,
emeritus professor of applied physics at Stanford Univer-
sity. says: ““In principle, we can prove a hypothesis not only
by finding strong evidence in its favor, but also by finding
strong evidence against every other possibility.”

STONEWALLING AND THE NASA LAWSUIT

CFi’s initial round of requests under the Freedom of Infor-
mation Act, sent in January 2003, targeted over a dozen
tederal and state agencies for information on various as-
pects of the Kecksburg mcident. In most cases, we received
a “no records” response or were referred Lo other agencies.

NASA was unique, however, in thatit denied us records
that we knew were in the agency’s possession as recently as
eight years ago when materials were released to other
investigators. We had asked NASA for documents on four
specitic items which we knew they had. including the
“Fragology Files™ from 1962 to 1967, described as “'reports
of space objects’ recovery, [and] analysis of fragments to
determine national ownership and vehicle origin.™

In 1995, NASA sent Gordon a “records transmittal and
receipt” listing the fragology files by name. However. he
could not view the content of the files because NASA
claimed that they had been missing since 1987. This was
questionable, since the first list that Gordon received had a
handwritten notation saying that the files were at the Federal
Records Center in 1994, A subsequent copy of this same
document released by NASA had the 1994 notation
removed. when NASA informed CFi that the files were
missing.

The list offragology files includes the name “Richard
M. Schulherr” as custodian of these tiles during the time of
the Kecksburg incident. Schulherr, a NASA engineer, also
served as NASA representative for Project Moondust in the
1960s.as indicatedbyaMoondustreportsigned by Schulherr
and released through FOIA. Thus, along with the fragology
liles, we requested records on NASA employee Schulherr
and on Project Moondust in general.

The highly secret Project Moondust would have very
likely been mvolved with the Kecksburg retrieval if the
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event occurred as witnesses report. According to an ot ficial
1961 Air Force Intelligence memo, classified at the time,
Project Moondust's function was “to locate. recover. and
deliver descended foreign space vehicles.™ The memo also
states that the same Air Force Air Intelligence Squadron
responsible for Moondust. which had field units stationed
throughout the U.S.. was responsible for the “investigation
of reliably reported unidentified tlying ob jects within the
United States.” It goes ontosay that these functions involve
“employment of qualitied tield intelligence personnel on a
quick reaction basis to recover or perf'orm field exploitation
of unidentified lying objects, or known Soviet/Bloc aero-
space vehicles, weapons systems, and/or residual compo-
nents of such equipment.™

Since we already had a document confirming that
Schulherr was indeed on NASA’s staft'in the 1960s, a "no
records” response to this request, among others, pointed to
a“noeffort”non-searchonthe partof NASA’s FOIA of fice.

The appeal to NASA’s rebutt. filed on behalf of CFi by
Lobel, Novins & Lamontin May 2003.included five exhib-
its demonstrating that the agency had previously released
the requested information, including documents on Project
Moondustand Cosmos 96 which we had alsorequested, and
that Schulherr did indeed work for NASA.

Among the exhibits was an intriguing news article
about Schulherr’s activities in 1968, whenhe “{lashed fancy
government credentials™ and required the person in posses-
sion of'a mysterious cone-shaped object found in the North
Carolina woods to release it for testing in Washington. The
reporter states that Schulherr was “a staf’ engineer™ with
NASA. In his letter about the analysis of the object—
determined to be junk from a metal refining operation—
Schulherr explains that the ob ject was tested since “poten-
tially it could have been a [ragment of space hardware, a
meteorite, or terrestrial material ol uncommon shape.” This
illustrates his role at NASA only three years after the
Kecksburg incident. particularly of interest since two wit-
nessesreported seeingclearly identitied NASA ol ficials on
the scenc. (Unfortunately, we found out that Schulherr is
deceased, and his familymembersdeclined tospeak with us.)

InJune, NASA granted CFi’s appeal and remanded the
request back to its FOIA of fice for a new search, at which
time it committed to undertake responsive searches on an
“expedited basis.”

Since no response was provided, despite this promise,
and after waiting a total of 10 months for information
pertinentto the Kecksburg case, CFi announced its intent to
file a lawsuitat a Washington press conference in October
2003. As had occurred the year before at our first press
conference, this event was widely covered by national and
international media, including Reuters. A piece on the
national television channel MSNBC opened by stating,
“You knowstories in small towns often tend to take on a life
oftheir own. ... Well now the Sci Fi Channel is trying to get
to the bottom of it all, going so farastojoin alawsuit against
the government to reveal what it knows.”

“I think its fair to say that we have truly entered the
realmof science fiction in Washington, D.C.,” commented
John Podestaatthis second pressconference, “whenit’s fair
game to disclose the identity of a clandestine CIA agent
[reference to Valerie Plame] but not the records of an
unexplained crash in Kecksburg, Pennsylvania, that oc-
curred 38 years ago.”

Within hours of the press conference. NAS A informed
our attorney. Lee Helfrich, that the agency would release 36
pages of documents immediately. an apparent attempt to
thwart legal action. However. the material proved to be
useless and unresponsive. The lawsuit, in which I am the
plaintiff. was tiled in Washington. D.C., on December 9,
2003, the 38th anniversary of the Kecksburg incident. *“I'm
hopeful that our lawsuit will be successiul because NASA
has given us a great record to show that it's recalcitrant and
acting in bad faith.” Helfrich said.

Asofthiswriting.thecourtis still considering the case.
Helfrich summarizes the status of the case as follows:

The U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia
denied NASA s request for a ruling that its search for
records was adequate. but gave the agency another
opportunity tomake itscase. NASA took the courtup on
its off'er and filed new affidavits of agency officials,
under penalty of perjury. to support its claim that the
F@IA search was exhaustive. Kean immediately filed
papers with the court highlighting that NASA’s new
attidavits contained tactual representations that were
flatly contrary to the facts relied upon by NASA in
support ot its original motion. The court is now consid-
ering this new round of information.

The lawsuit against NASA could be the tirst of several
againstgovernmentagencies,including the U.S. Army. U.S.
Air Force, and the Department of Defense. which continue
to stonewall efforts to obtain records on the Kecksburg
incident under the Freedom of Information Act.

Another amazing example of recalcitrance occurred
when we sent a second request to the U.S. Army following
its initial unwillingness to take action. We provided the
Army with newspaper articles that clearly state the Army
was on the scene, along with excerpts from a detailed radio
broadcast revealing the same. We included signed witness
statements ol'encounters with Army personnel, some stating
that soldicers pointed weaponsat civilians. and descriptions
of clearly marked Army vehicles. Reporter Robert Gatty’s
account stated that he saw 10 or more Army personnel
preventing people and reporters from entering the area
where the object was believed to have landed, and that he
questioned some of them.

We documented all of this for the Army. butit made no
ditference. Helfrich points out that the Army regulation on
speciticity advises the public to provide “descriptive infor-
mation™ that “is event related and includes the circum-
stances that resulted in the record being created or the date
and circumstances surrounding the event the record cov-
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ers.” CFi's information established the participation of the
Army, including military personnel from the U.S. Army
Support Detachment in Oakdale. n a publicly acknowl-
edged investigation of a landed object on December 9,
1965, at 4:45 p.m. ncar the town ot Kecksburg. Even so. the
Army FOIA oftice told CFi that we had not described what
we wanted with sulicient speciticity to enable it even to
begin a FOIA search!

Throughout this process, the archival research firm
History Associates conducted extensive searches at federal
records centers and other government and military repusito-

rics outside the Washington. D.C.. area. Files at some ol

these locations are not publicly available and can only be
examined through permission of the agency that created
them. which of course makes access difficult. and in some
cases they may be classified. History Associates was able to
provide us with specific accession numbers for files in
variousrepositories thatwe then presented to NASA and the
Army. These other facilities may contain the requested
documents that FOIA offices have not been able to locate,

but the process of acquiring them is laborious and costly. if

it's possible at all.

Tothisday, no government agency other than the Air
Force (in Project Blue Book) haseven acknowledged that
anything took place on December9. 1965, in Kecksburg, let
alonc released any relevant information about the incident.

THE SMOKING GUN

Perhaps the most important breakthrough since | became
involved in the case took place back in the Kecksburg woods.
at the crash site that Romansky and Bulebush had indepen-

dently shown to Stan Gordon years earlier. In the spring of

2003. the Sci Fi Channel brought geomorphologist and
geoarcheologist ). Steven Kite and Protfessor of Forestry Ray
R. Hicks. both of West Virginia University. to the site.

Kite conducted an investigation with twoarcheologists
from the Department of Geology and Geography to search
for “physical evidence of landscape disturbance or artifacts
that might be associated with the 1965 evenl.” supple-
mented by a magnetometer and radiation survey.

Kite did not find any relevant surface disturbance or
artifacts associated with the incident and could offer no
confirmation that anything exceptional occurred at the site
in 19635, “The evidence was either so meager as to be easily
overlooked, or wassubscquently obliterated or obscured by
natural or artificial processes.™ he stated. He noted that the
methods of his team “would have been sutticient to discern
any digging, bulldozing. or burial done to ‘cover-up’ the
evidence of the 1965 event. In fact. a cover-up would be
casier for trained geomorphologists to identity than the
evidence ofalow-cnergy impactevent.” Gordon and others
have noted that since the object landed in a stream bed with
waterrunningthroughitintermittently. erosion would make
detection of soil disturbance extremely difficult after all
these years. Inany case, Kite pointed outthatno past event

can be ruled out based on negative evidence.

However, Kite went on to make another important
observation based on his study. “The obvious lack of wide-
spread destruction trom the 1965 impact allows one pos-
sible explanation to be eliminated as a cause of the Decem-
ber 1965 observations: high-velocity impact by a large,
intact satellite or meteorite. At least one account related an
ob ject “about the size ofa Volkswagon® being hauled away
from the site during the night after the event. If such an
object, especially a dense meteorite. impacted the earth at
high velocity. the impact would have created havoc for the
surrounding forest vegetation and left a pronounced impact
crater.” He notes that the vegetation and landscape he
studied “record neither such a high-velocity impact nor the
major reclamation eftort that would be required tocoverup
the evidence of such an event.”

Ray Hicks,onthe other hand, madeasignificantdiscovery
through hisstudy of the trees, providing solid physical evidence
that something came down. With the help of witness John
Hayes. wholived nexttothe location in 1965 and observed tree
damage at the time. Hicks was able to find the damaged trees
which matched photographs of large broken branches taken by
Gordon at the same location in the mid-1980s. The falling
object is believed to have made this damage.

“[ utilized the photographs as a primary source of
information and based on the tree species, as recognized
from the photos and the crown architecture, [ was able to
find the exact trees pictured in one photograph,” Hicks
explained in a written statement.

He presented his findings following the airing of a
November 2003 Sci Fi Channel documentary making the
new discoveries public for the first time. He writes:

The trees were approximately 70 years of age. which
would make them approsimately 40 years old in 1965.
The growth pattern was determined for the trees by
observing the width ot annual rings. Onc of the trees in
the photo was a black cherry which had it”s top broken
out (presumably after being struck by the object). Un-
fortunately this tree was now hollow from decay that
was probably a result of the wound. This made it
impossible to look at the growth rings of this tree. But
anadjacentundamaged black walnuttree. also pictured
in the photo. did display a slight increase in growth for
a few years following 1963. This would be consistent
with the fact that the adjacent black cherry tree was
broken in 1963, since it would provide additional grow-
ing space for the undamaged walnut tree.

Hicks attempted to reconstruct the most likely trajec-
tory path of the ob ject using plastic flagging. He states:

One of the trees (a white ash) along this path displayed
a forked and crooked stem at a height that would be
consistent with the assumed trajectory. We oblained an
mcrement core from the tree and again looked at the
growth pattern of the rings. There was a dramatic
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reduction in growth of this tree that appeared to begin
in 1967 or 1968 and lastedforabout 20 years. it missed
one or two rings in the count, it would put the year of
reduced growth at 1966. This would be consistent with
this tree being damaged in 1965, An adjacent ash of
similar age and size. but outside the assumed trajectory
was cored and it did not display the dramatic growth
reduction of the ash that was in the path. This would
suggest that the reason tor the dramatic growth reduc-
tion of the tree in the path was not due to a climatic
event, such as drought, but was probably due to some
specitic injury to the tree.

Standing in the woods at the time, and speaking to the
producers ot the documentary. Steven Kite spontaneously
commented on the significance ol his colleague’s discovery.
“The damage that Ray [Hicks] identified formed a pattern. It
formed a clear trajectory. [t is a reasonable trajectory rom
some ofthe other observations that were made. And the real
nice thing about it, it has a date to it: 1965. And since there is
obvious. visible damage, thatis asmoking gun sotospeak, as
1o what caused the decrease in growth of that individual tree.”

The Air Force stance that nothing came down is now
even morcuntenable. Treesdo not tell talltales orengage in
group hallucinations. The saying has it that we often can’t
see the forest [or the trees, but in this case. it’s the trees that
show us the true nature ol the lforest.

What was the importance ol the object that caused the
military torapidly respondto the tiny village ol Kecksburg?
Who authorized soldiers to brandish weapons at local citi-
zens approaching the landing site? For how long will the
citizensot Pennsylvaniabedenied information thatisrightly
theirs under American law? We still don’t have the answers
to these and many other questions, despite the lour decades
that have passed. The U.S. government may neverreveal the
true identity ol the Kecksburg object, but the investigation
has been well worth the effort—and it’s not over yet. 4

EX-MINISTER SPEAKS AT UFO CON

Paul Hellyer, Canadian Minister of National Delence
from 1963 to 1968, announced in September that he
believes UFOs are extraterrestrial visitors and that some
governments—the United States at least—know all about
itand are covering up. He also belicves American scien-
tists have re-engineered alien wreckage rom the UFO
crash at Roswell, N.Mex., in 1947 to produce modern
technical marvels.

Hellyer spoke September 25 at a conlerence spon-
sored by MUFON Central Canadaand held onthe Univer-
sity ol Toronto campus. He described a UFO sighting he
had while campingout with his wifeand some [riends: “*A
bright light appeared in the sky and appeared to zig and
zagacross the horizon.™ He added that he started taking
the issue much more seriously alter watching ABC-TV's
UFO special with Peter Jennings in February 2005.

DOTY-—continued from page 25

Beyond Bennewitz.” The parallels with Redfern’s encoun-
ters with his sources arc obvious and depressing.)

Redlern wasfirstapproached in Londonby aman with
British Home Of fice credentials who claimedto be a UFO
bufland who gave him the broad outlines ol the lapanese
Paperclip Roswell tale. But there was no lollow-up. and
Redfern lorgot about it until five years later, when he was
approached by . . . The Black Widow:.

“Because she does not want her identity revealed, tor
reasons that will shortly becomeapparent, | will rel'er to her
asthe Black Widow. Fromthe mid-1940stothe early 1950s,
she had been assigned to the Oak Ridge National Labora-
tory, Tennessee, and she said she had firsthand knowledge
ol'the Roswell mystery that | “might lind interesting.”™ She
approached him alter a speaking engagement in Los Ange-
les in 2001[: “Those bodies—the Roswell bodies—they
weren't aliens,” she said quietly. “The government could
careless aboutstoriesaboutalien bodies lound at Roswell—
exceptto hide the truth. Thosebodies were Japancse people.™

The widow has some ol’the picture, butnotall. Mostly,
sheisanexpertonradiationexperiments at Oak Ridge circa
1947, but drops important clues throughout the book as the
story develops. Somehow, she picked up a great deal at the
Oak Ridge water cooler, especially that there were three
classified balloon flights at White Sands in May, June, and
July 1947, and that at least two were disasters.

The Black Widow soon sends triends, such as “Bill
Salter.” described as “a former employee ol'the Psychologi-
cal Strategy Board™ seconded to Oak Ridge to do counterin-
telligence work. Salterhasmuchtoadd tothe Widow’sstory.

And then we meet “Al Barker,” who worked with the
Army’s Psychological Warfare Center. Hereis what Barker
has to say: ™. .. il'the Soviets uncovered the truth about the
NaziandJapanese linkstothe “highaltitudeidiocy’ at White
Sands and elsewhere, this would have caused major reper-
cussions between the United States and its allies in the
postwar world. Hencethecover story putoutby the Psycho-
logical Strategy Board and. later, by the Army s Psychologi-
cal Wartare Center that the bodies werc roma crashed UFO
incasethe Soviets, the press, UF Oresearchers,and America’s
allics came snooping.” (Never mind that nobody thought
Roswell was ET until 1978, and the public didn’t hear about
that until 1980. This tiny tact demolishes the credibility of
Barker’s story.)

And then there is the main informer. “'the Colonel,” a
man who buttonholed Redlern at the Henderson. Nevada,
UFO conference in 2003. *Having spent fifteen years oper-
ating decp within the heart ol American intelligence. the
Colonelclaimsthatin 1969, while working with the Del'ense
Intelligence Agency. he read atop-secret document that, as
lar as he is concerned. laid to rest the tales about flying
saucers and alien bodies recovered trom the desert ol New
Mexico in the summer of 1947 and told the true story about
the Roswell events.™ And further, notexactly toourswprise,
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we learn that “Like Al Barker. Bill Salter, and the Black
Widow. however, the Colonel maintains that the Roswell
and other 1947 events were given a “crashed UFO cover™to
hide research that was linked with classilied high-altitude
balloonexperiments and the Nuclear Energy for Propulsion
ol Aircraft project.” (But per my remark above, this cover
did not exist.)

Allof Redfern’s informantshave done theirhomework.
The Colonel is certainly well-read on Roswell. But what
emerges is a mass of slightly twisted interpretation of the
Roswell data. always presented so that the nonexpert would
tind it persuasive, and always supporting the Redl'ern Japa-
nese super-balloon scenario. Thus the truly mysterious
“memory metal” reported by witnesses becomes merely the
balloon’s polyethylene-plus-metal coating. though this has
been drop-kicked by researchers who saw the section in the
Air Force's Project Mogul report that discussed the untor-
tunate fragility of polycthylene.

THE PENTAGON PAPERS EXAMPLE

When challenged to supply the realnames and backgrounds
of his informants, Redfern protests that his publisher’s
attorneys torbid such disclosure. Though that strains credu-
lity. at the very least. each “source™ should provide an
explanation why. especially at their advanced age, they
refuse to go public.

In 1971, military analyst Daniel Ellsberg gave the New
York Times 7.000 pages photocopied trom top secret De-
tense Department documents. These papers documented
U.S. involvement in Vietnam from 1945 through 1968 and
showedthatseniorgovernmentotficials. including the Presi-
dent, had systematically lied to the American public about
Vietnam. Ellsberg became the ob jectof'an FBImanhuntand
was charged with 12 felony counts at'ter he gave himself up.
buthiscase wasdismissed in 1973 on the grounds of govern-
mental misconduct against him,

The pointis. Ellsbergremaineda free man, even having
admitted perpetrating asecurity violation hugely damaging
to the executive branch, and in fact became a hero in many
quarters. today holding a prestigious teaching position.
When evaluating Redfern’s sources one must ask, whatare
they saying that would result in any retribution at all, 60
years after the fact? And why don’t they go to the New York
Times with their story. instead of planting it in the quaran-
tined intellectual ghetto of ufology? Ellsberg did not take
the Pentagon Papers to Jane Fonda or some minor anti-
Vietnam War group. (And of course the same goes equally
for the rest of the disintormers. from the MJ-12 hoaxers. to
the Alien Autopsy hoaxers. to the “wehave a film of aliens
landing at Holloman AFB™ hoaxers.)

FBI anp MJ-12

There is valuable intormation in the book about
disinformation. His chapter detailing the FBI's dealings

with the MJ-12 documents is must reading. Here he points
out that the FBI confronted OSI about the documents, and
quotes an FBI Headquarters message to the Dallas Field
Office: "The Oftice of Special Investigations. U.S. Air
Force, advised on November 30, 1988, that the document
was fabricated. Copies of that document have been distrib-
uted to various parts ot the United States. The document is
completely bogus.™

However, Redlern follows this by saying he was told by
an OSI agent that they had no records pertaining to MJ-12 or
any investigation of the documents. Redfern thinks this is
impossible and asks indignantly. “How was AFOSI able to
determine that the papers were faked if no investigation on
their part was undertaken?” Redtern 1s either inert to the
obvious.or playing a game with the reader. Nick. OSI did not
needto investigate anything. Theyarethe ones who faked the
MI-12 documents. When pinned down by an exasperated
FBI. they spilled the beans. Of course they lied to you,
becausetheyhavebeenlying toyourkindtorthe last 30 years.

A colleague pointed out to me the strange pattern in
which major UFO disintormation is first released in En-
gland. and only then in the U.S., and he thinks this may have
something to do with the law concerning the scope of
intelligence agency fiddling with American citizens. In
addition to Redfern’s introduction to the “real™ Roswell
story by a British Home Office man. Jenny Randles and
others in England lirst heard details of the infamous Alien
Autopsy 11lm. The MJ-12 documents were first released by
British ufologist Timothy Good. who apparently received
them before Jaime Shandera got them in his U.S. mailbox.

Some group within the intelligence community deeply
cares about hiding Roswell. They cared enough to orches-
trate the 1993 investigation concluding that it was a Mogul
balloonarray. plus crash dummies. Now they careenoughto
mount this truly claborate fraud, further blowing smoke in
the eyes of the press. the legislature, and the public. If the
reader will understand that this is the genesis and guiding
principle of Body Snatchers in the Desert, he will berichly
rewarded for the small price of the book.

And he will little wonder that Peter Jennings so easily
dismissed Roswell asa myth. 4

SPHERICAL UFOS IN ARIZONA

A 10:30 a.m. on September 17,2005, eyewitness D.W.
wasathishomeon31st Avenue in Peoria. Arizona. when
he saw something strange approaching from the east.
“Looking east, | could see a bright ob jectin the sky.” he
reported. “The orb was shiny. Seven other ob jects ap-
peared around it Theystayed in the same spot for about
15 minutes and then moved to the lefl quickly. to face
north. They moved lett to right and right to left. almost
hitting each other. and then got higher until they were all
outofsight.. .. There was nosound at all.and they were
above the (other conventional)aircraft.”—UFO Roundup.
September 28, www.ufointo.com/roundup/.
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UNIDENTIFIED FLYING OBJECTS,

the works

he science-Tiction film This Island Earth, ve- NOW: YOU WILL SEE THEM FOR THE FIRST TN
leased in 1955, was one of the 1950s SF and S

horror movies inspired in large part by the fear
of nuclear war. Such {ilms from the period
ranged from the worthwhile 1o the gool'y. This Istand Earth
holds up well enough over the years. though its troublesome
on-board spaceship mutantnow secems more annoying than
scary—something that could have been casily disposed of
witha dime-store flyswatter.

According to promotional material from Universal
[nternational Pictures, this expensive movie took 2% years
to complete. One can speculate, therefore, that its produc-
tion was justgetting of f'the ground in 1952, a banner yeartor
the sheer number of UFO sighting reports,

Somewhere around late 1933 or early 1954, as This
Island Earth was in the final stages of production, while
other studios not nearly so influential as Universal Interna-
tional were still turning out monster movies in dizzying
succession, pfans foranother kind of motion picturewerein
an upstart whose very concept scemed bizarre.
This was to be amotion picture about flying saucers, but not
the saucers of EFarth vs. the Fiving Saucers (1956, with
apologies to Maj. Donald Keyhoc's book [Flving Saucers
trom Quier Space, upon which this SF thriller was very
loosely based) or Invasion of the Saucer Men (1957).

Theidea contrived by motion picture producerClarence
Greene, who was deeply intrigued by the UFO phenomenon
in the wake of his own sighting, involved making not a
tiction {ilm about UFOs, buta documentary based upon the
U.S. government's investigation of some important UFO
incidents of the era. As Greene began assembling his pro-
duction crew, his writer, director, and the rest, he also
brought together a remarkable group of individuals who
knew about the government’s UFO investigations. Greenc
intended to tell the story as accurately as he could get it

Amongthemwas Al Chop,whosejobon the Pentagon’s

ACCIDENTAL EPIC

BY RoBERT BARROW

GLAMENGS GREERT 2a0 FUSTELL RGUEE

UNIDENTIFIED FLYING OBJECTS_

o

press desk in the early 1950s converted him from UFO
skeptic to proponent based upon the numerous credible
reports he encountered. The documentary, in fact, would
tocus mostly on Chop’s of ficial involvement with the UFO
project. The “actor™ chosen to play Chop in the movie,
suggested by Chop himsell, was Tom Towers, a writer for
the old Los Angeles Examiner. Towers. who occasionally
wrote about UFOs in his aviation cotumns, knew Chop
through mutual business connections. Greene also was
acquaintedwith Towersandthoughthimanexccllentchoice.

Greene’s movie would be notable for its lack of name
actors, though a few would be recognizable today to the
committed film buff (Les Tremayne, Harry Morgan, and
Olan Soule). The bigger casting story, however, concerned

.

Rohert Barrow (lefi, inthe 4ir Force in The real Tom Towers as
1970) hegan researching UFOs as a Al Chop Al Chop

teenagerin 1963, His articles and book
reviewsappeared inThe A.P.R.O.Bul-
letin, Pursuit, Argosy UFO, True Fly-
ing Saucers & UFOs, Otficial UFO,
and newspapers and magazines.
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the prominentnames
who worked hehind
the scenes. In addi-
tion to Chop, these
included no lessthan
former Air Force
Capt. Ldward J.
Ruppelt, the mostfa-
mouschietfotProject
Bluc Book; USAF
Major Dewey J.

Fournct. former UFO project monitor: and radar expert
Wendell Swanson, noteworthy for the construction of an
claborate U.S. radar installation in Okinawa. Swanson, in
fact, did have an on-screen role inthe movie, and while he



Lefi to right: Producer Clarence Greene. radar expert
Wendell Swanson, and USAE Captain Echvard J. Ruppelt.

claimed only to harbor an “open mind™ about UFOs, the
viewer soon gains the impression that Swanson knew far
more about UFOs on radar than he would publicly admit.
Thesemenwould guide Greene and statf'through every page
of' scriptto ensureauthentic representations of' the investiga-
tions with which they were personally and intimately famil-
iar,!

The UFO incidents destined to be portrayed in the
production were impressive For their time. The 1947 Ken-
neth Arnoldcasewouldbe the starter, followed by the tragic
death of Kentucky Air National Guard pilot Capt. Thomas
Mantell in 1948 while chasing a supposed UFQ.- Another
1948 case, involving Lieut. George Gorman's supposed
dogftight over Fargo, North Dakota, with a possible UFO,
was woven into the storyline.* A January 1951 incident in
which a DC-3 taking of f from the Sioux City, lowa, atrport
swervedtoavoidacollision witha mysterious light was also
featured, perhaps because a military intelligence colonel
observed the phenomenon with other passengers betore the
thingzoomed up and disappeared. A jewel of theproduction
would be an external airport interview with American Air-
lines pilot Capt. Willis T. Sperry, whose personal accountof
his dramatic encounter with a UFO during a tlight in 1950
would leave the audience spellbound.

But the bestwas yetto come. With the assistance of his
advisors, Greene procured the still-unexplained and famous
Montana UFO film of two objects photographed by busi-
nessman Nicholas Mariana, as well as the Utah movie of

- - = i
Nicholas Mariana and one frame of the film he took of
nvo UFOs ar Great Falls. Montana. August 15, 1931),

multiple objects taken by Navy chief photographer Delbert
Newhouse. ThoughGreencdecided to film his documentary
in black and white, the two UFO movies were included in
their original color, strangely reminiscent of the dramatic
and emotional switch to color from black and white in 7he
Wizard of Oz Eventually t would come to light that both
UFO tilms, analyzed by the military, were apparently miss-
ing the best frames when returned to their owners, and
theretore Greene’s motion picture documentary would also
lack the best frames. This information was notimparted in
the production.

Appropriately, the climax of this Clarence Greene—
Russell Rouse (his partner) production would be a dramati-
zation of the July 1952 UFO encounters over Washington,
DLC.

THE IMPACT

And so it was, in May 1956, that the Greene-Rousc feature-
length UFO documentary distributed by United Artists was
liberally splashed upon the nation’s. and then the world’s,
theater screens. Action-packed posters blazing in red and
yellow boldly announced its title as Unidentified FFlving
Objects, or simply as U.F.0).

Reviewer response proved generally quite favorable,
but the audience—always the most faithtul critics, tair or
not.becauscthey shell out themoney toradmission—{found
U.F.0O. less than compelling, and the tilm initially lost a
considerable sum at the box oftfice. UFO rescarcher Max B.
Miller summed up the situation expertly, having attended
the movie's premiere at the Fox Wilshire Theater in Los
Angeles: “When | saw this {ilm the sccond time at that
showing the objective was not to sce the picture again, but
rather to check attendance andaudiencereaction. This was

§
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THE MOTION PICTURE SCOOP OF THE CENTURY!

IO

WNDENTIFIED IFLYI
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Sworn statement of awthenticity
from the movie's producers.
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Actors plaving Dewey Fournet (lefi) and Ed Ruppelr.

probably for the best, too. For while I was thoroughly
enthusiastic after viewing U.F.0. the tirst ime. | found the
second time quite a let-down. . . .The movie isn’t, on the
whole. particularly interesting. The pace is slow, the action
stft.™

Utologist Ted Bloecher saw things a little differently,
though it must be stressed that Miller’s review was positive
about the movie. “A somewhat slim storyline,” judged
Bloecher. However: “The producers have wisely refrained
from trying to duplicate the visual appearance of UFOs in
anyofithe cases theyreterto. . .. By avoiding tacsimiles of
the objects in question, they have made two heretofore
secret Mariana and Newhouse films showing actual UFOs
in flight considerably more forcelul and conspicuous.™

Bloecher was more sympathetic than some reviewers 1o
the action’s being “low-keyed throughout” and the fact that
non-actors were used so extensively (most were Los Ange-
les law-entforcement officers). He also ook note of the
extensive “padding” scenes and instances of forms being
filled out, sometimes laboriously, and of the trequent news-
paper visuals with the word “saucers.”

Significant members of the cast felt that L/ F.(). needed
more drama and less narration. Towers readily admitted “*a
little of the Hollywood touch™ would have helped. Obvi-
ously. though. Greene had found himself driven trom the
start to Focus upon the documentary aspect, rather than the
high dramatic eftects exhibited in his earlier movies. such as
New York Confidential, The Thief, and The Well. Ult-
mately, theissue here mayhavebeenthat Greene wasasnew
1o whathe attempted with U.F. 0. as the audience was when
it searched lor famihiar tilm ploys that simply weren't in
cvidence. Possibly, many in the audience may not have
entertained even a clue about the definition of *documen-
tary™ when they purchased admission tickets.

U.F.0.wentall outtosacrificedrama for accuracy—to
which this writer can attest, because in the 1970s when
Towers loaned me his copy of the script (proudly stored for
years behind his living room sola, he confessed), 1 found it
sprinkled with handwritten annotations and minor changes,
apparently created just prior to various screen shots in the
interest of a factual portrayal. But there was one little
(actually a blatant) alteration 1 at first missed in Greence's
creation: At the point in the movie when the April 7, 1952,
issue of Life magazine hits the newsstands, suggesting that
UFOs may hurbor extraterrestrial visitors. the cover photo

THERE 15 4 CASE
FORINTERPLANETARY
SAUCERS

JARLTN MoRSE
6 408 W (1w

Mearilyn Monroe appeared on the real Life magazine
cover of April 7. 1932, while President Truman was
substituted for the movie (right).

showing President Truman is a lalse one: the real issue’s
covershows actress Marilyn Monroe. We canassume either
that Truman’s photo was implemented to express the sobri-
ety of the UFO issue in the fifties (Truman was president
during the Washington, D.C.. sightings that proved so im-
portantto the movie) orthat for professional reasons United
Artists didn"twant attention paid to Monroe, who may have
been under contract with a competing studio.

My tirst encounter with U./~.0. occurred in the early
1960s when itaired on localalternoon TV, and subsequently
on acouple of late-late programs. I had seen many ascience-
tiction thriller as a kid, but had neverheard of Greence's film.
Onesuspects itdidn ttake long atier theatrical release before
its relegation to late-late TV movie showsaround the country.
When home videotapes ot movies tirst became available
commercially.evidently U./<. 0. sawabriel videotape release
via a company unknown, since there were video search
companies actively secking and selling it. The video then
went into hibernation until 2000, when MGM Home Video
released its version. only to pullitfrom the market twoorthree
years ago. While some UFO researchers have anticipated a
DVD release. that hasn’t happened yet commercially. The
movie has popped up on cable TV over the years and

Tom Towers as Al Chop awakens (0 disturbing news
about saucers over Washington in Julv 1952.
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The 1956 Jilm documents the saucermania of the era.

i - e
Gen. John A. Samford 1ells the press on Julv 29, 1932,
that the Washington sightings and radar targets were

caused by temperanre inversions,

, St
Warrant Officer Delbert C. Newhouse describes
how he took a color film of a UFO near Tremonton,
Utah, onJuly 2, 1952,

probably continues to do so sporadically.®

U.#.0). has quictly endured over the decades. Perhaps
not all of the UFO reports depicted remain unidentilied, but
there are enough that do—the Montana and Utah [ilms, the
Washington National Airport encounters, for example. Yet
Greene, certainly no newcomer to movie-making by the time
he tackled UFOs, stubbornly stayed the course and chose
narration over spinc-tingling special eft'ects, leaving the un-
secn up to the audience to conjure. Remarkable still was his
use of only about 92 minutes of film to educate his audience
proficiently about the early status of the official UFO) inves-
tigation—the mostopen, honest, and bricfwindow of govern-
ment UFO information disclosure America everexperienced.
The very moment when the government seemed poised totell
us about the saucers was a special once indeed.

Thirty years have elapsed since | {irst wroteabout {.F.0).
Many of the fine people involved with production. most of
whom wouldbein theirlate 80s and 90s by now. have passed
on, including Capt. Sperry, Towers, and Greene himself.
Greene'sonly response to my written questions in the 1970s
consisted of less than a page of agonizingly curt answers.
Many years went by before | realized how bitter he must have
been about the lack of audience response to U 4.0

My hope, as 2006 takes oft [or parts unknown, is that
this S0-year-old documentary gains lasting respect both as
an essential piece of UFO rescarch history and as a unique
chunk of American history. The Library of Congress, the
American Film Institute. somebody, needs to give U.F.0).
tender loving care. make sure it’s preserved and protected
forever, and reissued as a DVD so that generations to come
can experience the serious side of UFO history—with two
great color films of UFOs as a bonus.

NOTES

I. Terredseriously when Iwrotcaversion of this article
30 years ago, insisting that Capt. Ruppelt played his own
role, which he clearly did not. My access to Ruppelt photos
at the time was limited. but thanks to researcher Wendy
Connors and her 2000 book (with Michael Hall) Cuprtain
Lchvard J. Ruppelr: Sunimer of the Saucers 1952, 1 now
realize all of Ruppelt’s work was behind the scenes.

2. Rescarchers, especially Kevin D. Randle, conducted
lengthy and scemingly conclusive investigations that indi-
cate Mantell died while chasing a sceret military balloon
known as the Skyhook.

3. Again. a balloon may be the culpritand nota UFO.
Sec Jerome Clark, Strange Skies: Pilot Encounters with
UFOs (New York: Citadel. 2003), pp. 66-68.

4. Quotinglrom~World's First Documentary,” Flving
Saucers, June 1957,

5. Ibid.

6. Thanks to Barry Greenwood, who long ago pro-
vided me with additional information about the movie, and
also to Gary Mangiacopra, whose rescarch into U 0.
continucs. 4
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WE KNOW WHERE YOU LIVE

BY MicHAEL D. SWORDS

nee upon a time it was simple. Col. George

Garrett could sit at his desk in the Pentagon and

envision the disks racing across Kenneth

Arnold’sline of sightand say: “Advanced aerial
technology.™

Alfred Loedding could imagine a spaceliner passing
Chiles and Whitted's planc and superimpose Ludwig
Prandtl’s mathematics upon the case and say: “Advanced
aerial technology.”

Charles Moore and his theodolite, J. J. KaliszewsKki in
his balloon project chase plane. and Nash and Fortenberry
in their TWA airliner could all say “Advanced aerial tech-
nology™ about their sightings. Nuts and bolts. Metallic,
strangely designed. aerodynamic vehicles. Extraterrestrial.
Simple as that.

But things wouldn’t stay so simple or well behaved.
Noninertial motions and hovering that detied gravity soon
appeared in sightings. Well, said the ““can-do™ minds ot the
engineers, all right, we'll be able to do it someday. What
about reports with traces on the ground. electromagnetic
effects, or paralysis? Yes. okay, very advanced indeed. And
then instant disappearance, shape-changing and dividing,
even mind-reading. Uh-oh.

Perhaps the UFOs werencever so well behaved as Col.
Garrett and Al Loedding pictured them. Surely we had our
nonsense filters up and operating back then. Certain cases
never made the files. Inhis later years, Aimé Michel said that
the most shamet'ul thing about his career as an investigator
was that he just couldn’t swallow some of the weirder stuft,
and so ignored it. NICAP was certainly guilty of that.
Today’s Roswell enthusiasts still tend to want to carve the
stranger part of the phenomenon away, and there are mem-
bers of what might be called ufology’s right wing who have
troubles even with Roswell. Nuts and bolts, nice, well-
behaved aerial technology: That's a real comfort zone.

I have nothing against this perspective. In fact, I believe
that it's a good solid start in dealing with UFOs. So, at the
beginning of everything, Garrett, Loedding. Moore. and
Nash were correct. But much more appears to be real about
UFOs as well.

Michael D. Swords is professor emeritus of the Environ-
mental Institute, Western Michi gan University, Kalamazoo.

One of the particular weird ideas that began creeping
into researchers™ minds was that many cases were instances
of “display™ by the phenomenon. It was, and is, an odd
thought. Display to a witness seems much too subjectiveand
dangerous to really credit. Coincidences happen all the
time. We—uwho are essentially egocentric—ofien attribute
causal linkages and personal signifiicance to things that
accidentally cross our path. With thousands ot UFO inci-
dents, certainly some rather spectacular coincidences are
bound to have happened. And the mind is a wonder at
creating syntheses and patterns out of nothing.

But still, some of these coincidences are very hard to
dismiss. “Display” seems anoperative word. although “per-
formance™ might be even more descriptive. The remainder
of this article is about one. to me, very impressive form of
display.

ALIGNMENT

All display or performance involves alignment. special
geometric relationships between objects, environmental
parameters. and the observers. These relationships createin
the observer’s mind the stage upon which the performance
takes place. ("It was dead center as 1 looked out my win-
dow.™) Time and timing also play a factor in the pertor-
mance. ("Just as | looked, the object emerged trom behind
the hillside.™) Because there are so many cases where the
ob ject was not initially dead center, nor appeared right on
cue from stage left, it is usually pretty easy for us to shrug
thatelement off. And lagree. We need to stay rational about
this sort of claim. But I would like to present a subset of these
cases that involve astronomical alignments that | teel is
more difficult to wave oft. I'd be interested in whether you
agree.

Every category should probably have at least one an-
chor case. such as Levelland for vehicle interference. or
Boianai (Father Gill) forCE3s. My choice for the alignment
anchor occurred in 1955, The case record (a letter) origi-
nally wentto Ted Bloecher at CSI-New York. and then to
NICAP, and finally on to the CUFOS archives. [ am going
(o leave names out because you can rarely tind any indica-
tion in the old files as to whether the witness approved of
public mention.

IUR 4+ 30:2
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The letter-writer was a prominent engineer working for
abig New York city company. an expert n aircrafi technol-
ogy and electronics. And he was an avid amateur astrono-
mer. There were four other witnesses. all interested in
amateurastronomy,oneolswhomwas also expert maircraf’t.

Asabitofbackground,a year previously the writer had
observed a peculiar fireball, which he reported—tor what it
was worth—toaMa . GeyeratMitchell AFB in Hempstead,
New York. The major thanked him for his interest but said
that what would be more valuable to the Air Force would be
for the writer to urge amateur astronomers to report any
unusual aerial phenomenon when it occurred. Geyer said.
“Anything thattliesisourbusiness, evenalame canary.” As
the writer went on to say to Bloecher, *What follows is the
only phenomenon our local group has noted in several
hundred hours ot astronomical observing.”

The sighting occurred at Lake Ronkonkoma on Long
Island, between &:30 and 9:30 p.m. on July 29. 1955. The
viewing conditions were excellent and the Moon was two-
thirds full. First and second magnitude stars were easily
visible and the planet Saturn was prominent.

The UFO nitially appeared to the five observers as a
“2nd magnitude star”™ n the vicinity ot Saturn. The observ-
ers watched, either with naked eyes or binoculars. as the star
navigated a “perfect circle (of an apparent diameter of 1)
around Saturn.” It then followed this looping pertformance
by heading east until it got to the Moon. where it executed
a half -circle pass. and then just disappeared.

Then the object reappeared [20° away and moved
horizontally until taking an abrupt turn vertically. It disap-
peared again at about 70 above the horizon. Then it reap-
peared in a straight clive-like descent until reacquiring its
original 30-degrec clevation (sce Figure I). It proceeded
horizontally again, made an abrupt angular shift again
downwards and was lost in the trees. If it were at typical
airliner height its speed would have been about three times
that ot a commercial light. Through the binoculars the
ob ject looked spherical and yellowish, at lcast in its central
area.
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The witness passed the report on to Bloecher (and
presumably to Mitchell AFB) inan amazingly cool, under-
stated way. One wonders how much he cogitated on the
ramifications of what he was retelling.

Itmay be belaboring the obvious, but in order for our five
witnesses to see the UFO maneuvering in relation to Saturn
and thenthe Moonasdescribed, they («/inost certainly. asthis
depends upon the distance of the UFO) had to be in an
extremely privileged viewing position. In the exaggerated
cartoon of Figure 2. our observer at B can see the apparent
circling of Saturn and the Moon from his location, and
observers A and C could too ifthe UFO were at astronomical
distance itself. But the closer the UFO is to the observer, the
more exclusive such a viewing position becomes, until, atthe
near extreme in distance of, say. a firefly 10 feet away, only
one person could sce the circling geometry no matter how
close the peopletried to cram together. The actual UFO was
somewhere between lunar and firefly distance. of course. It
seemed similartoanairplane inasize (itdid grow largerin the
7x50 binoculars used, though not greatly so), and the amateur
astronomers judged it to be probably around normal aircratt
altitude. But however large you want to draw an error bar on
their estimate, the circle on carth from which you could see the
traverse of Saturn and the Moon was pretty small. The UFO
seemedtohavealigneditselfto perform specitically forthem.
And that would mean that it had to know where they were,

Figure [.

Figure 2.
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Figure 3.

Just For fun, how tight would that privileged viewing
positionhavetobe? Ifwetakethe witness guesses seriously,
how wide would the area on the ground have to be if the
object made a circle of 1° diameter? We can take a stab at it
if we wantto guess the object’s distance (see Figure 3).

I"the UFO were a mile high, that would translate into
adome ol'sky about 16.000 fect in circumference on which
itwas located: that one degree would then be about 90 teet.
In other words, that is the diameter of the circle in which it
would be moving as it seemed to circle Saturn. If two miles
high, then 180 feet. Ten miles, 900 feet. To simplify the rest
ol this discussion, let’s just assume that it was a mile high.
This would mean that the person in the perfect viewing

position would be standing, looking up at the image of

Saturn in the center of this imaginary circle, while the UFO
banked in a 90-loot turn around its circumterence. You can
imagine a narrow conc from the observer’s eye toward
Saturn which widens to 90 feet by the time it gets to the
height of the UFO.

Ifyoureverse the positions and invert the cone. fromthe
UFObacktotheEarth’ssurface.wegetanareaofl privileged
viewing, the same90-lootdiametercircle (Figure 4). But the
realareaol privileged viewing is only thearea within which

any observer would sce the UFO someswhere within 1° of

-
Sehoon
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Figure 4.

Saturn. For instance, standing near the edge of the area one
would see the circling UFO run right across or eclipse
Saturn at some pointin its cycle. So, in order to see the UFO
make a “perfect circle” ofabout 1°around Saturn, and have
all five people see it that way, they would have to be in a
much smaller area than the 90-foot circle.

In my opinion, l'or the observers to 'ecl that the object
circled Saturn perfectly and then perfectly halt-circled the
Moon. the apparent shift in image (i.e., the position of
Saturn or the Moon out of dead center, relatively speaking)
had to be verv small from one observertothe next. I believe
thatifyouwalk morethan 20% of'thedistance from the ideal
viewing center toward the edge of the 90-loot circle, the
apparent circling of the planct and Moon begins to look
distinctly lopsided (see Figure 5). So.if' you will humor me.

SO
NN,
i
/i
7/ ‘,‘
-’ Observer shifts out of
the ideal central viewing
position

Figure 5.

let’ssay thatthe actual privileged viewingarca lorthe group
was only 20% of the greater diameter or less. which is only
I8 fector fewer. Thatisarcasonable sized area lor [ive folks
to be milling around in on a common activity that evening,
but. more importantly. it is a very precise spot on this old
planet. Ifthc UFOweretwomiles high. thendouble it; three
miles, triple it. and so forth.

Even then, it seems a very precise thing to be cruising
along three miles above the ground and knowing that a
group ol people lor whom you are about to put on a show are
withinasmall circle below you. And speaking ol precise. the
UFO then had tomove in a precise small circle, at altitude,
aligned with Saturn and the Moon. Try thatina plancoreven
a helicopter.

OTHER ALIGNMENT CASES

Hopetully, the first case—the anchor case—has persuaded
you that something ol this alignment nature actually does
occur. and that is interesting in its implications. The case
seems very sound: five witnesses. high-quality observers of
the skies, and claborate well-reported detail, with move-
mentaround two astronomical objects. What more can we
ask for otherthan an ET tlight manual with the flight plan?
So,il'wc'resomewhatcomlortable with this case category.
here are a tfew more of these cases, in briel.

Case Two. NICAP received a tetter in 1967 addressed
to Maj. Kceyhoce. In either August or September ol the
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previous year, two men werc returning from bowling in the
middle of the atternoon in Norwood, Massachusetts. The
Moon was visible at about three-quarter phase in the sky.
Both glanced up and saw a group of six or seven disk-shaped
ob jects moving horizontally toward the Moon. When the
ob jectsreacheda position just below the Moon they looped
itinanupward, back, and onward motion, then continued on
their way.

Case Three: Frank Salisbury reports on a case from the
UFO-filled Uintah Valley that occurred in 1967. The key
element of circling is somewhat garbled in his 1974 book
The Utah UF O Display. so I’'m going to relate what he said
clearly at the Fare International UFO Conterence, held in
1977. On October 14, 1967, a lather and son were retuming
from a tishing trip when they noticed an odd “burning™
object parked in the desert. They stopped, got out of their
car.and watched. The object lifted offimmediately. looking
like a halt=-moon in shape and size (in the air). It then went
rightovertothercalMoon, visible inthe sky, and tlewa loop
around it, keeping its tlat side down. [t then flew across the
Moon’s tace and lett to the northwest. As Salisbury said
then, "It was responding to their being there.” And it got the
geometry precisely right.
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Cuse Three.

Case Four: The Air Force had less tolerance tor this
geometric nonsense. A case from Seattle, Washington. on
August 12, 1965, was sent to the Air Force. The observer
said that a solid star-like object was seen, tirst circling the
Moon, atter which it then lett for the horizon. The USAF
trashed itwiththeexplanation ol “overactive imagination.™

Case Five: One night in the spring ol 1961,
Mother Nature was doing what comes naturally,
andayoung couple wasparkingoutside of Millville,
New lJersey. Despite having other things on his
mind, the young man could not help being dis-
tracted by the antics ot a large glowing “meteor™
that was dancing around the sky. It was stopping,
darting, reversing, and so he finally gave in and
called his partner’s attention to this insensitive
intruder, and they watchedtogether. Atone pointin
its pertormance, the meteor raced directly ata star,
abruptly stopped, drew a neat right-angled, halt-

box around it, and went racing on. Finally, it grew tired of
its dance and boomed away across the sky in about tive
seconds. What the couple did next is not part of the record.

Case Six: On October 21, 1966. three
b 2 . : Ao
junior high school kids were standing at one 3y
end of their strect in Amsterdam. New York,
when they noticed a star-like light to the right
of the Moon. The star proceeded to draw a
right-angle step around the Moon, and con-
tinue northward. where it joined two other
objects. The three objects began 1o form 90° @ Ae
angles, equilateral triangles, and other geo- oo
metrical figures. Two of the friends wenthome
to get binoculars, and while they were away the sky show
stopped. The ob jects remained to be viewed in binoculars,
butdid little else. The UFOslooked spherical with some sort
ol lighted, colored areas that rotated. The kids then got
bored and went home.

Cuse Seven: On October 31, 1966, an observer in
Gloucester, Massachusetts, saw a particularly bright star in
the southwestern part of the sky. The starrefused to behave
and began to move in a pretty arc until it got below the Big
Dipper. At that point it seemed to pace along under the
Dipper, and after reaching the bucket end it dropped a bit.
and then took a coursc approximately parallel to the tront of
the constellation. This one’s a bit more of a stretch than the
others, [ agree, but [ include it tor consideration.

* ¥ »
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Cuse Seven.

Case Eight: Just atter the peak of the big Michigan
Swamp Gas flap in 1966 (Dexter was March 20, Hillsdale
wasMarch21), my currenthometown of Kalamazoo had its
own series ot UFO sightings. (I moved to town in 1971, so
was a little late l'or the show.) These occurred pretty consis-
tently night after night in the latter days ot March, ending
about April4. In the middle of'this,a wire story reported that
students at Western Michigan University had seen a star-
like object, which looked football-shaped in binoculars,
moving in geometric angles around two bright stars, until it
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shot straight up and disappeared. Hmmm. WMU students,
eh? 1 taught them ftor 30 years. The date? April I ... don't
knowaboutthisone. Butapolicemanagreedthathe watched
it, 1oo.

Case Nine: This is a Timmerman Files case. Sometime
in August ot about 1967, in Wapakoneta, Ohio, a man was
returning to his mother'shomeattwo inthe morning. Hesaw

ANOTHER TYPE OF UFO DISPLAY

Recently, by fortuitous coincidence, CUFOSreccived an
older sighting report that is similar to the reports that
Michael Swords writes about. The account comes from
Mrs. Dianne Vezza, of Marietta, Ohio, who said we could
usc her name because "l am at an age now where [ teel |
should report what | saw so many years ago.™ We appre-
ciate her candor.

Theob jectshe saw, along with two companions, was
not a true UFO display using astronomical ob jects for
alignment. However, it was certainly a gecometrical dis-
play by the UFOs that probably could only have been
seen from a limited area. For that reason, we reproduce
it here, ina paraphrased description trom the perspective
of Mrs. Vezza.

The sighting

“We were three teen girls sitting on the grass in a
backyard in Marietta, Ohio, in 1954 or 1955, It was a
warm summer evening. We were laughing and talking
when we saw a light like astar moving atan unbelievable
speed in the sky. | remember the star coming to a dead
stop. Then two other ‘stars’ sped in and also came to a
dead stop. They formed a triangle in the sky—a perfect
triangle!

“Almost immediately, an oval shape appeared that
seemedtobeanobjectotsomesort. The(star-like) lights
disappeared. and they were replaced by three of these
ovalobjectsin the triangular formation. They then began
a light display, with brilliant wildly colored lights that
continued tor a few beautitul seconds. Then the brilliant
lights wentoutand the UFOs beamed (eachone)a bright
white lightto the center of the triangle. The beams met at
the center for a few seconds, and then went out.

“"Now the ovals disappeared and the star-like lights
rcturned. Then, each star sped away into the sky in a
ditferent direction, faster than any plane is capable of,
then or now. We neverheard any sound during the whole
incident. which lasted less than a minute.

“We had been conversing betorehand. but after-
wards, no one said a sentence. One girl ran for the
telephone to call the police.

“For years none of us spoke of what we had seen,
believing our friends and families would think we were
crazy. Finally, | got up the courage to mention it to the
other two gals ata ctass reunion, and we all recalled the

experience.”

IUR +

a strangely bright star to the left of Polaris where no such
thingshouldbe. As he watched, thestar grew a little brighter
andbegantomove. It wentdirectlybencath Polaris and then
continued to the right. It repeated this in reverse, and then
went under Polaris and stopped. The star then migrated
north and south of the Pole Star. tracing out the other
clements of a large cross. It did this rapidly scveral times.
Then it came back below Polaris and just sat there. Then it
would begin again. As it was getting close to 5 a.m.. the
witness decided to stop watching. At that. the star went up
to Polaris and shot away to the lett till it disappeared.
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Case Nine.

These cases arc a tew in the alignment category. It
you've looked at lots of cases you know of many more.
Those reported here are the result of an almost random
happenstance ot my receiving a cluster of them in a much
larger pile of “odd UFO behavior™ cases sent by Frank John
Reid ot CUFOS (for which I thank him).

WHY pip I LOOK JUST THEN?

The last part of thisarticle will briefly address the other part
ot these cases. It’s all well and good for some weird ob ject
to put on an act, but the observer has to cooperate, doesn’t
he? How many times, though, have you read about the
witness exclaiming, “For some reason | had the impulse to
look up ... orgooutside . .. or turnaround.” Not to belabor
something that is pretty well known, 1’1l just give you one
suchincident(which isnoran alignmentcase in the sense of
this article but does make the point).

On March 17. 1969. two pilots were tlying a small
private plane between Phoenix and Lake Havasu, Arizona.
As is typical in a small plane, the pilots were slightly
restricted in their ability to move about in their seats and had
their scatbelts fastened. To their view torward and to the
sides, nothing was going on. The pilot in the right seat
suddenly had an urge to loosen his seatbelt. rise up, and look
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over his partner to the left. He still has no idea why he did
this. Upon doing so. he spotted a whole fleet (perhaps as
many astwodozen)ol ob jects flying very low and inarough
formation. In a period ol about 20 seconds, the two men
watched the tleet pass well below their aircraft and beyond.
They wouldnever have noticed this clusterot UFOs had one
of them not acted upon his mysterious urge to raise up and
look across and down from the plane.

The UFOs were oval disks of a Ilat white color. There
seemed to be a black blur around the edges ot each object.
There wasa hintof'a“blister”nearthe front. Their speed was
about 300 to 400 mph. The only maneuvers they made were
pitch and roll, which all the objects made instantly in pertect
unison. This is a case that was checked out by Dr. James
McDonald in his usual thorough manner.

(Bucwsernw Movwramws domed-disk with revolving top. appeared to cruise quietly
e o
O A greages pter vy 0 across the window. tree to tree.
‘ O For years, I've held on to my objective view of that

O thing, and charged the side issues ot't'to coincidence. But.
O O O rcadingsomany otherresonating cases, youhaveto wonder.
O O O So what's it all about? Perhaps cvents like these and the
alignment cases could be coincidence. Or it could be rare

DiRECTI0m O
2T breakthroughs ot a bit of clairvoyance in a normally non-
O O OO psychic guy like me. Or, maybe. the UFO scriptwriters not

only want to put on their plays but want the audience to be

scatedon time. The alignments seem to indicate that. i they

O wantto, “they know exactly whereyou live.” The occasional

0 urgestobe specitically somewhereand looking specif’ically

O some place at a certain time may reveal that the dramatists
can tap into our consciousness at a distance as well.

All that should be plenty to give the UFO researcher

So why did the pilot look when he did? Why do we? It pause. All that available information. All that manipulative

reminded mc ol an aspect of my own UFO observation in ability. Allthatcontrol. Itisa farcry from Col. Mack McCoy

(about) August 1959. My brother and | were listening to a at Wright-Patterson in the Project Sign days. when the

reportola UFO live onradio station WCHS (1 think that was UFOs were just [Tying metal disks operated by ET tly-boys

the station) out of Charleston, West Virginia. Tom and I~ justalittle ahead of us. Many ofourresearch colleagues still

weresitting in ourhome (around dusk) and Hugh McPherson, want them to be thatsimple. 1 would. too. It would give me

a UFO-loving deejay, was allowing an oft-duty station more confidence in figuring this thing out without depend-

engineer to describe a UFO that he was viewing at the time. ing upon nibbles ot handouts tfrom a bunch of inscrutable

The report was coming over the beeper phone. dramatists who refuse to ever reveal the plot in which we
We'd goneoutto look butsaw nothing. (St. Albans, our play our roles. 4

town. was about 1 7 miles downriver from Charleston. and

the engineer was further yet.) We went back in and after a OWN ALL OF NICAP’s

while, the engineer, who was giving us the impression that U.F.O. INVESTIGATORS

the UFO was getting lurtheraway from himdownriver, said
thatthe object had begun moving rapidlyto his left. Tomand
[ decided not to bother to go outside again but just walk to
the north end of'the house and look out. Our house was a long
ranch and we had several teet to walk on its long axis. As |
approached the door to that last bedroom, the hair prickled
on the back of'my neck and (1'm not going to swear to this
nextbit because it’s sosub jective, but . . ) itwasas italittle
voice said: “Hurry.” For whatever reason, | ran the last steps
to the end window and threw up the window shade. There—
immediately on cue stage right—the UFO. a nice little

CUFOS now has available a CD-ROM containing all ol
the i1ssues ol the prestigious U.F.O. Investigator, pub-
lished by the National Investigations Committee on Aerial
Phenomena from July 1957 to June 1980. Additional
NICAP materialtrom the 1950s, 1960s, and 1970s is also
included. To getyour copy, send S50 (includes both U.S.
and overseas postage) to:
CUFOS
2457 W. Peterson
Chicago. IL 60659
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SELENITES

BY JEROME CLARK

tleast 4.5 billion years old. the moon is gener-
ally thought to have been formed out of debris
trom the young carth's collision with a slightly
smaller celestial body, perhaps about the size
of Mars. Its mean distance tfrom the earth is 238,000 miles,
and it is 2,160 miles in diameter. A flurry of meteoritic
impacts and, later, volcanic activity shaped the bulk of'its
surface features between 4 and 2.5 billion years ago. Since
then, the moon hasremained essentially stable except for the
now much rarer encounter with meteorite or comet.
Speculation about lunar life, including proto-science
fiction literature on the subject. goes back to the ancients,
who observed the moon’s face and discerned what they
inferred to be oceans, land masses, and vegetation. In the
late middle ages. after telescopes were directed toward the
moon, the debate did not end: it anything, it intensilied. In
1638 the clergyman and amateur scientist John Wilkins
(1614-1672) wrote in his book The Discovery of a World in
the Moone:

That those spots and brighter parts which by our sight
might be distinguished in the Moon. do show the
ditference between the Sea and Land of that other
World. . ..

The spots represent the Sea. and the bright parts
Land. . ..

That there are high mountains, deep valleys, and
spacious plains in the body of the Moon. . . .

That there is an atmosphere. or an orb of gross
vaporous air. immediately encompassing the body of
the Moon. . ..

That it is probable there may be inhabitants in this
other World, but of what kind they arc is uncertain.

Though many educated and influential men of his time
agreed withthe premise. others scofted. The [talian astrono-
mer and lunar mapmaker Giovanni Riccioli (15398-1671)

Jerome Clark. co-editor of IUR. is author. most recently. of
Unnatural Phenomena (ABC-CLIO. 2003). This is the last of

three articles about the lore of intelligent life on earth’s
closest planetary neighbors. Previous picces in the
series were “Conversationswith Martians " (TUR 29:3) and
“Vemisian Dreams ™ (TUR 30):1).

stated flatly, "Nomandwellsonthe moon,” andheidthatthe
moon is dry, dead. and inhospitable to life. On the other
hand. Riccioli’s contemporary Jlohannes Hevelius (1611-
1687). a Polish astronomer and cartographer o f the moon.
argued for oceans and “selenites.” as he called the beings
who he belicved lived on the land arcas or continents.

A number of moon-lite advocates came fromamore or
lessexplicitly theological premise which embraced—some-
times demanded—the presence of intelligent entities on all
worlds. not necessarily excluding asteroids and comets. In
the words of lames Ferguson (1710-17706), the Scottish
autodidact and popular writer on astronomy, God created
“an inconceivable number ol suns, systems, and Worlds,
dispersed through boundless space. .. . From what we know
of'our own System. it may be rcasonably concluded that all
the rest are with equal wisdom contrived. situated. and
provided with accommodations l'or rational inhabitants . . .
ten thousand times ten thousand Worlds . . . peopled with
myriads of intelligent beings. formed tor endless progres-
sion in perfection and felicity.” In a multivolume biblical
commentary published between 1817 and 1825, the Meth-
odist clergyman Adam Clarke inlers trom Old Testament
references that there “is scarcely any doubt remaining in the
philosophical world. that the moon is a habitable globe. . . .
All the planets and their sarellites . . . are inhabited: tor
matter seems only to exist forthe sake of intelligent beings.™

Among the greatest astronomers,
honored for his discovery of Uranus in
1781. ot ten thought of as a model empiri-
cist, Sir William Herschel (1738-1822)
is less known tor his obsessive interest in
intelligent extraterrestrial life in the solar
system and beyond. In the assessment of
historian of science Michael ). Crowe,
who examined many of Herschel's un-
published papers, “pluralism was a corc component in
Herschel's rescarch program and as such inlTuenced many
of his astronomical endeavors.” Herschel believed that lite
existed on the moon; he also thought—first certainly, then
less so—that he had observed evidence of it through his
telescope.

in the mid-1770s Herschel turned his telescope to the
lunar surface and began writing journal entries in which he

Sir William
Herschel
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detailed sightings of immense trees, forests, and pastures.
By 1778 he was seeing “circuses™—circular formations—
which inhis estimation represented cities. towns, and villages.
Through 1783, atter which his attentions were attracted
clsewhere. canals, roads, and patches of vegetation caught
hiseye, oratleast hisimagination. None ol this appeared in
any of his published work, however, probably because in
time Herschel grew more sensitive to the limitations of the
telescopes of his time and entertained doubts about what he
had, in fact, seen. Telescopes had played “many tricks™ on
him. he conlided to a friend. and it was only at'ter consider-
ablcexperiencethat he feltcontident of accurate observations
through them. From then on, when he talked of extraterres-
trials. he made no claim to eyewitness validation of his own.

Less restrained, the German
astronomer Franz von Paula
Gruithuisen (1774-1852) gotsocar-
ried away that even collcagues
sympathetic to the idea ot a popu-
lated moon recoiled. In an 1824

Many Distinct Traces ot Lunar In-
habitants, Especiallyof Oneof Their
Colossal Buildings,™ he argued (in
part one) for vegetation, which he
saidhe hadseen, and foranimals (in
parttwo). Hedid not claim to have observed the latter but to
have discerned the paths they lett in their migrations: the
animals travel “from 50 northern latitude up to 37 or
possibly 47 southern latitude.” Gruithuisen reserved the
most sensational revelations tor the third part, where he
outlined observations of lunar structures: walls, forts. roads.
cities. A structure with astarlike shape was surcly a“temple.”
he judged. and an indication that the people of the moon are
religious.

Colleagues such as Carl Friedrich Gauss (Gottingen
Obscrvatory) and Joseph Johann von Littrow {Vienna Ob-
servatory) thought that Gruithuisen’s imagination was
running away with him, but—even i’ more cautious in

Franz von
Gruithuisen

Gruithuisen's lunar city structure, drawn by
British astronomer Andrey Johnson firom an
observation on May 10, 1992 From Gerald
North. Obscrving the Moon (Cambridge
Universine, 2000).
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stating so publicly—they took the idea ol funar intelligences
seriously, even proposing methods with which tocommuni-
cate with them. Another Gruithuisen critic. Bremen
astronomer Wilhelm Olbers, judged the presence both of
vegetation and of sentient entitics on the moon to be “very
probable.™

Many (albeit not all) astronomers agreed, enough to
inspire a notorious series of picces in the New York Sun
published between August 25 and 31. 1835, and written—
as revealed subsequently—by Richard Adams Locke
(1800-1871). The firststory bore this headline:

GREAT ASTRONOMICAL DISCOVERIES
Lately Made
By Sir John Herschel, LL.D, F.R.S., &¢
At the Capc of Good Hope

Sir John Herschel, a real-lite as-
tronomer (1792—-1871) and the son of
Sir Wilham, was actually conducting
telescopic observations trom the Cape
ot Good Hope at the ime—he was
there from 1833 to 1838—which inan
age of slow-moving international com-
munication ensured nospeedy rebuttal.
Locke credited Sir John with a tele-
scope of such power that it could pick
up objects on the lu-
narsurface as little as 18 inches long. The
astronomer saw animals, one like a goat
with a horn, the other a rolling, spherical-
shaped amphibian, then bipeds with both
human and bat features (he was even able
to observe them in conversation with one
another). and. tinally, a supcrior species of’
man-bats “of intinitely greater personal
beauty™ and angelic aura.

SirJohn Herschel

Richeard
Adams Locke

Thepressotthe
time noted and cir-
culated the stories.
and somc leading
newspapers  cx-
pressed full conli-
dence in their verac-
ity. Credulity was
rampant. according
to the celebrated
critic and fantasist
Edgar Allan Poe
(1809-1849). “Not one person in ten discredited it,” he
wrote with something between amusement and outrage.
“and (strangest point ofall!) the doubters werc chietly those
who doubted without being able to say why—the ignorant,
those uninformed in astronomy, people who swould not
believe because the thing wassonovel. so entirely “out ot the
usual way.””

Lunar animals allegedly discovered
hy Sir Joln Herschel.



As the story spun out of control, Locke quietly put the

word out that he had written itand that it wasn™t, in point of’

lact, truc. After that, denunciations wereringingasresound-
ingly as endorsements had been just daysbefore. Inamostly
ignored and forgotten public statement a few years later,
Locke wastoinsistthat he hadnot meantto foolanyone, that
his purposes were satirical. In other words. he had simply
poked lun at exotic, unfounded speculations about the
moon's inhabitants and at popular gullibility. In any event.
Locke staleswere destinedtobe called everatter the “moon
hoax.” Ironically, SirJohn Herschel, the real one, was later
to champion (in an 1858 book) the likelihood of “*animal or
vegetable life™ on the far side of the moon.

Camille Flammarion (1842
1925). the Frenchscientist, popular
author, and “leading advocate of
extreme pluralism™ (in the words
ol modern astrobiological chroni-
cler David Darling), dismissed
those who argued that with no at-
mosphere the moon could not
sustain lif'e; they possessed. he
sniffed, all the reasoning powers
of “a tish.” To the contrary. he
insisted inan 1877 work, changes
on its surface visible from earth
may be “due tothe vegetable king-
dom or even the animal kingdom, or—who knows?—to
some living formations which are neither vegetable nor
animal.” Interpretations [ikethese were {ar from universally
embraced—many astronomers by now deemed them non-
sensical, and those who thoughtotherwise found themselves
more and more on the defensive—but they were surpris-
ingly persistent.

Forexample, in 1902 American
astronomer William Henry Pickering
(1858-1938), an outspoken propo-
nentol’alleged Martian canals then at
the center of a furious international
scientific controversy which seems
mexplicable from this distance. re-

Ceamille Flammnarion

ported changes in the lunar W.H. Pickering
landscape—bestexplained. he wrote

in Cenfurymagazine, asevidence of an atmosphere contain-
ing water vapor. I{'there was water vapor, then surely there
could be vegetable life, at least. Ile acknowledged, how-
ever. that intelligent beings living under lunar conditions
would be unimaginable and unworthy of consideration.
Then he apparently changed his mind. He had been seeing
lunar “canals”—whichhe first attributed to strips of vegeta-
tion—Ilormore than adecade when he confided to his older,
more conservative brother, Harvard College Observatory
director Edward Charles Pickering, ““[have seen everything
practically except the sclenites themselves running round
with spades to turn ot f'the water into other canals.™
William Pickering voiced no such assertions in any

public forum, but in the mid-1920s he did theorize that
changes heretofore laid to seasonal changes in vegetation
now evinced the migrations of vast insect swarms or—he
also thought possible—migrations of seal-like animals. He
remained an advocate of lunar life well pasthis retirement
as astronomer and was writing about it almost up to his
death. No scientist ol any repute since then has associated
him- or herselt with any comparable notions.

MYSTIC MOON

Naturally, not just scientists have had their say about who
mayabideon earth s satellite. The Swedish scientist-turned-
spiritual pilgrim Emanuel Swedenborg (1688—1772) vis-
ited the moon in a visionary or out-of -body state. returning
to relate that its inhabitants are “as small as children of six
years old, their voice procceds from the stomach, and they
creep about.”™

In 1837 Joseph Smith (1805-1844), founder ol the
Church of'the Latter Day Saints (otherwise known as Mor-
monism), is alleged to have given a blessing, or perhaps
merely expressed a personal opinion, in which he pro-
nounced—as Oliver B. Huntington, who heard it, would
recall, paraphrasing Smith’s words—*"The moon [is] inhab-
ited by menand women the sameasonthisearth,and. . . they
[live]fora greater age than we do—that they live generally
toneartheageol 1,000years.” The men, averaging a height
of six feet, wear clothing in the “Quaker style.” Mormon
apologists have furiously disputed Huntington's account,
but the views attributed to Smith ol a moon inhabited by
intelligent, humanlike beings retlected widely sharedpopu-
lar,and even scientific, opinion of the time, and if true, they
hardly make him any more misguided than many of his
fellow citizens.

Speculations about intelligences on the moonwould get
new lile after World War T1, when sightings of puzzling sky
ob jects 1gnited widespread interest in {lying saucers and
cventually theories about alien bases. Transient lunar
phenomena(TLPs), astheyarecalled.haveplayedasignifi-
cant role in all of this as well. TLPs consist of unexplained

Visual anomaly (TLP) recorded by astronomer Gerald
North in the crater Aristarchus, May 30, 1985.
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changes in the lunar surface, sometimes including unusual
lights.shadows,and moving objects. Thoughsomeastrono-
mers sought to explain such occurrences as mere optical
illusions, others regard them as genuine anomalies and over
time have prevailed. In December 2005 geophysicist Gary
Olhoett, citing recent NASA research, stated. [t may be that

TLPs are caused by sunlight reflecting of f rising plumes of’

electrostatically lotted lunar dust.™ [t is also certain, how-
ever, that Olhoeft’s will not be the final word on the sub ject.
TLPs—not called that until the mid-20th century
interested Charles Fort (1874—1932). the famous chronicler
of unexplained physical phenomena and pre-UFO-era theo-
ristofextraterrestrial visitation. Fort,whohad an unquenchable
sense of humor, noted observations ot changing geometric

(=

shapes in the crater Linné and remarked wryly:

Astronomers have thought of trying to communicate
with Mars or the moon by means of great geometric
constructions placed conspicuously, but there is noth-
ing so attractive to attention as change. and a formation
that would appear and disappear would enhance the
geometric with the dynamic. That the units of the
changing compositions that covered Linné were the
lunarians themselves—that Linné was terraced—hosts
of the inhabitants of the moon standing upon ridges of
their Cheops of the Serene Sea. some of them dressed in
white and standing in a border. and some ot them
dressed in black, centering upon the apex. or the dark
material of the apex left clear for the contrast, all of them
unified n a hope of conveying an impression ol the
gecometric, asthe productofdesign. and distinguishable
trom the topographic, to the shining

god [carth] that
makes the stars ol their heaven marginal.

Less mirthful notions show up in 1950s UFO books,
such as Flving Saucers on the Attack (1954: Fiving Saucers
on the Moon n its original British edition) by Harold Tom
Wilkins (1891-1960), where it is stated as simple fact that
“the moon . . . long has been a stopover for what we call
flying saucers.” Wilkins predicted thatthe firstastronauts to
land there would [ind “massive portals™ leading to “great
sublunartunnels™ housing “beings ot other unknown worlds
in space.” These beings would not be pleased to see the
intruders, as the subsequent unleashing of their superior
firepower would attest.

Another Wilkins, respected amateur astronomer Hugh
Percival Wilkins (1896-1960), head of the British Astro-
nomical Association’s Lunar Section, would make a
remarkable claim which gave impetus to UFO-based theo-
riesaboutintelligences on the moon. Its genesiswasinaJuly
29, 1953, telescopic observation by New York Herald
Tribune science editor John J. O'Neill of what ONeill
believedtobean immense bridge—a natural one. he stressed
in a public statement—Ilinking two mountain tops on the
western Mare Crisium (Sea of Crises). Because his four-
inch refracting telescope was arelatively modestinstrument,
he wrote Wilkins, who worked with a larger instrument, to

ask him to examine thedesignated region. Onthe evening of
August 26, when a doubttul Wilkins scrutinized the site. he
was surprised to see—or at least think he saw—the bridge.
Sadly, O'Nelll died betore he received Wilkins's letter of
confirmation.

That, however, did not end the matter. On December
23, interviewed on Britishradio, Wilkins stated flatly, “Now
this is a real bridge. [ts span is about 20 miles from one side
to the other, and it’s probably at least 5000 feet or so from
the surface beneath.” He went on, "It looks artificial. It's
almost incredible that such a thing could have been formed
n the first instance, or if it was formed, could have lasted
during the ages in which the moon has been in existence.
You would have expected it either to be disintegrated by
temperature variations or by metcor impact. . . . It looks
almost like an engineering job. . .. Yes, it is most extraor-
dinary.” On June 17, 1954, visiting southern Calif ornia,
Wilkins studied Mare Crisium with the 100-inch retlecting
telescope at Mount Wilson Observatory and sighted the
bridge again.

But other amateur astronomers were seeing something
different,namelythe effects of light fromalow sun uponthis
particular part of the lunar landscape. Subsequent viewing,
for example from the Lunar Orbiter in the 1960s, has
conclusively established that no such object, whether natu-
ral phenomenon or engineered structure, exists. But at the
time, cven n the face of ridicule which soon led him to
resign from the BAA, Wilkins stuck to his conviction.

Donald E.Keyhoe(1897-1988),a retired Marine Corps
major and the most famous UFO proponent of his time,
reported the observations of O*Neill and Wilkins (the latter
of whom harbored heretical UFO
sympathies), along with others of
(more genuinely anomalous) TLPs,
and from them spun some tanciful
theories. In his book The Flving Scui-
cer Conspiracy (1955) he wondered
if an intelligent lunar race, a few
centuries ahead of its counterpart on
earth, grew alarmed as it became ap-
parent that earthlings would soon bring their bombs, wars,
and violent ways to the moon; consequently, they launched
observational vehicles—UFOs—to monitor terrestrial ac-
tivity. Or maybe the “moon race have been enslaved and
forced to build the space base for outsiders. . . . [t was even
possible that a strong moon race, perhaps with unknown
weapons, couldhave overwhelmed the space visitors might
be in control. As to which was the right
answer, [ could only speculate. But the
evidence of some intelligent race on the
moon seemed undeniable.”

There was also Morris Ketchum
Jessup (1900-1959). Jessup had an edu-
cational background in astronomy and
experience as a working scientist. He did
undergraduate and graduate work at the

.
Donald Keyhoe
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University of Michigan. In the late 1920s he and associates
trom the university set up a large refracting telescope in
South Atfrica, employing it to discover many double stars.
Jessup never tinished the work necessary fora Ph.D. (though
in later years he wasoften identilied as “Dr. Jessup™), and he
left astronomy to pursue his own archacological interests in
Mexico and Peru. When tlying saucers came along, Jessup
would write four books, distinguished both because one
(The Cuse for the UFO, 1955) was the firstto use the new
phrase “UFO™ in the title and also because they contained
some strikingly original, if unconvincing, ruminations on
the nature and origin of UFO intelligences.

In The Expanding Cuse for the UFO (1957) archaco-
logical artitacts meet lunar anomalies (authentic and
otherwise) and wed in a shotgun marriage uniting tree-
wheeling guessworkto staggering silliness. In general outline,
ifnot in specific detail, it anticipates the “ancient-astronaut™
craze generated by Erich (Chariots of the Gods?) von
Diniken and his imitators in the 1970s. Jessup stated,
“Thereare "little people” in Africanand New Guineajungles
today. They have been written about, photographed, mea-
suredand studied. Butnobocy knows their origin orancestry.
They are, perhaps. one of the ‘erratics’ of ethnology. Were
these people. these isolated tribes, “planted’ in the tropical
African jungle from UFO [sic] thousands ol years ago? Did
UFO [sic] land, or crash, and establish racial germs or
colonies”?”

Afternoting the occurrence of TLPs overthe centuries,
he proceeds to decree it arguably possible that these pyg-
mies either arrived originally from the moon or colonized it
from here, having developed an advanced technology based
on levitation and antigravity. “We have reason to believe,”
he wrote, ““that space tlight may have been in existence tor
70.000 to 100,000 years, [and] there is reason to believe
that space tlight derives Irom a time in the pre-cataclysmic
erawhichdeveloped afirst wave ol civilization. ... [fwe do,
indeed, have "lttle people” within the UFO [sic].as reported
by observers of varyingresponsibility. then we may assume
that the Pygmies, at some remote epoch, developed a civi-
lization which discovered the principle of gravitation and
put it to work.” They reside on the earth, the moon, and in
giant spacecraft located in space between the two in a zone
ol gravitational neutrality.

No one endorsed or expanded on Jessup’s moon-con-
nected superpygmies, but some UFO and esoteric literature
continued—up to the present—to explore the connection
between the moon and extraterrestrials based therc.The
NICAP Bulletintor January 1959, reporting the observation
of domelike objects on the moon, wondered if these were
“possibly structures built by unknown space travelers.”
Writing in England’s Flving Suucer Review (January/Feb-
ruary 1960), W. Raymond Drake advanced the notion that
the moon’s surface appears as it does because long ago the
lunarians devastated it ina nuclear contlict, either with each
other or with hostile invaders. Surviving lunarians crawled
into “deep caverns with air and water,” and it is fromthere

that they dispatch saucers earthward. As it happens. the
moon is not quite what it appears to be. “Our belt of
atmosphere hundreds ot miles thick may have some of the
properties of a giant lens, which magnifies the Moon to
twenty times its real size,” according to Drake. In Ray
Palmer’s Fiving Saucers magazine, Guy J. Cyr, a Catholic
priest. imagined a moon awash in life and oceans and, of
course, spaceships. and Robert W. Russel conjured up
lunarians residing in great numbers under crater loors.

As pictures of the lunar surface proliferated. trom
improved photographic and telescopic technology on earth
and from shots taken from spacecratt near or on the moon,
enthusiasts pored over them in search of alien artitacts. A
hoax published in a September 1969 issue of the now-
defunct supermarket tabloid National Bulletin, which
concocted thestory inits editorial ot ficeand gave it a bogus
byline, purportedtoshow censored transcripts ot communi-
cations between NASA's Mission Control and the Apollo
' moon landing (the first)on July 20, 1969. The discussion
concerned sightings of extraterrestrial spacecraft in the
astronauts’ vicinity. Inthemid-1970s.inthe pulp newsstand
magazine Sugu's UFO Report. Joseph Goodavage contrib-
uted sensationalistic material, cited in most subsequent
writings on the sub ject, supposedly demonstrating evidence
of lunar extraterrestrial activity.

Books by Don Wilson (Qurr Mysterious Spuceship
Maoon, 1975, and Secrets of Our Spaceship Moon, 1979).
Jean Sendy (The Moon: Outpost of the Gods, 1975), and
George H. Leonard (Somehody Else Is on the Moon, 1976)
put forth variations on the theme ol moon-as-ET-colony-
and-launching-pad. drawing their inspiration largely I'rom
creative interpretations ofambiguous photographic images.
Wilson championed an especially outlandish allegation.
namely that the moon itself is a hollow spacecraft. “The
greatest UFO in our skies is there for everyone to see,” he
proclaimed. possibly with tongue in cheek.

Fred Steckling of the George Adamski Foundation was
responsible for another notable book in the genre. In I7e
Discovered Alien Buses on the Moon (1982) he sought to
prove that the contactee’s claims of an extraterrestrial pres-
ence there (see below) were not, as critics thought, absurd
tiction. The book sparked a devastating refutation by well-
informed amateur astronomerandmoon-watcher Francis G.
Graham, head ol the Pennsylvania Selenological Society.
Graham's monograph opens with these wry words:

Fred Steckling believes the US moon program discov-
ered aliens on the moon. and the lunar program is
continuing under great secrecy, in order 1o establish
contact with the UFOs: further, some pcople in the
government have in fact duplicated a crashed UFO . ..
and arc using that for transport to the moon. It is not
clear [to] which George Pal movie Mr. Steckling has
been tuning his cosmic Interrossiter, but it is certainly
nottuned toreality. if one compares his baok to the main
body of scientific knowledge as a vardstick of what
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constitutes his view ot the reality of the moon.

But perhaps conventional lunar science is wrong
and Mr. Steckling is right. What evidence does he
produce? Mr. Steckling shows 150 photos and draw-
ings. One of these. of himself, we can believe. The
remaining 149 demand critical appraisal. Ofthose 149,
15 are of Earth UFOs, postage stamps, and pond water.

TRAVELERS’ TALES

“Asmyspacefriendshad promised, they took meonmy first
trip to the moon the second week of August, 1956, New
Jersey sign painter and contactee
Howard Mengerrelates matter-of -factly
in the first sentence of a chapter of his
From Outer Space to You (1959). The
trip, however, ended disappointingly.
Menger and his friends, both space
people and earthlings, orbited the moon
butdid not land on it. Through a screen
he saw dome-shaped structures.
Fortunately. Menger got a return
trip the nextmonth, andthistime he was
permittedto step ontothe surface—with
a camera yet. In his book, one photograph, showing a saucer
approachinga dome, notes, “The author was permittedto take
only afewphotographs,” but was still keeping several under
wraps, while others “did not come out well.” He reported,

Howard Menger

“For some reason [ was never allowedto take photographs of

surface detail, people, their mechanical installations and the
like.” Sadly, the resultwas thatnone of the published photo-
graphslooks like anything that could nothave been produced
on a kitchen table. One critic observed at the time, “These

photos are so evidently faked that it is almost foolish to even
criticize them.”

Unlike other contactees Menger did not aver that the
lunar landscape is livable (though he does give the moon an
atmosphere which, of course. more prosaic astronomical
doctrine does not afford it), but that the space people from
other planets (primarily Venus) whoreside there live inside
the domes. He and hundreds of other earthlings trom an
assortment of nations were led on a guided tour which took
them from dome to dome. “All of us were shown musical
instruments. samples of art and architecture, and other
interesting things,” Menger vaguely recalled. Going on
evenless helptully, if that’s conceivable, he added, “In fact
[sic] one building was like an interplanctary world’s fair,
with each planet represented by some sort of contribution in
art, technology and so on.”

[fanything, contactee Buck Nelson, an Ozarks tarmer
who may fairly be characterized as an unlettered hillbilly,
had even fewerdetailsabouthis lunaradventure, which took
place nearly a year and a half before Menger’s, in April
1955. Nelson's principal contact was Little Bucky, an
earthling expatriate who now considered Venus home.

Little Buckyandtwoextraterrestrialassociates(one the
oddly monikered “Bob Solomon™) showed up at midnight
on April 24 to tulfill a promise to take Buck Nelson into
space. [n return, as Nelson would write, *T would tell about
it to the world.™ Buck held up his share of the bargain,
writing and peddling a not fully literate booklet with the to-
the-point title My Trip (o Mars, the Moon. and Venus
(1956).

What the world learned was that after a stopover on
Mars, where he and his dog Teddy, who accompanied him

(continued on puge 26)

JUST FOR FuUN

Inaprevious “Justfor Fun™ ({UR29:4,pp.20-21) youwere
asked some trivia questions associated with some serious
individuals involved with the UFO story. This time we’ll
give equal time to our congenial lunatics, the old-time
contactees. Link the statements in theright-hand column to
the contactee listed in the left-hand column. Answersareon
page 26.—Michael D. Swords.

Contactees:

George Adamski

2. Orfeo M. Angelucci

3. Truman Bethurum
Woody Derenberger
Daniel W. Fry

6. Howard Menger

7. Buck Nelson

8. Reinhold O. Schmidt
9. George W. Van Tassell
George Hunt Williamson

Statements:

Explored secret Mayan caves with Joseph Manson
Valentine of Bermuda Triangle fame.

Claimed to be a distant part of the royal family of
Serbia.

C. Was married to Hollywood starlet Jennifer Holt.

D. Was Most Reverend Bishop of the Syro-Chaldean
Archdiocese of North America.

E. Wasoneofthelastpeopleto see Morris Jessup alive.

F. Wrote an unperformed “Broadway play™ giving his
answer to the Secret of the Grail.

G. Was an initiated member of the Chippewa Indian
tribe.

H. Was a member of the Knights of Malta.

[.  Was falsely accused of murdering his tirst wife in
Peru.

J. Was an illustrator and advertising copywriter for
Celoltex.



ABDUCTED BY HER BELIEFS

BY MARK RODEGHIER

Susan Clancy, Ahdiucied: Hew People Come to Believe
They Were Kidnapped by Aliens. Cambridge, Mass.:
Harvard University. 2005. $22.95.

Social scientists, chietly psychologists, have been ex-
amining the abductionphenomenon—really just abductees—
for more than a decade. They began
this work in the carly 1990s atter
abductions became asub jectof popu-
lar culture and media interest, and
hence reached the attention of aca-

ad i

] . : Abducted
demics. Essentially all this research .
began with the assumption that ab-
ductions arc not real and must have il ‘

some other cause unrelated to aliens e
or other external forces. "

Thesce supposcd causes are quite
diverse, including such things as fantasy proneness. mas-
ochism. slecp paralysis,hynagogicandhypnopompicimag-
ery, investigators and therapists who unwittingly plant ab-
duction memories in the minds of abductces, and the mean-
ing that abduction beliefs provide as a substitute for reli-
gion. This list is not quite exhaustive, but you get the point.
While social scientists all agreed that abductions were not
real. they ditfered greatly on their causes.

Why are these theories so varied? Have psychologists
agreed, by now, on aprimary causeforabductionaccounts?
I'not, why?

Those questions bring us to the most recent addition to
this literature on the abduction phenomenon. the book
Ahducred by former Harvard postdoe Susan Clancy. [t is,
likeall books on abductions (whether by UFO investigators
orskeptics). writtenfor the general public, nota specialized
audience. Clancy bases the book on her own research on
abductees, most ot which was done with her mentor. Rich-
ard McNally. plus her own speculations on the meaning of
abductions to those who have the experience.

The book is designed, as its subtitle tells us. to explain
“how people come to belicve they were kidnapped by
aliens.™ Ultimately, the book fails in its primary goal,
revealing more about the belief's of Clancy and other psy-
chologists than the abductees. Yt the book does make a
contribution to the debate about abductions, though not one
that Clancy readily recognizes.

Clancy writes in a breezy style, and even though you

may of ten disagree with her conclusions, the book is easy to
read and keeps your attention. She is not above telling
disparaging stories about herself, and from these. and some
rather injudicious comments scattered throughout the text.
it seems fair to characterize her as someone who “shoots
from the hip.” For example, consider this statement: “Ten
years from now, believing in aliens and in their presence
among us will perhaps become as common as believing in
God.” There are so many problems with this that [ hardly
know where to begin a critique. it makes for a memorable
quote. but it is a rather meaningless statement. and not one
(I'dlay bigmoney) likely tocome true in 10 years,however
you interpret it.

There are both small and large things wrong with
Clancy’s argument and evenheruse of the UFO literature
and discussion of specific cases. 1 won't belabor these
failings in this review: a few instances will suftice. But |
want to also be fair and point outwhat Clancy gotright. two
things in particular. Clancy. unlike almost every skeptical
social scientist who has studied abductees, engaged in
lengthy conversations withhersub jects priortotheirenroll-
mentin her studies. As a consequence. she did learn some
thingsabout people who self-identify aspossibleabductecs.

First, she came torealize that most people who contact
UFO and abduction investigators and think they might be
abductees don’t meet any rcasonable detinition of that
category. Second, she understands these peopleare trying to
make sense of odd and anomalous experiences they have
had, and thatthey find the abduction experience of fers them
aready-made cultural scriptthat “explains™ their own life’s
oddities. (“Alien-abduction beliefs reflect attempts to ex-
plain odd, unusual, and perplexing experiences.™)

The sane and sensible abduction investigators [ know
arc well familiar with the common experience of being
contacted by someone whosaw odd lights, has unexplained
bruises. had a vivid dream about UFOs and aliens, or feels
uneasy when reading books by Budd Hopkins or David
Jacobs, and thinks that he or she might be an abductee. But
the majority of this group has no experience of an actual
abduction event, and most won't alter further discussions,
orevenan investigation. [notherwords. for whatever reason
(and | return to this below). many people who think they
might be abductees simply are not (and fortunate tor them).

Clancy soon recognized the existence of this type of
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abduction claimant and struggled to understand why some
individuals would turn to the abduction phenomenon as an
explanation. Unlike other social scientists who tend to
promote one primary causce, Clancy is sensible enough to
recognize that there are several pathways that cventually
wind toroughly the same spot. As she writes in the conclu-
sion, [ amarguing that alien-abduction memories are best
understood as resulting tfrom a blend ot fantasy-pronencess,
memory distortion, culturally available scripts, sleep hallu-
cinations. and scientific illiteracy. aided and abetted by the
suggestions and reinforcement ol hypnotherapy.™

We can quibble with the details. but the idea that
abduction beliefs are multicausal is a good one. Some
people who think they are abductees have that beliel for a
complex of reasons, probably something close to what
Clancy lists inthis quote. Note that, like most skeptics now,
there is no talk of mental illness or impaired functioning
among abcluctees. although Clancy does see evidence of
schizotypy—magical thinking and perceptual aberration—
among her abductee sample. Abductees may be odd. but
they are not abnormal.

Clancy, though, did something odd herselt, caused not
Just by her skepticism. but also by her own beliefs. She
knows that abductions aren’t real, but she wanted to study
abductees. How can you [ind an abductee it there are no
independent. objective criteria to use to classity people into
that group? Oh, theanswerturns outto beeasy: Anyone who
saysthey arean abductee, or might be an abductee. or could
be an abductee. gets counted as an “abductee.” Is this as
misguided as it sounds? Basically, yes. with one caveat.

Science is all about, at its most basic level. detining
what you are studying rigorously so that you and your
collcagues actually know what your research is all about.
Social scientists olten have a tough time at this because the
social world is inherently messy and imprecise, with loose
boundaries. Still. youhaveto try. However, almost all social
scientists (and some ul'ologists) who have studiedabductees
have notbeen very precise in their detinition ofan abductec.
This might all seem just nit picking: Geton with it man. isn’t
it obvious who is and isn’t an abductee!

Well. yes it is, it we are talking about someone who
remembers floating through their window into a UFO.
where they undergo various procedures. are shown hybrid
babies, and then taken back to their house. Butnoitisn't, if
we instead are faced with someone who woke up with odd
bruises one morning and on that basis thinks thatabduction
is the likely explanation.

Clancy is interested in the process by which one be-
comes an abductee, and says, cotrectly, that tfor most it
comes about slowly, in fits and starts. Even it she believes
that both examples above count asabductees,you'd want to
separate them into difterent groups (o see how they might
ditfer on a whole variety of traits. and to better be able to
study what Clancy might term (not her language) “early™
and “late™ stage abductees (the former just have weird
unexplained experiences: the latter have more vivid memo-

riesandaresurcthey are abductees). [n fact. only about [0%
ofhersample was contidentthey hadbeen abducted (though
even this is letl imprecise).

So Clancy's abductee detinition lets in just about any-
one. and it guarantees that she s going to geta sample with
people who are a bit odd (else why would little evidence
convince them they might be abductees). But she doesn’t
come to grips with this obvious intluencc on her work.

Clancy is not impressed. as some might be, by either
those persons whorecall theirabductions withouthypnosis,
or by the purported consistency of abduction stories them-
selves. As tor hypnosis, she writes that pecople can recover
memories withoutit:in fact, she also predicts, “if you'renot
abeliever [in abductions] alrcady (at least to some extent),
you'renotgoingtoacquire memories ofalien abductions.™
That'sastrongstatement,and oneitwouldseemhasalready
been disconfirmed by several cases where the witness had
no prior beliet in UFOs, let alone abductions. yet had an
abduction-type experience. But . . . youareplaying a fool’s
game with Clancy here. Il such a witness goes to visit an
abductioninvestigator, that wouldbe prima facie prootthat
he hadsomebeliefin abductions—else why visit the inves-
tigator?

As tor abduction consistency, although not quoting
Eddic Bullard on this (she pointedly neglects citations to
those serious studies appearing in the UFO literature), she
{irst asserts that there is little consistency and that all sorts
of details differ from case to casc, including the aliens’
appearance, what they wear, the type of examination, mes-
sages. and so forth. While there is some truth to this, she
admitsthatthe general plotis roughly the same, butsays that
all of this “existed in movies and TV betore people ever
reported™ abductions.

Itis with statements like this that Clancy's work begins
to leave the rails, as she wanders away [rom things she has
studied to rank speculation about the belicf's and motiva-
tions of abductees. Here are two examples:

Aliens are entirely and extremely human. the imagina-
tive creations of people with ordinary emotional needs
and desires. We don’t want to be alone. We feel helpless
and vutnerable much of the time. We want to believe
there’s something bigger and better than us out there.
And we want to believe that whatever it is cares about
us. or at least is paying attention 1o us. That they want
us (sexually or otherwise). That we're special. Being
abducted by aliens is a culturally shaped manifestation
of a universal human need. . . .

The common features of the alien-abduction sto-
ries—the elements of the basic plot—are not evidence
of validity. They arc cvidence that these stories have
been contrived out of shared cultural knowledge and
shared psychological fears. needs. hopes. and limita-
tions.

[ suppose [ don't need to tell you that she didn’t study

rcontinued on page 26)
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Bobpy SNATCHERS: AN EXCHANGE

BY Nick REDFERN
WITH A REPLY BY ROBERT J. DURANT

have justread Robert Durant’s review article “Doty

and the Body Snatchers.” published in the 30:1 issue

of ITUR, whose sub jectis Greg Bishop's book Project

Beta and my Body Snatchers in the Desert (both
published by Paraview, 2005).

Durant begins by sensibly ditching the notion that |
initially wrote Body Snatchers as anoveland then “decided
there was a bigger market in nonfiction Roswell.™ He
suggests instead that | am “the latest victim of the relentless
program to disinform utology.” Indeed. I would stress that
[ do not give a damn about UFO fiction. and | have no
interest in writing UFO fiction (there is enough of that in
utfology already). The size ot'a market is of zero concern to
me when it comes to determining what | write about or what
I don’t write about. 1 write books on UFOs to inform
interested parties about information I have uncovered: noth-
ing more. nothing less. People can take it or leave it.

Durant claims thatmybook created an “uproar™ on the
UFO Updates site and on other newsgroups. In fact. the
alleged uproar was largely limited to a couple ol posts per
day trom Brad Sparks. with various other comments and
observations made by Gildas Bourdais, Ed Gerhman, Don
Ledger. and Rich Reynolds. Reynolds isn’t particularly an
advocate of' the ideas proposed in Body Snarchers. but he is
open-minded to aspects of the theory and has privately
provided me with reams ol data (including a lot of Navy-
based dataand other material from the 1940s); some of these
data relate to “hybrid™ balloon-based vchicles similar to
those described to me as | researched the book.

Sparks and Bourdais have both argued that the persons
I interviewed sught to deccive me with disinformation.
However, regular posts from —predominantly —two sources
who disagree with the book. coupled with only a limited
degree of comment from other subscribers, hardly com-
prises an “uproar.”

Nick Redfern is a British-born fieelance jorrnalist who
currently lives in Texas. He has written hooks on
crprozoology and ufology, the most recent heing Body
Snatchers in the Desert (Paraview, 2005). Robert J. Durant
is a former airline pilot who has studied UF Ox since the
1950)s.

Durant goes on to outline the basic premise of the book:
that. in a situation miutroring the shameful and Faustian
postwar Operation Paperclip, Japanese balloon experts were
secretly brought to the United States to continue their
research into balloons that were far more advanced than
their World War 11 Fugo devices. and that it was the crash
of one such balloon—albeit one designed to carry aloli a
flying-wing aircraft—that sparked the legend of the UFO
crash at Roswell.

Durant complains that | provided no documentation to
support this scenario beyond a single newspaper article.
This 1s absurd. First, it any of the people | had interviewed
wereable to provide me with Holy Grail-level documenta-
tion that utterly confirmed the theory. | would have been
highly suspicious of the apparent case with which they had
acquired such scemingly classitied material.

Many researchers salivate at the very mention ofMJ-12
and the many and assorted documents that have surfaced on
the subject. Very tew of those same researchers actually
give thought to how the ostensible whistleblowers who
provided the documents actually got them past sccurity.
What were my sources supposed to do: Steal the documents
from a vault. then shove them down theirtrousersand march
outthe frontdoor? And all justin case they happened to meet
someone like me 35 10 50 years later to whom they decided
to tell all?

I am underwhelmed by claimants who parade photo-
copies of “leaked™ Top Secret documents that purport to
detail extraordinary revelations about crashed UFOs. alien
autopsies. and reverse engineering. | am tar more intrigued
by individuals who relate an accounttome and who produce
for me their driver’s licenses. their credit cards. and tax-
related documents (among other papers) that demonstrate
they are who they say they are.

And are we also supposcd to believe that such docu-
mentation would be declassified and surtace at an official
level? Don’tbe naive. Noteven the Air Force orthe General
Accounting Oflice could find adamned thing ot any signifi-
cance during their excursions into the murky waters of
Roswell,andthe outgoing records from Roswell from 1946
to 1949 are inexplicably missing. Whatever happened at
Roswell. someone caretully and successtully ensured (and
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perhaps still does ensure—that’s a moot point, however)
that the paper trail was stone cold long betore half ot us were
even born.

And before we leave this topic: | have read enough of
Durant’s work to know that he is a strong advocate of the
idea that something truly anomalous occurred in the New
Mexico desertin 1947, But if-—to use Durant’s logic—the
story provided to me lacks credibility because the only
documentationthat lhaveisanewspaperclipping.he would
do well torememberthatno ofticial documentation has ever
surfaced in support of the idea that anything anomalous
crashed at Roswell. It this is a problem. it is a problem for
thosc on both sides of the issue.

On the issue of nuclear-powered aircraft and Roswell,
Durant writes, " The insertion of nuclear-power and radia-
tion experiments nto the story is puzzling . . . The well-
documented etforts to create nuclear propulsion came much
later than 1947."

That seems to imply that my sources had said that
efforts to create nuclear-powered aircratt were deeply un-
derway in 1947. They did not. Everybody linterviewedtold
me that there was no nuclear-powered aircratt as such in
1947, but that there wus a desire totry to determine—with
the imited technology that existed at the time
might be alfected by prolonged. nuclear-powered tlight, or
a reactor, and the like. Bear in mind, too. the crucial

how acrew

consideration that the Nuclear Energy tor Propulsion of

Aircratt (NEPA) program began in 1946. Here are tour
quotes from the interviews (my italics):

I. “Thethought was to someday build an aircraft that
would tly very high and for an extremc amount of time. But
how will [the crew] be aftected? And if we can really do all
this—and even though it might be vears and probubly
decades dhead—can we develop a unigue type ol nuclear
aircralt and engine that can fly very high and it necessary
stay up there for an extreme period of time?”

2. “[A]ithough the plans were to build nuclear aircraft
that would tly very high. we weren 't in a position to build
anvthing like that hack then. as this was a long ways ahead,
and so thev worked with simuilations. . ..

3. “Thereis no nuclear engine buck then
But there is a need tora simulation of a nuclear ilight. .. ."

4 That wus just too audvanced—Buck Rogers
vears away.”

In other words. none of the interviewees disputed the
historical fact that tully functioning nuclear-powered air-
crattwere athing of the far future rather than the present of
1947. They werc unanimous in the view. however, that
rudimentary resecarch had been undertaken and that this
involved dubious human experimentation.

Heck. even the officially declussified NEPA tiles of
1948 (only one year after Roswell) talk about NEPA's on-
going plans to try to secure permission to use American
prisoners in their “tests™ in an attempt to make an "accurate
prediction” of the “biological changes resulting from known
levels of radiation exposure.™

none ar all.

ancd

I might also point out that Colonel Gasser—the prin-
cipal army technician™ at the NEPA project at Oak Ridge
is cited in FBI documents of 1949 (included in the book) as
having stated that “tlying discs have long been a theorcetical
possibility ... scientists have for many years, been attempt-
ing to develop this type ol aircraft. Some experimentation
has been done even in the United States, but insofar as is
known in the United States. at the present time, there have
never been any practical developments. . . .7 According to
the FBI. Gasser also stated that “there is only one possible
fuel which could be utilized which is in accord with present
theory, and that is the utilization of atomic energy.”

Thatasourcesuchas Gasser—directly ticdtoN EPA
should have been aware that the U.S. had actually been
attempting to build saucers priorto 1949 is surely intriguing.
Moreover, the observation thatnothing ol a practical nature
had been developed from this “experimentation™ ties in
exactlvwith the testimony provided by my informants—that
nearly all of the experiments undertaken had cended in
disaster or failure.

Durant also disputes allegations made to me that the
work ofthe Horten brothers of Germany was tied in with the
story. Butheneglectsto mention that not justmy intervicwees
linked UFOs and the Hortens: AUSAF documentof January
3. 1952, from Brig. Gen. W. M. Garland. to Gen. John A.
Samford, Air Force director of intelligence (also in the
book). observes, T[1]t is to be noted that certain develop-
ments by the Germans, particularlv the Horten wing [my
italics], jet propulsion, and retueling, combined with their
extensive employment of V-1 and V-2 weapons during
World War Il lend credence to the possibility thatthe tlying
objects may be of German and Russian origin.™

How curious thatnone other than the USAF director of
intelligence was positing a link between UFOs and particu-
larly the work ot the Horten brothers. Was Garland's remark
concerning the Russians and Horten vehicles in a UFO
context possibly borne out ol a knowledge that the Ameri-
cans had dabbled in something similar a few years previ-
ously?

Durant goes on to assert, “The balloon-wing combina-
tion fails the common-sense test.” So what? No onc |
interviewed claimed that the operation to launch a huge
balloon array with a detachable glider lixed below it as a
hybrid-style device way straightforward or indeed feasible
atall. In fact, il youcredit the testimony in the book, then the
attempt to launch just such a device was demonstrably nor
teasible and was an unmitigated disaster [rom beginning to
end. And we know that because the damned thing crashed on
what was possibly the lirst attempt to fly it. Indeed, the
source identilied in the book as the "Colonel” said bluntly.
“This was just one of many strange projects. Some got
as this one was in late 1947. A comparable
“dipshit” commentis made, too. concerning the experimen-
tation.

In other words.my sources concur with Durant that this
was not tinally seen as a viable area tor practical flight: it

canceled
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was canceled barely months later. And when Durant addi-
tionally criticizes the “fundamental feasibility " of the project,
those who have not read the book could be forgiven for
thinking that my informants were suggesting this was a
wondertul projectthat saw the balloon array lift the aircraft
majestically into the air without problem. The Colonel in
particular held. however, that the huge. unwieldy mess was
a disaster. In fact. none of the informants had anything
especially positive to say about the various experiments.
But military planners often come up with bizarre idcas
that fail to work. A classic example can be found in tormerly
classified World War 1l German documentation, relating
how the finest minds in German aviation came up with the
bright idea to tly a V-weapon low across the occan. while it
towedan cxplosives-packedboatinthe water. The V-device
would then beradio-controlled towardan enemy battleship:
it would line up the towboat with the battleship. detach its
tow rope, and soar into the skies while the towboat and its

cargo of explosives slammed at high speed into the side of

the ship. blowing up and sinking ship and crew.

Now. this has nothing to do with Roswell. But it is a
classic example in which lcading military minds conjure up
a bizarre project (and furthermore combine two ditferent
devices hybrid-style) that almost certainly—due to logis-
tics——would not have tunctioned as planned. Indeed. it was
canceled —due to perceived ditticulties. But the important
tact is that this cidn’t prevent the German military from
undertaking rescarch betore the operation was canceled due
to itultimately not being seen as viable. The same can apply
to any nation.

QUES'I'I()NI’,D SOURCES

Durant turns his attention to the sources of the testimony.
Reterring to one interviewee who worked l'or the Psycho-
logical Strategy Board (Bill Salter), Durant refers to him as
“Bill Salter.” The use of quotation marks implies that this is
a faked name or an alias. It is not. The man’s formal name
is William Salter.

Commenting on a source in the book who worked at
Oak Ridge and whose testimony is presented under the guise
of the "Black Widow.” Durant contends. “*Salter has much
to add to the Widow’s story.” What is particularly odd,
however, is that Salter does not add much to the story: hardly
anything. in fact. I have noinkling where Durant got the idea
that Salter added “much™ to the story. but he certainly
doesn’t getit from my book. Body Snatchers in the Desert
is 248 pages in length, and Salter’s account takes up only
half of page 90 and all of page 91. And that’s 1t: one and a
halfpages out of the book’s 248. Salter stressed that he knew
nothing firsthand and saw nothing firsthand: all ot his
information came from a former employec of the Central
Intelligence Group and “an old friend from the Department
ol Energy.”

Actually, and somewhat ironically. it is the fact that
Salter— by his own admission— knew nothing tirsthand and

saw nothing firsthand that lends credibility to his account.
He was not trying to spin some claborate tale of
disinformationwithevery avenuce carcfully covered.andhe
did not claim to have anything substantial beyond what he
was told. This is not the path followed by the experienced
disinformation expert who weaves a solid story to divert a
person into a carefully controlled environment. But it is
exactly what we wouldexpect to see and hear from someone
whois recallinga specific. personalmemory from more than
half'a century ago and stating something to the effect that |
know nothing personally, but this is what | was told—take
itor leave i.”

Durantthen turns to Al Barker——oras Durant prefers it,
“Al Barker.™ Again, there is nothing obfuscated about his
name. beyond the tact that he prefers to be called Al rather
than Albert (unless. as | have stated both privately and
publicly, somcone is going to the extent of creating bogus
driving licenses and credit cards lor a bunch of old guys in
their 80s, with the intent of then having them show this
material to me. | will concede. however, that the so-called
Falcondidhavea fakedcredit card—underthe name Stephen
V. Ayres). Durant takes issue with the claim made by Barker
that U.S. psychological- warfare planners, in an attempt to
hide the truth about Roswell. put out a cover story that
Roswell was alien and that alicn bodies were recovered.
Durant states that “nobody thought Roswell was [T until
1978. and the public didn’t hear about that until 1980.™

Durant makes one fatal crror: His “nobody thought
Roswell was ET until 1978 is relevant only to the UFO-
researchcommunity—as it certainly is the case that Roswell
was barely mentioned post-1947 in a UFO context until
1978 (though Frank Edwards does refer to it in his 1966
bestseller Flving Satcers—Serious Business). Butnone ol
us in UFO research can be 100% sure what the Russians
thought about Roswell 50 ycears ago, nor can we say with
certainty what the American response was to the Russians
sticking their noses in. Creating faked documents toempha-
size the "ET crash™ angle would have been an ideal diver-
sionary tactic.

But Durant makes an even bigger and more critical
blunder. Remember that he dismissed Barker's claims about
coverstories being put out decades ago by the Psychological
Strategy Board and Army psychological-wartare planners
because “nobody thought Roswell was ET until 1978." Butin
the interview. Barker didnot mention Roswell. What Barker
actually said—and was careful to underscore—was that psy-
chological-wartare planners put out bogus crashed UFO
stories to hide the collective truth about “the high altitude
idiocy at White Sands and elsewhere™ (of which the specitic
“Roswell Incident™ was only a part). Barker does nof specifi-
cally referto coverstories putout about Roswell: he says only
that crashed UFO accounts were disseminated to hide a
collective serics of six orseven experimentsundertakeninthe
desert of New Mexico in the summer ot 1947.

Why is this important? Here’s why: If Barker had said
bogus “crashed UFO™ stories were circulated specifically
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about Roswell in the 1940s and 1950s, there would indeced
be a legitimate reason to question his version ol'events. But,
again, Barker does not do this; he asseris only that faked
UFO stories were circulated to hide the “idiocy” of 1947.

And,sureenough. an examination ot UFO datademon-
strates that a plethora of aked UFO tales did begin to enter
the public domain from the late 1940s onwards—the most
notorious being the tales fed to Frank Scully by Silas
NewtonandLeo GeBauer. While many dismissthe material
provided to Scully as merely the embroidered tales of a pair
ol con men, as some rescarchers will be aware (from the
rescarch of Karl Pflock), Newton
Journal—was visited by two men who supposedly repre-
sented a highly secret government entity that, incredibly,
wanted him to keep telling his yarn about a UFO crash at
Aztec, New Mexico, in 1948, even though they werce aware
that it was a spurious tale.

Now, we could dismiss Newton’s claim il it stood
alonce, butitdoes not. Thercare otherexamples where bogus
crashed UFO tales were disseminated in broadly the samce
time frame. Take, torexample. the alleged UFO crash on
Spitzbergen (owned by Norway) in 1952, The National
Security Agency has declassificd an English-language trans-
lation ol a Russian news article (titled Fhving Saucers?
They're A Ahvth! and written on March 12, 1968, by Villen
Lyustiberg. scienceeditor of the Novosti Press Agency) on
UFOs. While other American agencies have also made
copies of thisdocumentavailable. the NSA “s version difters

according to his private

slightly: in the section of the article that deals with
Spitzbergen, someone within the ofTicial world circled it
with the word “Plant.”™ The relevant document can be
downloaded in PDF format rom the NSA’s website.

And moving on further: In 1955, the late journalist
Dorothy Kilgallen was allegedly approached by a British
government source who claimed knowledge ol a crashed
UFO. The idca that a senior British government person
would reveal such presumably classified material in such a
cavalier fashion delies beliet” [ the tale was bogus. how-
ever.and the intent was to disseminate itforother purposes,
then things become clearer. Indeed, | have been quietly
digging into Kilgallen’s activitics for a long time now and
have learned that U.S. intelligence—in the early to mid-
1950s—grew concerned that insider sources were eeding
snippets ol classified intelligence data to Kilgallen. What
betterway to smoke out those sources than to l'eed Kilgallen
harmless talse anccdotes about crashed UFOs, then monitor
her and see whom she asked on the inside l'or confirmatory
data on the crash. and then quietly arrest those same people
without any real secrets being compromised?

[ also need to stress the official world’s delinition of
psychological warlare (italics mine): “The planned use of
propaganda and other psychological actions having the
primary purpose of influencing the opinions, emotions,
attitudes, and behavior ol hostile foreign groups in such a
way as to support the achievement of national objectives.™

[t is notable that one of chiel’ recommendations of the

lengthy August 1949 Technical Report of the investigative
UFO operation Project Grudge was that “Psvchological
Warfare Division and other governmental agencies infer-
ested in psvehological vwarf are he informed of the results of
thisstudy.” The italicsare mine. In other words, even belore
the 1940s were over, the U.S. government had realized that
the UFO sub ject could be used lor psychological-warlare
reasons—which is what all the sources [nterviewed told me
had occurred.

Durant questions the credibility of the Colonel's claim
thatthe Rosweli events—and, indeed. the other New Mexi-
can events of 1947—were hidden behind a crashed-UFO
smokescreen. But again, the Colonel docs ior state that
cover stories specifically about Roswell were put out at the
time, only that crashed UFO storics were circulated which.
again, as | have demonstrated above. did happen, as per
Aztec, Spitzbergen. and others.

ENTER THE S&S LAWYERS

Noting my remark that the Simon & Schuster legal depart-
ment insisted on certain name changes, Durant scolTs that
this “strains credulity.™ First, let me note that of the eight
books [ have written (six in print. two pending). Body
Snatchers is the only one that necessitated lengthy ex-
changes with a publisher’s legal people on a matter like this.

True, the names ot the Colonel and the Black Widow
were changed: as was the name ot the Colonel’s superior to
“my source.” and to *him."” This was because—as S&S legal
statf know—I spoke with the Colonel's superior who de-
clined to speak on the record to me, even though he knew the
Colonel was speaking out: as a result, [ was told (not asked,
butzold)by S&S s legal people thatthe name of the Colonel™s
boss had to be removed Irom the manuscript as well.

Similarly, the references in Chapter 8. “The British
Connection,” to Mr. T and Mr. D are notmine. My original
manuscript contained their names. Again, theseare further
name obtuscations made at a legal level by S&S at'ter deep
consultation on certainissues, notall ot which were dircctly
related to the UFO angle. [ don’t care if Durant thinks that
this “strains credulity.”

Durantinsists that my sources should explain why they
arc not willing to go public. Well, Salter and Barker fiuve
gone public. They are speaking out under their recal names
and in a published book that can be purchased all across the
United States and the United Kingdom in bookstores and
elsewhere on the Internet. As ar as | can tell. that equates
with speaking out publicly. Durant also asks: Why are they
nottalking to the New York Times? That is their decision. [
cannot speak for them, and nor do | know the answer. Did
any anti-UFF O crash types demandback in 1978, when Maj.
Jesse Marcel's identity was obluscated as “Major I.M..”
that to prove his credibility he needed to head at tull speed
l'or the oftices of the New York Times?

Many apparent disinformation operations focused on
UFO-crash claims. as Durant notes. tirst surfaced in the
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U.K. Herightly mentionsboththe MJ-12 documents (which
tirst came to public light in Timothy Good's 1987 British
book Above Top Secret) and the alien-autopsy tilm, pro-
vided to a British man, Ray Santilli. There is also the
scldom-discussed story about how, in late 1986, Jenny
Randles was approached by a former British Army source
who claimed to have access to voluminous U.S.-originated
documentation on crashed UFOs. dead aliens. and the usual
litany. But the important pointis that all of this (and arguably
the approaches made to Robert Emencgger. Linda Moulton
Howe. Leonard H. Stringlield. the William L. Moore
Falcon episode) reinforees the ET angle.

Will someone please explain this to me: [7at the heart
of Roswell and the UFO mystery lics something of extrater-
restrial origins and it needs to be so desperately hidden, then
why do these alleged insiders such as Randles’s source. the
suppliers of the alien autopsy hilm, and the mailers of the
MJ-12 documents have such casy access to the material?

Proponents invariably respond that it’s a way of “pre-
paring the public for the truth.” Ifthat"s the case, “they ™ have
been “preparing™ the public for decades by telling tall tales
to the UFO community. dangling the ET carrot, and then
reelingitin. All ofthis positively reeks of manipulation; and
not only that: Such action ensures that the same UFO-
rescarch community is under control and is misled into
wasting much of its time running down dead-end streets.

Now, why would the government want o provide
tantalizing data on such issues to researchers and ensure
they endlessly and fruitlessly chase such tales? Could it
perhaps be to act as a smokescreen for something Far darker
and controversial—like medical experimentation under-
taken on human beings. somewhat akin to the radiation
experiments of the 1940s onwards”? And that, if exposed.
might also open a Pandora’s box on the way in which the
UFO subject has been used as a tool of disinformation to
hide a whole range of other controversies—perhaps includ-
ing cattle mutilations? On this latter point. | encourage
people to read Colm Kelleher's book Brain Trust. You'll
never munch on cow burgers again.

Now, people could say that the same thing has hap-
pened with me and that [ was fed disinformation. As Durant
knows, | have never. ever dismissed this possibility, and 1
have said so publicly on UFO Updates and clsewhere. But
my main argumentagainstthat possibility is this: In the post-
Mogul. post-crash-test-dummy era. Roswell was stalemated.
There were no new books on the subject: a lot of the
mainstrcam media had bought into Mogul (albeit less so
with regard to the dummics—truly the strangest UFO-
related report ever to surface from the of ficial world), and
many people were focusing on other aspects of ulology.

On top of that. more than 20 individuals, privately or
publicly. are talking about their knowledge of the human-
experimentation aspect of Roswell.

With all that in mind. if Roswell is a secret (regardless
of what lics at its heart) that has to be protected at all costs
and continued interest in which is to be discouraged. why

would the government stir the pot again by having a group
of old folks come forward and unleash the beast of New
Mexico on us once again?

Researchers who take issuc with the testimony and
cvidence [ presented arc trying to tollow more ET-sugges-
tive leads. 1 have no problem with their doing so, of course.
We all want to establish the truth about Roswell. My point
is this, however: Because the material presented to me is so
controversial and souncongemal to the UIFO interpretation,
it has had the effect of galvanizing extraterrestrial hypo-
thesizers to dig into the UFQ side of Roswell even more
firmly. And | come back to my main point: I Roswell was
ET and had to be hidden, why put out astory that is going to
make people (proponents, skeptics. and agnostics alike)
pokeintobusiness that—fromtheperspective of theofticial
world—is none of theirs?

ROBERT J. DURANT RESPONDS:

I am pleased to learn from Nick Redfern that “[M]ore than
20 individuals, privately orpublicly, are talking about their
knowledge of the human-experimentation aspect of
Roswell.” And presumably we will sec their detailed recol-
lections in the journals of the many branches of history
which will be shaken by these revolutionary revelations.

Career psychological-warfare (disinformation) opera-
tives William Salterand Albert Barker have achieved celeb-
rity only in the pages of Body Snatchers, and seemnot yet
to have made it to Google, much less the New York Times.
They and their 20-odd collcagues must be hiding in fear of
the heavy hand of the Simon & Schuster legal department,
Drat!

Il the governmentused a “crashed spaceship™story to
coverthe Japanese-Roswell Event.itescaped the American
public. A Gallup Poll taken in August 1948 asking about
“tlying saucers™ revealed that the ET explanation for the
saucers was believed by so few respondents that it was not
cven listed. The cover for Roswell was a weather balloon
and itsradartarget.and thatremainedthecoverfor cither 31
years ord6 years, depending on whether you subscribe tothe
I:T or Mogul interpretation.

Invoking Norway (!) in 1946 (1) doesn’t help. because
those “ghostrockets™ werecommonly believed to be Soviet
devices. Like Roswell, the ET hypothesis tor the rockets
appeared long after, and in utological circles. not in the
contemporary mass media. The Frank Scully hoax came
much too late. and was much too lame. to have any impact
supporting the Redfern cisinformation scenario.

Roswell, whether it was a spacecratt ora Mogul array
ora Redlern array. had a public life measured in hours, and
remained a non-story until Moore and Berlitz opened the
grave 31 years later. Therecord shows unbroken, relentless
ctforts by the government to neutralize the idea that tlying
saucers were areal phenomenon.

[n other words, the historical record on this point is
exactly oppositetothatespoused by Redf'ern’s sources. 4
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SELENlTES—C(mfim/ed./i'n/n page 18

on the epic voyage (Little Bucky's dog Big Bo was therc,
too), had a good meal and met some nice folks, the ship
zipped him off to the moon for another excellent meal and
a good rest. On the moon Nelson saw a “building.” Some
lunar “children played with scveral sized dogs. They rode
Big Bo likc a pony.” Then Bucky and band were off to
Venus.

While aboard a mothership from
Saturn on April 22, 1953, contactee
and spacc traveler George Adamski
(who had first come to publicattention
with photographs, allegedly taken
through his telescope, of flying sau-
cers near the moon) conversed with the
pilot, an individual named Zuhl. In his
Insidethe Space Ships (1955) Adamski
does not mention tape-recording the
exchange, but perhaps he had a spec-
tacular memory; at any rate, he quotes
the Saturnian’s wordsabout the moon:

George Adamski

The side of the Moon which you can sec from your
planet is quite comparable to your desertarcason Earth.
It is hot, as your scientists correctly claim, but its
temperature is not so extreme as they think. And while
the side which you do not sec is colder, neither is it as
cold as they believe. It is strange how people of Earth
aceept statements from those they look up to as men of’
learning without questioning the limitations of that
knowledge.

There is a beautitul strip or section around the center
of the Moon in which vegetation, trees and animals
thrive, and in which people live in comfort. Even you of
Earth could live on that part of the Moon....

Many o fyourscientists have expressed the idea that
the Moon is a dead body. If this were true ... it long ago
would have vanished from space through disintegra-
tion. No! It is very much alive and supports a life which
includes people. We ourselves have a large laboratory
just beyond the rim of the Moon, out of sight of Earth,
in the temperate and cooler section of that body.

Shortly thereafter, Adamski got a look for himself
through a viewing instrument aboard the craft. He spotted
a small growth of vegetation and, more dramatically, a
small animal. “It was four-legged and furry,” he wrote,
“but its specd prevented me from identitying it.” Adamski
does not explain how he would have been able to “iden-
tify’ a moon animal.

THE CONTACTEES’ MOON

On a website devoted to contactee lore, longtime English
saucerian Jimmy Goddard summarizes the moon as envi-
sioned in the claims of space communicants:

The Moon has a substantial atmosphere—6 pounds
[I] has a

avalue

per squarc inch in its lowest clevations. . . .

much higher gravity than has been theorized
greater than 50% of Earth’s. . . . [It] has water and
known vegetation. . . . There are large variations in
environment, between the side that always faces the
Earth, and the far side that only can be seen from lunar
orbit. (This is only because the Moon is not a true
sphere but is bulged on the side fucing Earth, causing
this side to be in effect higher altitude land. While, as
Adamski admitted, this is a hostile desert area for the
most part, people can live there if they undergo suit-
able decompression) [italics i original]. . . . The
Moon is occupied by space people. There arc artificial
bases on the front side, and more natural bases on the
far side. The evidence has been photographed and
verified.

InanOctober 10, 1952, automatic-writing communica-
tion to a contactec group in Prescott, Arizona, two Uranus
residents reported that besides the known earthmoon, there
is a “dark moon™ which the “magnetic ficld” renders invis-
ible to terrestrial observers. Morcover, “your first Moon is
notas far away as you think. . . . [It] has an atmosphere and
water. ... There arc even inhabitants on the Moon! We have
many bases of interplanetary naturc there, too.”

Sadly, notso. As Giovanni Riccioli knew as long ago as
the 17th century, the moon is dead. So, too, are the drecams
humans dreamed as they rambled the lunar landscapes of
what turned out to be no more than their imaginations. This
line from an old English lyric folk song (which Lord Byron
later incorporated into a famous pocm) says it all:

We'll go no more a-roving

By the light of the moon. +

ANSWERS TO JUST FOR Fun

All statements are about George Hunt Williamson! A true
renaissance man of oddball and oftbeat behavior.

ABDUCTED—c'(mtim/ecl_/i'()m page 20

our “fears™ or “needs” or “hopes,” at least not in any
objective scense, as to how they relate to abductions.

She goes on in this vein for several pages, suggesting at
several points that abduction storiesare a type of substitute
forreligion and religious beliefs as theyprovide meaning for
the abductees’ lives. Well, if you are going to go for it, you
might as well not hold back.

One finishes this book with the thought that although
only a little has been learned about abductces and their
beliefs, quite a lot has becn revealed about what some
academics believe about abductecs. 4
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LETTER
PLANET OF THE COGS

To the editor:

Like my respected friend Michael Swords (“As Great
an Enigma as the UFOs Themselves,” /UR 30:1), ["ve also
been pondering—though with respect to a quite difterent
topic—why facts are ignored when their implications are
unwanted. Here are some possible explanations.

Pcople ignore facts when their implications arc
unwished. That’s a fact.

Mike, you and [ are very unrepresentative of the wider
society. People who take UFOs seriously (or Nessies, or
psychic phenomena) and who actually want to get to the
truth about them are very unrepresentative of the wider
socicty. Most kids scem to losc their curiosity soon after
adolescence. Most people want to fit in.

It’s easy forus to forgetthatwhen we’ve spent our lives
doing science and teaching science and interacting with
young people who are seemingly—and unusually!—inter-
ested in finding out how the world works.

It's easy toassumethateveryoneelseisalso curious and
belicves that facts should be placed before wishes and
prejudices. But that's not the fact of the matter. Least of all
is this true when the people involved are bureaucrats. No
doubtone finds within bureaucracies the occasional maver-
ick, such as David Graham in the FDA, who naively imag-
ines that the burcaucracics arc populated by cogs, not by
independently minded people. Every cog docs its job, and
no cog has the job of making waves, ol coming up with
something unprecedented. | think that’s all the more so in
military bureaucracies, even given that a few generals exert
some individual initiative once they are safely high enough
n the hierarchy.

Every conceivable explanation for actual UFOs is in
someway disturbing. None seems to offerany ready path to
making money. So, in whose interest is it, to insist that
there’s a mystery that needs to be looked into? It won’t lead
to a salary raisc or a promotion, and it won’t lead to a
research grant. You can only make trouble for yourself, and
people who populate bureaucracies tend to be pecople who
try toavoid making trouble for themselves. So, they do what
they can to ignore unpleasant facts.

Henrv Bauer
Blackshurg, Virginia

Michael Swords replies:

Alas, I’'m afraid it must be so.

Of all my scholarly friends, I have found Henry Bauer
to be the one most uniformly sensible and enlightening. But
still,as Henry says, alife spentteaching imbues one with the
naive hope that people will actually care about truths, and
integrate them into new syntheses that enrich their lives. [
believe, from my old history of science days, thatthere have
beeneras much more likely thanotherstoacceptexpansions

of'the paradigm, and even “tolerance of wild possibilities,”
than others. Such eras are characterized by a mysterious
(romantic even) attitude that pervades science, but also the
arts,music, literature, andevensocial thought as well. Some
say such periods ended when the world went very fast and
global, and we will never see them again. Both creative
productive leaps and arrogant nonsense abound in such
eras, but the value of the creative box-bursting always
outweighed the unsupportable garbage. And . . . at least
things were fun. Whatever the “Truth,” we certainly don’t
live in such an age now. So,  amreduced to being “abnor-
mal” and, you know, sometimes that’s not too bad. 4

EUROPEAN UFOLOGY ORGANIZES

During the weekend of October 14-15,2005, [ was invited
to deliver a speech at the First Encounters of European
Ufologists conterence in Chalons-en-Champagne, France.
Atthe same time, [ attended a closed-door EuroUFO meet-
ing that had been set up for the occasion. EuroUFO is a
network of some 50 researchers launched in 1998 by Edoardo
Russo.

Twenty-three investigators from Belgium, France, Ger-
many, ltaly, Spain, and Switzerland participated in the
colloquium meetings during the two days, and a resolution
was drafted by a few of us and released to the press.

At the European level, we found there is a nced to
improve and reinforce cooperation among organizations
and individuals who approach ufology from a rational
perspective. By building an inventory of ongoing research
projects we will keep track of who is doing what.

We must survey and safeguard the existingarchives and
resources of UFO researchers to tind out who has what and
preserve endangered collections.

We must provide encouragement and assistance to any
scientificresearch on anomalous aerospace phenomenathat
can be carried out by universities or the government.

We must explore research models thatallow a merging
of'national or topical catalogs ot UFO reports currently in
cxistence.

We must expand the current network to incorporate a
larger database and create an Internetportal for showingand
sharing information on UFO projects and results.

Basically, the new EuroUfoNet is a virtual space that
offers opportunities for discussion, data exchange, and
information. With no ideological restriction other than the
practice of scientitic ufology, members can have differing
approaches and belief's. With the minimum requirement a
willingness to share data and cooperate, we expect that the
resulting broader network ot UFO students will produce a
critical mass needed to push certain common projects.

For European UFOresearchers and groups there will be
true advantages to belong to EuroUfoNet, both now and in
the future. We believe this is a first big step in the right
direction.— Vicente-Juan Ballester Olmos. 4

IUR ¢+ 30:2

27



| ASSOCIATE APPLICATION FORM |

® New associate

Name ;
0 Renewal

Street Address
City State Zip
ASSOCIATE LEVEL ASSOCIATE BENEFITS

(Please make payment in U.S. funds only)
Sustaining $25.00 International UFO Reporter (IUR)
Contributing $50.00 IUR plus one Center publication **
Donor $100.00 [UR plus two Center publications®™* or one Alien Abductions video=
Sponsor $250.00 TUR, two publications & one Center case™*
Research patron $500.00 TUR, two publications & two Center cases™*
Benetactor $1000.00 [UR for life, two cases/yr., and new CUFOS publications free**

Please Note: This application form is for U.S. residents only.

** Associates at the Contributing level or higher are entitled to select one or more of the following publications:

3
)
)
)
3
]
3
3
)
]

W)
)
)

NEW! Grassroots UFOs: Cases from the Timmerman Files (Michael D. Swords)
NEW! Faded Giant: The 1967 Missile/UFO Incidents at Malmstrom AFB (Salas and Klotz)

Journal of UFO Studies, Volume 8 (articles by Basterticld, Budinger, Bullard, and Haincs)

Delphos: A Close Encounter of the Second Kind (Ted Phillips, 2002)

Roswell? YES! (a presentation by Robert Durant; specity DVD or tape)

Regional Encounters: The FC Files (close encounters in the Midwest, by Francis Ridge)

Edge of Realitv: llinois UFO, Jan. 5, 2000 (videotape report on UFO ncar St. Louis)

Captain Edward J. Ruppelt: Summer of the Saucers, 1952 (Wendy Connors, 2000)

Giant UFQO in the Yukon Territory (Martin Jasek, 2000)

CUFOS UFO Archive #2 (CD-ROM, Windows-only, containing two out-of-print publications, including
Report on the UFO Wave of 1947 and the Kellv-Hopkinsville Report)

Near Miss with a UFO: Swissair Flight 127 (Don Berliner and Robert Durant, 1999)

The Cash-Landrum Incident (John Schucssler, 1998)

CUFOS UFO Archive #1 (CD-ROM, Windows-only, containing three out-of-print publications, including
UFO Reports Involving Vehicle Interference; Physical Traces, and 1973 Year of the Humanoids)

My contribution to reccive [UR and any benetit publications: $

Also enclosed is my personal tax-deductible contribution for the work of CUFOS: $

Please make payment in U.S. funds, payable to CUFOS.

TOTAL ENCLOSED: $

If you prefer to pay by credit card: 7 Visa 171 MasterCard (0 American Express
Card number Expiration date
Signature- 1/06

Thank you for your support of the Center for UFO Studies!

Mail this form to: - CUFOS, 2457 W. Peterson Ave., Chieago, I1. 60689; (773) 271-3611



H-R Volume 30, Number 3

[nternational UFO Reporter

SRR e

UFO SIGHTINGS BY SCIENTISTS



INTERNATIONAL
Uro
REPORTER

Editors:

Jerome Clark
George M. Eberhart
Mark Rodeghier

Contributing Editors:
Bill Chalker

Richard F. Haines
Kevin D. Randle
Jenny Randles

Chris Rutkowski

Web site:
www.cufos.org

E-mail:
Infocenter(@cutos.org

Answering machine:

(773) 271-361 1 /m%’(
y 1910-1986

CoLONEL ODELL AND THE INVASION OF EARTH Dy Michael D. SWOrds ...t 3
PARANOIA OR SURVEILLANCE? Dy Nich ROAJCIIT oo e 7
PALOMAR GARDENS CAFE by George M. EDCrart ... 9
CLOUD CIGARS: A FURTHER LOOK Dy Herbert S. Tavlor ... 10
Tie AMATEUR ASTRONOMER AND THE UFO puENOMENON by Gert Herb and J. Allen Hynek ... 14
Book ReVIEWS by Jerome Clark and Kevin D. Randle ...t 17
FUN AND GAMES IN THE DESERT NEAR LAS CRUCES by Michael D. SWords ...........cccoccoivioiiiiiniciiieiniicc e 20
SCIENTISTS WOULD INVESTIGATE SIGHTINGS BY OTHER SCIENTISIS—WOULDN’ T THEY? by Mark Rodeghier ................ 22
T O e A 1011 B 1 g 0 25

Published in May 2006.

International UFO Reporter (ISSN 0720-174X) is pub- Illinois 60659. Address all subscription correspondence to /nter-
lished quarterly by the J. Allen Hynek Center for UFO Studies, national UFO Reporter, 2457 West Peterson Avenue, Chicago,
2457 West Peterson Avenue, Chicago, [llinois 60659. All rights Ilinois 60659.
reserved. Reproduction without permission is strictly prohibited. The International UFO Reporter is a benefit publication
Copyright © 2006 by the J. Allen Hynek Center for UFO Studics. mailed to Associates of the Center for a contribution of $25.00 or
Third-class postage paid at Chicago, [llinois. more. Foreign Associates add $5.00 for delivery. All amounts in

Advertisements accepted for publication in this magazine do U.S. funds. Other publications also available for contributors of
notnecessarily reflectthe viewpoints ofthe J. Allen Hynek Center larger amounts. For details, writc to the J. Allen Hynek Center for
for UFO Studies. UFO Studies, 2457 West Pcterson Avenue, Chicago, [llinois

Address all article submissions, letters to the editor, and 60659, USA.
other editorial correspondence to International UFO Reporter, Postmaster: SendForm 357910 CUFOS, 2457 West Peterson
Center for UFO Studies, 2457 West Peterson Avenue, Chicago, Avenue, Chicago, [llinois 60659.

IUR 4 30:3
R



CoLONEL ODELL AND THE
INVASION OF EARTH

BY MicHAtL D. Swores

t was carly in 1953. Donald Keyhoe was nearing the

end of half a year of amazing cooperation from U.S.

Air Force Pentagon insiders with himon the problem

of UFOs. But the UFO-sympathetic military UFO
officer, Maj. Dewey Fournet, had just retired, and his
colleaguc, the UFO-Iriendly information desk official, Al
Chop, was also about to leave that post. Unknown to
Keyhoe, the CIA’s Robertson Pancl had recently completed
its business, and the internal Pentagon war over how to
handle UFO information properly had been decided in lavor
of' debunking and ridicule.

Of course, the Robertson Panel decision didn’t imme-
diately sweep through all the scrvices, or even the intelli-
gence officers at the Pentagon. There is plenty of evidence
that many of them were in disagreement with the new
attitudes and policics. One ofthesc of ficersappears to have
been Col. William €. Odell.

In one of Keyhoe's last meetings with Chop, he was
handcd an article prepared by Odell for publication in the
popular press. Its title was provocative: “Planet Earth
Host to Extraterrestrial Life.” Chop gave it to Keyhoe with
the background that many persons on his side ol the Penta-
gon UFO war were not backingdownand that they felt more
information should be made available to the public. Key hoc
scanned the pages of the article. It was all about civilizations
crossing space inscarch of new planets to live on once their
own was failing for some rcason. Keyhoe's mind was
boggled. What was this? Why an Air Force colonel in
intelligence? How did this get released?

Chop calmly told him that the Air Force could not
refuscan officer’s freedom to present personal opinions on
matters that were not defined as issues of national security.
QOdecll could write about anything he wanted to, but he
couldn’tuse his Air Force affiliation, as that could causc too
much confusion (and so his affiliation could not be listed if
the article was published). Keyhoe was still reeling. He
protested that newsmen would sec right through that in
seconds. Chop merely replied, “*Security review passed it.
That’s all [ know.” He then asked Keyhoe to show the draft
to his editors, at True or anywhere else he wished. Obvi-
ously, Odell had asked Chop to handle it this way.

Michael D. Swords is professor emeritus of the Environ-
mental Institute, Western Michigan University, Kalumazoo.

Keyhoe showed the article to the editors at True (actu-
ally chief cditor Ken Purdy was away, and John DuBarry
stood in forhim), but cveryone was nervousaboutit, sensing
something odd was going on in the Pentagon and not
wanting to run the piece without Odell’s rank and position.
So the article never ran, and Keyhoe only mentioned its
contents brietly, within much commentary on the larger
social context, at the end of his blockbuster book, Flving
Saucers from Quier Space (1953).

Although Keyhoe didn’t make a copy of the article
before he gave it back to Chop, he did make notes, which
makes it possible for me to attempt to reconstruct Odell’s
original words. Todo so, I'm going to usc this approach:

. Take the points that Keyhoc outlined in his four
pages of notes in the order that they come.

2. Make understandable sentencesoutof the fragmented
parts and correct typos.

3. Add some bridge commentary ol'my own to give the
article some readable Tow, without adding any unin-
tended comments. I'll identily my words by using
brackets.

4. Add some cxplanatory notes when | intuit that the
text needs it. These will also be in brackets.

So, let’s give itatry. Here's my best shot at Odell’s article.

PLANET EARTH: HOST TO
EXTRATERRESTRIAL LIFE

When we look up at the skics on a clear night, the unaided
human eye can scc at most about 5,000 points of light in the
heavens. [Butour universe is much vasterthanthat. Some of
these points of light arc galaxies, and countless morc are
visible with the aid of a telescope.] In each complete galaxy
thereareapproximately 40 millionunsecnstars foreach one
visible to the eye.

In our age, man is near to venturing out into our solar
system, and beyond it into our galaxy. [This endeavor may
well be of great importance to us]. In some distant time, if
man doesn 't travel in space, the race on Earth will perish,
cither because the planet has cooled into a permanent icc
age, or is consumed in the last violent moments of the Sun.

In these circumstances, the only answer for an ad-
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vanced civilizationto survivewouldbe: Exodus. [But where
would we go?|

For ourselves, “life as we know it,” or for a type of life
form very near our own, we must have certain environmen-
tal conditions in an approximate range of temperature,
oxygen density, water availability, and atmospheric pres-
sure. [Our solar system doesn’t hold much promise in these
regards.]

NEARBY LIFE FORMS

Ourown Moon varies in temperature from —150° C. to 100°
C. [More accurately, it varies from-233°C. to 123° C., with
ameanof —23°C.] It lacks atmosphere and so heat from the
Sun is not retained. When the Sun sets on the lunar surtace,
adropof 200° C. is common. With a complete lack of water
andatmosphere, and extremely variable temperatures, therc
is probably little hope for the sustaining of any human form
of life.

On Mars, the temperature band [range] would permit
life on the lower end of'the Earth’s scale. [Temperatures on
Mars range from —140° C. to 20° C., witha mean of 63" C.]
Humans could live there under artificial conditions. But
there are only traces of oxygen [0.13%], an atmospheric
pressure that is very small [less than one-tenth of the
Earth’s], and a feeble gravity [about one-third of Earth’s].
Whatever oxygen may be produced by low forms of plant
lifeand isn’tused by themis lost tospace because of the low
gravitational pull. There are “snow caps™ at the Martian
poles. These are probably carbon dioxide snow.

As to Venus, the temperature falls froma hot 100° C. in
the lower layers of the atmosphere to about —25° C. in the
outermost stratum. [We now know the mean surtace tem-
perature of Venus is 464° C., and the temperature at its cloud
tops is approximately —45° C.] The Venusian atmosphere is
dense, at least twice that of Earth’s. [Atmospheric pressure
at the surfacc is about 90 times that ot Earth.] [t apparently
lacks oxygenand may also lack water.[Oxygen has not been
detected, but there isabout 0.002% water vapor, with 96.5%
of the atmosphere carbon dioxide.] Some liquid matter is
present. [The only liquid is lava.] The planet is perpetually
surrounded by great depths of clouds. Life could exist there,
and may have to breathe gases other than oxygen.

Though not necessarily speaking of Venus, somescien-
tists have speculated that life on other planets might breathe
tluorine, chlorine, ammonia, or hydrogen ftluoride, rather
than our earth-based mixture where plants take in carbon
dioxide and breathe out oxygen. If an advanced civilization
couldhave developed onthe surface of Venus, their progress
could have becen retarded as, perhaps, the dense, foggy
atmosphere would preclude astronomy.

[As for the other planets, prospects for a haven for
advanced life are poorer yet.] At Mercury, the temperature
ranges far beyond our scale for life: much too hot on one
side, and much too cold on the other. The other five planets
are deep in a cold temperature range unsuitable for life.

Jupiter has a constant —130° C. temperature. It is a tremen-
dous planet, completely enveloped in the wrong type of
atmosphereforhuman life. Saturn, like Jupiter, is extremely
cold, with a temperature remaining at —150° C. Uranus is
buried under a frigid blankct of = 70° C. Neptune and Pluto
stay around —200°C. The asteroids, so numerous that they
arenot all named, are toosmall tocreatelife. Their gravities
are so minute that they cannot retain any atmosphere. If all
of this is so, then Man must ultimately look to the stars for
his haven.

In our solar system, one of the nine planets has intelli-
gent life. [ this ratio holds elsewhere, therc would be many
havens in our galaxy. The same conditions that created
Earth must have occurred elsewhere. New suns and new
worlds arestill being created. Some suitable orbiting planets
in other solar systems may be older, some younger. And,
even ifotherlife would notbe found in ourown galaxy, itis
probable elsewhere. There is almost a mathematical cer-
tainty that somewhere in space, Earth has a twin.

Earth’stwin willnotbeanidentical one, inthe sense of
its being born at the same time, but rather in the sense that
conditions for lile have developed therc and that life is
present and evolving. In fact, our Earth could be one of a
family of life-supporting planets in the Universe. Some of
our sister planets, capable of sustaining lite, would be older
than ours. Others would be younger. There may be enough
ofthis breed of planet that one could see life forms develop-
ing through all the stages that occurred here. Some planets
may be on thedoorstep of human development. Others may
be further along, as we arc today. Still others will be much
older, so much further advanced that they arc on the verge
of exodus from their planet, as it approaches that stage of'its
incvitable destruction. These beings may have attained
space travel. They may have already explored their own
stellar system. They may overcome the technical and prac-
tical restrictions and are preparing for the abandonment of
their planet. They may be seeking a younger, more suitable
planct on which to live and perpetuate their race.

[Anaside: Judging by the arrows and lines he scratched
on the above paragraph, Keyhoe was wowed by it.]

There are some races in the Universe that will never
have the opportunity tomeet cach other. Some races will die
through wars on their planet, through lack of technological
development, or through interplanetary wars within their
own stellar system.

Forall we know, planets may be the rule rather than the
exception. Recent observations of the binary stars 61 Cygni
[11.4 lightyears distant] and 70 Ophiuchi [16.6 light years
away] have indicated that nonluminous bodies of almost
planetary size are associated with both stars. There may be
planets orbiting about the score or so stars that lie within a
dozen light years of our own sun. At this time, modern
telescopes are incapable of differentiating planets from
their mother suns, as, in comparison, they are much too
smalland their retlected light is much too dim to be seen by
even our most powerful telescopes.
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[Odell is referring in the above paragraph to events in
1942-1943 when astronomers announced that careful ex-
amination of'alongrecord of observations of these two star
systems had indicated the presence of a dark planetary body
tugging gravitationally at the outer of the two stars in the
systems. This claim was considered reasonable through the
1940s and 1950s and was a foundation stone of a new
acceptance by astronomers of the idea that planets were
probably common. Military writers, though not referring to
these two systems, spoke of extraterrestrial planets in both
the Project Sign and Saucer reports. Odell seems well read
on these matters.]

EXTRATERRESTRIALS AMONG US?

We wonder how other races would ever come toknow that
intclligent life existed on Earth. Recent reports of unusual
phenomena in our atmosphere [UFOs] have reopened the
suspicion that travelers from outer space may be reconnoi-
tering Earth. Numerous men of scientitic background have
flatly opened their technical reputations to censure by stat-
ing that these uncommon sightings are of extraterrestrial
origin. These include engincers and scientists from all fields
and all nations.

[Anamazingly strong and enthusiastic statement by an
Air Force officer at the Pentagon. He could have been
referring to the Navy balloon project wizards, like Charles
B.Moore,Cmdr. Robert McLaughlin, J. J. Kaliszewski,and
others; or to the Project Sign boys; or to Prof. Hermann
Oberth, who was just making his vicws known in Ger-
many—and he was probably influenced by all of them, and
more. ]

Granted thatsuper intelligences on a planet in another
solar system have mastered the problems of interstellar
travel and are looking for a suitable planet for a second
home, why would Earth be singled out from other plancts in
space for reconnaissance? [Keyhoc was also impressed by
this paragraph and put it in the book.]

Some believe that the explosion of an atomic bomb on
this planet could be noticed from outer space. This is
doubtful. Such an explosion might be scen from the Moon,
or maybe trom somcwhat greater distances if Earth was
under observation at that precise moment. But to be seen on
a planet light yearsaway seems remote. Such an event from
astronomical distances might draw no more attention than
phenomena associated with sunspots or a large meteor
hitting a planet. One would need tremendous telescopes to
notice such an event.

But, for some years, electromagnctic emanations from
outside our atmosphere have been received by radios here
on the surface. Some refer to this as “cosmic static.” These
emanations originate from somewherc in space. I do not
raise this as support for a theory of extraterrestrial races
(though it may lend weight to such a theory), buttopointout
the ability of space to transmitradiant encrgy. Most of our
own radio waves are trapped and reflected by atmospheric

layers high above Earth. But some do escape our atmo-
sphere with less interference. Not long ago, we transmitted
radar signals to and received echoes back from the Moon.
[This was Project Diana, conducted on January 10, 1946.]
Theetherof'space isacarrier of energy. Itis always waiting
to transmit such waves with the speed of light.

Radio transmissions of fairly high energy have been
coming fromstationsonEarthfor perhaps 20years. Through-
out the past generation, therefore, these transmissions have
left this planet and sped through space with the speed of
light. By now they could have been intercepted by powertul
and delicate devices in the hands of an advanced race on a
distantplanet. [fwe, with ourrelatively amateurish attempts
at technology, know principles of electronic detection and
transfixing, then suchanadvancedrace would as well. They
would have no difficulty in dctecting our transmissions,
monitoring them, and locating their sourcc in space.

Ifthe so-called “flying saucers™ arccraft of extraterres-
trial origin whose engineers are capable of monitoring radio
transmissionsand undertaking space travel, whywould they
have ventured near to our planet only during the last five
years? In addition to this question, are there solar systems
ncarenough toreceive, decipher, and elect to investigate our
transmissions at their source? It may well be so.

To make interstellar travel practical, it must be at
tremendous speed, approaching the speed of light. Granting
this, the location of the investigating race in outer space
must be nomore than 10 or 12 light ycars away (the distance
which gives our signal 10 or so ycars to reach them, then
perhaps two years for monitoring, deciphering, and study,
and another 10 years for space travel torcach us). So, given
20 (orso) years, the super-intelligent race should be located
within a locus of points not greater than 10£2 light years
distant.

It has already been mentioned that 61 Cygni and 70
Ophiuchiare in this sphere. [ Despite the current progress in
cxtrasolar planct detection, no bodics have been detected
around these two stars.] Therc are 15 other suns within 12
light years of our own. [Actually, 20 are now known within
that distance.] Each one of these stars is bigger or brighter
than the Sun. This might lead to the idea that such a star
mightsupporta planetary system equal to or greater than our
own. From any of these, an outer spacc race could have
received our radiant signals and have had time to respond
with an exploration as described.

It does seem strange that 90% of these sightings occur
in the Western Hemisphere, and most of these in the United
States. It is difficult to believe that an interstellar space
expedition would ignore the remaining land area of the
globe. Our planet, because of its thick atmosphere and
amount of water vapor, is always screened from outside
observation by large patches of cloud. Only over arid
regions or deserts does the vaporscreen dissipate and leave
a clear view of largeareas of the Earth’s surface. Of those,
the vast stretches of the Saharaand Gobi deserts have extra-
sparse habitation. The nomads there have little education.
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Thearidareas of the American Southwest are little different
in climate but are populated by modern intellectual men.
Such a region would speak well for a possible point of
contact with Earth Man. [Hmmm...where did that Roswell
thing occur, again?]

One mightalsoreasonthatan advanced extraterrestrial
race, upon a thorough study of our radio transmissions,
mightbecomeattractedby the humanitarianaspect of Ameri-
canism. [Oh for the innocent idealism of the 50s, eh?] That
ideology might be said to more closely approach the way of
lifeonahigher plane. But [such an analysis] takes more than
a pinch of salt.

This, however, leads to a kindred thought: A study of
ourbeamedradio transmissions overa period of yearsmight
cause extraterrestrial intelligences to clect to survey our
planct rather than abruptly descend upon it. This study of
countless broadcasts might causc another race to wonder if
Earth is a suitable place to visit after all. They might come
to believe that their scarch should continuc elsewhere,
hopingto find other races in the Universe, whose way of life
more closely dovetails with their own, rather than the
barbaric existence evident on Earth.

Thus ends Keyhoe’s notes and my attempt to recon-
struct Odell’s essay. Now some commentary on the essay.

Donald Keyhoe was exceptionally boggled by this
cssay,and evenmoreso by the simple fact that it had gotten
past the Pentagon’s censors. He dedicated the climactic
chapter-and-a-half of his book to ruminations about the
hypothesis of extraterrestrial colonization and to the puzzle-
ment over what the heck was going on in the Pentagon.
Keyhoe’s intuition (which he had expressed many times in
both The Flving Saucers are Real and Flving Saucers from
Quter Space) that a decp and even violently emotional
division existed inside USAF intelligence was true. Colonel
Odecll’s article was just one spectacular example of a high-
ranking officer who took UFOs and the extraterrestrial
hypothesis very seriously. The lact that the picce passed
USAF sccurity review is surely another example of that
seriousness (everyone in the “UFO chain” from Al Chop to
Maj. Dewey Fournetto Col. William Adams to Col. Weldon
Smith were strongly pro-UFO and would have openly coun-
tenanced Odell’s views). The timing of the article, just after
the CIA panel had angered the pro-UFO wing with its bully
policy of ridiculing the subject, plus the quashing of the
releasc of the Tremonton, Utah, lm, may well have been
seen by the pro-UFO wing as part of a last ditch effort to
head oft the new policy.

I’mstillwithKeyhochere, though. I'mstillamazed that
the essay snuck out. What that says to me is that the opinion
of' many of my UFO colleagues, that the intelligence com-
munity was so sharp and organized that it could manage
anything at any level of detail so slickly, is just bunk. If
something could bec held very tightly among just a few
hands, OK, maybe. But somcthing like UFOs, no way. The
sub ject was too big and the Pentagon too massive to keep

worms fromcrawling outof their designated cans at regular
intervals. Odell’s worm got out, but scared and uncertain
editors letit crawl back in, and the rest of us never saw it.
Keyhoe and his friend Jim Riordan, a retired military
pilot, did see it, and neither of them liked the visions that the
essay brought to their minds. Both of them insisted to one
another thatextraterrestrial invasion was not what wasbeing
setup by this UFO survey of Earththat seemed to be going
on. But, irritatingly the idea embedded in Odell’s piece
nagged. Riordan finally said, “It’s still a hellish idea. Even
thoughl don’tbelieve it, [ wish thatl hadn’theard it.” They
actually had already heard it, though, in another form:

No one would have believed, in the last ycars of the
nineteenth century, that human affairs were being
watched keenly and closcly by intelligences greater
than man’s and yet as mortal as his own; that as men
busied themsclves about their affairs they were scruti-
nized and studied, perhaps almost as narrowly as a man
with a microscope might scrutinize the transient crea-
tures that swarm and multiply in a drop of water. With
infinite complacency mean went to and fro over this
globe about their little affairs, serenc in their assurance
of their empire over matter. It is possible that the
infusoria under the microscope do the same. No one
gave a thought to the older worlds of spacce as sources
of humandangcr, or thought of them only to dismiss the
idca oflifc upon them as impossible or improbable. Itis
curious to recall some of the mental habits of thosc
departed days. At most, terrestrial men fanciced there
might be other men upon Mars, perhaps inferior to
themselves and ready to welcome a missionary enter-
prise. Yet, across the gulf of space, minds that arc to our
minds as ours are to those ol the beasts that perish,
intellects vast and cool and unsympathetic, regarded
this carth with envious cyes, and slowly and surely drew
theirplansagainst us. And carly in the twenticth century
came the great disillusionment.

AsRiordanandKeyhoc grimacedoverOdell’scssayin
carly 1953, Hollywood's release of The War of the Worlds,
bascdon H. G. Wells’s 1 898 novel, was only weeksaway. 4

OWN ALL OF NICAP’s
U.F.O. INVESTIGATORS

CUFOS now has available a CD-ROM containing all of
the issues of the prestigious U.F.O. Investigator, pub-
lished by the National Investigations Committec on Acrial
Phenomena from July 1957 to June 1980. Additional
NICAP material fromthe 1950s, 1960s, and 1970sisalso
included. To get your copy, send $50 (includes both U.S.
and overseas postage) to:
CUFOS
2457 W. Peterson
Chicago, IL 60659
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PARANOIA OR SURVEILLANCE?

BY NiCK REDFERN

hen details of the National Security

Agency’s (NSA) domestic surveillance

program surfaced late in 2005, a storm of

protestand controversy followed. Butsuch
spyingactivity is nothing new. Coincidentally, as the world's
media were reportingthestory about the NSA, | was putting
the final touches to my latest book, On the Trail of the
Saucer Spies: UFOs and Government Surveillance. That
book addresses the issue of oftficial, widespread surveil-
lance of American and British citizens who are, or were,
engaged in UFO research. In Britain, in several instances,
that surveillance was directly linked to the activities of the
British equivalentot'the NSA—the Government Communi-
cations Headquarters (GCHQ), situated in the city of
Cheltenham.

In 1997, in my first book, 4 Covert Agenda: The
British Government's UFO Top Secrets Exposed, | docu-
mented the collection and study of UFO data by staft at
GCHQ. Though GCHQ has consistently denied having
any links to the UFO subjcct, the trail of evidence strongly
suggests otherwise.

Established one year after the Allicd victory over Nazi
Germany in the Second World War, GCHQ supplies British
agencies and departments, civilian and military, with Sig-
nals Intelligence—based data. This is in accordance with the
mandate of the British government’s Joint Intelligence
Committee, the function of which is to produce a weekly
survey on various aspects ot intelligence operations for
senior sources within officialdom. This survey is called the
Red Book.

GCHQ is known to obtain much of its Signal Intelli-
gence material from intercepted overseas communica-
tions. For this purpose, it controls the Composite Signals
Organization, which operates from locations both within
the borders of Britain and abroad. In 1947, the govern-
ments of a number of nations—specitically the United
Kingdom, the United States, Canada, New Zealand, and
Australia—signed the UKUSA Agreement, designed to

Nick Redfern is a British-horn fireelance journalist who
currently lives in Texas. He has written books on
cryptozoology and ufology, the most recent being On the
Trail of the Saucer Spies (Anomalist, 2006).

allow the atorementioned nations access to a variety of
Signals Intelligence data for mutual use.

It is also a matter of official record that GCHQ's
collection and study of Signals Intelligence data is under-
taken hand-in-glove with the NSA. From declassiticd Free-
dom of Information Act relcases, we know that NSA’s
headquarters at Fort George G. Meade, Maryland, holds
files of Signal Intelligence—derived UFO data. Given that
fact, it seems most unlikely that elements of GCHQ would
never be exposed to similar material.

But can we prove as much? Yes. Not only that: The onc
casethatmorcthan any otherdemonstrates directinterest in
the UFO puzzle on the part of GCHQ also reveals wide-
spread official surveillance of the prime investigator of the
case, a man named Robin Cole.

By the mid-1990s, Cole, a lifclong Cheltenham resident
who was at the time the head of a UFO research group named
Circular Forum, had cultivated a number of sources who
worked at GCHQ and had guardedly provided him with a
wealth of data on UFOs. These included information on
radar-visual encounters reported by Royal Air Force person-
nel in the early 1950s; evidence that GCHQ studied gun-
camera footage of UFOs taken by British military pilots in the
late 1950s; the factthat GCHQ's library held a large number
of published books on UFOs; and revelations to the cffect
that, as late as 1996, GCHQ analysts were still monitoring
UFO encounters when they involved the military.

One particular GCHQ department implicated in UFO
investigations, Cole learned, was known as the Oakley
Installation, which is home to two impressive structures the
staff has nicknamed the Pleasure Dome and the Barn. Both
were constructed with the benefit of'a multimillion-pound
budget.

According to Cole, “The Pleasure Dome has acquired
its nickname because the higher your status, the higher up
you work inside the building, thus giving the employee a
more panoramic view across Cheltenham and creating a
nicer environment to work in. The Barn covers sixteen and
a half thousand square feet and comprises two floors on the
south and three on the north. This contains so many comput-
ers thata special chiller unit was built to keep them all cool.
Bothsites areasbigundergroundas they are above ground,
as far as square working footage is concerned, with enough
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room at the [nearby] Benhall sitte—known to the employees
as the Funny Farm—that lorries can be driven in to unload
equipment and supplies, thus allowing both to remain in
complete operation should war break out.”

In 1997, Cole wrote a detailed, privately published
reporton his discoveries, titled **GCHQ and the UFO Cover-
Up.” Shortly after its appearance Cole was interviewed on
a British television news program, something that set a
strange series of events in motion. As Cole described the
situation:

“Just after my report was published, | was interviewed
with regard to its contents by Central Television. They
picked up on it straight away and did a damned good piece
which was shown on both the evening and late-night shows.
Well, the following morning the phone rang. “Mr. Cole?’
saida voicc. ... This is Detective Sergeant Tim Camp from
Cheltenham CID [Criminal Investigation Department of the
British Police Force]. Can we come and have a chat with
you, plcase”’

“Well, | was obviously a bit stunned, as it’s not every
day that you get a call [rom CID, and [ said, *Yes. But why
exactly?’ *Oh, nothing to worry about, Mr. Cole,’ they said.
“We'd like to ask you one or two questions.” [ said, “Any-
thing specific?” Camp replied, *What do you know about a
group called Truth-Seckers™?”

Truth-Scekers was the brainchild of a British UFO
investigator named Matthew Williams, who published a
conspiracy-oriented magazine, Truth-Seekers ' Review, from
the mid-to-late 1990s, and who was also investigated by
elements of British Intelligence from the mid-1990s on-
wards, as On the Truil of the Saucer Spies reveals.

“Well,” continued Cole, I wondered what they wanted
and just said, *Okay, I know about Truth-Secekers.” They
replicd, “That’ll do for us; can we come and have a chat?” |
said, “Ycah, surc. When would you likc to come?” *Can we
come now?’

“As it happened,” Colc elaborated, “1 wasn’t doing
much, so it wasn’t really a problem. But then it dawned on
me: ['d only got their word for it that they were who they
claimed tobe. Well, [ have a friend named Trish who works
at Police Headquarters in the Incident Room. I called her
and explained what had happened and asked if she could get
over to my flatto check this guy out when he arrived. In the
meantime, | surreptitiously set up a tape recorder in my
livingroom, so that when D. S. Camp arrived, I could get the
entire conversation down on tape. Well, then, ot course, he
and a colleague arrived.

“I opened the door, but the two guys didn’t give their
names; instead theyjustcameinandsatdown. I said, *Sorry,
youarc...?" *Detective Sergeant Tim Camp.” Hiscollcague
stayed silent. *As you know, Mr. Cole,” he said, *we’d just
like to ask you one or two questions about Truth-Seekers
and what you know about them. It’s nothing to worry about;
we were just concerned that they mightbe a frontforan [IRA
group and we have to check these things out.”

“We chatted about Matthew . . . and then they got

around to me. “What do you do? Who do you work for?
What's yourinterest in the UFO phenomenon?” [ told them,
they seemed satistied, and got up to leave. But just at that
point, Trish arrived, and it turned out that she did know
them; so they were legitimate police officers.”

But official interest in Robin Cole was far trom over,
however.

“On the following day, | telephoned Cheltenham CID
and asked tospeak with D.S. Camp—I just wanted t o make
sure that [ hadn’t said anything which was going to get
Matthew into hot water. When | asked for Detective Ser-
geant Tim Camp by name, the guy in CID said, *We don’t
have a Detective Scrgeant by that name working here.”

“At that point, | heard the guy say to one of his
collcagues, "Whothehell’s Detective Sergeant Tim Camp?”
I could hear mumbling and then this chap came back on the
line, *Detective Sergeant Camp isn’t with CID; he’s with
Special Branch.’

“Eventually, | got through to his colleague—D. S.
Camp wasn’tavailable—and he basically said, *Don’t worry,
Mr. Cole, we’ve got all the information that we wanted to
know.” This got me thinking. Why is Cheltenham Police’s
Special Branch interested in [Matthew Williams’s] UFO
investigations group which, at the time, was based in South
Wales? It didn’t add up. Well, [ now have a strong feeling
that Special Branch were using Matthew as a front to check
me out—tosec il | had Nazi banners on the wall or anarchy
signs on the front door.

“Thereason | say this is because, justrecently, | lcarned
of a radio presenter in the north ol England who was
interested in doinga piece on GCHQ and asked people with
knowledge to contact him. Lo and behold, the next day,
Special Branch was around to question him. So, | find this
all a little too coincidental. And it does suggest a direct link
between (a) UFOs; (b) GCHQ; and (c) Special Branch.”

The Metropolitan Police Special Irish Branch was
formed in March 1883, initially asa small section of the CID
ot the Metropolitan Police. Its purpose was to combat, on a
national basis, the then-ongoing [rish campaign of terrorism
onthe British mainland. Subsequently, the term *“Irish” was
dropped fromthe branch’s title, becausc over time it took on
responsibility for countering a wider range ot extremist and
terrorist activity.

Currently, Special Branch gathers, collates, analyzes,
and exploits intelligence on violent political cxtremists. It
initiates, develops, and conducts intelligence operations
against terrorists; disseminates intelligence for operational
use to law enforcement agencies at local, national, and
international levels; and provides armed personal protec-
tion for Ministers of State, Foreign VIPs, and other persons
if it is believed they arc potential terrorist targets.

In addition Special Branch polices the ports within the
London area to detect terrorist or criminal suspects while
traveling into oroutofthe country, assists other government
agencies to counter threats to the security of the United
Kingdom frompublic disorder, the proliferation ot weapons
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of'mass destruction (nuclear, biological, or chemical), in-
vestigates espionage by foreign powers, subversion of the
democratic process, terrorism by Irish or International
groups, and sabotage of the infrastructure of the UK.

In mid-2000, [ contacted Cheltenham Police to inquire
about the visit made to Cole’s home by elements of Special
Branch to discussthe activities of both Cole and Williams.
Several days later, | reccived a telephone call from police at
Cheltenham informing me that the only comment that Dc-
tective Sergeant Tim Camp of Special Branch would make
to me was “no comment.”

As fascinating as Cole’s revelations were, still turther
evidence existed to show that his attempts to blow the lid ot
the secret UFO world of GCHQ attracted the keen attention
of the Security and Intelligence services. Intriguingly, it
appears from Cole’s revelations that the official surveil-
lance of his activities commenced months prior to the
publication ot his report in 1997. In other words, from the
very day that he began looking into what GCHQ knew about
UFOs, his every move was being watched and scrutinized.
One such example was truly eye-opening. It took place in
March 1997. Cole told me:

“l'hadjust gothome af'ter a Sunday nightout. [ had some
stuff to dump in my office and didn’t switch the light on. [
put the things down and just glanced out of the window.
Well, outside my window therc’s a streetlight and bencath
this was a white van. At first | just registered that the van
secmed out of place. You know what it’s like: You tend to
rccognize the various cars and vehicles in your own street.
But then [ thought: Well, it wasn’t there when | came in 10
minutes ago. Why is it outside my flat under the streetlight?
As | looked at it, | noticed that on top of the van were these
two, weird, silver domes one behind the other—as it they

were a part of the roof, built in. I thought that was odd,
particularly when it occurred to me that where they were
parked was also right next to the telephone junction box.

“Atthatpoint, I grabbedmy cameraand putthe lighton
in the office. But as [ did that, the van suddenly started up
and went quickly down the road. Well, a couple of weeks
later, the van turnedup again. This time, I randown the steps
outside my flat and dashed into the road; and again the van
started up and shot off. But it was enough for me to get
details of the van’s registration and make, which was a
Bedtord. Then I set about trying to trace the van.

“It so happensthatl gotafriend, arctired police officer,
to pass the details on to a serving officer who put the details
through the police computer. Well, a few days passed. But
on getting home one cvening, | found a few messages onmy
answer-phonc from [the retired police officer] in a very
excited state. As it was about 11 o’clock at night, [ thought:
It"s too late to phone him now; I'Il give him a call tomorrow.
[ went to bed, but at 12:15, the phone rang; it was him.

“He said: *That vehicle—you were right to be suspi-
ciousaboutit. Thercgistrationregarding who actually owns
it is blocked, but the address that it’s registered to is a
Ministry of Detense post office box in Wiltshire.” This was
heavy stuff. ButI've not secn the van since. But this was real
proot that | was under some sort of surveillance.”

Indecd, it was, and the case of Robin Cole is but one
example of surveillance of UFO researchers. As On the
Trail of the Saucer Spies demonstrates, there arc countless
other such cxamples that span the 1940s to the present day.
In fact, theevidence | have uncovered suggests that we may
be faced with the extraordinary tactthatdeepsurveillance of
the UFO research community is the norm, not the
exception. 4

PALOMAR GARDENS CAFE

This is the tamed restaurant, formerly owned by
Alice K. Wells on Palomar Mountain north of San
Diego, California, where contactee George Adamski
worked as a cook and met frequently with his
followers. It was here in the late 1940s and early
1950s that Adamski set up his small telescope and
allegedly took photos of dozens of UFOs.

[ had long suspected there might be a postcard
that showed the café, and it turns out there are at
least two—this one, and another showing the few
tables inside. In fact, the man visible in the window
to the right of the front door looks very much like
Adamski himself, although I can’t verify it.

Wells, who died in 1980, also owned the ad-
joining land where a few cabins stood, one ot which Adamski
lived in. Although the café is long gone, the location where
it stood is now occupied by the Oak Knoll Campground,
operated from 1999 to 2005 by Larry Read and Elizabeth
Norris. The property is currently for sale, so if youhave $1.5
million to invest in a ufologically significant campground,
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now’s your chance. See www.palomarproperties.com/out/
outoakknoll/index.html.

Thesiteislocatedneartheinterscction of state highway
76 and South Grade Road (formerly known as Highway to
the Stars), a winding route with hairpin turns that leads to
Palomar Observatory. —George M. Eberhart
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CLOUD CIGARS: A FURTHER LOOK

BY HERBERT S. TAYLOR

loud cigars can be deservedly regarded as one

of thc most important aspects of thc UFO

phenomenon,one that will be central to obtain-

ing any meaningful answers as to what this
enduring mystery is all about. Despite their relative small
numbers in comparison to other UFO categorics, cloud
cigars arc often dramatic and spectacular sightings that are
very difficult to attribute to mundane causes. They have
several features that set them apart from other UFO cases.
These include the observation of multiple objects, including
the cigar-shaped UFO itself, as well as other smaller UFOs
that often are ejected fromit; an odd cloud or haze that often
masks the central UFO; the large number ot witnesses to the
event; and a high percentage ot daylight cases. Putting all of
these together shows how distinctive cloud-cigar incidents
arc and why they deservedly occupy their own category in
the UFO phenomenon.

Thereis nobetterplace to begin a detailed examination
of these cases than with a comprehensive account of an
extraordinary report that occurred during the French wave
oflate summerand early fall of 1954. (It was mentioned only
brietly in “Satellitc Objects and Cloud Cigars,” in JUR,
29:1, Spring 2004.) Note that the following account is taken
verbatim from Aimé Michel’s book on the French wave,
Flving Saucers andthe Straight Line Mvstery (1958), which
many people today have not rcad:

The phenomenon was observed again just three weeks
after Vernon on Tuesday, September 14, 1954. This
time the spectacle took place in full daylight and was
observed by hundreds of witnesses scattered through
halfadozenvillages in the departmentotf' Vendée, about
250 miles southwest of Paris. Nevertheless only one
local newspaper mentioned it and this sighting is com-
pletely unknown except in the region where it hap-
pened. The witnesses were mostly farmers, and a few
priests and schoolteachers. A reader in a ncarby village
heard of the matter and wrote to me, and thanks to that

Herbert S. Tavlor has long been uctive in serious UFO
research and has a deep and abiding interest that goes back
more than half a century. He lives in Oceanside, New York.

[lustration from France-Dimanche showing Georges
Fortin's observation: In (1), a cloud looking like a carrot
emerged from the other clouds. In (2), a trail of white
smoke jetted out from the buse of the cloud., then u
brilliant disc emerged, maneuvered, and reentered the
cloud, which (3) then rose up and disuppeared.

reader and his letter an investigation was made. (How
many extraordinary sightings must be still unknown for
want of such good luck!)

One witness was Georges Fortin, then 34 years old,
whooperatesa farmataplace called La Gabelliere, near
St-Prouant, a little village of 300 inhabitants. He re-
ports:

“It was about five in the afternoon. | was working in
the fields with my men when all atonce, emerging from
the thick layer of clouds that looked like a storm coming
up, we saw a sort of luminous blue-violet mist, of a
regular shape something like a cigar or carrot. Actually,
the object came out of the layer of clouds in an almost
horizontal position, slightly tilted toward the ground
and pointing forward (like a submerging submarine).
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La Gaudiniere (Vendeée)
¥2:¢ une soucoupe originale en forme de caroite. Aime a s'enrober da
mueer qui temblent adheérer rolontiers o ses pardis Receptacle de din-
ques bdritlanty qui évoluent autour, Observe par M. Fortia entre autrel.

Another view of the Vendée object from France-Dimanche.

“This luminous cloud appcared rigid. Whenever it
moved (and its movements had no connection with the
movement of the clouds themselves) it did so all of a
picce, as if it actually were some gigantic machine
surrounded by mists. It came down rather fast {rom the
ceiling of clouds to an altitude which we thought was
perhaps a hall mile above us. Then it stopped, and the
point rose quickly until the object was in a vertical
position, where it became motionless.

“During this time the dark clouds went on scudding
across the sky, dimly lighted [rom underneath by the
violet luminosity of the object. It was an extraordinary
sight, and we watched it intently. All over the country-
side other farmers had also dropped their tools and were
staring up at the sky like us.

“All at once (by now we had been watching for
several minutes) white smoke exactly like a vapor trail
came from the lowerendof'the cloud. Atfirst it pointed
toward the ground, as if spun from an invisible shuttle
falling free, then it gradually slowed down while turn-
ing around, and finally rose up to describe around the
verticalobject an ascending spiral whichwound it up in
its coils. While the rear of the trail was dissolving
rapidly in the air, carried off by the wind, the beginning
got sharper and finer all the time, as if it were gradually
drying up at its source, but withoutany slowing down of
the unseen object that was continually spinning it into
the air.

“It thus went on up, turning around, up to the very
top of the vertical object, and then started to come down
again, turning in the other direction. Only then, after the
smoke trail had vanished entirely, could we see the
objectthat was *sowing’ it, a little metallic disk shining
like a mirror and reflecting, in its rapid movements,
flashes of light from the huge vertical object.

“The little disk almost immediately stopped turning
around the luminous cloud and went down toward the
ground again, this time moving away. For quite a few
minutes we could sce it flying low over the valley,
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darting here and there at great speed, sometimes speed-
ing up, then stopping for a few seconds, then going on
again. In this manner it flew in every direction over the
region between St-Prouant and Sigournais, villages
about four miles apart. Finally, when it was almost a
mile fromthe vertical object, itmade a final dash toward
it at headlong speed, and disappeared like a shooting
star into the lower part where it had first come out.
Perhaps a minute later, the “carrot’ leaned over as it
began to move, accelerated, and disappeared into the
clouds in the distance, having resumed its original
horizontalposttion, point forward. The whole thing had
lasted about half an hour.”

Standing next to M. Fortin was his farm hand, Louis
Grellier, 36 years old, also from La Gabellicre. Ques-
tioned separately, he gave an identical account, with
further details about the gyrations of the disk.

Mme. Pizou, a 67-year-old-widow, ol’ St-Prouant,
was working in a cabbage field about a mile away from
MM. Fortin and Grellier.

“My attention was tirstattracted about five o’clock,™
she said, “by the arrival of a strange carrot-shaped cloud
that scemed to have detached itself from the ceiling of
clouds that were moving tust, carried by the wind. It
came near us, pointed downward, and then straightened
up. It looked to me as if another, smaller cloud then
formed above the carrot, making a kind of hat for it.

“Then white smoke came out like a thread from the
baseof'the vertical carrotand began to draw designs all
around it. Then the trail went away toward the valley,
wheretrees hid whatever happened next; I was told that
a disk came out of the trail, but I cannot say that | saw
it, because tfrom where | stood the treetops reached
almost o the base ol the vertical cloud. In my opinion
itwasnotarcal cloud, for it stayed motionless and kept
its shape whilc other clouds were gliding away very fast
above it, toward the horizon.

“Finally, when Thad been watching for about halt an
hour, it moved clown into a horizontal position again,
and wentaway rapidly in the direction toward which it
was slanted.”™

With Mme. Pizou werce a daughter and a farm hand,
who confirmed the old lady’s story in every detail; the
object’s mancuvers, the complicated designs drawn by
the trail, the duration of the affair.

At the same time ten or twelve people were in the
streets and farmyards of St-Prouant. All saw the same
sight the arrival of the horizontal “cloud,™ its rising to
a vertical position, the smoke trail, the fantastic lines it
drew, andits winding around. Butthese witnesses in the
village could notsee whattook place close to the ground
any more than Mme. Pizou could, because of buildings
and trees.

Other tarmers in the ficlds and villages in the river
valley or between St-Prouant and Sigournais all gave
accounts that confirmed one another and the stories of



the first witnesses. Some of them saw the cigar leaning
toward them, others saw it slant toward the right or to
the left, according to where they were. We may mention
M. Daniel Bornutart [another source says Bonifait—
HT], an clectrician who was at La Gabelliérc at five
p.m.; M. Tissot at La Legeric, and several others work-
ing with him: finally many farmers at La Libaudicre,
Chassay, Le Coudrais, La Godiniére, and elsewherc in
all, several hundred witnesses.” [Michel mentions the
Nantes newspaper La Résistance de |'Ouest of Septem-
ber 20, 1954, but not the national weekly newspaper
France-Dimanche, which also carried some drawings

as well.]

Clearly a remarkable observation involving hun-

football held at arm’s length and sharply outlined. It disap-
pearcd over rooftops of houses. Scattered cloud and dull
moonlight. (Roger H. Stanway and AnthonyR. Pace, Flving
Saucer Report, UFOs: Unidentified, Undeniable, 1968.)

July 1970, Rome, Ohio, mid-afternoon. Witnesses
were John and Mary Pilichis, daughter Bonnie, and her
friend. Stated their son Dennis, “*My father was cutting grass
on our property and my mother was busy putting all the
freshly-cut grass into big sacks. My tather happened to look
up, and there nottoo high in the sky was a /fuige cigar-shaped
object, about the size of an imported smoking cigar held at
arm’s length. He called my mother’s attention to it, and they
both just stood there watching this thing as it sent the rays of
the sun ottits body.

dreds of witnesses! What can be said about it? Critics
might attempt an explanation in terms of some type of
meteorological or atmospheric manitestation. How-
cver, [ defy them to point out anything in the standard
textbooks on meteorology oratmospheric physics that
can come even remotely close to providing a prosaic
answer to account for what was secn that day, includ-
ing any attempt to invoke a tornado or something
similar as a possible answer. Not only does the testi-
mony of the many witnesses preclude any such prof-
fered explanation from being taken seriously, but the
mctcorologists were definite on the point that there
was no tornado anywhere in France on September 14.
Whatever it was that was seen in the skics of the
French Department of Vendée more than halt'a cen-
tury ago remains a baftling mystery to this day.

(1)AS FIRST SEEN BY MY PARENTS:

(2) AS SEEN BY MY SISTER AND FRIEWD:

(3) AS SEEN BY MY FARENTS: 73 DISCS AND CIGAR MOVE INTO CLOUD:

THE PILICHIS SICHTING
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~(END OF OHIO UFO WEPORTS SECTICN)- -

MORE REPORTS FOR THE RECORD

Cloud cigar reports have been with us almost from the
beginning ofthe modern UFO erain 1947, and they continue
today. In this section | present a representative sampling of
thesc cases spanning almost 50 years.

July 18 or 19, 1952, Pouilly-en-Auxois (Cdte d’Or
Department), France, 6:00 p.m. Residents of Pouilly and
Venarey-les-Laumes saw a “spindle, having neither wings
nor protuberances, emitting a briet, strong, winking light at
regularintervals,and givingrise toavery thick white smoke
that rapidly dispersed.” The object was described as about
30 meters long, in a vertical position, and accompanied by
a loud rumbling noise. (Jacques Vallee, Anatomy of a
Phenomenon, 1965.)

September 6,1967, Meir, Stoke-on-Trent, England,
approx. 9:50 p.m. Witnesses first noticed a vertical sau-
sage-shaped cloud in the castern sky that seemed to have a
light behind it, which flashed at irregular intervals over a
period of about 20 seconds. Then a bright, glowing orange,
oval-shaped object came from the cloud and tlashed at a
“fantastic speed” across the sky in a southeasterly direction,
doing this in about three seconds. The light in the cloud
glowed again for about 10 seconds, and then stopped.
Object [presumably the orange oval—HT] was as big as a

“In the meantime, my sister Bonnie and her friend were
at a swimming pool about onc-half milc from our parents
and they saw 3 silvery disc-shaped objects flying end-to-end
toward our home. My sisterbegan waving and yelling tomy
parents who were now scceing the discs coming in on the
cigar too, but they didn’t hear her. As the discs got close to
the “cigar,” this object and the 3 discs then went inline front
to back into a huge peculiar cloud nearby (one of the few
clouds in the sky at that time). My parents waited 3 or 4
minutes thinking the UFOs would re-emerge trom the cloud,
but as they watched, the cloud began to *break apart’™—as
Momsaid, ‘... as if atornado was ripping it apart.” The cloud
disintegrated and there were no UFOs; perhaps they had
already left the cloud in a manner that those on the ground
couldn’tsee.” (Ohio UFO Reporter, Sept.-Nov. 1971, double
issue 5-6.)

February 12, 1981, Flagstaff, Arizona, night. “Thc
craft was cigar-shaped looking, kind of'like a large blimp.
Was at night, white looking, with veins of some sort on the
outside of the craft, dark in color, around the craft. There
was a very small white object at one end of the blimp. After
about two minutes, the small bright round object took oft
from the mainbody of the cratt. It took of tat a very highrate
of'speed and disappeared in the sky. The blimp ob ject lost
its light and disappeared into a kind of fog type look, and
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drifted away. At least 25 to 30 pcople saw this event happen
onthe interstate freeway thatnight.” (National UFO Report-
ing Center.)

May 22, 1996, Tasmania, Australia, approx. 3:30
p.m. A motorist on the West Tamar Highway near Brady's
Lookout noticed an upright, vapor-like trail to the north
towards the Georgetown area. The trail changed into an
upright, bronze-colored cigar shape which somehow just
disappcared in front of the witness’s eyes. (TUFOIC News-
letter, no. 79.)

May 29, 1996, Launceston, Tasmania, Australia,
approx. 1:00 p.m. A vertical, misty-type cloud was secn
against the clear bluc sky. [t appeared to form into a vertical
upright cylinder which seemed to have a long hole. The
witness and a friend who had observed the object looked
away for a second, only to find that the object had disap-
peared in that briet time. (TUFOIC Newsletter, no. 79.)

July 21,1998, Napoleon, Ohio, 11:19 p.m. “The main
objectappeared inthesky suddenly. [t was the sizc otasmall
trailer. [t emitted adense fogaround it,and wenever saw the
real craft. It stayed stationary for seven minutes, and then
branched out from the front and scemed to “grow.” Five
smaller craft were seen circling the main craftas if'to protect
it. The large cratt secmed to dissolve and disappcar. For
several minutes later the small craftstill circled.”™ (National
UFO Reporting Center.)

October 10, 1999, L.ewiston, Michigan, 11:45 p.m.
“[ was looking out our bedroom window watching the sky
and saw this object through the haze. It was crystal clear last
night, that’s why I really noticed this *haze.” It was oval
shaped with white lights that would get verybright and then
get very dim, like a very slow pulsing light. What rcally got
me was all the other little ‘lights’ flying around it. | asked my
husband to look at it, and he couldn’t tigure out what it was
cither. It was stationary and all these other little lights were
buzzing around it. It reminded both of us of moths flying
around a light bulb. There was no set pattern to their flight,
and it looked like some of them flew into this thing. We
watched it for about 45 minutes and it didn’t do anything
else, so we went to sleep as we have to get up carly, and it
was almost 12:45 a.m. | got up a tew hours laterand looked
to sce if it was still there,and it was gone. No haze, no lights,
nothing. I guess what really made us notice this thing was
because of the haze that surrounded it. There was no other
haze around, and neither one of us had ever seen anything
that looked like that. Sure would like to know what it was.”
(National UFO Reporting Center.)

October 29, 1999, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, 5:45 p.m.
“[ wason my way to drop the kids oftat church when [ saw
something out of the corner of my cye. It looked like
something falling out ot the sky smoking. Nothing was
visible. We never saw anything come out. It looked like a
contrail after it fully appeared. | dropped them oft and went
back home. [ immediately told my husband to come out on
the back porch to see it he could tell me what it was that |
saw. He looked and he said it is a cloud, but it was not

moving like the otherclouds. I told him thatat first [ thought
it was a meteorite. We then decided it was some sort of
contrail, but there was no aircraft in sight. We continued to
watch, and he saw a nickel colored object fly out of it. |
didn’tsce it atfirst, then| kept watching, and I saw it fly back
into it. Then a few seconds later it shot back out and flew all
around this contrail or whatever it was. Thenit disappeared
for a few minutes. We kept watching, and it flew back out
anddisappeared. We never saw itagain. | was scared by this.
Idon’tknowwhatitwas, neither did my husband. It started
out as some sort of weird contrail, and then it became
stationary. Then this nickel-colored object flew all around
and in and out of it tor about 15 minutes. Very weird. When
this object was flying you could hear no sound, or sce any
contrail coming out of it. [ don’t know what it was. | have
never secn anything like it. . . . Also about an hour after we
saw this we heard jets flying, we looked out and they were
headed in the same direction as to where we saw the “thing,’
for lack of a better word. | would not have thought that
strange until they went back scveral times, like they were
doinga grid search. That's about it.”” (National UFO Report-
ing Center.)

SOME CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

It should be evident by now that cloud cigar cases have a
distinctive and narrow set of recurrent patterns. (Also, see
my two other /UR articles, 29:1 and 29:4, on cloud cigars
and satellite object cases). These patterns have been estab-
lished and are durable, and the importance of this finding
cannot be stressed enough. Whatever the nature ot what has
been seen globally and through the years, witnesses have
described it in relatively similar terms. And, it is important
to notc that when people think ot “flying saucers,” the
concept ot cloud cigars is certainly 70/ what comes to mind.
Even today, with all the information available on UFOs,
cloud cigarsightings remain virtually unknown to the media
and public. This gives usmoreconfidence inthe reports, and
makes it unlikely that witnesses are fabricating thesc re-
ports. Further, the usual gamut of explanations that account
for the large majority of raw UFO reports do not apply to
cloud cigars in any conceivable manner. They pose an
cnormous challengeto science, as, ofcourse,does the whole
of'the UFOphenomenon. What will it take for the scientific
community toawaken from their long slumber and come to
the same obvious conclusion? How much longer must we
wait? 4

ARCHIVES FOR UFO RESEARCH

The Archives for UFO Research in Sweden has for many
years done a splendid job of collecting UFO literature
worldwide. AFU has even been able to obtain an intern
recently to help them arrange their files, and they have a
lot of tun baking alien cakes. Check out their websitc at
www.atu.info/projects.htm.
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THE AMATEUR ASTRONOMER AND
THE UFO PHENOMENON

BY GERT HERB AND J. ALLEN HYNEK

Editor’s Note: This article was originally included in the
Fall 1980 issue ofthe CUFOS Bulletin, a ncwsletter that the
Center published for several years. We are reprinting the
article in /UR for several reasons. Many current readers of
IURhavenever seen this article, orany issues of the CUFOS
Bulletin tor that matter. Most importantly, the article pre-
sents results from an intriguing research project that has
been mostly forgotten by today’s ufologists and the UFO-
interested public.

Gert Herb was an amateurastronomer who lived in the
Chicago area. He became a voluntcer at the Center in the
1970s, and hc eventually proposed that the Center survey
amateur astronomers to determine their attitudes about the
UFO phenomenon and the number and types of any UFO
sightings they may have had. Herb hoped the survey would
be acompanion to the one that Peter A. Sturrock carried out
among protessional astronomers (Report on a Survey of the
Membership of the American Astronomical Society Con-
cerning the UFO Problem, Stantord University Institute for
Plasma Research, January 1977).

Given today’s attitudes toward UFO organizations and
the UFO phenomenon in general, it is rather inconceivable
thatamateurastronomy groups would give permission for a
survey of their members about UFOs. Times were very
different in the 1970s. The study of UFOs, while not quite
respectable, was attracting scrious scientitic attention, and
it wasn't completely crazy or gooty to be studying UFOs.

Thus, with the Center’s support, Herb gained the coopera-
tion of three groups and mailed questionnaires to all their
members.

Although Sturrock's survey isoftenand correctly cited
as important cvidence that scientists—at least astrono-
mers—supported UFO study and have even seen things in
the sky they could not identity, Herb’s survey is in some
ways more significant. As the authors note, amateur as-
tronomersarc usuallymore familiarwith the sky, especially
withthenaked eye, than professionals. Thelatter group may
look outside for a break from an observing session, but
protessional observers spend their time working with a
telescope, taking measurements and photos, and not using
the telescope for visual observations. Amatecur obscrvers
routinely scan the sky and normally (at least back in the
1970s) do much ot their work visually.

Consequently, UFO sightings by amatcurs should be
more frequent than those by profcssionals, and amateurs
might even be better able to find an cxplanation for odd
things seen in the sky. And whether they are more frequent
or not, UFO sightings by amateur astronomers should be
more trustworthy and believable than those from the public
at large. That is the key point to take tfrom this article.

We will add commentary in brackets to the article
where appropriate to highlight various points or to add
perspective from today to Herb’s findings.

any of our readers are acquainted with the
Sturrock Report, the survey of the views of
professional astronomers on UFOs, par-
ticularly withreference to whether they telt
UFOsareworthy of'scientific investigation,and toany UFO
experiences they themselves might have had. Of 2,611
questionnaires mailed out, 1,356 were returned (52%). In
answer to the question whether UFOs were worthy of
scientific attention, only 20% ot'the respondents expressed
a definite negative attitude (17% “probably not™ and 3%
“certainly not”), the remaining 80% being favorably in-
clined, 23% saying “certainly,” the others “')robablr” Still7

this was nearly cight times as many as said “certainly not.”
In response to the question of personal UFO sightings, 62,

or 4% of the professional respondents, reported that they
had observed events or objects they failed to identity, 16 of
these being daylight sightings.

The question naturally arises, it this was the response
among professional astronomers, what might be the re-
sponse from the larger population ot amateur astronomers,
especially as regards the question of personal sightings.
After all, contrary to popular opinion, professional astrono-
mers spend little time in the actual observation ot the open
skies, being extremely mission-oriented in examining very
restricted fields through large telescopes, while amateur

AsLrOnOIIGTS ﬁrcnﬂ USRI N [N

skies. Further, professional astronomical observation is
almost entirely done with instruments rather than with the
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eyes, concentrating again on minute portions of the sky. It
has been estimated, for instance, that if the world’s largest
telescope were used every night of the year, it would take
severalhundredyearstocovertheentire sky andaccomplish
the type of detailed observations done with such instru-
ments. The amateur astronomer, on the other hand, often
scans the entire sky available to him several times a night.

Further still, serious amateur astronomers are often
much more familiar with the appearance of the night sky
than professional astronomers (as odd as that may seem), to
whom each star is merely a number in a catalogue. Then
again, they have available easily maneuverable or mobile
optical equipment, suitable for resolving short-lived aerial
phenomena, whereas their professional counterparts are
constrained by large and unwieldy instruments. Too, they
are more widely distributed geographically than their coun-
terparts.

Thus amateurs should be able to spot unusual occur-
rences as well as to weed out, because of their training and
experience, sky phenomena that otten puzzle the public and
lead to spurious UFO reports—meteors, planets, twinkling
stars, and even advertising planes.

All of these factors made it quite natural to query
amateur astronomers about their possible experiences with
very unusual sky events, and one ot us (Herb) was the one
who proposed that this be done, and who undertook to do it.

Fortunately, almost all amateur astronomers are attili-
ated with one or more organizations devoted to their hobby.
These organizations are the Astronomical League, the As-
sociation of Lunar and Planetary Observers (ALPO), the
International Occultation Timing Association (IOTA), and
the American Association of Variable Star Observers
(AAVSO).

Herb approached all four organizations, with the full
supportofthe CUFOS scientific director (Hynek), and that
of the Center, asking for cooperation in this venture. Only
the AAVSO refused to cooperate (hardly a tribute to an
open-minded, scientific attitude), but the Astronomical
League, which publishes the magazine 7/ Reflector, kindly
sentour questionnaire to their subscriber list of some 7,800
persons. However, only 1,622 (21%)responded. Somehow,
one would have wished astronomers to have done better!
[Actually, since the survey was sent by bulk mail, this is a
surprisingly good response and suggests interest in the UFO
subject.]

The two smaller organizations, ALPO and [OTA, with
a total membership of 726, were polled as a single popula-
tion. Though small, these groups are comprised of people
devoted to more specialized aspects of amateur astronomy
requiring special skills and often more specialized astro-
nomical equipment, as well as dedicated motivation.

However, only 505 membersreceived questionnaires,
as was determined by a follow-up that was possible in this
case. Since bulk mailing wasused, this may have accounted
for the 221 members who stated they had not received
questionnaires. This may also explain why the response

from the Astronomical League members was relatively
poor, if bulk mailing had also been used. Of the 505
members receiving questionnaires, however, 290, or 57%
responded! [Yes, this is a fantastic response rate, given the
circumstances. |

Our main concern in this venture was to determine
whether the amateur-astronomer population as a whole
contained members who had had a UFO experience of some
sort. Herb had been disturbed by Arthur C. Clarke’s state-
ment in his book Promise of Spuce (Harperand Row, 1968)
thatamateur astronomers have notreported UF Os. (Maybe
nooneaskedthembefore!) He alsoasked themwhetherthey
believed UFOs “probably or certainly exist,” “possibly
exist,” or “probably or certainly do not exist.”

Although 67% of all the amateurs felt that UFOs cer-
tainly, probably, or possibly exist, responses to this question
cannot be given the same weight as the question, “Have you
ever observed an object which resisted your most exhaus-
tive efforts at identification?” This is not the same as the
question, “Have you ever seena UFO?” The latter, and the
earlier question about belief in UFOs, depends largely on
what one’s detinition of a UFO is. Is it a visitor from outer
space, a natural phenomenon, a man-made device, or what?
The question as to whether they could or could not identify
an object is direct and unambiguous.

Let us therefore go directly to the results of that ques-
tion. Mr. Clarke, take notice: Of thetotal of 1,805 respondents
from all organizations, 427 said “Yes” to that question!
That’s nearly one-quarter of the respondents (24%) [and
verifying the supposition that amateurs would see more
unidentified phenomenon than professionals]. However,
that overall result deserves closer analysis. Were all the
observers of the same proficiency? How much observing
experience had they had? How did the reported sightings
differ: Werethey all faintlights in the night sky, were there
some daytime sightings, were there sightings of high
strangeness? Were any of them observed or photographed
through a telescope? How many binocular observations
were made?

OBSERVING PROFICIENCY AND REPORTS

As to proficiency, Herb established a proficiency scale in
which the following factors were considered: Did the as-
tronomer keep regular observing records? Did he or she
follow a structured personal observing program? Did he or
shework incooperationwithanationalorganization suchas
ALPO, AAVSO, etc.? How long had this person been an
amateur astronomer?

Herb then selected, on the basis of replies to these
questions, 261 “senior” observers who had rated highest on
theabove criteria. Mostofthese, as might be expected, came
from the ranks of ALPO and IOTA members.

Now, Mr. Clarke, reallytakenotice! The senior observ-
ers, all of whomare thoroughly familiar withthe nightskies,
reported 74 objects “whichresistedmostexhaustive efforts
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at identification.” [This is a greater percentage, more than
28%, than the sighting frequency by all observers.]

Well, whatsort of objects? Herb subdivided all reports
receivedinto five classes, accordingtotheirtrajectories and
apparent angular sizes. These divisions bear some resem-
blance to both the UFOCAT classifications and the six
classifications originally proposed by one of us (Hynek).
The classifications are:

Cluss  Definition

0 Point source in uniform motion

1 Extended source in uniform motion

2 Point source in erratic motion

3 Extended source in erratic motion

4 Object observed at short enough distance as to

leave no doubt in observer’s mind that something
strange was observed

Classes I, 3, and 4 are clearly of great interest. An
extended object in either uniform or erratic motion is of
interest because it is most unlikely that a meteor or a high-
flying plane would fool trained observers: They are all too
familiar with them. Further, almost all observers have bin-
oculars handy, and they were generally used. Even a point
source in erratic motion can be of considerable interest.
Class 4 is, of course, the most interesting of all; that four
such cases werereported by the selected senior observers is
noteworthy.

66 UNKNOWNS SEEN THROUGH A TELESCOPE

With so many amateur astronomers reporting observations
that resisted attempts at explanation, one immediately asks,
“How many observations were made with the astronomer’s
telescope or binoculars, presumed handy at all times?”
Sixty-six out of 427 observations of all sorts were made
through a telescope, generally after the object was spotted
first by eye. Forty additional objects were observed by
binoculars alone. Thus, nearly a quarter of the puzzling
observations were made with optical aids!

Herb next singled out cases of high strangeness; i.e.,
cases of sourcesin erratic motionandthe “close encounter”
cases. Fourteen of these were observed through a telescope
and 17 through binoculars.

SEVEN OBJECTS PHOTOGRAPHED

Seven objects were photographed: Three were of point
sources; one was of an extended object, somewhat egg-
shaped, and was taken through a telescope; one object had
six photographs taken of'it inquick succession (this was of
an object which transited across Saturn like a little moon);
another photo was of two symmetrical cloud-like objects
moving in unison. This last was a photo of a “cloud” that
moved rapidly at irregular intervals, moving toward and
away from the sun in 15° arcs, more or less along the ecliptic

(theclouditselfwas 25° long). Asis the case with most UFO
photographs, they remain unexplained and very puzzling,
but prove nothing positive. The whole field of ufology has
yet to produce one good photograph of a strange object at
close range.

We properly point out two considerations in assessing
these startling results from the amateurs. (It was thought at
the start that the questionnaires might even show thatama-
teurastronomers neversaw anything strange inthe courseof
their observations, and that perhaps Mr. Clarke would be
proved correct. None of us expected such a harvest of
unknowns.) There is a strong possibility thatthose who had
made a sighting would very probably be more apt to fill out
the questionnaire and return it than the nonsighters. They
certainly ought to have been more motivated. If, therefore,
one counts all persons polled, and not only those who
responded, we geta minimum of'about 5.2% UFO sighters,
as against 23.7% when we consider all respondents (427/
1,805). The “true” percentage is thus somewhere between
these two limits, but even if only 5% ot all amateur astrono-
mers made valid sightings of truly unusual objects, this
would still be of great significance. [By comparison, if we
make the same calculation for protessional astronomers in
the Sturrock survey, the sighting rate drops to 2.4%, which
is still impressive. In contrast, the sighting rate among the
general publicissomewhercbetween 5 and 10%, depending
on which survey result we use.]

It is interesting that no amateur astronomer reported a
close encounter of the third kind, that 1s, with creaturcs
peering out of portholes or standing by their craft on the
ground. With peer pressurc being what it is, it is likely that
had such a case actually been observed, it might well have
not been reported!

Herb is now preparing a compendium of what was
actually reported in each case. When completed, it will be
available for examination at the Centcr; it is hoped that
funds will become available to publish the catalogue and a
more extended report. [Regrettably, Herb never completed
a final report of the survey results. |

Finally, we conclude thisreport with a word of caution.
Amateur astronomers are no less subject to psychological
aberrations than the general public; their increased compe-
tence in distinguishing between known and unknown
phenomena need not necessarily be matched by adesire for
disinterested judgment. Thus the results of this survey
should not be accepted as evidence for the existence of
UFOs. Here we run into the ever-troublesome matter of the
definition of a UFO. We believe that the survey amply
demonstrates that even amateur astronomers, surely more
capable than the general public in identifying objects in the
night sky, come across things in the sky that defy explana-
tion. If we remember that the “U” in UFO simply means
“unidentified,” then the survey does prove that amateur

astronomers report UFOs, quite contrary to Arthur C.
Clarke’s contention. But then, that gentleman falls into the

(continued on puage 24)
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BoOOK REVIEWS

In Alien Heat: The Warminster Mystery Revisited, by Steve
Dewey and John Ries. San Antonio: Anomalist Books,
2006. 322 p. $17.95.

A passionately energetic,
uncritically minded, and mys-
tically inclined small-town ‘\
journalist begins to publicize
localreports of nocturnal lights
and other oddities. He has ties
to an urban tabloid which fur-
ther circulates the claims,
promoting the notion that the
community is uniquely attrac-
tive to otherworldly visitors.
Curiosity seekers, occultists, |
drug-addled hippies, and a few
ufologists arrive to participate : T
in sky watches, during which some mistake ordinary phe-
nomena, natural (astronomical bodies) and artificial
(satellites and airplanes), for extraordinary things. Hoaxers
and practical jokers take advantage of the situation. The
journalist goes on to claim interactions with pure-hearted
space people, who spout the usual drivel, and writes some
inane books. In due course the affair runs its predictable
course and is recalled, if by practically nobody, with
amusement or embarrassment.

Sound like a book you can hardly wait to read? Well,
maybe a novel—preferably a literary, not a science-fiction,
exercise—could make something of such unsurprising and
unpromising material. As nonfiction, possibly an extended
journal article on an obscure moment in popular imagina-
tion would do. In response to underwhelming demand,
however, Steve Dewey and John Ries have produced more
than 300 pages’ worth of In Alien Heat: The Warminster
Mysterv Revisited. Nobody will accuse it of being a page-
turner. Well, at any rate nobody short of British skeptic
David Clarke, who spares no hyperbole or enthusiasm in a
quote on the back cover (“fresh ... fascinating. . . should be
read by everyone who wants to know ‘the truth’ behind the
UFOmystery”). Suffice ittosay that otherreaders, slogging
through a book that sometimes feels more like 600 pages,
willhave notrouble sparing both hyperbole andenthusiasm.

What is a “Warminster mystery”™? [ have heard of it
because [ was reading England’s Flving Saucer Review in

IN AUEN HeEAT

The Warminster Mystery Revisited

JOHTLRIES

o

the latter 1960s, when that magazine—Ilargely owing, [ learn
in this book, to the half-mad Gordon Creighton’s excitation
(which never took much to ignite, in any event)—gave it
coverage, some of it silly and gullible, some of it appropri-
ately skeptical. Till now, the only book on the subject to
appear in the United States was the widely unread UFO
Prophecy, published three decades ago on a tiny imprint
owned by contactee/New Age entrepreneur Timothy Green
Beckley. Dewey and Ries won’t recognize that name, but it
will tell American readers all they need to know about how
seriously ufologists here took the matter.

Warminsterisatouristy sortofplace, located in Wiltshire
to the rural southwest of London. Over a decade, but most
actively around approximately the end ofthe 1960s and the
very early 1970s, local journalist Arthur Shuttlewood, nota
ufologist as such but a saucer buff on his way to his true
calling as a contactee, stirred the UFO pot. And it happened
while Dewey and Ries were growing up there. [f not for that
accident of birth and geography, this largely pointless,
spottily interesting book would not exist, |'m sure. For all
their loathing of ufology and ufologists, even they can’t
bring themselves to declare Warminster a momentous mo-
mentin UFO history. Thesedaysitis barely a glimmereven
in the collective memory of saucerians.

“Saucerians,” by the way, isaphrase thatneverappears
in the book. In acharitable interpretation, that is because the
authors—whose grasp ot the nuances of the UFO contro-
versy and its personalities is close to nonexistent—have
never heard of it. It is, however, a useful way of separating,
as the religious-studies scholar J. Gordon Melton observed
many years ago, those focused on unidentified phenomena
whose nature is undetermined and can only be speculated
about from those who hold that the phenomena are identi-
fiedandknown,specifically as spacecraftpiloted by friendly,
godlike extraterrestrials. The formerareufologists, who (in
varying degrees of intellectual sophistication) are empiri-
cists,andthelatter are saucerians, who harbor whatamounts
to areligious sensibility.

Supremely confident that UFOs are nonsense, the au-
thors choose not to take note of such inconvenient
distinctions. Tothemutologists, nearly toamanand woman,
are idiots who have “no references to the real world,” are
“members of the New Age,” believe Queen Elizabeth has a
secretidentity asareptilianalien, and subscribe to a“techno-
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religion.” UFO evidence consists in its entirety of “photo-
graphs and videos of dubious quality.” Hoaxes are
“fundamental to ufology,” and UFOs are either (to fantasy-
prone ufologists) alien spaceships or (to those who reside in
therealworld withthe authors) justabuncho funrecognized
IFOs. Close encounters otherwise unexplainable are hallu-
cinations. Not only that, but Carl Sagan, whom Dewey and
Ries cite frequently on questions related to psychological
anomalies, is the final word on altered states of conscious-
ness, and the true authorities on UFOs are somebody named
JohnT. Sladek, whoyearsagowroteaMartin Gardner-style
debunking opus, and somebody else named Christopher
Evans, who did the same.

Where Warminster is concerned, the authors allow as
how they couldn’t be bothered actually to interview any-
body who participated in the affair. Consequently, they’ve
done no more than assemble a body of contemporary writ-
ings and appended jeering commentary. In other words, this
isneither the approach taken by the classic close-up study of
an ongoing saucerian episode, When Prophecy Fuils
(1956)—which I've always thought of as a comic novel
masked as a sociological tract—nor a serious effort to
reconstruct what happened from the actual memories and
testimonies of those who were there. Retrospective ac-
counts have their obvious limitations, but surely it is
worthwhile to know what the supposed witnesses think
today. (From decades-old testimony, I once learned, for
instance, the truth about an alleged historical UFO incident
and the social circumstanccs that gave rise to it.) Actually,
one suspects that participants’ views, in addition to what-
ever else they might bring to the discussion, would simply
have been more interesting than the authors’.

There are also the odd anachronisms. When was the last
time, to cite one example, that you heard someone call a
wave a “flap™? Dewey and Ries seem not to have left the
ufological sensibility of the 1950s (which perhaps explains,
too, their weird obsession with extraterrestrial spacecraft).
They also labor under the curious misapprehension that
John Keeland Jacques Vallee must be skeptics because they
reject extraterrestrial spacecraftas one explanation for UFO
reports. In reality, Keel and Vallee abandoned the ETH for
far more scientifically improbable notions based in occult-
ism and, in Vallee’s case, conspiracy theory. One suspects,
though, that for Dewey and Ries, all that counted in this
contextwasthecynical maximthatthe enemy ofmy enemy
is my friend.

Unlike Prophecy, In Alien Heart is neither terribly
enlighteningnor terribly entertaining, exceptintheunlikely
event that you demand no more than boilerplate in your
analysis. One sometimes has the sense that the authors did
no more than cram the contents of a few debunking books
into a random-word generator and preserve the results
between covers. I guess that’s how debunkers get to “‘the
truth’ behind the UFO mystery™ these days. [t is easier than
actual intellectual effort, and who wants to think too hard
anyway? —Jerome Clark

Muajic Eves Only, by Ryan S. Wood. Redwood City, Calif.:

The author, 2005. 328p. $30.00.

AlthoughMujic Eves Only
is subtitled “Earth’s Encoun-
ters with Extraterrestrial
Technology™ and contains a
long list of possible crashes or
retrievals of alien technology,
it is also an argument for the
reality of the Majestic-12 (MJ-
12 or Majic) documents. [t is
clearly a book written by a
believer and written for be-
lievers, which is notnecessarily
abad thing.

Forthose who don tknow,
the original MJ-12 documents were delivered into the hands
ot Jaime Shandera, a Hollywood producer, and William J.
Moore, a writer and UFO researcher. The documents were
discovered on a roll of undeveloped 35mm film sent to
Shandera, apparently from Albuquerque, New Mexico, in
the early to mid-1980s. These original documents were an
alleged 1952 briefing for president-elect Dwight Eisenhower
and a letter on White House stationary authorizing the
creation of MJ-12 by President Harry Truman. Moore and
Shanderaalso located in the National Archives, they claimed,
a memo from one government official to another that men-
tioned MJ-12. Later,additionaldocuments wouldbe received
by a host of other researchers.

Butrather than worry about this and to point out that the
arguments for and against MJ-12 have appeared in many
magazine articles and books (including Top Secret/Mujic by
Stanton Friedman and my 2002 book Case MJ-12:T he True
Story Behind the Government's UFQ Conspiracies, for
those interested in pursuing this), I'll deal mainly with the
list of crash retrievals and debris recovery detailed in Mujic
Eyes Only.

Wood has selected the cases from the long lists that
have been produced by others, including the late Leonard
Stringfield. He begins with the crash of anairship in Aurora,
Texas, in 1897 and ends with the event on the Isle of Lewis,
Scotland, in late 1996. In between are cases that are solid,
solidly investigated, cases that are weak and solidly inves-
tigated, and some that haven’t been investigated atall. Some
are only single-witness cases. Others are based on docu-
ments that suggest something unusual and possibly
extraterrestrial happened that resulted in the recovery of
alien material.

The first case reviewed is, in this context, one of the
most disturbing, at least to this reviewer. Wood rates the
Aurora, Texas, crashas high, meaningit has an “authenticity
level of 80 to 100%.” Wood detines this as *“. . . virtually all
of'the available investigative channels and ideas have been
pursued,and with eachtestthe case or document has shown
tobeauthentic or nearly problem free. At this level, multiple
witnesses are present thathave seen the crash or attermath,

EARTH'S ENCOUNTERS WITH
EXTRATERRESTRIAL TECHNOLOGY

RYAN S. WOOD

FOREWORD BY JIM MARRS
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or read a document in an ‘official’ capacity. . . . Physical
evidence is available; for example, rocks to test, scarred
trees, photographs ordirect ET materials. . . . allindicate the
highestlevel ofauthenticity. Atleastseveralresearchers are
in substantial agreement about the core evidence of the case,
often for many years.”

Yet, with the Aurora, Texas, crash, we have none of
those things. The eyewitness testimony, taken in the early
1970s, is at best contradictory with these witnesses telling
one researcher one thing and another something else. The
physical evidence, gathered in the 1970s, can’tbe linked to
the airship crash and is theretore irrelevant. And the docu-
mentation available, in the form of newspaperarticles, does
nothing to prove the case. In fact, according to Jerome Clark
in the second edition of his UFO Encvclopedia, “Wise
County historian Etta Pegues looked into the story. . . .
Among the old-timers she interviewed was Mrs. Robbie
Hanson, who declared, ‘It was a hoax. [ was in school that
day and nothing happened.’”

Taking it further, Clark noted, “Moreover, Pegues
wrote, ifthe Aurora story had been factual rather than fiction
Cliff D. Cates would have included it in his Pioneer History
of Wise County which he published in 1907. ... Also, if it
had been true, Harold R. Bost would have included it in his
Sagua of Aurora.”

If nothing else, these facts should impact on the overall
rating of the case, moving it from high to, at best, medium
and probably to medium low.

There are other such problems. Cases that have been
thought of as hoaxes for decades have new lite here includ-
ing the Maury Island case of June 1947, the Plains of San
Agustin crash of July 1947, and the Aztec, New Mexico,
case of 194¥.

One of the footnotes in the section on the Plains of San
Agustin is troubling to me. The information about Roscoe
Wilmeth, who supposedly heard about the crash and the
bodies and even talked of'a “*bodies site,” was attributed to
me in A History of UFO Crashes.

While that information is accurate, it is not the whole
picture. Robert Drake gave the information about Wilmeth
to Stan Friedman. Friedman tried to contact Wilmeth, but
was never able to do so. Wilmeth died before Friedman
could interview him. So the information about the bodies
from Drake comes second hand, at best.

Worse still, there is no corroboration for Drake’s tales.
He said that he was riding back to Albuquerque with three
other men after he had learned of the crash out on the Plains
froma cowboy on aranch where theyhad stopped. Accord-
ing to Drake, originally, they all discussed the crash ontheir
way back to Albuquerque. Interviewed separately by Tom
Carey, each denied the conversations had taken place. It
means that Drake’s testimony is unsupported by any inde-
pendent fact and does nothing to corroborate the crash on
the Plains. In fact, and worse still, it is contradicted by those
men Drake said would be able to confirm his account.

Foracaselevel as medium high, or 60to 80% authentic,

Wooddetines it such “that a considerable amount of inves-
tigation has been completed. Witnesses are present, stories
appear genuine, a few anachronisms may be present but
have reasonable explanations. Forensic testing, if possible,
hasbeen partially completed, and there are strong signs of
case validity. . ..”

Fair enough. But, what about the Santa Rosa, New
Mexico, case of the spring or winter of 19637 It is single-
witness, there are no corroborating witnesses or documents,
and it is somewhat preposterous on the face of it. Yet, it is
labeled as medium-high. Wood does not seem to apply his
rating system evenly and consistently.

At least with the Indiantown Gap case from the winter
0t 1969, Wood admits thatitis single-witness, stating, “The
only known source to this crash retrieval incident comes
from Sergeant | st Class Clifford Stone.”

Stone claimed that the cratt was “wedge-shaped™ and
that there were bodies found. Stone said that he was told to
take readings with a Geiger counter and as he did, he
realized that he was seeing something that was not from
Earth.

Wood rates the case as needing more rescarch, but in
reality, there is but a single witness and that witness, Stone,
has been caught in embellishments in other stories he has
told.

But even with these criticisms, it should be noted that
Woodhasdonearealservice here. As Stringfield did before
him, Wood has provided some interesting information on
incidents in which it is possible that alien artifacts, or the
remains of interstellar craft, have been recovered. He pro-
vides the elements of the case, commenting on the value of
the specific case, and giving the sources of the information.
Stringtield’s hope had been to learn more about a report
through the publication of the information. Wood seems to
have a similar goal in mind.

These listings, all 75 of them, are the heart of the book.
But wrapped around them are the arguments for the exist-
ence of the Majestic-12. Nearly all UFO researchers agree
that if there were an alien spaceship that crashed near
Roswell, then a committee like MJ-12 would have been
created to exploit it. The question has always been ifMJ-12
was that committee, or if it was the creation of UFO
researchers to fill in gaps in their knowledge.

In a chapter called, “The Authenticity of the Special
Operations Manual,” contributed by Robert Wood (tather
ofthe author and longtime ufologist), there is an explanation
of'the manual. This was a document apparently created as a
guide for those who are responsible for the crash retrievals.
A document which then leaked into the UFO community a
number of years ago.

Robert Wood listed a number of objections that oppo-
nents have made over the years. One of those objections was
that there had been no document control number. Wood,
working with Don Berliner who received the original film
with the manual on it, found that one ot the documents

(continued on puge 24)
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FUN AND GAMES IN THE DESERT
NEAR LLAS CRUCES

BY MicHAEL D. SWORDS

hereis an uninteresting Project Blue Book record
card that reads “25 Jan 54. Las Cruces, New
Mexico. Blob oflight which changedbrightness.
Was astronomical (Meteor).” That

relatively clearandthey werelookingatthestarstoseeifthe

clarity was sufticient to calibrate their instruments.
Observer | saw the moving light in the northeast,
Observer 2 in the north-northwest. For Ob-

description doesn’t sound promising or war-
rant further review.

But turn the page. There you will tind a
cover envelope stating that Clyde Tombaugh
brought the case to the project. Hmmm. The
best astronomical observer ot his day, a man
who could recognize meteors in his sleep,
thought that a simple write-oft meteor was
worth sending to the UFO project? What would
prompt him to do so?

Now Tombaugh wasn't the observer (al-
though he had at least one UFO sighting, also
in Las Cruces in 1949, and he also saw the
famous green fireballs in New Mexico). The
witnesses were two guys who worked with §
Tombaugh. Someone (perhaps Tombaugh) §
convinced one of the observers to write up the
report, which then follows in the case file.

The reporter (last name Schaldach, but
we’ll call him Observer 1) was a civilian
employee in the Technical Service Unit at White Sands
Proving Grounds. The service he provided was camera
monitoring of missile launches, so he was no random Joe
who just happened to see a meteor in the sky. He was a
graduate of Columbia University, had worked as an astrono-
mer at the Lowel] Observatory (no, astronomers never see
L.JtFOs), anq wasatemporary faculty member for the Univer-

li:n):n(:]l: S gz]l?x?ggo?; éltlli Yerkes Observatory. A meteor . . .
. ing doesn’t fit again.

THE SIGHTING

Itwas 10 o’clock in the even

ing when he was settj 1
e ngu 5
ballistic camera to monitor =

the missile. S '
Sy - deventeen miles
tslouthedst ofhimthe second witness (Observer 2) was doi ng
] s ’ o o
esame thing (see diagramon the nextpage). The nightwas

Clyde Tombaugh

server |, the light moved in a shallow arc
from the northeast to the southeast. From the
view of Observer 2, it was from the north-
northwest to approximately east. The light
was star-like, a “yellow-white radiation
curve,” similar to the stellar classification
GO (on the Harvard scale; this is close to the
Sun’s classification as G2). The light was
visible to Observer | forabout 6 secondsand
it pulsed at about 1'4-second intervals. Its
relative brightness varied trom less than
magnitude 6 to greater than —I (for compari-
son, magnitude 6 is barely visible to the
nakedeye while the upper valuc is character-
istic of a bright planet such as Jupiter). The
two observers communicated to one another
by intercom and compared notes.

Their comparison allowed themto make
arough calculation ofthe light’s distance and
speed. Even given 25% slop in their csti-
mates, the report turned in by Observer | concluded that the
object was about 12 miles away at the time of its brightest
pulse [and thereby about 9 mileshigh, in arough calculation
by this author, not the observers]. The velocity was 12,000

mph. Putting inerrorbars, the object was 12+3 miles distant
andmoving at 12,00043,000 mph. This was a good faith try

atobtaining what Ed Ruppeltalways wanted for Blue Book:
triangulated data. |

. Tombaugh would naturally have learned about this cas
since helivedin Las Cruces and would have been interest 5(;3
n everything unusual sailing around in the heavens Wile
Observer I told him that he was absolutely certain tilat the'n
was no kindofmeteor, which he states emphatically twice n
the Au‘ Force report form, Tombaugh would be 51‘ tin
cerltam thatwe hada UFOQ onourhands. After all thes; - ‘y
trained observers, with one being an astronomer.’M ore(\))t/:'e
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upon peculiar tracks in the desert sand. There

First sighting of UFO A
, ] N

Observer1

! |

|
|
|
|
|
: /
|
!
|
|

\

Lo
yi o Observer2

N

Object's brightest pulse; ¢. 12 miles
from Observer1, due East,9 miles
high and ¢. 8 miles ground distance.

Object grows
dimmer and is
lost to sight.

were more than two dozen of these marks, ap-
parently strung out in a “‘series.”

The marks were peculiar, to say the least.
Concentric circles cut into the ground with a
raised center point, an “‘arm” extending fromthe
circles terminated by marks made by three or
four claw-like “hands.” The circles were de-
scribed as “perfect,” and varied between 1% to
3 feet in diameter for the largest one. Circles
seen on one trip were wind-eroded on another,
but a new set appeared fresh on a third visit.

Mrs. Weiss was moved to tell the newspa-
per, while Mrs. Sandersreported to White Sands.
The two investigators from White Sands went
out with the ladies and saw the marks them-
selves. It was reported that the tracks just sud-
denly began and suddenly stopped with no other
markings of any sort leading to them or away.

meteors don’t appear visible at a low altitude without
putting on a much more extensive light show, as Tombaugh
knew. As Observer | stated in his concluding remark on the
form, ““I have observed many thousands ot meteors and can
definitely state that this object was not any kind of metcor.”

So, how on the great green Earth could therecord card
state, “Was astronomical (Meteor)™? You old hands at
ufology already know, don’t you? On that same cnvelope
which mentioned that the case came from Clyde Tombaugh
was penciled in: “Hold for return to Dr. Hynek.” Allen, you
were a very bad boy indeed in 1954, and [ don’t care it the
Robertson Panel wus just one year earlier.

WAIT, THERE’S MORE

But, maybethe Las Cruces story wasn’t quite over. You can
be the judge of this next story.

There is no case report on the material which tollows,
butthereare newspaper clippings which give a teeling that
some report must have been completed, somewhere, tor
some agency.

Inthe E/ Puso Times ot February 7-9, 1954, three short
news stories appeared. Two married women (Mrs. Weiss
and Mrs. Sanders) who enjoyed rock-houndingwereon one
of their*girls-day-out”excursionstoaplacecalled Kilbourne
Hole, about 25 miles west ot Las Cruces. There, on more
than one of'these trips in the latter half ot January, they came

\/
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The White Sands guys, Caption Ross Orcuttand
Henry Herman (described as a CID agent), went back to the
base without comment. The ladies were left with the impres-
sion that these were the marks of “‘some alien object.”

My overactive imagination wonders if there was not
somcone at White Sands who knew that something unex-
plained was making marks in the desert near Las Cruces in
late January 1954, and that on the evening of the 27th, two
camera scientists had seen an odd pulsing “non-meteor™
tflying at 12,000 mph going east. All, probably, very uncom-
fortable for the old paradigm, and, maybe, too, for national
security. Still,aswe’veseen, J. Allen Hynek mostlikely had
the answer. Everyone now: Breathe deeply and relax.

Editor’s note: Too late tor these observers, Hynek
considered this case to be a good one, and he had it on his
“10™ list of unexplained observations by astronomers, ac-
cording to Richard Hall. Allen was not averse to changing
his mind, for better or worse. 4

IS OUR SUN A BINARY STAR?

The Binary Research Institute has found that orbital
characteristics ot the trans-Neptunian planetoid 90377
Sedna demonstrate the possibility that our sun might be
part of a binary star system. Sedna, first detected in 2003
by Cal Tech astronomer Michael Brown, provides what
could beindirectphysical evidence of a solar companion.
Matching the recent findings by Brown, showing that
Sedna moves in a highly unusual elliptical orbit, Walter
Cruttenden at BRI has determined that Sedna moves in
resonance with previously published orbital data for a
hypothetical companion star. [n the May 2006 issue of
Discover, Brownstated: “Sednashouldn’tbe there. There’s
no way to put Sedna where it is. It never comes close
enough to be affected by the sun, but it never goes far
enough away from the sun to be attected by other stars.”
—Binary Research Institute, April 24.
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SCIENTISTS WOULD INVESTIGATE
SIGHTINGS BY OTHER SCIENTISTS—

WOULDN’T THEY?

BY MARK RODEGIHIER

verthe years, one ot the common contentions
of UFO skeptics is that, if UFOs really ap-
peared as tfrequently as public sightings imply,
thenscience wouldalready knowabout UFOs.
Thesimplereasoningis that UFOs appearing so otten would
have been detected many times over by various scientific
instruments, but since UFOs have seemingly not been de-
tected by scientific gearor various monitoring systems, then
there must be nothing to the phenomenon.
There are various approaches to refute this argument.
We can point toradardetections, theodolite observations, or
even sightings by scientists themselves. There is plenty of
this type of evidence to demonstrate that scientists do see
and record UFOs.
Thereis,though,anotherwaytodeal with this skeptical
claim. Science makesamazingadvancesliterally every day,
and so we can easily forget how little is known about the
world around us. Astronomers and physicists are growing
ever more confident in their knowledge of the development
of the cosmos from the moments after the Big Bang until
today, including therecentdiscovery of the mysterious dark
energy. Meanwhile, biological scientists learn more and
more about the human genome and how our bodies function,
leading to mind-boggling advances in medicine. The pace
and scope of scientific knowledge is impressive on all
fronts.
Buthow much do we really know about phenomena that
1;*:)? (I)lt;zféll-]vz zz(e)% Ici]z ytor ;ha; affect us direql y? Oftentin?es
winner in ;)I1ysics : Y O. N ert B, Laug‘]l‘l]’ Nobel Prize
’ ; . dll.d professor at Stanford University. H
has written the fascinating book, 4 Differe 1. He
Reinvenn‘ng ey et 5 i clf ent Un/vers.e._
Books), which ¢ S the 5 Om)’.n Down (2005, Basic
gent Pr(;berties(érgu.es s world is dominated by emer-
such as the properties of a solid, which are

different than those ofits individual atoms and molecules)

Mark Rodeghier is scientific director ofthe J. Allen Hynek

Center for UFO Studies.
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There are things we observe but which we still can’t calcu-
late or even predict. Thus, as Laughlin notes, “Ordinary
waterice displays, at lastcount. .. elevendistinct crystalline
phases, notone of which was correctly predicted from first
principles.”

Laughlin’s pointis that things that we know to be true
by simple observation may have profound and deep theo-
retical underpinnings that are not obvious or a conse-
quence of other well-known physical laws, or of the prop-
erties of their constituents. He describes in his book why
physicists often reject theories based on emergent proper-
ties for philosophical and social reasons (background
training, existing research agendas, etc.), not for solid
scientific motives.

Scientists are otten pronc to ignore both theories and
data that they don’t believe could occur or think are very
unlikely because they contradict other well-established data
and theories. This is generally a good strategy, but the
approach fails when something important goes unrecog-
nized and thus unstudied. And that is the fate suftered by
UFO sightings, even from scientists.

INDIAN SCIENTISTS SEE UFO

As some of you may have read, on September 27, 2004, a
group of Indian scientists from the Indian Space Research
Organization saw a strange object in the Samudra Tapu

glacier region in Himachal Pradesh state. The team of

glaciologists and geologists were ona week-long expedition
tostudy (l)e glacierand were camped at an elevation of about
17,000 feet. Early that moring, one of the expeditio
porters spotted the object on top '
The object ﬂoated/movedj
ground, approaching the camp along the mountain slop
Both senior scientist Ani] V. Kulkami and a cowo II< e:
grabbed cameras and took several photos -
The object was small and oblong :
tween three and four feet high. It had ,

of'a mountain ridge.
ust a few feet from the

mostly white, be-
an odd shape, with
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appendages and a cylindrical head with two balloon-type
attachments. It eventually came within 50 meters of the
scientists, hovered motionless for a few seconds, and then
started a steep ascent. It rose high into the sky, hovering and
appearing as only a white dot in the bright sunlight.

The photographs demonstrate beyond doubt that the
scientists saw something that morning, and that they accu-
rately reported what was observed. As geologist Rajesh
Kalia said, “It didn’t look like a man-made object.”

The scientists, being cautious and believing that what
they saw had to be man-made, contacted various institutes
to check about balloon launches, and also to see whetherthe
object could have been an unmanned aerial vchicle (UAV),
many of which are used by the military. However, there are
no balloons that match the shape of the object (and its
behavior was not exactly balloon-like), and there are no
known UAVs that match the object’s shape, either. The
object moved against the wind, making a balloon explana-
tion even more improbable.

It is possible, of course, that the object was a super-
sophisticated UAV being flown by the U.S. military that got
oft track. The sighting location is in the far northwest of
India, and although it is not hard by the border with Pakistan,
it isn’t that distant. [t is also near Kashmir, the site of much
fighting between Pakistan and Indian, along with terrorism
from separatist movements. But the object didn’t have the
aerodynamic shape of a UAV, and it wasn’t making any
noise from an cngine.

As of this writing, the object remains unidentified,
despite the best efforts of the expedition’s scientists, who
would like to know what they saw.

A FAILURE OF SCIENCE?

Outside of the expedition members and their immediate
collecagues, it is fair to say that worldwide scientific interest
in this intriguing sighting has been, well, nonexistent.
Kulkarni has not been invited to present a paper about the
sighting at a scientific meeting, new expeditions have not
been planncd to observe the object again, photoanalysts
have not been clamoring for the original negatives to do
image enhancement, and intensive efforts have not been
underway to find the terrestrial object that might have been
the cause of the report.

Here wehave a UFO sighting, in daylight, by scientists.
The object was photographed at a range that makes this a
close cncounter case. The witness descriptions are consis-
tent. Although there is no physical evidence itself, the casc
otherwise would seem to be the type that we dream about,
but it has aroused zero enthusiasm.

Admittedly, the sighting was not published in a peer-
reviewed journal. (How could it be?) The object was not
large, nor disc-shaped or triangular. [t didn’t zip away at
incredible speeds, or disappcar instantly. Nor were therc
unusual physical effects on any equipment, or the witnesses.
And certainlyno sign of life was seen inthe small object. So

the object, whatever it was, doesn’t exactly cry out for an
extraterrestrial explanation.

But by any reasonable definition, the object is a UFO,
andthereportdoes demand some explanation, which doesn’t
seemtooprobableatthispoint. Soifthissightingdoesn’tget
scientists interested, are we doomed to never attract the
serious attention of the scientific community?

The short answer is: Yes, we just might be doomed,
unless things change drastically with the phenomenon. But
is this a failure of science? Or to put it differently, why
should science be interested in this sighting? When the
question is posed thatway, it mightscem that theanswer is
obvious: to learn something new about the world. Looking
atitfromanotherangle, though,reveals the practical hurdles
the study ot UFOs faces among academics and profession-
als.

We shouldn’t speak of sciencc in the abstract, but of
scientists. And we shouldn’t refer abstractly to scientists,
but to scientists in specific fields. So let’s list a few:
biochemistry, geology, psychology, cnvironmental sciences,
zoology, astronomy, mathematics, and anthropology. Then
ask yoursclf: What would be intriguing about this sighting to
someone in one of these fields? What about this sighting
would be worthstudyingbecause it might lead to an advance
in one of these fields?

Put that way, the answer becomes instantly obvious.
There isn’t anything about the encounter—the object or its
behavior—that has direct links to any of these sub jects, and
most any other onc that we could name. Studying this report
will probably not advance the rescarch program in these
fields. This iscertainly true if the object was an exotic UAV;
ifitwere something even more exotic (analiencraft?), it still
wouldn’t contribute unless we could get our hands on the
deviceitsell, orthe intelligences behind it (exoanthropology,
anyonc?).

Certainly, academics or professionals in one of these
fields may be intrigued by the sighting and want to study it.
But if so, they won’t be doing it to advance their fields (and
definitely not their carcers!). They will be investigating it
because oftheintrinsic fascination ot UFOreports and what
may be revealed about the universe or other intelligences.
That’s absolutely good motivation, but it’s not discipline-
specific incentive. And therein lies the rub. If scientists
don’t have a professional rcason to investigate a report, it’s
a little hard to blame them for not investigating it.

None of this is meant to absol ve certain scientists, such
as Donald Menzel, Carl Sagan, or Edward Condon, of their
share of guilt in ignorantly and willfully dismissing UFO
sightings and UFO investigations as a waste of time. I a
scientist does look at the UFO evidence but then not treat it
honestly, we can feel cheated, and we arc all the poorer,
including science. And there have been equally intriguing
sightings by scientists that have been ignored that do more
strongly suggest ETI as a source.

Nevertheless, we shouldn’t be disappointed or sur-
prised when scientists don’t leap to the study of the UFO
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phenomenon from their labs and computers. People need
incentives to break away from their routines. Somewhat
amazingly, UFO sightings, even by fellow scientists, don’t
give the average scientist an incentive to work profession-
ally on the problem.

Sojust whatwouldcauseascientisttostudy UFOs? It’s
thesame thing thatgetsmany membersofthe publicexcited
about UFOs—having their ownsighting. Even then, there’s
no guarantee that someone will take action, butit’s usually
thebestpredictorofcontinuinginterest,if nothingelse. 4

ASTRONOMERS—C()nlinuea'ﬁ'()m page 16

same trap that the general public does: that UFOscanmean
only one thing—visitors from remote regions ot space. [ f we
hold, as we do at the Center, thata UFO phenomenon exists,
then certainly the amateur astronomers have observed the
UFO phenomenon, and by no means necessarily craft from
outer space.

CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

It is worth mentioning that CUFOS and other UFO groups
continue to receive UFO sightings from amateur astrono-
mers. A summary of recent sightings by these observers
would be a welcome addition to the UFO litcrature and
strong evidence that unexplained things are indeed ob-
served in the skies. 4

GrassRooTts UFOs:
CASE REPORTS FROM
THE TIMMERMAN
FILES

Thousands of interviews
recorded at 92 CUFOS UFO
exhibit locations distilled to 406
unexplained, often amazing,
sightings from everyday people
across the globe, from Nova
Scotia to the island of Guam. A
softcover book with 250 pages,
including detailed sketches and
photos from these never-before-
recorded experiences.

Send $22 by check or
money order, for U.S.
media mail (add $5 for
surface mail to all over-
seas addresses), to:
CUFOS
2457 W. Peterson
Chicago, IL 60659

Book REVIEWS—continued from page 19

photographed had beens oditficult toread that Berliner had
not made a copy of it. When it was printed, here, according
to Wood, was the document control page. This was a point
that argued for authenticity.

Another objection was that the manual, dated 1954,
mentioned Area 51, but Area 51 didn’t exist in 1954.
Wood said that his research showed that the beginning of
the facility was in 1951. Okay, as far as it goes, but there
1s no evidence that the term, Area 51, was in use in 1954.
This is a push, as they say in Nevada. Neither side has an
advantage.

Wood, in his argument for authenticity, wrote, “All
these claims of fakery have led me to create a summary list
ot phony claims of takery. ..." He implies that just because
the governmentsays they are fake documents doesn’t make
it so. That archives can’t locate them doesn’t mean they
don’t exist.

And | would have to agree with these points. Just
because the government says they are taked doesn’t make it
so. And il the documents were as highly classitied as
alleged, i’s notsurprising that they aren’t located by docu-
ment scarches. They simply wouldn’t be filed in locations
that are open to public scrutiny.

But there is one point that Wood makes that doesn’t
work. He puts the statement, “There is no provenance,” on
his list ol phony claims of fakery. Sorry, the lack of prov-
enance on the manual for the MJ-12 documents, all of the
documents, is a real problem. In all the searching that has
been done, no one has located a document that refers to, is
partof, or suggests in anyway that a committee named M-
12 has ever existed. This simply does not wash.

However, this book does pretty much what it setout to
do. It provides a perspective of the MJ-12 documents and
why both Robertand Ryan Wood believe the documents to
beauthentic. [taddresses the claims that therc is no physical
evidence by enumerating nearly a hundred cases of claimed
recovery of some sort of debris or material. Granted, many
ofthemare fairly weak, but then, only onc hasto be authentic
for the case to be made.

Yes,  disagree with some of the ratings and the value of
some of the cases, but then, those ratings are subjective.
Some informationthatthe Woods tind persuasive, I tind less
than convincing. Some information | tind persuasive, they
find less than convincing. When dealing with this subject,
thatisn’t all that surprising.

For those who are interested in completing a library of
UFO books, this is a necessity. It gives a look at MI-12, the
recovery otalien artifacts, and an overview, thoughlimited,
of this state of research.

Butitmustberemembered thatthe book waswritten by
a true believer and there are points when I believe the
standards for accepting evidence should have been higher.
But we cansay thatin many UFO cases and aboutmany UFO
books. —Kevin D. Randle 4
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LETTERS

KECKSBURG CONTROVERSY

To the editor:

In Leslie Kean’s article about Kecksburg (“Forty Y cars
of Secrecy: NASA, the Military, and the 1965 Kecksburg
Crash,” JUR 30:1), she boasts that in 2003 there were “two
excitingdevelopments” which “demolish™ the two skeptical
explanations: a meteor or a Soviet satcllite.

The satellite explanation, specifically Cosmos 96, has
actually been a central explanation offered by the promoters
ofamysterious crash recovery, such as Stan Gordon, since the
1980s. It’s strange that this tailed explanation has suddenly
been declared a “prelerred explanation™ of the skeptics.

As for the meteor explanation, Kean never discussed it

at all, except to dismiss without explanation the “amateur

photographs,”™ some of which were taken by a professional
Michigan newspaper photographer, and the many 1965
cyewitness reports.

Most curious is her dismissing, without discussion, the
explanation of astronomers who analyzed photographs,
cyewitnessreports,and ascismometer recording, published
four decades ago in a peer-reviewed science journal.

Kean uses nothing more than the claimed cyewitness
accounts decades later of tree damage seen in the dark at a
site a half mile from the real scarch on another farm, but
published by mistake in a local newspaper. For decades, as
“new” witnesses surfaced with their strange accounts, this
remained the only published location for the event. Further-
more, if you pick two trees, of course you get a “path”

between them. But how many othertrecswere examined for

damage in this heavily eroded, reforested area?

Kean ignored a lot in her article. Like Kecksburg
mystery mongers before her, she makes much of an excited
1965 radio report by the late John Murphy, but curiously
ignores the part where he said the only military people he
actually saw at the site were in the back scat ot'a police car.
These were obviously the three USAF men mentioned in the
Project Blue Book file in the National Archives.

Also, Kean doesn’t inform her readers ot another tidbit
John Murphy reported in the program, which was rebroad-
cast on WJM radio on the 1995 anniversary of the incident.
He reported that the military present were from the “Army
662nd Radar Squadron.” So, a week after the incident
Murphy was still confused about the truc identity of the
military unit involved. This Air Force unit was located on
the Army facility at Oakdale. Contusion about this is why,
in 1965 and later, some people think the Army was there.

Kean disingenuously says that her investigation has
established that personnel from this Army facility were
present, but doesn’tinform her readers thatthisis where the
USAF 662nd Squadron radar site was located. She preters
instead to promotc a continucd mystery about Army “stub-
bornness™ because they can’t come up with non-existent

documents.

Of'course, as Kean writes, John Murphy thoughthe saw
“Army” and “Air Force™ uniforms at the police barracks
back in Greensburg. He probably couldn’ttell the difterence
between the winterblues worn by the Lieutenantand the OD
fatigues, festooned with Air Detense patches, worn by the
EMs. Thedetails otthe report that thisnewsmanmade, in his
own lifetime, support the ofticial version of events.

Themostinteresting revelationinKean’sarticle wasthat
hergroup’sinvestigation managed to locate several members
ot the USAF 662nd Radar Squadron who participated in the
eventsof thatnight. Guess what they reported? Their40-ycar-
old memories also support the official version.

Until the long-published photographsare discussed for
the support or refutation they olTer to the a crash theory, the
rcal Kecksburg crashed saucer cover-up of pictures and
documents proving the true nature of the December 9, 1965,
fircball will continue.

Readers shouldn’t get too excited about these new
developments, as they don’t really offeranything new. The
old farmers out there still chuckle when they talk about
“Murphy’s UFO™: the burning pile of brush at the Norvelt
Golf Course construction site, where the intrepid newsman
first thought he had his “War of the Worlds.”

Robert R. Young
Harrishurg, Pennsyvlvania

The author responds:

Anyone familiar with the basic strategy ot UFO de-
bunkers is aware that their first rule is to deny any cvidence
thatcontradicts their position. In the Kecksburg case, scores
ofpeople, including representatives of the press, attest to the
presence of military personnel at the search location, and a
number of witnesses describe standing within a few teet of
theobject,halfembedded ina gulley. Nevertheless, amateur
astronomer Robert Young is so smitten with his beliet that
the incident was merely ameteor {lyover that he is forced to
insist that every witness who recalls details not matching
this scenario is either wrong, unreliable or lying. When
Young was asked for his opinion by Philadelphia Inquirer
reporter Ralph Vigoda in 2000, he explained away the entire
Kecksburg case as nothing more than “urban rumor.” A
rumor, eventhough scores of witnesses have given indepen-
dent, first-hand testimony to what they saw? And the inci-
dent occurred in a remote, rural location. It appears that
Young is not always careful about his choice ot words.

Mr. Y oung is entitled to defend the Air Force position
it he wants, but I would be interested to know how many of
thekeyKecksburgwitnesses he haspersonally interviewed,
it any. Has he spoken to Robert Gatty and Ernie Hoftman,
reporters whowere onthe scene and wereclearly capable of
determining the Army presence? Or to Jerry Betters, Bill
Bulebush, or James Romansky, whose independent reports
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of close encounters with the object on the ground corrobo-
rate cach others’ descriptions?

For many ycars, Young has doled out all manner of
distortions and factual inaccuracies about the Kecksburg
case o defend his one-pointed opinion. Take this rather
amusing statement, for example, as reported in the same
Philadelphia Inquirer piece:

“And to those who say the object tloated, slowed down
or changed direction, there’s this explanation: People were
watching the bright vapor trail, which was likely butfeted by
winds.”

This dcefies logic when one examines the detailed de-
scriptions by witnesses, such as Randy Overly of the acorn-
shaped object a few hundred feet above the ground. The
many others from Westmoreland County who reported the
incident described either a fireball, or a physical object,
sometimes with a fiery tail. The notion ot **vapor butteted by
the wind™ as an explanation for the object’s turns rivals any
number of the moreabsurd explanations offered by desper-
ate debunkers over the years.

Another example can be found at the beginning of
Young’s letter, where he declares that the Cosmos 96
argument was not used by skeptics, but was promoted by
Stan Gordon (who has been investigating the case for 40
years). Young must be aware that the leading skeptic on the
Kecksburgcase, JamesOberg, has actually been the loudest
voice claiming that it was cither the Cosmos 96 capsule or
other debris from the failed Soviet probe that landed in
Kecksburg. Oberg has been interviewed for numerous docu-
mentaries stating that this is what the witnesses saw—case
closed. (Recently, however, it seems Oberg’s position has
changed due to Nicholas Johnson’s findings; see more
below.) Gordon, on the other hand, simply oftered this
cxplanationasone ol'many possibilities inan unsolved case.

These nit-picky, often irrelevant misstatements are
characteristic of Young’s repeated diatribes debunking the
Kecksburg case. (His convoluted statement that [ have used
only accounts of “tree damage seen in the dark™ one-half
mile from the “real scarch™ to determine the location is
another example; we know where the correct site is due to
three witnesses, unknown to cach other, who escorted Stan
Gordonthere independently, as described in my piece. The
treedamage was observed inbroad daylight the day after the
incident by witness John Hayes, and was photographed by
Gordon years later.)

What's important to address here is the bottom line.
There arc three basic positions that have been put forward to
explain the Kecksburg incident: (1) A meteor, meaning that
nothing came down; (2) a man-made object so sensitive that
its retrieval was covered up; (3) an object of unknown origin
retrieved by the military and also covered up.

The first option, which Young believes to be truc,
requires that its proponents dismiss out of hand the testi-
mony of'dozens of eyewitnesses and some media coverage.
My JUR article went into detail about the credibility of the
Kecksburg witnesses and the large number of corroborating

reports. However, in working with Stan Gordon for the last
few years, | have learned that the majority of the witnesses
he has spoken with over fourdecades have not gone public,
and that there is actually a great deal more information in
support otoptions two and three than Youngoranyone clse
is awarc of, some of it from highly sensitive sources. This is
a statement | don’t like to make because promises of
confidentiality preclude its verification. Young's asser-
tions, however, beg the question.

Aswavesof witnesses came forward atdifferent times,
Gordon was careful to withhold certain details about the
case to usc as checks for witness authenticity. There is
absolutely no way that any serious investigator can dismiss
the abundance of evidence showing the likelihood that
something did indeed come down in Kecksburg on Decem-
ber 9, 19065.

Nonetheless, thousands in four states did sce a brilliant
fircball minutes before anything happened in Kecksburg. At
the time this wasassumedto be a meteor, yettodayscientists
disagree as to the nature of that fireball, and how it actually
behaved.

Overtheyears, Young'sargumenthashingedona 1967
paper by astronomers Von Del Chamberlain and David J.
Krause published in the Jowrnal of the Roval Astronomical
Society of Canada. “The Fireball ol December 9, 1965
Part I provides the authors’ calculation of the trajectory of
the fireball, which they state was a meteor.

In the paper, Chamberlain and Krause used triangula-
tion of two photographs, taken a few miles apart in Michi-
gan, to purportedly show thatthe trajectory for the fireball
was such that it would have been at a right angle to a
trajectory bringing the object into the Kecksburg arca. The
astronomers collected 66 standardized forms completed by
cyewitnesses, including the accounts of the two photogra-
phers. Based on these reports, they estimated the event
lasted only about four seconds and resulted in the explosion
of the metcorite over the western end of Lake Erie near
Detroit. (Interestingly, the authors note, “several observers
reported that some material apparently continued beyond,
along the original trajectory.”™) The paper stated that the
event occurred at 4:43 p.m. EST, based on ncarby seismo-
graphic records ol a shock wave produced by the fireball.

Although this study includes threc interesting images of’
the fireball’s smoke trail, Young does not seemtobe aware
of the meticulous work of scientist David Rudiak exposing
the problems plaguing the study. Rudiak provided a brief
summary of his findings tor me in a recent email (greater
detail and helpful illustrations arc on his website, www.
roswellproot.com/Keckburg_triangulation_error.html).

I. The JRASC article assumes absolute precision in
measuring triangulation angles to two “points™ in the fire-
ball trail. This is unscientific methodology, as there is
always some error inany measurement, and there is no error
analysis in the article.

2. The two triangulation “*points™ should actually be
large, fuzzyarecas with boundaries detcrmined by the possible
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One photo from the JRASC paper used to triangulate the
trajectory of the December 9. 1965, firehall. The photo
was taken about 20 miles north of Detroit and shows the
smoke trail just after the fireball disappeared following
an explosion, shown by the puff of smoke at Point B.

measurement errors. Instead of one line between two precise
points, the paper should have presented a broad range of
possible trajectorics within the range of these error regions.

3. Small angle errors in determining directions to the
two smoke trail points of only +0.6° (or 1.2° overall) would
be sufticient to change the trajectory by nearly 90° from the
oncsuggested, allowingl'oratrajectory towards Kecksburg.

4. Errorsarecasyto make when measuring in the field.
Sources of such potential errors could have been: getting
compass directions slightly wrong; not precisely locating
onc or both photo locations to within inches (smoke trail
directionscanonly be determined relative to nearby objects,
such as trees, so precise location of photo sites is vital); a
small scaling error in one or both photos; trail drift duc to
wind, since the two photos were taken halt a minute to a
minute apart, shifting the smoke trail points between photos
and thus changing the apparent trajectory. (In fact, scrutiny
of the three included photos shows clear evidence of such
high winds.)

5. That the trajectory is likely in error is strongly
supported by the photos themselves, clearly showing that
the smoke trail gets thinner over time. The most likely
explanationisthatthe object wasmovingsharply away from
the camera rather than sideways, as stated in the article. (It
itwere actually sideways, the trail should remain constantin
overall thickness since the distance to the camera would
remain unchanged.) Estimating the thinning of the trail
results in a trajectory at least towards Kecksburg or even
more to the southcast.

6. This away-from-camera trajectory also results in a
calculated angle of descent that is gradual (much like an
airliner coming in tor a landing) rather than the steep (52°)
calculated descentangleofthearticle. This gradual descent

is also consistent with a Kecksburg landing over 200 miles
away.

7. The Pittsburgh Airport time ot 4:47 p.m. for the
fircball (vs. about 4:43 p.m. in Detroit) calls into question
the metcor fircball explanation. This would be too slow for
a meteor, which should have traveled the distance in less
than a minute.

In addition, sonic boom reports tfrom western Pennsyl-
vania, phoned in to various agencies, confirm the presence
of the fircball over that state.

What was this fireball, which looked like a meteor, and
what was its relationship to events in Kecksburg? Could
there have been two separate events, a metecor and some-
thing clse unrelated that came down in Kecksburg? Orcould
the fireball havesent ot something—just before it exploded
in the “putt” captured on film—that ended up grounded in
Kecksburg? Or,did the tireball itselt, being something other
than a meteor, make a gradual descent into Kecksburg? This
is part of the mystery that we will probably never solve,
unless the U.S. government comes clean about the casc.

What we do know, according to Stan Gordon’s inter-
views with many people in local communities who saw a
fiery slow-moving object, is the very specific trajectory of
something unusual descending over Westmoreland County,
Pennsylvania. Beginning at about 4:47 p.m., a luminous
objectwastirstscen overthe greater Pittsburgh arca as news
media and police phones were inundated with sighting
reports. (Or was this simply those pesky vapor trails bul-
feted by the winds?) The brilliant object then moved to-
wards the southcast and passed over Greensburg, made a
turn to the south, and hecaded towards the Laurelville area.
After making another turn, it traveled northeast towards
Kecksburg, where it turned again and descended into the
woods. The news media reported that the Army and State
Police cordoned ot t'the arca where the object was believed
to have landed. “*Nothing that happened carlier in four other
states will change these facts,” Gordon points out.

New information is coming to light all the time about
the Kecksburg event. Recently, Gordon obtained a newspa-
per article from the Mount Pleasant Journal published on
December 17, 1965, cight days after the incident. Despite
reporting that the state police captain said that nothing was
found and “we’re satisfied it was meteor,” the headline
reads, “Mystery Surrounds Area’s Fallen Object—Many
Qucstions Still Unanswered.” The story states, “seven arca
residents reported secing a smoldering object crash to the
carth.” It goes on to say that Army personnel were suppos-
cdly among those scaling of t the roads in the arca, where up
to 400 “curious onlookers™ had gathered. “Why have U.S.
Army officials hastened tothe scencissued no statementon
theresultsoftheirsearch? Andwhy, withreported sightings
frommany otherarcas, were so many otticials concentrated
on the search here?” queries the article.

This story also notes, as has been confirmed by other
sources, that the scarch for the object continued the follow-
ing day (Friday). Itit was determined early that morning, as
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the Air Force stated, that nothing came down and this was
only a meteor, why did the search continue? “By Friday
evening, the area had been thoroughly scoured by police,
military authorities, scientists with Geiger counters and
other volunteers,” the story states.

Youngwritesthatthe*mostinterestingrevelation” of my
story was the reports ot several members of the Air Force
662nd Radar Squadron who were involved with events that
night. Young states that these reports support the ofticial
position that nothing came down. Indeed, one lieutenant did
say that he searched for the object and found nothing. How-
cver, in the same interview, he also contradicted what we
know about the circumstances at the site from numerous news
reports describing the extensive military and police presence,
the cordoningoffof'the area, and the many civilians descend-
ing on the location. As | mentioned in my article, this
lieutenantsaid there wasno military or police presencc on the
roads or in the area, and no excess civilian activity. The latter
obscrvation is simply impossible, and raises numerous inter-
esting questions that [ explored in my story.

Young may delight in the tact that this man said nothing
was tound, but he has chosen to disregard the rest ot his
interview, which involved puzzling inconsistencies withthe
facts, and therefore calls into question the reliability of the
lieutenant’s story. The lieutenant’s official written report
about his search was tfor some reason not included with the
Project Blue Book tiles, and has not yet been released by the
Air Force, despite my specific requests for it accompanied
by an affidavit from the lieutenant.

Other discrepancics exist in the various rather convo-
luted stories reported to me by the 662nd officers: In one
case, an of'ficer said that he’s positive no search was con-
ducted atall, and yetanother officer told me he’s convinced
that the object was a Russian satellite. Both of these state-
ments actually contradict the official version, rather than
support it, as Young claims. Young has chosen to select
from these accounts onc part of one story that fits his pre-
dctermined belief that the incident involved only a meteor,
while ignoring everything else. This selectivity is to be
expected—picking the evidence to suit his position and
ignoring therest is the name of the game.

And Young’s interest in this set of witness interviews
raises another question: He has chosen to accept contracic-
fory reports of a few tformer Air Force otficers with “40-
year-old memories,” while rejecting dozens of corroborat-
ing reports from other independent witnesses. Does this
make sense?

One final note: The official position that Young so
staunchly defends has recently been challenged not by a
mere journalist or UFO investigator, but by a U.S. govern-
ment agency. NASA, which reportedly had a role in the
incident but has not provided information about the case
through the Freedom ot Information Act, is now contradict-
ing the Air Force findings. Unexpectedly, last December,
N AS A spokespersonDavid Steitz told the Associated Press
that “the object appeared to be a Russian satellite that re-

entered the atmospherc and broke up. NASA experts stud-
ied fragmentstrromthe object butrecordsof whatthey found
were lost in the 1990s.” Steitz said NASA looked at the
fragments and boxed them up, only to misplace all related
documentation. (Steitz has declined to explain where this
information came from if no documentation exists, despite
my repeated requests for an answer to that question.)

So, to make things even more complicated for Mr.
Young and everyone clse, we now have one government
agencycontradictinganother. NASA headquarters in Wash-
ington says it was a Russian satellite; the Air Force says it
was a meteor: and to add to the chaos, space debris expert
Nicholas Johnson ot the NASA Johnson Space Center says
it couldn’t possibly have been a Russian satellite or any
man-made objectatall, for that matter. And eycwitnesses on
the scene say it was a strange acorn-shaped craft with
illegible symbols on the outside. Which was it?

I have noidea why Young is on a mission to ridicule a
large portion ofthe evidence on this case, without any regard
to the accuracy of his statements in doing so, and why he so
fanatically sticks to his particular belicf about the incident.
In the meantime, the fact is that we still have a real mystery
on our hands, still unsolved and still under investigation.

Leslie Kean

DOCUMENTARY MEMORIES

To the editor:

I thoroughly enjoyed the Robert Barrow article on the
movie: Unidentified Flving Objects, which [ am fortunate
enough to own. My lifelong interest in UFOs was probably
born when | was a 10-year-old youngster and my mother
took me to see this long-ignored movie. I can still remember
the sense of awe and wonder that | cxperienced as | gazed
upon the huge movie screen above me, totally enveloped by
the introductory opening title: Unidentified Flving Objects:
TheTrueStory of Flving Saucers (shown in the upper right-
hand corner of the last /lUR cover). It absolutely capturced the
attention of that 10-year-old kid, who is now almost 60, and
still tascinated by the subject ot UFOs, and still entertained
by this grand old black-and-white tlick. My thanks to Robert
Barrow!

Peter Resta
Arnold. Marviand

LOOKING FOR ARNOLD

To the editor:

[ am trying to trace the daughter of the late Kenneth
Arnold. I hope to make the definitive documentary on the
late Kenneth Arold and cement his rightful place in
ufological history. His daughteris Kim Arnold Purvis.

If youknow where I can contact Kim Purvis, or know
ot'anyone who might be able to help me locate her, [ would
be grateful. Pleasewritetome: PhilipMantle, 49 East Leigh
Drive, Tingley, Near Wakefield, West Yorkshire, WF3 | PF
England. E-mail: philip@mantle8353.fsworldco.uk.

Philip Mantle
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THE BriTISH MOD SsTUDY:
ProJEcT CONDIGN

BY DAVID CLARKE AND GARY ANTHONY

Condign,ad]. Severe and well deserved (usually of punish-
ment). —Concise Oxford Dictionary

arly in May 2006 we revealed to the world’s

media the existence ot a secret study of UFOs,

codenamed “Condign,” commissioned by the

UK Ministry ot Detence (MoD). The discovery
of the study’s four-volume report, completed in February
2000, was the culmination of almost 18 months of investi-
gative research involving a team of Britain’s most experi-
enced UFO researchers.'

The story made news headlines around the world, but
the superficial nature of the coverage can be summarized by
the headline of the London Sunday Times, May 7, 2006:
“Sorry ET—you’re just a puff ot plasma.” At our press
conference, held the following day in London, it quickly
became apparent that the news media were happy to base
their coverage of the MoD study upon the contents of the
Executive Summary alone. Few journalists had the time to
scrutinize the 465 pages of the mainbody of the report when
the tull contents werereleased on the MoD website shortly
atter our announcement.

Thereaction of utologists was equally superficial, with
dismissive cries of whitewash, garbage, and disinformation
widely disseminated across the internet, even before the
complete text was available. Unfortunately, in the clamor to
express an opinion and take a position, a number of com-
mentators overlooked the historical signiticance of the
discovery and its more interesting contents and findings.

The key finding from the perspective of ufology is
expressed intheintroductiontothestudy,wherethereport’s
author states that it is an indisputable fact that some UFOs,
or UAPs (Unidentified Aerial Phenomena) as they are
described throughout the report, are generated by an un-
known phenomenon. As British skeptic John Rimmer
commented, “Isn’tthiswhatutologistshave beenwantingto

David Clarke is a senior lecturer in journalism at Sheffield
Hallam University, UK, where he teaches research tech-
nigues and use of the Freedom of Information Act legisla-
tion. Gary Anthony is an amateur astronomer firom York-
shire who has been interested in the UFO phenomenon for
20 years.

hear [from official studies] for years?”?

That may well be the case, but it seems the negative
reaction was mainly because the report’s author concluded
there is no evidence this “phenomenon’ has an extraterres-
trial source. He attributes the residue ot unexplained
incidents to “natural, but relatively rare phenomena.”
Some of'these are well known, if little understood, such as
ball lightning. Others, such as atmospheric plasmas, “are
still barely understood™ and the report makes it clear that
“the conditions and method of formation of the electri-
cally-charged plasmas and the scientific rationale tfor
sustaining them for significant periods is incomplete and
not tully understood.”

Nevertheless, this finding and additional speculation
concerning the possible eftects of plasma-related magnetic
and electric tields on humans became the tfocus ot all the
subsequent mediaandufological discussion. Howeverflawed
these tfindings may be, the tactthata study ot thismagnitude
was commissioned by the UK government as recently as
1996 must be significant. During the course ot the study, the
British government continued tomaintain, in public atleast,
that they had no interest in UFOs. Indeed, they insisted on
anumberofoccasions,bothin parliamentary answersand in
statements issued to the media, that they had never carried
out any detailed examination of the phenomenon.

The fact that the report was commissioned at all raises
anumberof questions. At tace value the study was commis-
sionedtodetermine, once and forall,itthe UFO phenomenon
posed any form of threat to UK national security. The main
outcome, as would be expected, was to support the MoD’s
policy—whichhasremained consistent for more thanhalta
century—that UFOs, whatever their origin, were “of no
detence significance.”

Why then, atter years ot playing down UFOs, did the
MoD decide at this late stage to commission a study,
however incomplete or inadequate, into the phenomenon?
Andit'there was nothing to hide, why was the study carried
out in great secrecy and only uncovered as a result ot our
sleuthing using Britain’s new Freedom of Information leg-
islation?

This article will attempt to answer some of these ques-
tions. We first summarize the nature ot the MoD’s interest
inUFOs. Wewillthen explainindetailhow wecame tolearn
ot the report’s existence and how we obtained it, drawing
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uponoriginal MoD documentation released to us under the
FOIA. Finally, we will look at the contents of the report
itself, the sources used by the author, and the scientific
credibility of the conclusions and recommendations.

THe MoD, FOIA, ano UFOs

The very existence ot the UK MoD report would have
remained a secret if our team had not persisted in efforts over
anumber of years to gain access to otficial records on UFOs
withheld tromthe public under Britain’s stiflingsecrecy laws.
Before the millennium, the UK government’s intercst in
UFOs had remained obscured by the shadow ot the more
extensive and highly public USAF Project Blue Book. Betore
the publication of the Colorado University study (the “Condon
Report™) brought the USAFs public responsibility tor UFO
reports to an end in 1969, British Air Ministry policy on the
subject was heavily influenced by the USAF and CIA.

For decades, tew details of the Air Ministry’s own
interest in UFOs emerged into the public domain. This was
partly because ot a decision taken as early as 1952 or 1953
to play down the subject. The fact that the Air Ministry,
which became part of an expanded Ministry of Detence in
1964, maintainedan otfice in Whitehall thatdealt with UFO
reports as part of a range of other duties has been public
knowledge for decades. What has remained a mystery was
the cxtent of the MoD’s investigations and research. For
years, letters from civilian UFO researchers to Whitehall
wentunanswered or were stonewalled, andeven MPs found
it difficult to discover anything substantive about the
Ministry’s policy on the subject.

This situation did not arise because ot'a “‘conspiracy ot
silence™ concerning UFOs in particular. For much of the
Cold War, Britain’s secrecy laws covered every single
aspect of thc Whitehall machinery. Before the mid-1990s,
the Public Records Act, which kept all ofticial papers secret
for a minimum ot 30 years, and the Ofticial Secrets Act,
which prevents military and civil servants from speaking in
public on any topic, ensured nothing signiticant could leak
out of the MoD machine.

As a result, betore 1994 it was virtually impossible to
obtainaccesstoany UK government files until 30 years atter
action on them was finalized. However, under an initiative
pioneered under the Major administration a limited right of
access to government documents was introduced. This
allowed researchers to gain access to a certain amount of
material previously withheld. It was the proactive use of this
legislation that allowed us to obtain early release of MoD
filesonthe Rendlesham Forest incidentandthereport by the
Flying Saucer Working Party during 2001-2002.3

Since 2005, researchershave had anew weaponto help
them access otticial information. The Freedom of Informa-
tion Act has brought to light masses ot information held by
ofticial agencies on UFOs and other unexplained phenom-
ena. And it was through careful use ot the FOI that we
uncovered the existence of the MoD study and obtained a

full copy after lengthy negotiations with the department
concerned.

ON THE TRAIL OF CONDIGN

The existence of the study emerged from extensive contacts
we have had with desk staff at the Directorate of Air Staft
since 2000. DAS is the MoD secretariat currently respon-
sible for UFOs and is otten referred to as “the UFO desk.”
It is the most recent incarnation of the various secretariats
that have, since at least 1954, dealt with administrative tasks
in support ot the RAF. One of these is to act as the MoD’s
focal point for UFO inquiries from the public, the press, and
Members of Parliament. Since the 1950s this responsibility
has been held by a number of different branches, including
S6 (Air), S4 (Air), DS, and Sec(AS), the latter being the
name it used in 1991-1994 when Nick Pope was employed
as a desk officer there. Sec(AS) finally became DAS in yet
another Whitehall reshuftle late in the year 2000.

For many years, MoD has insisted that this secretariat
was the single and only branch with responsibility for UFO
reports, a task that took up only a fraction of its time. [t is
certainly true that DAS and its predecessors acted as a
public focal pointat MoD for UF O matters. However, inside
the confines of Whitehall, DAS was just one of a number of
more specialist MoD branches whose job it was to assess
any defense or intelligence implications ot UFO sightings at
a much higher level of security clearance. The most secre-
tiveandshadowyot'thesebranchesis the Defence Intelligence
Staft (DIS) whose space weapons section, DI5S5, has been
responsible tor assessing the “scientific and technical”
aspects ot UFO reports since 1967. The fact that DI5SS
played a role in the study of UFOs did not emerge publicly
until 1986 when a standard MoD UFO report form that
contained an internal distribution list was released (Figurc
1). Such lists were normally cdited from forms released to
the public, but in this case a clerical error revealed the true
cxtent of the ministry’s involvement.

In July 2001, we asked DAS if DIS5 continued to keep
records or tiles on UFOs. The answer was: ““As part of the
MoD’s assessment ot aerial sightings, [UFO] reports were
copied [by the Air Statt Secretariat] . . . to [a branch of] the
Directorate of Intelligence Scientificand Technical (DIST).
Towards the end 0t 2000, DIST decided that these reports
were of no defence interest and should no longer be sent to
them. The branch still retains filcs containing reports re-
ccived up to 4 December 2000.™

Following up this intriguing response, we asked the
MoD to clarify the current position and were told that for
more than 30 years UFO reports had been routinely copied
to DISS “in case they contained any information of value
relating to their primary role ot analysing the performance
and threat ot foreign weapons systems, nuclear, chemical
and biological weapons programmes and emerging tech-
nologies.” However, towards the end of 2000 they had
decided these reports were “no longer valuable™ and should
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1. Date, Time

& Duration of Sighting 262050 Local Apr 93 several minutes

2. Descripson of Object
(No of objects, size,
shape, colour, brightness)

Like a puff of cloud, then circular, very light with ared light
flashing (note - crossing from right to left)

8 Location, indoor/outdoor, Outside
stationary/moving
4. How observed (naked eye, naked eye

binoculars, other optical device,
still or moving)

F]

3 Direction in which object first seen  Going from Wimbledon towards Roehampton
(A landmark may be more useful than
a badly estimated bearing

6. Angle of Sight (Estimated heights  Not known
are unreliable)

% Distance (By referencetoa None estimated
known landmark)

8. Movements (Changes in 5,6 & 7 .
may be of more use than estimates Seemed to be about the speed of an aircraft
of course and speed)

5. Met conditions during observations Clear sky
(Moving clouds, haze, mist etc)

10. Nearby objects (Telephone lines, high Nothing of note
voltage lines, reservoir, lake or dam,
swamp or marsh, river, high buildings,
tall chimneys, steeples, spires, TVY or
radio masts, airfields, generating plant,
factories, pits or other sites with floodlights
or night lighting)

1. To whom reported (Police, military, press etc) AFDO

12. Name & Address of Informant
KHXHX KK AXK

5. 40
XX KX XX XK K just off Wimbledon Common

UK EYES ONLY
: Page B-1

Fig. 1. Standard UAP report form used by the Air Ministry and MoD.
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13. Background of Informant that may be volunteered
Sensible, was partially mollified by the Airship Ford Mondeo

14. Other Witnesses

15. Date, Time of Receipt (in AFOR)
261955Z Apr 93

16. Any Unusual Meteorological Conditions

17. Remarks

Would have believed the Airship Ford Mondeo but for the fact that we were told it was
operating in the Iiford/Romford area. May we have a Telephone No for the operators of
the airship so that we may check its operating area? That would be very helpful.

XK X X XXX S.40

Date: 26 Apr93 - RO2
Duty Operations Officer
Air Force Operations .

Distribution:

Sec(AS)2, Room~&X Main Building

AEW/Y, Roomxxx Main Building -+ not ralevant
DI 55, Room XXX Metropole Building

File D/AFOPS/2/5/1

NB. Please note that the format of this form accords with Civpol formats

TO ALL AFDOS; PLEASE USE THIS AS A MASTER COPY AND IMMEDIATELY ON OPENING USE THE "SAVE
AS " FUNCTION TO MAKE A COPY FOR THE ACTUAL REPORT! SORRY BUT IT WAS NOTPOSSIBLETO PUT
THIS REMARK AT THE START OF THE REPORT,AS IF TRIED ALLTHE BLOCK SETTINGS ARE DESTROYED!!!

UK EYES ONLY
UK RESTRICTED Page B-2

s | e

Fig. 1 (continued). UAP report form.
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no longer be sent to them.

This decision was a surprising one. In eftect it marked
the end ot the Defence Intelligence Stat'f’s involvement in
UF Omatters. Their interestcould be tracedall the way back
to the deliberations of'the Flying Saucer Working Party and
the report they produced which was used to briet Prime
Minister Winston Churchilltfollowing the Washington,D.C.,
UFO flap in 1952. What possibly could have happened in
2000 to lead them to decide the phenomenon was of no
further defense interest?

As we puzzled over this question, weagreed such a final
policy decision must have been based on a study ot some
kind. So early in 2005 we decided to use the UK’s newly
arrived Freedom ot Information Act (FOIA), to request
copies of correspondence between DI55 and the civilian
“UFO desk™ from the relevant period, circa 1997-2000.

We were already aware from other released material
thata “policy review” on UFOs had been carried out by the
MoD in January 1997. This led us to suspect that whatever
had caused DIS5 to abandon UFO work may berevealed in
thecorrespondence generated by this review. Asaresult, in
August 2005 a number o MoD documents were released
under the FOIA. Thesc dated back to 1993 and included a
copy ot'a minute dated December 4, 2000, that announced
the completion of the DIS5 study (Figure 2). The security
classification ot'thisdocumentwas*“Secret,” with the caveat
“UK Eyes Only,” but even this information was withheld
until release on appeal early in 2006 (see Appendix B).

In many ways these background documents were
more interesting than the contents ot the report itself.
They revealed how since the 1960s UFO reports received
by the MoD had been routinely copied to a range of
specialist branches. In addition to Sec(AS) or DAS—the
supposed “focal point™—all reports were copied to DI5S5
andvarious RAF units dealingwithair defenseandradar.
It was these specialist branches that were responsible tor
making further inquiries into cases deemed to be of
defense interest.

These documents reveal a significant tact which is
crucial to any critical evaluation of the credibility ot the
report’s conclusions. This is the lack ot any in-depth inves-
tigations carried out by the MoD. After 1967, when the last
tield investigations were carried out into UFO reports, none
ot these branches were allowed to follow up reported
sightings or interview witnesses. This procedure, which
would appearto be essential for any serious appraisal of the
phenomenon, was strictly ruled out as it was deemed to
contradictpublic statements that MoD had no interest in the
subject. Indeed, one document notes that tor a period of
more than 20 years, due to pressure on stattresources, UFO
reports copied to DISS had been simply glanced at, then
filed away.

The basic source material utilized by the report’s author
was, theretore, limited to a standard report form thathadbeen
usedby the Air Ministry and MoD since atleast 1953 (Figure
I, pp. 5-6). In Volume | of the Condign report he writes:

In the 1950s, the then Air Ministry produced a “mini-
mum format,” onepage, “UFO" reporting procedure for
both public and military reporting of the phenomena.
This procedure has remained unchanged and all event
analysis in this report is based on an analysis of a
voluminous paper database, which spans about 25 years.
Further, it is not within the remit ot the department to
pursue witnesses to elicit any further information be-
yond that which they have provided to the MoD on the
standard form. This information source has many inad-
equacies—and much of the initial work concentrated on
the conversion of this material into computer database
format.

What also emerges from the report is that neither DISS
or any other MoD branch had carried out any study, other
than a basic numerical listing, of the thousands of reports
they had received since the 1950s. Even worse, record-
keeping was so poor that desk oftficers were unaware of
work carried out on the subject in the past in all but the
vaguest terms. Large collections ot sighting reports and
correspondence, including intelligence reports, had been
routinely destroyed at five-year intervals until 1967 as they
were deemed to be of “transient interest.” As a result,
relevant papers, such as that by the Flying Saucer Working
Party, had been “lost” in the defense archives tor decades.
Ironically, the six-page report summarizing the Working
Party’s tindings was not discovered in MoD archives until
2001 asadirectresult ot ourrequests, almost a year after the
Condign report’s author had completed his study!

Thislevel ot interdepartmental ignorance is highlighted
by a Sec(AS) file note trom 1995 that sums up the MoD’s
knowledge of its own work on UFOs as tollows: “Essen-
tially, we don’tdo research into the phenomena; we haven’t
done any; weonly wouldifthere were some good reason for
doing so—i.e., evidence of a threat. [t remains the case that
nothreathasbeendiscerned which has been attributed to an
unidentitfied tlying object.”

Several attempts had been made pre-1996 to pressure
the MoD into carrying out a study of UFOs. The most
significant occurred during the UFO flap of 19671968,
which saw a substantial increase in the number ot reports
received by Whitehall. As aresult, the Ministry found itself
particularly vulnerable to pressure fromthe press, from MPs
and Peers of the Realm, many of them encouraged by
ufologists. Theideatorastudy at this stage was abandoned
when the negative conclusions of the Colorado University
team, commissioned by the USAF, were published in 1969.
The MoD was then able to claim that the U.S. investigation
supported their informal conclusion that UFO reports did
not represent a defense threat. They argued thatany British
study was likely to duplicate the USAF findings and would
therefore constitute a waste ot public money.

Unlike the USAF, however, in 1970 the MoD decided
to continue to receive UFO reports but would not commit
any resources to investigate them unless a threat to UK
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detenses was identified. A Imost two decades later in 1 986,
under great secrecy, statt in a scientific support branch,
Science 3(RAF), drew up a plan to produce a computerized
database ot'the thousands of UFO reports they had on file.
They feltthiscouldhelp other branches categorize sightings
and answer queries tfrom the public. This proposal was
supported by DIS5. But when news of the plan leaked to
Sec(AS) in February 1988, officials were turious and de-
manded that all work on the database stop. A handwritten
note trom the head ot Sec(AS) tfound in policy documents
released in 2005 reads: . . . spoke to [Science 3] explaining
that this could be very embarrassing for us and urging
caution. It is exactly what we (and Ministers) have been
saying tor years we do not do, and could not justify!”

Asaresultofthisintervention, the D155 ofticer backed
down and senta memo to the Director General ot Scientific
and Technical Intelligence (DGSTI) on March 11, 1988,
which read, “I understand that when Sec(AS) heard about
the study, they decreed that all work should cease as it was
in contravention of Ministerial statements to the ettect that
UFOs did not pose a threat to the UK, and that resources
would not be diverted from more important work to inves-
tigate UFO incidents.”

Fortunately, the impetus to produce a databasc of cases
that could tform the basis tor a detinitive study did not end
with this shametul episode. Curiously, it was DI55 who
continued to champion the cause for a fully funded study of
UFOs in the face of continued attempts by the UFO desk—
Sec(AS) —to place obstacles in its path. On June I, 1993,
the DI55 desk ofticer wrote to his new opposite number in
Sec(AS)2a, Nick Pope, who was already noted as being
moresympathetic to the subjectthanhis predecessors: “You
may be interested to hear that at long last [ have had some
funds allocated for serious UFO research. The study will
include a review of our data, the construction of'a database,
a detailed review of specified incidents and recommenda-
tions for the future. . .. Needless to say we do not want this
broadcast and it is for your information only.”

Of interest here is the original intention to include
within the context ofa tully funded study “‘a detailed review
ot specified incidents.” This seemingly fundamental re-
quirement was removed from the Terms of Reference at a
later stage, apparently for financial reasons. A follow-up
minute from DI55 to Sec(AS), dated October 18, 1993,
underlines their determination to undertake the study: “A
cursory glance at [our] files indicates that over the years a
large amount of data has been accumulated. We have never
therefore established it UAP’s exist and, it they do, whether
or not they pose a defence threat to the UK. Some recent
events, and a cursory examination of the files indicate that
the topic may be worthy ot a short study.”

In short, by the mid-1990s with public interest in UFOs
running at an all-time high, D155 felt the MoD was particu-
larly vulnerable if closely questioned on their standard line
that UFOs were of no detense significance. They believed it
would be difficultto sustainthis position ifthey were forced

to admit that no study had ever been carried out. Ina 1997
internal exchange concerning the nature of DIS5’s interest
in UAPs, this dilemma is summarized as follows: *“The lack
otf'evidence to date in DIS onthe extraterrestrial hypothesis
has to reflect the tact that we have not carried out any
analysis.”

This concern is in effect the genesis of the decision to
commission the Condign study. In support ot the idea ot a
UK study, a D1 otticial added: **l am aware, through intelli-
gence sources, that Russia believes that such phenomena
exist and has a small team studying them. I am also aware
thatan informal group exists in the US intelligence commu-
nity and it is possible that this retlects a more formal
organisation. . .. It is difficult to meet our remit ot advising
on possible threat implications since we have never studied
the topic of UAPs.”

However, despiteitsinitial optimism DI55 saiditcould
not atford to divert any ot its desk oftficers to examine UFO
files “to determine whether we should apply any significant
eftort to the matter.” They went on to propose the employ-
ment of an outside contractor—a person “well known to
DI155"—who could be of fered the task as an extension on an
existing defense contract. This would, they said, avoid
having to put the project out to tender which “would poten-
tially expose the study to too wide an audience . . . since a
potential exists for political embarrassment.”

D155 attached a dratt copy ot the proposed contract for
the UFO study which specitied the employment of**a degree
level engineer, witha [technical intelligence?] background,
to prepare an Unidentified Aerial Phenomena (UAP) data-
base.” Even at this early stage the project hit a tamiliar
obstacle—cuts in defense tunding—and the initiative did
not go ahead. DISS made two further attempts in 1995 to
gain approval for tunding, but the timing clashed with the
onset of a Defence Study deemed more important than
UFOs, and the project was shelved yet again.

THE CONDIGN REPORT

Atter three years of prevarication, on December 11, 1996,
DISS tinally wrote to their favored contractor asking him to
initiate a computerized database of their UFO records. He
wasgiven completeaccessto the department’s UFO records,
which included 22 files dating back to the mid-1970s. The
database, they stipulated, should include at the minimum,

* an event number for each incident

* details of location(s) including any potential mili-
tary or economic targets

* times and dates

* witness details

* categorizationoftheevent(e.g., aircraft/space junk/
hoax/unidentitied)

* anypossibleexplanation, such as military exercises.

This contract (NNR2/366) formed the “Terms of Ref-
erence” tor the UAP project, which was included as an
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appendix to the final report. At this stage DI55 warned the
contractor, “because of the sensitivity of this activity itmost
[sic] be conducted on a strict need-to-know basis at
SECRET UK EYES B level. The activity will be known as
PROJECT CONDIGN.”

Much speculationhassurroundedthemeaningot*Con-
dign,” with connections made to the USAF project Sign and
the University of Colorado Condon report. One definition of
Condign, cited earlier in this article, refers to a punishment
welldeserved. This may be areference tothe MoD’sattitude
to the “UFO problem,” as they described it. Publicly they
insist that Condign, as in the case with other codenames for
MoD projects, was a randomly generated word and any
connections with Condon are “purely coincidental.”

Theidentity ofthe contractor whocarried out the study
and producedthereportremains unknown. The MoD say his
identity, or that of the company he worked tor, cannot be
revealed underanexemption tothe FOIA which protectsthe
details of defense contractors. This exemption is currently
the subject of an appeal to the Information Commissioner
who has the power to order the MoD to reveal information
it he decides the relcase ot the information is in the public
interest.

The documents released by the MoD do provide a
limited insight into the background ot the report’s author,
whom we hencetorth designate “Mr. X.” They reveal he has
abackground in the RAF and technical intelligence and had
been called upon by the MoD to ofter expert advice on UFO
reports on a number of occasions in the past. He may also
have had a personal experience of his own, which he
revealed when discussing the standard MoD UFO question-
nairc that he says was “invented” in the 1950s, adding: “I
knowbecause I filled oneinmyselfafterasortiewhenflying
in the RAF at the time.”

In the same memo, addressed to M. J. Fuller at Sec(AS)
anddated January 22,1997, Mr. X emphasized thathe wished
to keep ““a low protile,” writing to Sec(AS) as follows: “as
[deleted] one could imagine the embarrassment to [deleted]
if my activities were media knowledge—especially as they
would undoubtedly soon link these with my other known
activities on . . . and probably connect my long-standing
involvement with DIS5—which we also wish to avoid.”

It was only as a result of this correspondence between
Fuller and Mr. X early in 1997 that Sec(AS) tirst learned
that DIS5 was now working on a detailed study of the
contents of its UFO archive. This revelation came at
precisely the time when Sec(AS) had embarked upon a
review of its UFO policy. The review itself was a result of
the mounting workload generated during 1996-1997 by
inquiries from the media and public following anumber of
high-profile UFO stories. The review was aimed at clari-
fying the MoD’s role in UFO matters and reducing its
workload on the subject. As a result, from May 1997
Sec(AS) agreed tocontinuecopyingreportstoDISSandto
Air Defence statf. However, only those which Sec(AS)
judged to be well documented, corroborated, and timely

would be passed to specialist staffs in the tuture.

These documents reveal much about the compartmen-
tal mindset that operates within the MoD, where it is quite
possible for one department to be unaware of work being
carried out by another at a higher security level. They also
givethelie toclaimsthatthecivilian UFO desk wasthe focal
point tor what Nick Pope has described as “the British
Government’s UFO Project.” The newly released docu-
ments provide unambiguous evidence that, since 1995,
Sec(AS) (renamed DAS in 2000), were out ot the loop and
were not involved at any stage in the study or production of
the report.

According to the DIST minute of December 4, 2000,
announcing completion of the study (Figure 2, pp. 10-11),
only the Director General (Research and Technology) along
with DI55 and DI51 received copies of all four volumes.
The UK Air Deftence Ground Environment (UKADGE)
received the Executive Summary and Volume 3, which
contains “sensitive” material related to the limitations of
UK radar in the detection ot UAPs.” Summaries otthe UAP
report were sentto the Deputy Chief ot Defence Intelligence
(DCDI), to the Inspectorate ot Flight Satety (RAF), and to
HQ MATO (Military Air Traftic Organisation, RAF
Uxbridge).

The DIST minute revealed that DIS5 had concluded
sighting reports provided nothing of value in its assessment
of*threat weapons systems.” Asaresult, the departmenthad
decided to ““carry out no further work on the subject [of
UAPs]"and added, “while most of the report is classitied at
only RESTRICTED UKEO [see Appendix B] we hardly
need remind addressees ot the media interest and conse-
quently the sensitivity of the report. Please protect
accordingly, and discuss the report only with those who
have a need to know.”

Sec(AS)—renamed DAS in 2001—was conspicuous
by itsabsence from this privileged distribution list. Presum-
ably this was because someone at a higher level in the
peckingorder feltthey had no *‘need to know.” This decision
may well be a direct result of the activities of the former
Sec(AS) desk officer Nick Pope, who had gone public with
hispro-UFO beliefs in 1996, aperiodthatcoincided withthe
doubling of the workload for the UFO desk statt.

We asked DAS staft how, it they were notincluded in
the distribution ot'the report, they learned ot DIST’s deci-
sion. The reply, dated November 23, 2005, stated: “[We]
have searched our UFO Policy file for the period and there
is no document specifically concerning thisissue. [We] can
therefore only assume that we were informed by telephone.”

So much for claims that Sec(AS) was the central focal
point for all UFO matters within the Ministry of Defence!

UAPs IN THE UK AIR DEFENCE REGION

Thereport’s Executive Summary opens with this unequivo-
cal statement: “That [UFOs] exist is indisputable. Credited
with the ability to hover, land, take-ott, accelerate to excep-
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L.OOSE MINUTE
DIDIST/INYO /56 /H 13
4 December 2000

DCDI

DG(R&T)

ADGE

IFS(RAF) (FS ATC)

HQ MATO (OPS (LF) 1)
AD/DI51

Copy to: AD/DISS

UNIDENTIFIED AERTAL PHENOMENA (UAP) — DISS REPORT

1. The DIS has received copics of UAP sighting reports from Sec(AS) for about 30 years. Until
recently these have been filed with only a cursory look at the contents by DI55 to discover whether
anything of intelligence value could be detesinined. However, it was obvious that any valuc from the
sighting data could only be derived by carrying out a Study of a significant sample of the reports.
Consequently, over the past 2 years DISS, under low priority tasking, has compiled a database of
information taken from reports received between 1987 and 1997, and has carried out an analysis
based on data statistics. A report is now available. With the exception of DG(R&T), who receives
the full report, other addressees are being provided with the Executive Summary only, which details

the main findings of the Study. Should you require the full report, or parts of it, contact details are
given on page 3 of the Summary.

2% The main conclusion of the Study is that the sighting reports provide nothing of value to the
DIS in our assessment of thrcat weapon systems. Taken together with other evidence, we believe that
many of the sightings can be cxplained as: mis-reporting of man-made vchicles; natural but not
unusual phenomena, and natural but relatively rare and not completely understood phenomena. It is
for these reasons that we have taken the decision to do no further work on the subject and will no
longer receive copies of sighting reports.

3¢ In addition to this ma jo'r conclusion, however, the study produced subsidiary findings which
will be of int&rest to addressees. The potential explanations of UAP sightings, the characteristics of
natural atmospheric phenomena and the consequences of sightings from aircraft will be of interest
to those responsible for flight safety. Sirnilarly the characteristics of some of the phenomena with
respect to their detection on UKADR systems will be of interest to both the ADGE and flight safety
staff. Finally, DG(R&T) will be interested in those phenomena associated with plasma forinations,
which have potential applications to novel weapon tcchnology.

4. Although we intend to carry out no further work on the subject, we would value any comments
you may wish to make on the report. Please direct such comments to AD/DISS. Finally, while most
of the report is classified at only RESTRICTED UKIO, we hardly nced remind addressees of the
media interest in this subject and consequently the sensitivity of the report. Please protect this subject

| I e
| “SECREPUKEYESONLY - = = |

Fig. 2. DIST minute of December 4, 2000, announcing Condign Report.
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Fig. 2 (continued). DIST minute of December 4. 2000, announcing Condign Report.

tional velocities and vanish, they can reportedly alter their
direction of flight suddenly and clearly can exhibit acrody-
namic characteristics well beyond those of any known
aircraft or missile—ecither manned or unmanned.”

Throughout the report, Mr. X refers to UFOs as UAPs
or Unidentified Acrial Phenomena (sce Appendix A for an
cxplanation) and says that, while they most detinitely exist,
“there isnoevidencethatany UAP,seeninthe UKADR [Air
Defence Region] are incursions by air objects ot any intel-
ligent (cxtra-terrestrial or forcign) origin, or that they
represent any hostile intent.”

Significantly, drawing upon his access to the contents
of the D155 UFO archive, the author adds: “No artefacts of
unknown or unexplained origin have been reported or
handed to the UK authoritics, despite thousands of UAP
reports. There are no SIGINT, ELINT orradiation measure-
ments and little useful video or still IMINT.” SIGINT is
signals intelligence, ELINT is electronics intelligence, and
IMINT is imagery intelligence.

The study does not attempt to investigate any specific
UAP incidents in depth. This disappointing outcome 1s a
direct result ot the decision to reduce the ““terms of refer-
cnce” trom the original 1993 proposal, which as we have
scen did include “a detailed review ot specitied incidents™
within its remit.

THE UAP DATABASE

Mr. X single-handedly input basic data tfrom various time
periods covering approximately 25 years into a Microsoft
Accesscomputerdatabase. One of these periods spanned 10
years from 1987 to 1997. This span, along with two clusters
from 1988 and 1996, were then statistically analyzed, along
with the subsequent writing of the substantial 465-page

report, all in just over three ycars. Werequesteda processed
clectronic copy of the Condign UAP database, but the MoD
informed us thatas it was surplus to requircments it was
destroyed shortly after the study ended. However, from
Volume [, Annex D, it’s possible to see what this database
looked like. Whether it could or should be reconstructed
from MoD records, to tfollow the train of study, is arguable
for important points hereatter.

When eyewitness data is utilized in scientific experi-
ments it is usually obtained by face-to-face interview or
other qualitative methods. (The latter is also utilized eftec-
tively inlaw enforcement.) These ofterthe interviewerother
non-leading opportunitics to ask the witness to clear up
ambiguitics,observetraits, and clarity details without many
naturally indistinct phrases hindering the process. Some of
these could not be picked up on the telephone and theretore
subsequent errors arise.

Theveryquality ot data used as the basis of the Condign
study is therefore questionable. If a skilled rescarcher had
been employed to follow up samples of reports trom the
archive, oreven to gainaperspective on their reliability, this
mighthave improvedits credibility asa source. However, in
astatistical analysisinvolving thousandsotreports, without
such qualitative sampling, false representations will emerge
and these logically will lead to talse conclusions. The value
of'any statistical conclusion or scientitic examination rests
initially upon how carctully the data were acquired, their
quality, and who is doing the rescarch. To be fair to the
author, hedocsatlcast mention the limitations of statistical
analysis in Volume 1, Chapter 3, page 3. Bascd on the
inadequacies of theraw data used in the Condign study, poor
data in means poor data out, hence equally poor science.

Volume I, Chapter I, page 2 states: “Only UAP in the
UK Air Defence Region is used in database analysis, al-
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though the support of authoritative scientific reference
sources world-wide has been made to come to a considered
decisionasto the most likely causes of the phenomenon.” In
the preface appears the tollowing: . . . a rational scientitic
examination of the phenomena—based only on the raw
material—UK ADR incident reports.”

In the words of Isaac Koi, a commentator on Condign,
“If an analysis is to be pertormed then it should be per-
formed competently.” Therefore, the question might not
only be whether theraw material is sufficient for the task, but
was Mr. X qualified to undertake detailed analysis of this
type? In hisintroductionto Volume 1 of'the study, the author
says, “every effort has been made to take a wide systems
approach, to avoid over-focusing on single events.”” And he
adds, “There has been neither intention of debunking the
extraterrestrial lobby or of taking the opposite view—
except based on hard scientific evidence.”

Nevertheless,amere 15 pageslater, the extraterrestrial
hypothesis is dismisscd after data emerged that corrclated
UAPs with natural phenomena. As a result, the study con-
cludes that an ET origin for the residue of unidentitied
report is “very unlikely,” and the author adds: “Defence
intelligence interests will not [be] furthered by continued
investigations which focus on potential extra-terrestrial
sources.”

One ot the most serious tlaws in the report is that in
some places the basis on which Mr. X accepts some and
rejects other evidence is not apparent from the content
presented. We have identitied numerous assertions made
without reference to evidence or any torm of logic. To list
those here would be beyond the scope of this article, but it
is sufficient to note that there appears to be a large amount
ot speculation presented in the report as fact.

Volume 2 of the report is a hetty document entitled
“Information on Associated Natural and Man-Made Phe-
nomena.” It contains 25 working papers touching upon a
variety of important influences upon the UAP data. The
categories include:

I. UAP effects on humans, electrical/electronic equip-
ments and objects

2. Ball and bead lightning

Potential reasons tor higher densities of UAP

sightings

Afterimages as a result of tlashes of light

Detection of UAPs by radar

Exotic technologics

Sightline rules ot flying objects and meteorites

Rarity of UAP sound reports

9. Black and other aircraft programs as UAP events

Ley lines, earthlights, and UK taultlines

1. Collectedimagery and classification of UAP shapes

. Earth’s magnetic field in the UKADR

. Visual meteorological and other natural phenom-
ena

. Meteorological balloons

2
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15. Airships and hot-air balloons

16. Sunspot, aurora, and seismic correlations

17. Visual observation of satellites

18. Projected shapes/shadows, tluorescence, and lu-
minescence

19. Charged dust aerosols

20. Optical mirages

21. lonospheric plasma

22. Artifacts

23. Linked vortex rings

24. Sprites, elves, and blue jets

25. Overview of magnetic-field eftects on humans

Most of'the alleged scientific sources mentioned form
the basis ot the working papers in Volume 2, and it is
precisely these that represent likely causes for UAPs and
related phenomena. None ofthesephenomenaareunknown
to science. In fact, probably a number of readers might
confidently agrec that all ofthe above might be responsible
for proportions of'initially reported UFO sightingsthathave
been explained as misperceptions of man-made and natural
phenomena. The question remains: Do the working papers
cover all possibilities and could their attendant phenomena
and circumstance be responsible for a//UAPs or UFOs and
related phenomena?” The simple answer is no. We believe
there is room for other possibilities. Essentially Condign
doesn’t consider or mention all possible causes of UAP or
UFO sightings. Wc'll leave the reader to fill in any blanks.

More extraordinarily, in order to reach conclusions, as
faras we know this “*scientific” examination was completed
without undertaking any consultation with scientists in the
relevant fields connected with the working papers. Nor do
we have reason tosuppose this report wasexternally sent out
for scientific scrutiny. The secrecy factor is very pertinent
here and demonstrates how and why most of this exercise
was ineffective.

BLACK PROJECTS

One important category of influence listed in Volume 2 of
Condign is black aircraft programs. Working Paper 9,
classified as “NATO Restricted,” opens with the state-
ment, “It is acknowledged that some UAP reports can be
attributed to covert aircratt programmes—in which un-
usual air vehicles may be seen, either at the experimental
stage or in service.” The paper proceeds to describe a
number of black project shapes that it says are “frequently
reported as UAPs.” Those illustrated include both UAVs
and three manned U.S. projects: the 2,000-mph SR-71

Left to right: SR-
71, F-117, and B-2
Stealth bomber. =
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Blackbird, the F-117, and B-2 Stealth bomber. A 14-line
description of Program 2 and a 10-line description of
Program 3 havebothbeenwithheldunder Section27 ofthe
FOIA onthe grounds that itwas supplied in confidence by
“anothernation.” This exemptionisjustified onthe grounds
that “release . . . is likely to prejudice the future exchange
of such information and may also damage the UK’s rela-
tionship with that nation.”

In addition, the names ot both black programs have
been withheld along with two photographs thataccompany
the text. However, in Working Paper 6 (*Exotic Technolo-
gies”)appearstheline,“Theprojected (USAF)priorityplan
is to produce unpiloted air-breathing aircraft with a Mach 8-
12 capability and transatmospheric vehicles . . . as well as
highly supersonic vehicles at Mach 4 to 6.”

This intriguing reterence has led a number of British
media outlets, including BBC Newsnight and the London
Guardian, to speculate that one of the withheld photo-
graphs might be a picture of the infamous Aurora. There
has been much speculation about the existence and capa-
bilities ot this supposed hypersonic black project since the
early 1990s. While the U.S. authorities have denied such
an aircraftexists, sightings ot unusual aircraft shapes have
added to rumors that a secret aircraft exists that is capable
of flying at up to Mach 8. In summary, Mr. X notes that
from *“certain viewing aspects . . . these vehicles may be
described as “saucer like’—hence they are not ignored by
observers—as more conventional and familiar aircraft
shapes would be.”

PrLAsMAS, PLASMOIDS, AND EM EFFECTS

The study found that while it could rule outaliens and hostile
foreign aircraft, it could not fully account tor some of the
stranger UAP events. These reports, many of which are
made by credible witnesses, “are almost certainly attribut-
able to physical, electrical and magnetic phenomena in the
atmosphere, mesosphere and ionosphere” created by “‘more
than one set of weather and electrically charged conditions.”

Mr. X goeseven furtherby drawinguponthe controver-
sial research and conclusions of research carried out at
Laurentian University by Michacl Persinger. He finds merit
in the theory that plasmas orearthlights may explainarange
ofclose-encounter and even “alien abduction” experiences.
The report says that on rare occasions plasmas can cause
responses in the temporal-lobe area of the human brain,
leading observers to suffer extended memory retention and
repeat experiences. This, the report’s author believes, may
be “a key factor in influencing the more extreme reports
... [that] are clearly believed by the victims.”

We should stress that we do not accept these specula-
tions as being scientifically valid explanations of the
close-encounter experience. Though EM and other cortex
stimulation effects on humans may provide clues towards
the origin of some aspects ot alleged abduction phenomena
elements, we are not aware that any plasmas or “transients”

such as those described by Persinger have ever been de-
tected or measured in the environment, nor do we know of
any stimulipresentin the environmentcapable of producing
all such reported etfects.

There is a limited but growing body of research into
various alleged environmental EM and other pollution et-
fects on humans, animals, and plants covering a number of
manmade and other natural emission sources. However,
theserequire investigation in long-term studies in order that
datacan be established and some real scientific consensus to
develop. Until then, this field will remain curious and
controversial, replete with boastful and biased commentary
from its extremes.

A limited Google search onthe influence of microwave
mobile phone, relay, and transmitter pollution effects on
humans reveals the polarized nature of discourse on the
controversy. On one side are companies who promote the
emission or transmission technology. They claim it is per-
fectly safe and there is no evidence that any humans have
been harmed by exposure. On the other extreme are people
who claim they or their children havedevelopedeverything
from electrohypersensitivity to leukemia as a result of
proximity to ground waves from microwave relay masts (in
rare cases, either individually or in consortium, litigation is
involved).

Unfortunately, scientific groundwork that is indepen-
dent and unbiased is rare or difticult to locate. Otten it is
impossible to establish the objective tacts when so much
material is lost in an elcctronic fog. The best we can say is
yes, radiation affects people, but no one really knows yet
exactly towhatextent,or whomay be more or less sensitive.

Besides noctilucent clouds and auroral displays that
may explain some UFOs, there arc other dusty plasmas in
the Earth environment that may cause rare types of visual
luminescent phenomena that can be reported as UFOs.
However, until proper scientific detection and measure-
ment occur these explanations must remain only
hypothetical. As mentioned in the report, ball lightning
produced in a laboratory is just one example of one such
unproven possibility.

Since the report was released we have approached
more than 40 scientists from ditterent nationalities and
acrossarange ot disciplinesto obtain expert comment and
opinion on the findings of the Condign study. Approxi-
mately two-thirds were plasma physicists. Many are
unwilling to be publicly associated with the topic in any
shape or form. Here we have a pertect example of the
shyness often ascribed to scientists in the past when they
are asked to contribute a critique of a so-called scientitic
assessment of UFOs. However, on a positive note, and
despite requests for anonymity we have been provided
with comments, useful references, and suggestions. The
processisongoingand we intend to persist in our efforts to
involvepertinently qualified scientists inacomprehensive
review of all the Condign documents.

(continued on page 29)
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THE CORE PHENOMENON AND THE
SECONDARY PHENOMENON

BY JEROME CLARK

fUFOsightings existed ina vacuum—in other words,

without competing, comparably peculiar claims lit-

tered profusely throughout the long history of human

testimony—the hypothesis that extraterrestrial visi-
tors have found their way to earth in the past century or two
would be far easier to advance. Actually, once contrary
debunking counterexplanations had been disposed of, it
would be all but unavoidable.

Things, of course, are nowhere that simple. The world
has always burstat its seams with weird stuft which appcars
to challenge officially sanctioned knowledge. Ufology (not
to mention CUFOS) came to be because atter World War Il
flying saucers sounded like a signal—maybe a very distinct
signal—newly beamed from the constant background static
of extraordinary claims. To most of those who took the
reportsseriously, that “distinct signal™ was thought to herald
the sudden presence of intruders from interplanetary or
interstellar space.

To those who didn’t take the reports scriously, the

The first great modern anomalist, Charles Fort (1874—
1932), was also the first writer to propose a comprehensive
theory of interplanetary visitation. Fort forged that theory
out of more than reports of acrial oddities, though (as wc all
know) he was the pioncer, crcating ufology nearly three
decades before culturc embraced the conceptofalien {lying
objects. His own restless reading of ycllowed newspapers
and scientific journals had informed him that strange shapes
in the atmosphcre and beyond were not the sole weirdness
infesting the world.

Rather than present his findings as samples of random
oddities, he incorporated them-—his often tongue-in-check
prose masking genuine conviction—into a vision of extra-
terrestrial waytarers engaged in all kinds of baftling activi-
ties: dropping organic and inorganic substances out of the
blue, seeding the earth with mysterious archaeological arti-
facts, causing persons and vessels to vanish, and—not
incidentally—all the while being mistaken for ghosts, de-
mons, gods, fairics, and ocean-going saurians.

saucers were irksomely familiar, just the
usual tiresome nonsense in fresh, irritat-
ingly invigorated iteration. The particu-
lar form that ridicule adapted spoke to an
issue that would bedevil ufologists to this
day. The firstaccountsotfsaucersightings
had barely rolled off the presses before
scoffers werc linking saucers to mon-
sters, fairies, ghosts, and other fringe phe-
nomena that all serious persons knew to
be too fantastic and absurd to consider.
Readily identifiable as the hoary practice
known as guilt by association—and later
institutionalized by professional anomaly
basherssuch as Martin Gardner, author of

As press accounts from carly July
1947 record, Fortcans—aware that flying
saucers were notquite thenovel phenom-
enon naive journalists, witnesses, and the
public generally thought them to be—
immediately connccted the objects with
the otherworldly visitors Forthad written
about. By temperament Forteans tended
to be mystery-mongers and heterodox
thinkers. Unlike, say, Project Sign per-
sonncl, they did not judge the extraterres-
trial possibility to owe just to UFO
sightings, nor did they think that such
sightings were the only odd things hap-
pening on the planet.

the hugely influential Fads and Fallacies
in the Name of Science (New York: Do-
ver, 1957), which places UFOs in the company of various
outlandish heresies and swindles—the derision was predict-
able, in some ways empty, but not entirely meaningless.

Jerome Clark, aneditor of IUR, isauthor of the multivolume
UFO Encyclopedia (/990-71998), Unnatural Phenomena
(2005), and other books.

Charles Fort

The first magazine to feature saucer
material in virtually every issue, Fate
(whose initial issue saw print less than a year atter Arnold’s
encounter), also covered Fortean and psychic occurrences
and engaged in freewheeling occult-tinged speculation. It
covered N.Meade Layne and his San Diego-based Border-
line Sciences Research Associates, which propounded the
esoteric doctrine of etheric realms to which all manner of
anomalous appearances, including “ether ships™ (UFOs),
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couldbe traced. Mostreaders probably read Fate’s contents
indiscriminately, in the implicit assumption that one “true
mystery” is as good as another.

Not all early ufologists agreed. [fthey had, there would
have been no entity named ‘“‘ufology.” Many ufologists
devoted their entire (or at least published) attention to
UFOs, looking back at Fort for historical perspective on
aerial-phenomena reports. Virtually alone of his 1950s
contemporaries, on the other hand, M. K. Jessup addressed
Fortean anomalies directly and, like Fort, incorporated them
into an eccentric—Iless charitably: crank—theory of UFO
visitation.' Jessup insipidly conceived of sky falls as the
consequence of spills or drops from saucer hydroponics
tanks,and hisruminationsabout therelationship ofarchaeo-
logical artifacts and mysterious disappearances to UFOs
were no more richly inspired.

In the 1960s, all-encompassing paranormal specula-
tions challenged the ETH. There were two strains: John
Keel's (and subscquently Gordon Creighton’s) crude de-
monology and Jacques Vallee's more elegant effort to
incorporate UFO expcriences into broader, older traditions
of'supernatural belief and experience. Whatever their other
differcnces, both approaches implicitly assumed that UFOs
are notadiscrete phenomenon,just oneaspectotamultifac-
etedgenerating mechanism. A disciple of Layne and Trevor
James Constable, Keel identified that mechanism as the
etheric realm (which he renamed the *‘superspectrum™),
populated by fierce and treacherous forces. Vallee called
the mechanism the “control system™ and left it more or less
at that. In later years theorists such as Janet and Colin Bord,
Patrick Harpur, Kenncth Ring, Peter Rojcewicz,and Michael
Grosso put forth their own variations on these themes.

In due course more conservative, ETH-oriented
ufologists pushed back, arguing that paranormal theories
amounted to little more than magical thinking which could
only relegate ufology even further to the fringes. Moreover,
such theories failed to address such hard-core evidence as
instrumented observations, radar/visuals, and landing traces.
These critics insisted thatonly concentrated scientific atten-
tiontoincidents of this kind could resolve the UFO question,
citing, for example, the Trans-en-Provence case with its
impressively documented anomalous effects apparently tied
to an unknown, advanced technology. The debate fostered
a strange alliance as debunkers and paranormalists joined
forces to decree that the ETH is a priori impossible, the
plaything of fools and credophiles. Though this was and is
anargumentofdubious merit, itdoes underscore the curious
emotionality of some anti-ETH polemicists.

EVENTS AND THEIR EXPERIENTIAL
CORRELATES

If a comprehensive ETH, one that embraces everything
fromradar-tracked daylightdiscs and laboratory-documented
physical traces on one side to hairy bipeds and even more
esoteric entities on the other, seems a tall order, perhaps it

maybe wisetothinkofa*‘core phenomenon”anda*‘'second-
ary phenomenon.” The former is the “traditional” UFO
phenomenon, which is to say the thing, commencing with
the CE2/radar-visual and all such imply, that runs in an
ostensibly straight line from the Arnold era to the present,
the phenomenon that—as far as we can judge from the
limited evidence available to us (in good part because of
science’s neglect of eminently investigable data)—com-
prises structured craft with extraordinary performance char-
acteristics and humanlike and humanoid crews. (Whether
the latter are abducting human beings in the many thousands
is another matter, one we shall not take up here.)

The core phenomenon is an event phenomenon, the
secondary phenomenon an experience one. In other words,
the former is something that can be, or potentially can be,
shownto have happened in consensusreality. (“Potentially™
in this context means, for instance, alleged landing traces
which await proper scrutiny in the laboratory.) In the latter
category, encounters and observations are experientially
real—in other words, have the resonance of the genuinely
perceived and lived—but are otherwisc unprovable.

Experience anomalies are open-ended. Almost any-
thing can be “seen,” though cultural traditions play a large,
in some ways determining, role in shaping their particular
content. In experience, individuals perceive supernatural or
at least unlikely entities like fairies, merbeings, angels,
gods, and monsters. Credibility of these “observations”
dependson witness sincerity (and sanity, obviously)and on
the specific circumstances of the incident. [t goes without
saying that something unusual perceived up close in broad
daylight is more likely to be genuinely anomalous than
somcthing glimpsed ambiguously in the distance at night.

Letusbeclearhere: Thesearenothallucinations by any
conventional definition. These encounters are truly, pro-
foundly mysterious, and their cause or stimulus is unknown
(thus the only conventionalistoption is to ascribe themall to
misperception, lies, and mental disorders sometimes in-
vented on the spot for the purposc). Yet, to all available
appearances, sincere witnesses and good viewing condi-
tions that enhance confidence in the anomalousness of the
observation do not translate into anything that transcends
testimony and memory.? We barely have a vocabulary with
which to discuss such matters, though perhaps *““visionary”
comes closest, even if it is merely descriptive and not, as
some presume, explanatory.

Experience anomalies, protean in nature, are variable,
changingovertimeand geography. In transitionalhistorical
and cultural periods, they may fuse motifs in curious ways.
One dramatic episode from the early 20th century melds at
least three elements.

Theincidentallegedlytook place—contemporary press
accounts are vague about the date—sometime in June 1907.
“Near the Dikeman springs,” somewhere in Tennessee (the
story was first published in the Nashville Tennessean), one
Walter Stephenson wasresting on a log after an exhausting
hunt with his hounds. His eye fell upon a speck—a kite, he
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judged—toward the eastern horizon. He looked away but
soon heard awhirring sound whichcausedhimtoseethatthe
object, now almost directly overhead, was no kite but a
“huge balloon . .. of a pattern he had never in his life before
seen.” As it circled overhead a few times, eerily lovely
music could be heard emanating from it. Soon the airship
landed, and *“‘strange people ™ stepped out of the car, “which
was closely curtained with a substance that fairly glistened
in the sunshine thatburst through the obscuring clouds.” The
ship’s occupants—the published account implies that their
faces were covered without stating so directly—walked to
the spring and knelt there as if in prayer for a minute or so.

Stephenson watched them from a short distance. When
their apparcnt worship ritual was over, he asked the strang-
ers who they were and why they were here. One of the crew
lifteda veil, revealing the “benign face ot'a lady,” who asked
him—in German—if he had prayed. ““Instantly,” the press
account reports, “all were aboard, the airship rose, circled
about for a minute or more, and was gone in a westerly
direction. Mr. Stephenson states that the incident left an
impression upon him that he can never forget, and while he
knows that it was some human invention, it looked and the
music sounded more like that of angels than of mortals.™

If experience anomalies adapt themselvestoaculture’s
idea of supernatural or extraordinary encounters, this one
conjures up divine entities (angels and even, by one reading,
the Blessed Virgin Mary), secret airship pilots, and—look-
ing forward—UFOs in the modern sense.’ Notions of ex-
traordinary encounters in some instances may also, of
course, have as their inspiration the sorts of real, this-world
encounters whose contents are sufficiently exotic and enig-
matic as to border on the fantastical.

Though poorly understood, ball lightning is a no longer
disputed physical occurrence, but it has its correlates in the
liminal zone of anomalous experience. The sociologist
James McClenon has noted that an “effect that occurred
during an electrical storm would be termed *ball lightning.’
... Other cases with the exact same appearance but occur-
ring in other circumstances would be called UFOs, psychic
lights, or will-o’-the-wisps.™ In such contexts balls ot light
may act purposefully, as if endowed with intelligence and
able to perform fantastic feats such as (in the testimony of
one individual McClenon interviewed) the opening of and
passing through locked windows.*

Ball lightning was once as outré, and for some of the
same reasons, as UFOs and cryptozoological entities such
as Sasquatch. The “corc phenomenon™ of ball lightning is
knowneven as itspins offsecondary, profoundly anomalous
experiential phenomena. Could one day UFOs—the prod-
ucts of an advanced technology created (one presumes) in
othersolar systems—and Sasquatch—arace of (biological)
hominids, the product of evolutionary processes, cousins to
humankind, and intelligentenoughto conceal themselvesin
the vast wilderness of the Pacific Northwest—be docu-
mentedand acceptedas this-world phenomena, spinning oft
their own secondary correlates in the form of bizarre high-

strangeness experiences (with UFOs, abductions, men in
black, and beyond; with Sasquatch, paranormal bipeds in
Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Missouri, and just about ev-
erywhere else)?

The answeris, obviously, that we don’t know. Still, the
separation of some classes of anomalies into two superfi-
cially alike but in fact unrelated ontological categories may
prove inescapable.

FOOTNOTES

1. Jessup was an early proponent of what would be
called “ancient astronauts™ as Erich Von Daniken rose to
prominence nearly two decades later. In Jessup’s unique
reading, however, the ancient astronauts were earthborn
pygmies who developed a supertechnology, prominently
including levitation, and traveled into space. Currently, they
reside in a giant space station in the “gravity neutral™ zone
between the earth and the moon, though they also maintain
lunar bases on the latter. As far as I can determine, Jessup
persuaded precisely nobody that any of this is true.

2. Thatistrueevenwhen—inexceedingly rare circum-
stances—fully funded scientific resources are brought to
bear on high-strangeness phenomena, as Colm A. Kelleher
and George Knapp report in their very interesting Hunt for
the Skinwalker (2005). A remoteranch in northecastern Utah
was reportedly the site of appcarances by UFOs, weird
structures, enigmatic lights, bizarre animals, invisible enti-
ties,and more. Scientists and researchers witnessed some of
these things themselves, but attempts to document the ap-
pearances instrumentally proved fruitless. The project ended,
as it began, with strange anecdotcs.

3. For other examples of early UFOs-in-the-making,
seemy “Enigma Variations: Proto-UFOs and Other Strange-
ness,” /UR 28:2 (2003).

4. Deviant Science: The Case of Parapsvchology
(Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1984):
60-63. 4

SCHUESSLER RETIRES AS MUFON HEAD

Afterservingtwothree-year terms as international direc-
tor of the Mutual UFO Network, John Schuessler will
retire effective November 1. He announced his retirement
at the annual MUFON business board meeting in July.
Schuessler’s statement appears on the MUFON website:
“Finally, after thorough deliberation, the board con-
cluded that my successor should be James Carrion of
Bellvue, Colorado. This decision wasmade by examining
the needs of MUFON, where our strategic plan was
aimingtotake the organization in the future and how well
James’sbackgroundmatched the MUFONneeds.” Kristen
Kennington will take over the office operations. As of
November |, the address will be: Mutual UFO Network,
P.O. Box 279, Bellwue, CO 80512-0279; (970) 221-
1836; fax (970) 221-12009.
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ToM TOWERS:
THE OTHER AL CHOP

BY ROBERT BARROW

om Towers (died approx. 1991), once a popular

Los Angeles newspaper writer who also starred

in one major motion picture and eventually be-

came an executive assistant at what is now LAX
Airport, served as an Army Air Force intelligence officer
during WW II.

A few years after the war, the former AAF Captain
Towers landed a reporter’s job at the old Los Angeles
Examiner, aposition he held from 1947 to 1959. In addition
to general reporting, Towers also wrote frequently about
aviation as a senior member of the Aviation Writers Asso-
ciation,and perhaps his interest in flyingrelatedto his single
shotat an acting career.

The United Artists movie Unidentified Flving Objects,
alsoknown simply as UFO. appeared in theaters throughout
the United States, England, and other countries in May 1956
(see /UR 30:2). This Clarence Greene—Russell Rouse pro-
duction, a documentary, accurately recreated the early days
oftheofticial U.S. government UFO investigation in the late
1940s and early 1950s. However, as plans were underway
fortilming in 1955, a lead actor was needed to play the key
role of Albert M. Chop, once chief of the Air Force’s press
section, who gradually changed from ardent skeptic to
believing that UFOs were real, with intelligence behind
their control.

ForGreene and Rouse, their choice of Towers to play
the role of Al Chop may have been predictable. Earlier, a
publicity agent forasmall Hollywood film company, Popkin
Productions, hadnoticed Towers inthe Examiner city room
and thought him an excellent choice tfor the producers’ film
The Well, in which he could play the important role of a
deputy sheriff. Unfortunately for Towers, his reluctant city
editor didn’t feel he could approve a leave of absence
requiring several weeks, and the conflict of vacation sched-
ules at the newspaper would further scuttle a chance at
acting.

Months later, however, opportunity came knocking
when plans for UFO emerged. Al Chop already knew

Robert Barrow began researching UFOs as a teenager in
1963.His articles and book reviews appearedinThe A .P.R.O.
Bulletin, Pursuit, Argosy UFO, True Flying Saucers &
UFOs, Ofticial UFO, and newspapers and magazines.

Towers through their roles in writing and public relations,
respectively, and Chop recommended Towers for the role.
Afterafewmeetingswith the producers and his editors atthe
Examiner, athree-week leave was allowed so Towers could
make the movie.

Towers eventually left the newspaper in 1959 on a
year’s leave of absence to establish the Los Angeles Sound
Abatement Coordinating Committee at Los Angeles Inter-
national Airport. The committee convened to deal with
community protests caused by jet-engine noise, a rapidly
growing problem as the jet age began to flourish commer-
cially. His leave was extended every six months until Janu-
ary 1962 when the Examiner ceased publication. Towers
soon gained employment with the Los Angeles Department
of' Airports that July and remained there into at least the late
1970s (and perhaps the 1980s), becoming cxecutive assis-
tant.

His newspaper career, far beyond his acting stint,
seemed fascinating in itself. Towers recalled in the 1970s:
“At the start of my newspaper career with the Examiner |
worked as a general assignment reporter. | covered many
major crime stories, some of whichwereidentified with the
rise and fall of local Mafia-type gangsters.

“Atthe startof the Korean War, | was assigned to write
a weekly aviation column entitled Aviation News. | was
given this task because of my World War 11 background in
the Air Force . . . and later as a group public information
officer,” he related. Towers’s title became aviation editor
and he kept the position when the newspaper’s regular
aviation editor was dispatched to Korea to cover training
and war operations. After Korea, the editor returned, but
Towerskeptthe Sunday column assignment, writingairline
and general aviation stories, plus aerospace pieces about
missiles.

“When the jet age started in January 1959, [ wrote
several critical aviation columns about jet noise, and |
suspectthis is why | was hired away fromthe Examiner and
askedtosetupthe Sound AbatementCoordinating Commit-
tee at International Airport,” he explained.

Towers no longer wrote for any publications (“No
time”), but hoped to develop story ideas about the airport.
Herecalledthe newspaperbusiness fondly: “l brokeintothe
newspaper business atter World War II as editor/reporter
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foraweekly newspaperinBig BearLake, California, where
| gained some notoriety by writing a story that broke up the
revival of the Ku Klux Klan in southern California.”

When this interview was conducted in the late 1970s,
Towers was acting as executive assistant to the general
manager of the Los Angeles Department of Airports (then
known as #1 World Way), and also served as legislative
liaisonto the city council, where he appeared before various
committees on matters pertaining to the department’s over-
sight of three airports—International Airport, Van Nuys
Airport, and the Ontario International Airport. He also
monitored aviation/airport legislation coming before the
state legislature at Sacramento, remaining current on bills
and offering testimony on the department’s behalf.

In the carly 1950s, Towers never suspected that the
major movie role in UFO was headed his way, a perfor-
mance destined to be scen all over the world. The documen-
tary played in European movie houses with subtitles, Tow-
crsrecalled, ““and a friend with United Airlines saw the film
while visiting in some little town in Greece.”

“Attheoutset,” he continued, “I had noparticular views
on UFOs, but | was elated and pleased to be selected to play
the leadrole.” Production costs were low budget all the way,
under $200,000, he believed, and he furnished almost his
entire wardrobe. He provided his own auto for highway
scenes, with tilming accomplished under strict sccurity to
prevent competing studios from stcaling ideas and rushing
their own UFO movies into theaters. Towers humorously
recalled that he had his own dressing room-—a men’s room.

He held no opinion about UFOs at that time, “*but as a

newsman, I was interested in the sightings, as reported by
reputable observers.”

“But,” he cautioned, “I had no time or patience for
those who attempted to capitalize on the phenomenon, such
as the crowd that gathered at Giant Rock in San Bernardino
County, California, andtriedto sell the mediaand public on
UFO gimmickry and quackery.” Reflecting upon events
portrayed in UFO, Towers feltthem legitimate and reported
by trustworthy observers: “And I still fcel that qualitied
UFO observers, such as FAA traftic controllers and airline
pilots, must be believed. It one cannotbelieve aqualified air
traftic controller or a qualified airline pilot,” he asks, “who
can you belicve?”

By the 1970s, Towers confessed reading about UFO
sightings with interest but had no involvement with the
subject, although he observed that when UFO stories ap-
peared on the news, his movie seemed to show up with
increased frequency on TV outlets. Numerous aviation
contacts kept him informed of movie airings on TV: “Re-
cently, Channel 1 I in L.A. showed UFO at 6:00 p.m.—not
bad for a film that, nowadays, scems to find existence only
in the late evening hours.” Around the samc time, an
American Airlines pilot friend informed him that Channel 5
in New York City also presented the movie. “When the film
was active in theaters | was often stopped on the street by
strangers and asked to comment. Today, friends and ac-
quaintances bring up the sub ject as a matter of light conver-
sation . .. always in a light vein.” As a writer, Towers had
numecrous conversations with people who maintained an
avid UFO interest.
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Stilt Ke-32
This seene. from “Unidentiticd Fiving Objects”

Pemagon Press

Theatre on ..

; nid ] g (LFO). a recreation of a true incident. portrass
Specialist. Al Chop (Tom Towers) with U, S Airforee Intelligence Officers s has
wateh top secret photos of Hying saucers in this United Artiste relense voming to the ..

Following the release of UFO, no
further motion picture offers pursucd
Towers, though he bclieves that if the
film had achieved the success it missed
he might have attempted a film and TV
career. In fact, UFO producer Clarence
Greene told him he should havestayedin
the business because TV needced actors
for police shows and the like.

Despite the documentary status of
the movie, there were many Hollywood
touches involved throughout production.
Towers thoughtfully related an anecdote
familiar to the industry:

“At the former Hollvwood Citizen
News, we shot a rcmote scene in the
paper’s city room or thereabouts. I had
suggested to one of the minor players that
he do the scene this way or that . . . of
course, thisisthedirector’s job, notmine.
But I felt that as an active newsman, [
knew a bitabout how reporters move and
act inside a newspaper city room.

“The director (Winston Jones) said

Yot 34

Publicity photo from the original 1956 United Artists press book, with Tom
Towers s name spelled correctly. Towers is at far left.

nothingatthattime, butlatertoldme this
story: Famed director John Ford was
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once making amovie and some actor told anotheractor how
to play a scene. Ford said nothing, but after the luncheon
break he did not come back to the set. All hands were
standing around, waiting to get direction. Money was being
wasted at a great pace.

“The producers went into a rage and someone finally
found Ford in some remote part of the set. When asked why
production had not started atter the lunchcon break, Ford
told the producers that he felt he wasn’t needed anymore
since actor had taken over his work as a director.
Of course, this problem was corrected forthwith and Ford
went back to work as the film’s director.

“Needless to say,” Towers continued, **l got the point
and fromthatmoment [ ceased to offeranyadvice to anyone
as to how to play a scene.”

Shooting time for Towers’s scenes took about three
weeks, Monday through Friday, except Greene and Rouse
did send the lead actor on a weekend trip to Washington,
D.C., for some exterior shots at the Pentagon.

In his portrayalot Al Chop, Towers viewed the famous
Montanaand Utah UFO films,and the objcctsreminded him
of bouncing tennis balls. “However,” he added, ‘I had no
reason to doubt the veracity or the reliability of those who
took the films. | think the fact that they did not remind
anyone of “flying saucers’ might have been somewhatof an
upsetting factor for some UFO butfs.”

A highlight of his participation in thc motion picture
was Towers's opportunity to meet former Project Blue
Book chief Edward J. Ruppelt. “Ed Ruppelt impressed me
as a very kind man and onc who was totally objective and
truthful in his UFO work,” remembered Towers. 1 did not
know him very well, but on the few occasions we did talk, he
impresscd me as a reliable person. All my mectings with
Ruppelt were in conjunction with the making of ‘UFO." 1 did
not meet him prior to this.”

Two decades after the movie’s production, Towers’s
interests included his airport position and fitness activities
such as golf, tennis, and bowling, his only contact with
UFOs being what he read in newspapers or watchedon TV.
Occasionally, he noted, technical publications crossing his
desk mentioned UFOs. But back in the 1950s, Towers was
involved with UFOs in other ways after Clarence Greene’s
documentary filmsaw release.

A copy of the Examiner dated January 20, 1957, fea-
tures his Aviation News column and carries a story head-
lined, “About Saucers and Sen. Russell’s Letter.” The letter
was dated January 17, 1956, and was sent to Towers by
Georgia Senator Richard B. Russell Jr. (1897-1971), chair-
man of the Committee on Armed Services. Towers had
requested information concerning a UFO sighting Russell
reportedly made in Europe (see /UR 25:1). After learning of
the incidentfromareliablc Pentagonsource, Towers wanted
permission to break the story in his column. The senator’s
reply dashed Towers’s hopes to print the sighting, as evi-
denced in a portion of Russell’s response: “l received your
letter but I have discussed this matter with the affected

agencies of the Government, and they are of the opinionthat
it is not wise to publicize this matter at this time.”

Maybe he didn’t get the story he desired, but Towers
retaliated by raising further questions about UFOs and
governmentsecrecy, accomplished simply by printing Sen.
Russell’s letter.

Nor did Towers remain dormant throughout the steady
procession of UFO lectures and meetings pervading Los
Angeles in the 1950s. At a meeting held at Baces Hall on
August 8, 1957, he personally introduced famous broad-
caster Frank Edwards to an audience of 500, and there was
at least one gathering hosted by UFO writer Max B. Miller
attendedby Towers,perhaps in conjunction with the movie.

Until the mid-1970s, Towers was hounded by one
annoying regret: Hardly any publications spelled his name
correctly, listing him perpetually as Tom Powers. Compli-
cating matters, there wus alreacdva Hollywood actor named
Tom Powers. TV Guide and the Los Angeles Times were
among the guilty parties, but were hardly alone in the error.
As this writer was contacting TV Guide to plea for a
correction (successtully), Towers was writing United Art-
ists foranexplanation. Apparently, replied they, the original
UA press book for UFO misspclled Towers as “Powers™ on
one page, and for years a publicity paper circulated by the
studio listed his name with a P.

TomTowers neversaw a UFO (*Nosightingsthatwould
qualify as UFOs™), but that isn’t to suggest the UFO subject
didn’tcross his mind in lateryears: *“When a missile is fired
at Vandenberg Air Force Base on the California coast, and the
contrails spread out over the western sky, I often think about
UFOs,” he admitted. “But that’s as far as it goes.”

Editor’s note: Much of the information in this article
wasprovided to writer Robert Barrow via personal commu-
nication with Towers in the 1970s. 4

THE STORY

(Not for Publication)

The 1956
UA press
book spells
Towers's
name wrong
in the plot
summary.

When Albert Chop (Tom Powers) first re-
ported 1o work on the Public Information
oflice desk of Air Matevial Command. he was
skeptical about “this lying siveer business™
despite the reports of sightings and the death
of Captain Mantell. in 1918, while chasing a
flying saucer.

Later. aftee Chop had been transferred to
the Press Section in the Pentagon. he learned
from Mijor Dewey Fourner of Aiv Foree In-
telligence that they had actual motion pie-
tures of UFQ’s. These pictures, together with
those tiken earlier by a business man on
vacation were classified as “Not balloons, not
aireraft and not hirds—bwut *Unknowns'.”

Wheno in L1952 the Unkuvowns moved in
over Washington. D.C., and Chop together
with radar experts saw themy on the radar
screen, and jutecceptor jets made visual con-
tact. his skepticisin disappeared. He was
further  impressed when Gemeral Samford
stated that there were “Credible Observers
of Belatively Ineredible Things.™
thea the
Chop™s mind wasx What ave they ? and Where

From on only  guestions  in

do they come from?

Running Time: 92 minutes
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STRANGE DAYS

BY MICHAEL D. SWORDS

nthisarticle,l explore some suspicious activities that

led to George Hunt Williamson (GHW) meeting with

George Adamski for the famous Desert Center en-

counter with Orthon the Venusian. My intent is to
suggest that some outside meddling may have been involved
with all this, although that can’t be proven.

Some years ago, UFO
bookseller extraordinaire
Bob Girard acquired the
Williamson papers. Mark
Rodeghier, Jerome Clark,
and | felt that although
Williamson was a contactee,
he was second only to
Adamski in his impacton the
field, and was perhaps more
interesting (and certainly far
more creative). Therefore, his
papers were worth preserv-
ingandmakingavailable, per
CUFOS policy. Accordingly, | paid Girard’s asking price,
and | now maintain the GHW files. Any responsible re-
searcher is welcome to study them.

The files reveal Williamson as an extremely unusual
and nearly indescribable character. I'd start by saying he
was a high-energy dreamer, and go on with naive, fun-
loving, adventuresome, risk-taking, hyperactive, and athree-
impossible-things-before-breakfast kind of guy, permeated
witha very thin borderline between fantasy and reality. But
he was also intelligent and creative, with the memory of'a
supercomputer, andliving in amodel of reality that was way
too large for his, or my, sanity. So to say GHW is “interest-
ing” is the least of it.

Williamson became tamous because he was the most
cited witness to Adamski’s blockbuster Orthon claim—the
footprints in the desert sand with extraterrestrial symbols on
them, and all of that. He then went on to pour literature
(including six books) and lectures into the UFO stewpot for
the remainder of the 1950s. How Williamson ended up
meeting Adamski for the big UFO encounter is what I will
try to unravel. To me, it reeks of a setup ot some type,

George Hunt Williamson

Michael D. Swords is professor emeritus of the Environ-
mental Institute, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo.

masterminded by very earthly
forces.

One caution: When Bob Girard
sold me the files, he had separately
sold off a valuable part of them—
the file folders specifically labeled
“George Adamski.” This, as much
as | honor Bob and what he has
done for the field, is probably tragic.
It almost certainly has created a
hole of'terrible significance tor the
understanding of the two Georges. Because the buyer of'the
files demands anonymity, this cannot be remedied by the
simple solution of photocopying the documents. If, by any
chance, the buyer/collector is reading this, you would be
doinga great scrvice to scholars of Adamski and contactees
if you'd be willing to have the material duplicated for the
GHW collection. But, thatsaid, fragments of these materials
are scattered about in other files that did make it to
Kalamazoo, and | will attempt to put the pieces together for
you here.

Orthon the Venusian

BEFORE ORTHON

The Orthon event occurred on November 20, 1952. We
need to drop into the life of Williamson about one year
earlier to begin our story. In the winter of 1951, GHW was
just getting into flying saucers. He hadn’t yet become overly
interested in them. His mind was swirling with anthropo-
logical and spiritual concepts, often immersed in what he
really loved— American Indian lore and culture. [t was in
pursuit of the latter, and aided by his convictions that
involved in all this was the intrusion of the profoundly
spiritual, that he left the University of Arizona (probably
flunking out after a couple of years, plus some time at two
other schools), and bolted for Chippewa country in Minne-
sota. In doing so, he left his wife Betty (who did graduate so
far as [ can tell) doing more formal field work in Arizona
(with the Hopi or Navaho, or both).

George began hearing tales from the Chippewa that
soundedto him a bitlike UFO stories, butinvolving spiritual
agents from beyond. He considered himself a channeling
medium, so spirits from beyond were fine with him. Then,
synchronistically, he read, of all things, Donald Keyhoe’s
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The Flying Saucers are Real (Fawcett, 1950). Well, that did
it. GHW was now wild for UFOs. And, to him, UFOs were
obviously tied in somehow to Indian lore, Spiritualism, and
the wisdom to guide humanity.

In the spring of 1952, he returned to Prescott, Arizona,
near his parent’s home and the Yavapailndian Reservation.
Betty joined him, also fired up about Indian lore, spirits, and
UFOs, and they read all they could grab on the subject and
made local contactswith similarly interested persons. Some-
how they heard about a Winslow, Arizona, resident named
Alfred C. Bailey, who was said to have the same suite of
interests, though with more of an emphasis on the anthropo-
logical and ufological, and less on the spiritual. They tried
to correspond with Bailey in June 1952, but he didn’t
respond right away. Two months later he did get in touch,
and Alfred and his wife agreed to meet at GWH’s home in
Prescott(anotinsignificantdrive). Themeceting wasapretty
odd first encounter.

The Williamsons were in their mid- to early twenties,
and the Baileys much older (probably in their forties or
thercabouts). Al Bailey introduced himself as a conductor
for the Santa Fec railroad with an interest in chiropractic,
ancient wisdom, and otherstrangematters. Betty Bailey was
the reticent member of the foursome and actually uncom-
fortable at some points in the get-together.

After much talk of UFOs and ancient civilizations, and
a good dinner, our boy George suggested some after-dinner
party games with a homemade Ouija board. Betty seems not
to have taken very well to that, but Al jumped in with
George. It appears to have been a two-man game with a
recorder (probably Betty Williamson). The men would
lightly place their fingers on a clear, upturned water glass,
and it would slide around the board, stopping at letters or
numbers and delivering its message from beyond. Although
George describes this as a party game, cveryone should
realize that he never thought of any such “communication”
unseriously. It was a//big stutf to him.

George reports on this August 2 Ouija communication
atsome length in his and Bailey s book, The Saucers Speak!
(New Age, 1954). In order for the glass to move around the
board, either Williamson or Bailey
had to push it—I"llleave it to you to
decide whether they do it by their
owndevices or whether some outer-
space intelligences are doing it for
them (my views on this should
shortlybe clear). They have a long,
probably wearying session, which
sounds suspiciously like rock 'n’
roll GHW—all manner of esoteric
jazz, anthropological ancient-culture references, stoppages
to define what GHW already knows, and allusions to bell-
shapedsaucers. (George Adamski had already written about
these in ‘I Photographed Space Ships,” Fate, July 1951, pp.
64-74.) Near the end of the messages, “someone”breaksin
and suggests they stop for a while and get some food. (1

Phe Sawcens Spead!

believe that Bailey was hungry.) Williamson, with his un-
limited capacity for self-deception, takes this last message
in stride as ademonstration of how wonderfully human and
humorous the intelligences are.

When they return from the food break, GHW is ready
for another Ouija session. This is his medium, after all;
Bailey has had only the first lesson about the “‘game.” But
right offthebatsomething very un-George comes through:
the suggestionthatthis Ouijaboard thingisn’t very efticient
andthattheyshouldtrytomaketheircontacts viaradio.*“We
can reach you in this manner,” say the intelligences. This
(radio) is definitely nor George’s game. The evening’s
messages go on in a GHW manner, but at the end he has no
waytopursue thesuggestion. Unsurprisingly (tome), Bailey
says he’ll look into it, and after the Baileys returned to
Winslow, he does.

There are a few further Ouija sessions (GHW admits in
the files that not all the Ouija nor the radio transcripts were
put in the book), and these consist largely of astronomical
baloney. George also used methods of automatic writing
and what we now would call “‘channeling™ in these contacts,
alternating between one method and another. He also did
Ouijasessions himself, rapidly moving around a large board
from letter to letter. This explains how many ofthe messages
could be so lengthy.

Meanwhile, Bailey reports that someone **high up™ in
the Santa Fe Railroad Company has told him that he knows
of'a case where a ham radio operator has received messages
from space intelligences. This person also said that he could
recommend a local ham, Lyman Streeter, to try to do the
same for them. Whether Bailey had this talk with the
unnamed person is your guess; whether this fellow worked
for Santa Fe is also your guess. In any case, our boy George
is sitting at home in Prescott fiddling with upturned water
glasses, while Bailey is getting a radioman.

The last Ouija session prior to radio taking over (Au-
gust 17) was more vintage Williamson: rather childish
elements of ridiculously named space entities from Pluto
and Uranus, salted with esoteric historical references and
warnings about the H-bomb. They are told to boil water to
help the reception, but this doesn’t work. They turn on the
radio, but that doesn’t work either. At the very end of the
session, the name of the radio operator arranged by Bailey
plus the “send” and “receive” frequencies for Streeter’s test
runaretransmitted (receive at400 kilocycles, transmitat 40

meters). Hmmm . . . | wonder who was pushing the glass
then?
RADIO DAYS

So, the radio sessions begin—without Williamson. He’s
stillin Prescott while Bailey and Streeter fireupin Winslow.
Betty Bailey wasn’tinvolved, either. You canreadsome of
the transcripts of these radio sessions in the book. They
containa Williamsonian frame to thembut certain other key
things come through. The two men report that early in the
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game they received GHW’s main guy, “Zo,” but right
afterwards “*Affa” tookoverasthe big boy on the outer space
block. GHW was mystitied. He’d never heard of Afta.

George can’t wait to get to Winslow, and when he does,
Streeter begins receiving outer-space messages nearly ev-
ery evening from late August to early September, and then
more sparsely across the remainder of September, ending on
October 5. In the first session Williamson attended, on
August 23, the messages were sculpted largely in his mode,
but with a bit more technical tilt to them, as well as one new
message: “We want to land and you canbe of helpto us. Will
you?” This was followed the next day with the message,
“We want to be sure of everything before we land. Look for
others to help our landing.”

Itis importantto cmphasize that Streeter was pickingup
some type of message, in a variant of Morse code no less.
There were scveral witnesses tothisbeyondthe Williamsons
and Baileys. That these messages came from aliens | do not
find believable, but someone was sending messages for
Williamson and the others. That is the real mystery here.

At 9:30 p.m. on August 25, Streeter suddenly told
everyone to look for a dark spotin the sky. After searching
inthe dark sky for a while, GHW was convinced that he and
everyone else hadseena dark object near the horizon. “The
dark spot in the sky was Affa,” the radio said. Then, GHW
said that they saw a blue light somewhere else, asrequested,
which was presumably his contact, Zo. As GHW noted,
“Now we knew for sure that we were in contact with men
from outer space!” (There is no doubt in my mind that it is
GHW who writes the majority of the copy in The Saucers
Speak! He is the master of the exclamation point.)

Near the end of August, Streeter told everyone that he
had just done something tricky with the frequencies that no
earthbound ham radio hoaxer could have coped with—
switching from 40 meters to 160 meters in his transmissions
with no warning. Yetthe senders (the intelligences) handled
the trick immediately. This proved, said Streeter, that this
was no hoax. But what this actually proves, unless we
believe in space intelligences sending messages to GHW
andgroup, is that Streeter had tobe in onthe whole thing and
that this little event was prearranged.

GHW, of coursc, was thrilled. During all this period,
the Baileys and Williamsons were constantly discussing
UFOs andesoterica with,doubtless, George dominating the
airtime, as he usually did. He was a world-class spotlight
seeker. Transmitting what GHW said in these many discus-
sions to the framework of the received radio messages
wouldn’t have been very difficult, and, rather than being
suspicious, our boy would have lapped itup as validation of
his otherwise-attained inner knowledge.

In another telling incident, one evening an unexpected
visitor of a skeptical nature showed up at Streeter’s radio
shack. Noextraterrestrial messages were able to get through
that evening. Hmm. . ..

Much gobblety-gook spewed forth from late August
through early September, and the Williamsons returned

only sporadically from then on. The next session was
September |1, and it included this: “I hope we might have
alanding soon. . . . If we can arrange a landing do not fear
impostors. You can be sure it will be us.” Later in the
evening another contact: “We must make landing contact
soon. . .. you may go your own way if you wish, but you
know what we have told you. If you believe us, you will act
accordingly.”Other, almost threatening-sounding impreca-
tions to be strong and “undertake what lies just ahead of
you” fill this transcript.

Williamsonhad gotten the message, literally. He writes,
“Since our space friends talked of landing so often, we
decided to have a picnic in the mountains and perhaps they
would land for us™ (about September 28). The radio said
“good idea™ to this. Much weird commentary spewed over
the radio on the 27th, and Williamson was wild with delight.
However, the great event was not to be. For some reason,
Streeter was the only one who knew exactly where “they”
were supposed to land (for utterly unbelievable reasons—a
sort of psychic paranoia). Also, a foolish driving error
ruined their chances (“We had misscd the chance of a
lifetime!™) So they went back to Streeter’s home and ate
their lunch. The radio then began sending sinister-sounding
messages about the radio being dangerous, a man coming,
and Streeter having a dcep sccret.

Williamson was confused by all of that, but shortly
decided thatthemancomingwasgoingto be an outer-space
man. The decp secret may well have been that Streeter had
previously been intercsted in UFOs and had attempted
contact in 1950. One day shortly after that, he had gone into
a type of trance and wouldn’t or couldn’t speak for eight
days. He had amnesia about those eight days when he
recovered; but strangely, after the contacts by radio started,
Streeter suddenly remembered what had occurred. He had
“left his earthly body™ and gone elsewhere where he was told
torapidly “complete his task uponthe Earthplanet.” Hmmm
again.

Essentially nothing came in viaradio after this visitand
the missed landing on September 28.

ADbpAMSKI AND GHW

However, Williamson and the book left out several things
thatoccurred. The most intriguing ofthese (tome) is how all
this led them to Adamski. In the following quote, “IS™ is
GHW?’s shorthand for the space intelligences who’ve con-
tacted him via channeling, Ouija, and radio.

“The IS did tell usthatit was very importantthatwe go
over to meet Adamski. Little more than that, for it was by
radiotelegraphy (all of thatis NOT'in 7SS!),and ‘Board.” IS
said nothing about this authenticity—but did stress the fact
we should see him, for it was partofa ‘chain of'events’ that
wasnecessary!!”

So, as we slip into October 1952, Williamson and
Bailey have been challenged by the now-silent radio to go
and seek out Adamski. And one of them already had.
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Al and Betty Bailey, during the
events reported above, decided to travel
to California to see the Professor of
Palomar Mountain. Here’s Adamski’s fp AN e
. Fier i
report ot that encounter and a subse- v
quent one with both couples: {17 SR | 4
) /)
It was late in August 1952 that . J&F
Mr. and Mrs. A. C. Bailey of {;_ A |
Winslow. Arizona, first came to L
Palomar Gardens and asked to George Adamski

talk withme privately. I had never

heard of them prior to that time. During the conversa-
tion, they told mec about Dr. and Mrs. George .
Williamson, of Prescott, Arizona. These four people
were as interested in the flying saucers as . They had
read everything available on the subject. They, too, had
scen these strange objects flash through the skies,
sometimes low, sometimes high. And they, too, had
made trips to a number of desert places in the hope of
seeing one land. Then they heard about me and the
Baileys drove up to sece me and tell me some of their
cxperiences.

Later, the Baileys and Williamsons came up to-
gether. After spending several days at Palomar Gardens
as our guests, they asked me to telephone them before
my nextattempt to establish a contact. During their stay
we had met a great deal and had become better ac-
quainted and they wanted to be with me if things could
be so arranged.

The Williamsons left Palomar Gardens feeling that
they had lived up to their obligations received from the
space people by radio. If Adamski came through, they
would assist the space pcople in their first landing, as had
been requested.

During the visit to Adamski, GHW impressed him with
his knowledge and fervor, and Adamski impressed GHW
with his “authority.” He did this by channeling.

I only witnessed channeling by Adamski on a few

He changed completely, even physically, as he spoke.
You knew a very intelligent being was communicating.

The Adamski channeling session [several days] be-
tore the November 20 mecting was one of the most
inspiringand beautiful I have ever heard! Nothing given
during that session contradicts anything Adamski ever
said. Whatever George A. was, he was most definitely
NOT a liar!

Asan aside, Adamski reters to GHW in Flving Saucers
Have Landed (British Book Centre, 1953) as “Dr.”
Williamson, and an Air Force veteran with all sorts of
experience about planes, but this is largely bunk.
Williamson's Air Force career was real but ridiculously
briet and confined largely to writing and news; his Ph.D.

didn’t arrive until many years later from an outfit—Avon
University—that was the academic sponsor of his Mayan
Pyramid thesis in the early 1960s . . . not as bad as distance-
learning doctorates, but not a lot better. What GHW was
doing to give people the impression that he had a doctorate,
I don’t know. He signs his name on the Adamski affidavit
with “Sc.D.,” which, becausc he’s the biggest bull-inflator
imaginable, probably means that he considers himself as
having a science degree—which he almost got at Arizona,
but blew of f the last requirements.

The Williamsons and Baileys wentback to Arizonaand
waited. On November 18, Adamski called GHW. A contact
of'some kind would happen in the California desert. Could
they meethim in Blythe, California, intwodays? Williamson
said yes. He contacted Bailey, who agreed, as well. The two
couples headed toward Blythe, and Adamski, with Alice
Wells and Lucy McGinnis, came trom Palomar. They ren-
dezvoused at the town of Blythe for breakfast.

Williamson had maps out trying to figure wherc they
should go next. Adamski looked at the options and said he
wanted to go outside, alonc, and think about it. He came
back in and announced that he was heading back toward
Desert Center, which he had passed on his seven-hourdrive
from Palomar. The group got into their cars and drove west.
At Descrt Center they turned on to the Parker Highway and
drove until Adamski stopped them. They milled around,
Adamski reaching out for his intuitions. He and Bailey
walked offfora whilc on theirown. Theyreturnedand broke
out the packed lunch. Food and picture taking ensued, and
then GHW thought he saw a UFO. Bailey chimed in that he
thoughtso, too. Then Lucy McGinnisagreed. Pictures of'the
UFO werecsomehow botched, buteveryone wasnow thrilled
and inspired.

Adamksi suddenly asked to be driven down the road,
but the rest were to stay. McGinnis drove, and Bailey, ot all
people, jumped in, too. Adamski saw what he wanted toand
told the others to go back and fctch everyone else, while he
took off on foot—to the meeting with Orthon. He told
McGinnis to give him an hour before bringing the others
back, and Adamski claimed that both McGinnis and Bailey
saw a big UFO in the sky as they drove off.

The rest is history. Everybody attests to seeing foot-
prints on the ground. Everybody allegedly attests (this is not
nearly so clear) to seeing the departing light ot Orthon’s
spaceship. (GHW goestohisdeath assertingthistobe true.)
Bailey andhe suggest reporting this tothe Phoenix newspa-
peron the way home, and Adamski says yes, do it. And thus
the blockbusterstory of the early days of UFOs is cemented
into legend.

THE AFTERMATH AND SOME SPECULATION

Adamski, of course, goes on to tremendous fame—the
undeniable contactee in the desert. Williamson is hyper-
kinetically wild forall of this now, the ultimate adventure of
humanity.
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Streeter had his own sighting of a large, cigar-shaped
object over Winslow, along with five other witnesses, on
December 21, 1952. More ominously, Streeter had received
a visit from a government agent of some kind (GHW was
certainitmustbe the C1A), who said that the government had
him dead to rights because he was in communication with
unlicensed operators (see sidebar). The agent explained that
the government was planning a vast educational program
about flying saucers, and that Streeter could help himself by
joining the “other fifteen “ham’ operators and cooperate with
us.” Otherwise, he would suffer consequences.

Streeter then dies a premature death in the spring of
1955 (I suggest nothing conspiratorial about that!).

And Bailey? Well, he does write the book with
Williamson that is published in 1954 (it was probably
already written in 1953). And he is still hanging around the
scene long enough to be interviewed by James Moseley, of

all people, in December 1953 (about the Adamski encoun-
ter, not the radio messages). But he doesn’t stay active, and
his contacts with Williamson soon diminish, despite his
alleged intense interest in the subject.

Williamson, late in life, finally takes a breath and
scratches his head about this. What happened to Al, any-
way? When they gotback to Arizona, there was an exchange
ortwo, and then: “the Baileys. .. notaword from them since
1953, not even a rumor—Alice [Wells] confirms this as
well—she’s heard nothing.”

George then spins off into a typical Williamsonian
interludewherehe wonders why both the wives werenamed
Betty,andhe, Adamski,and Van Tasselwerenamed George.
“Coincidence? What does it mean, if anything?” It was a
question that he might have better asked about Al Bailey’s
involvement and disappearance, I'd suggest. Or about
Streeter.

SOME LINGERING HAM RADIO MYSTERIES
by Mark Rodeghier

There are many peculiarities about the signals received by
Lyman Streeter for George Hunt Williamson and Alfred
Bailey, beyond the simple fact that signals were indeed
received from someone, somewhere.

Ham radio operators, then and now, just can’t talk to
any station you happen to hear on the air. Stations have to
be licensed by their respective governments and they are
required to identify themselves. It a station doesn’t iden-
tity itself with a standard prefix, communications should
ccase.

One could, of course, argue that the first extraterres-
trial contacts by humanity should be exempt from this
regulation. However, A.D. Middelton, whovisited Streeter
after the events described in the article, and who was a
highly respected ham, took this restriction seriously. On
April 9, 1955, he wrote to the Federal Communications
Commission, Amateur Division, and requested guidance
for situations where amateurs were “‘transmitting within
our authorized bands butreceivingon frequencies outside
thebands. .. [in the contextof transmissions from UFOs].”
As explained below, this was exactly Streeter’s situation.

For whatit’s worth, the reply from the FCC, on April
27, stated in part, “Within the limitations of Section
12.101 [the rules governing amateur radio service], ama-
teurs may communicate with stations which transmit on
frequencies outside the amateur frequency bands.” This is
a typical bureaucratic response, as it doesn’t exactly an-
swer Middelton’s question. It essentially states that you
can do whatever isn’t forbidden by the regulations, which
impliesthattheregulations stillapply,even to extraterres-
trial communications (you can read more about this in
Williamson’s book UFOs Confidential, Essene Press,
1958, written with John McCoy).

Continuingonwith the mysteryofthe signals,mostof

the messges from Affa, et al., were received on 405 or 450
kilocycles. This is very odd. Standard ham radio equip-
ment of that era would not receive transmissions in that
range. It would have been possible for Streeter to modity
his equipment to receive those frequcncies, but there is no
mention that he did by Williamson. Further, that fre-
quency rangc was often used to transmit signals for radio
aids to navigation, so transmitting in that band wouldbc a
definite no-no.

Furthermore, AM radios in those days used a super-
heterodyne receiver, which improved the performance of
these devices. Thereceivers use an internal ““intcrmediate
frequency™ of 455 kilocycles, and strong transmissions
around 450 kilocycles would therefore have interfered
with regular radio reception of those living near Streeter,
if not other more distant locales.

So why would someone planning this elaborate hoax
choose these particular frequencies for transmission? For
one, essentially no hams would be listening on these fre-
quencies, so the chance of others detecting your signals
would be very small. Second, because of the superhetero-
dyne issue, low power would be used, which would make it
even less likely that others would detect the transmissions.
With low power being used, the transmitting equipment
would have to be nearby, in line-of-sight to Streeter’s
antenna (which could stillbe many miles, depending on the
antenna being used, or very nearby, to really play it safe).

There are other loose ends, because even though
Streeter was transmitting on 40 or 80 meters, both of
which are within the normal ham range, he certainly
wasn’t using a normal call sign for the “station™ he was
contacting. If other hams overheard his transmissions,
what would they have thought, or done? We just don’t
know, but there is no evidence that anyone did.
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Why have [ laid out all this unprovable stuff about an
early set of spectacular (andinfluential) claims? Because all
my historical muddlingaboutin the 1949—1954 era gives me
the feelingthat something stinks vis-a-vis contactees, Frank
Scully and company, and the extremely effective damage
they did to responsible study ofthe UFO phenomenon. Isn’t
itjustalittle tooconvenient that the Scully-Aztec crash story
showed up as early as it did to fog over any investigation of
crash claims? Isn’t it just handy that Adamski, Truman
Bethurum, Williamson, and Giant Rock rose up so spec-
tacularly to wall off UFO study from serious people in
academiaandmedia? Isn’titalittle intriguing thatalmostall
of this “serious infection” festers out of the same origin
point? (Case in point. One day following the Desert Center
contact, GHW was back visiting Adamski. There was a
party in the Hollywood area at the house of a businessman.
While the businessman held an outsized piece of paper
steady, GHW went hyperactive and drew Solex-Mal space
language all over it, in a trance. The businessman was Gene
Dorsey, friend of Adamski, Scully, Silas Newton, and who
knows who else?)

And, if you were in the intelligence community and you
had the job of shushing the saucers, what would you do?
Would Scully and Newton be useful to you? Karl Ptlock
unearthed Silas Newton’s old diary, where he says that
agents told him to keep up the hoax. Would contactees
meeting spiritually advanced beings in the desert, spouting
a ridiculous astronomy and physics, be useful to you? The
Giant Rock convention annually destroyed any credit that
Keyhoe or the Lorenzens might have built up through the
1950s.

And how would you operate? How would you encour-
age naive, enthusiastic, useful dupes, or persons a bit light
in the ethics department, to promulgate incredible and even
laughable images ot who’s behind the saucers? One glance
at contactee Buck Nelson is, unfortunately, enough to send
the academics home (see his pamphlet My Trip to Mars. the
Moon, and Venus). Would you, in the intelligence commu-
nity, care about what sort of messages were able to be freely
transmitted (onanysubject) by hamradiooperators? Would
you, for security reasons in this period, want to keep some
control over these independent hams? Would you have not
only your monitors, but also your agents, here and there, in
the ham network? Might you have plans whereby you could
actively apply their expertise?

Streeter and Bailey came into Williamson’s life from
nowhere. Bailey said some mysterious higher-up had told
him that signals from space beings had already been re-
ceived, and to go and employ Streeter for this purpose.
Streeter later said that a governmentagenthad told him that
all this was being monitored and he must now stop. “Luck-
ily,” they had just gotten the message to seek out Adamski.

In January 1955, after The Saucers Speak! was pub-
lished, ahighly placed ham, A. D. [Alois David] Middelton
(call letters W5CA, a leader for the region including New
Mexico and Texas), located Streeter (despite his being

anonymous), and came from New Mexico to Winslow to
meet him. He said that he had heard of other outer-space
contacts, particularly one from Canada. Middelton wrote
GHW then and said that he was convinced that the signals
were okay. He also wrote Keyhoe and said that he was
convinced that the GHW-Streeter signals were a hoax, but
that he would be happy to offer the services of the ham
network toKeyhoe foranything the major wished. Middelton
then joined GHW’s Telonic Research Institute to tiy to
resurrect the phenomenon of signals from space, and in a
year was making T. Townsend Brown a similar ofter for the
new NICAP. Middelton was a Sandia engineer. Maybe this
means something, maybe not.

What all this stuff rea//v amounts to, [ don’t know. My
intuitions say that a bunch of'this is just too patnotto have
had some design. And [ know my owndeviousmind. If | had
the resources and the task of quieting the saucers, I’d have
not only welcomed a Scully, butl wouldhave been out there
nurturing several other useful dupes (useful idiots, Lenin
called them) in the expectation that, out of'a dozen or two,
I’d likely get a couple of spectacular successes. GHW was
an intelligence agency’s dream—an exciting, creative pub-
lic dynamo with almostnoability to distinguish fantasy from
reality if you could just salt a little concrete experience into
his visionary world. | think that this is probably what
happened. I think this because [ don’t believe that Afta and
Zo were coming over Streeter’s radio with their ridiculous-
but-Williamson-attuned astronomy. So, I deduce that some-
one else was elaborately setting him up. And, as this led so
smoothly to Adamski and the Big One, | further deduce that
the setup was not by amateurs.

Still, maybe I'm wrong—I have been many times.
Perhaps amateurs played games with GHW and a lot of the
rest was just accident. Or, maybe Affa and Zo are better
buddies with Orthon than [ suspect. 4

UFO OVER AUCKLAND

Mystery surrounds an apparent unidentified flying ob ject
seen inthe skies above Auckland, New Zealand’s Viaduct
Basin. The Auckland Sunday News has obtained footage
of the object, spotted flying at speed over the waterfront
in broad daylight.

Boththe Civil Aviation Authorityandthe Ministry of
Detence have been unable to identify it. The photograph,
taken in October 2005 by well-known photographer Ri-
chard Simpson, shows an objectabovetheindustrial tank
farm in the mid-morning sun.

Sue Hansen of UFOCUS New Zealand and air traftic
controller Graeme Opie both think itisnotabird. I think
it’sdefinitelynotanaeroplaneanditdoesn'tlooklikeit’s
been faked,” she said. “It does have some characteristics
of'a disc shape.” Hansen said the shadowing around the
object was of greatest interest. “The only thing that may
explain it is ionized air around the craft.”"—Auwuckland
Sunday News, July 16.
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WHERE ARE THE CLOSE
ENCOUNTERS?

BY MARK RODEGHIER

hose of us who follow the ebb and flow of raw

UFO reports, whetherto MUFON or CUFOS, or

to well-known websites, including the National

UFO Reporting Center, have come to recognize
the drop in close encounter cases. Whether it is physical
trace events or a good old fashioned CE3 with the sighting
of'a humanoid, these cases seem much less frequent nowa-
days.

The latest report from Chris Rutkowski’s Canadian
UFO Survey (survey.canadianuforeport.com) confirms this
trend. Figure | shows the number of reports received each
year across Canada. For whateverreason, reports in general
have greatly increased in this decade, although the total
dropped a bit in 2005. There are far more UFOs reported
now than in the 1990s in Canada. The same is generally true
for the United States, although perhaps with not as great an
increase since 2000.
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Figure 1. Number of reports.

What about close encounters? Have they followed the
same trend? Figure 2 provides the answer.
The number of reports is much smaller—only about 4%

Mark Rodeghier is scientific director of the J. Allen Hynek
Center for UFO Studies.

of reports are close encounters over the 17-year period in
Canada—sothereare largerrelative swings from yeartoyear.
But close encounters generally do increase, beginning in the
currentdecade, althoughnotto the higher levels of the 1990s.
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Figure 2. Number of close encounter reports.

But is this the whole story? 1’d suggest not. | and
colleagues have noticed that close encounters are not as
common, compared to other cases. To investigate this, we
need to look at the percentage of all sightings that are close
encounters.

Figure 3 shows the percentage of all reports that are
close encounters, by year. It is immediately evident that our
sense of the data has been correct. There has been a fairly
steady drop in the percentage of close encounters since the
first year of the Canadian survey in 1989. Close encounters
now comprise only about 2 percent of all reports.

What does it all mean? Are UFOs reluctant to come near
towitnesses? Do they no longer land? Since witnesses gener-
ally can’t seek outa UFO close encounter, it would seem that
influences beyond witness behavior would be underlying this
trend. Still, if witnesses werenow more likely toreportdistant
events of lights in the sky, but less likely to report close
encounters, we would see the same pattern. But [ can’teasily
imagine why that disparity would be true.
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Percentage of Close Enounters
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Figure 3. Percentage of close encounters.

This pattern is further evidence that the characteristics
of'the UFO phenomenon are not fixed and immutable. The
appearance and behavior of the phenomenon has changed
quite a bit over time (e.g., from disks to triangles), and this
changeis one of the latest examples. It would certainly be
interesting to see data for other countries toseeif'this trend
holds more broadly. 4

UFO RESEARCH QUEENSLAND

UFO Research Queensland is a voluntary, nonprofit
association established in 1956 to receive, research, and
record sightings. It is located in Brisbane, Queensland,
Australia, andis holding its S0th anniversary conference
on September 30—October 1. Check out their website at
www.uforg.asn.au.

LETTERS

CLOUDS AND SATELLITE OBJECTS

To the editor:

[ read Herbert Taylor’s recent article (“Cloud Cigars:
A Further Look,” /UR 30:3), and then went back and reread
his two earlier /UR articles (“Satellite Objects and Cloud
Cigars,” 29:1, and “Mystery Clouds and the UFO Connec-
tion,” 29:4). First, let me say that my efforts in ufology have
been through the lens of animal reactions (or not) during
UFO cvents. Because animal reactions are associated with
UFO events that are estimated to be within 200 feet of
witnesses, and almost never more than 500 feet away, [
don’t have a lot of experience evaluating distant UFO
events, which most of his sightings are. On thc other hand,
because | do Common Nighthawk (Chordeiles minor) mi-
gration studies with my husband (involving hours of sky
watching, i.e., cloud watching, storm watching, aircraft
watching, andafewseconds ofnighthawk watching), I have
some feeling for clouds and how they look and what they do.
That’s my background, just so you can see where I'm
coming from.

First, a few words about the second article on mystery
clouds/UFOs. This aspect of his studies strikes me as weak.
I have seen natural cloud events that bear great similarity to
almostallofthe daytime cloud events. Also, my experience
indicates when many witnesses see something they decide
is strange, they will link anything else they observe to the
strangeness in a very uncritical way.

Having watched clouds form from nothing and dissi-
pate to nothing; shadows within clouds giving very strange
effects only understood with high-power binoculars put on
the situation; balloons in clouds (once hundreds of small
black balloons moving into clouds—no question, could see
strings with binoculars); aircraft leaving and departing two
nearby airports, then tlying in and out of clouds with

interesting lighting conditions, I think it would be very hard
to critically investigatc or draw conclusions about these
cloud/UFO associations. I’'m not saying there could not be
valid cloud/UFO connections in there somewhere, but I
don’t see how you would get at it among all the noise. Not
much hard information in these events. So | would have very
high criteria for including any of these.

Turningattentiontocloud cigars and satellite ob jects—
this is much more interesting in that you are actually getting
some consistency in behavior and appearance between
sightings (rare event in my opinion and to be valued). The
vertical/horizontal orientations and repositioning, the clouds
formed at ends, the small objects being released, similarity
in their fall from the larger object, and then small objects
movingoutto “survey” thearea(loosely speaking), and the
long durations are all interesting clues. The multiple wit-
nesses add strength, and | found the September 1954 sight-
ing in France interesting in its complexity.

I think some weeksago [ saw a reference in an email to
tornadoes as an explanation, which doesn’t fit as tornadoes
are associated with dynamic, fast-moving weather events.
Years ago, | once saw little funnel clouds attempting to
descend from a front roaring into D.C., and they were
constantly changing as the front ripped through and no one
would ever think “carrot” or “cigar.” They would think
funnel cloud trying to descend.

So I have little to suggest in terms of explanations. |
wouldencourage Taylor to continue his cloudcigar/satellite
object study. I think this kind of focused study is very
worthwhile. [ think hard-nosed investigation of current
sighting events is an important area for ufology, but | seem
to be somewhat isolated in that opinion—hence my recent
loss of enthusiasm.

I know atter my animal reaction study was published, |
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had this naive hope that [ would get some current sightings
and direct contact with witnesses or perhaps questions or
feedback from investigators. Some serious, current investi-
gation was the next logical step needed to move ahead.
Other thanoneinteresting sighting referred by Peter Daven-
port [from his National UFO Reporting Center], it has not
happened. I suspect Taylorshares some of the same frustra-
tions.

Finally,asthough thisemail is notlongenough,afterall
the critical things I said about the cloud/UFO relationship,
I will tell you about something that happened to me. [
recorded it in my field notebook when it happened, but to
this day [ don’t know what to make out ofit.

August9, 1999, at 2:20 p.m., was a spectacular day in
Washington, D.C. 1 was on the Beltway on a wildlife rescue
run approaching the Woodrow Wilson Bridge, just south of
Reagan National Airport. Looking toward the Potomac
River, I noticed in a clear blue, cloudless sky one single
white cloud, about 40 degrees above the ESE horizon. The
cloud seemed odd to me. Itlooked like a dense cigar with a
slighthumpappearance on top. A passenger jet was turning,
banking, toland at the airport, and | remember thinking, I'd
like to be on that aircraft and take a look at that cloud. The
apparent length of the cloud and very low-flying aircraft
were the same, but the cloudappearedto have twice the mass
of the aircraft and was located beyond it.

All of this happenedoverseveral seconds. Atthatpoint,
[ had to glance back to switch to the exitlane of the Beltway
for Route 1, and when I looked back a split second later the
cloud was gone. | kept looking for it on the exit ramp, and
after [ was on Route |—nothing, not a cloud in the sky and
absolutely nothing that obstructed my view of the sky.

The weather was a great fall-type day that we get now
and then in August. From the nearby airport readings I got
these weather conditions: 82°F, 3 [%relative humidity, dew
point 54 degrees, wind NNE 9—11 mph, ceiling unlimited
and reportedly scattered clouds at 35,000 feet, though the
cloud described was the only one in my view of the sky.

It were to presentamundane explanation, it would be

that there is a coal-fired power plant between my position
andtheairport. Ifaslug ofsteamhadbeenreleased, the wind
wouldhave moveditdownriver, where [ saw it. The dry air
may dissipate it fast. The problem is the thing looked so
solid, heavy,anddense,anditdisappeared in aninstant with
no trace.

Anyway, | can only encourage the continued study of
cigar/satellite objects. It is probably one of the more worth-
while things happening in ufology. If I can be of help with
weather or the sky data, I’d be happy to do so.

Joan Woodward
Fairfax, Virginia

RIGHT PLACE, RIGHT TIME

To the editor.

In “We Know Where You Live” (/UR 30:2), Michael
Swords posesthe question, “Why did [ look justthen?” I've
asked myself the same question many times in regard to my
July 6, 1947, sighting at our ranch near Encampment,
Wyoming. See Richard Hall, ed, The UFO Evidence
(NICAP, 1964), p. 55.

On that sunny afternoon, my brotherandlanda family
friend were discussing the wave of “flying saucer™ sightings,
headline news at the time—were they real or was it mass
hysteria?—when my brother pointedtoahawk circling over
the meadow. “Look, there's one now,” he joked. | saw the
hawk, but for somereason [ then looked straight up and saw
a silver-gray oval, very much like those illustrated on page
12 of thatissue of /UR. | excitedly pointed it out to the other
two, and they quicklyspottedit,and we watched, awestruck,
asitdwindled to a mere speck, then vanished in the distance.
It was on a northerly heading and did not appear to change
course, speed or altitude during the 2 to 3 minutes it was
visible.

Why did I look just then? | don’t know. But if | had
not looked up at that precise moment, I never would have
seen it.

David Kenney
Palos Verdes Estates, California

ALIEN “ABDUCTION,” RESCUE, PROPOSAL A FIRST FOR MUSEUM

Tomatch hislove, Ross Savedra’s proposal hadtobe out of
this world. After one of the silver-suited alien extras in the
Roswell UFO Museum’s alien autopsy exhibit “abducted”
23-year-old Ariane Ash, Savedra, 32, made his way through
the crowd, fought two figures in sifver suits and rubber
masks, and wrestled his girlfriend to safety.

Savedra pulled Ash to the center of the crowdedroom,
fumbled quickly in his left pocket, and dropped to his knees.
His voice choked with emotion, he told Ash she was his
passion and asked if she would be his wife. The two em-
braced in a cloud of shiny, colored confetti thrown by
onlookers. Tourists who had been tipped oft, family mem-
bers,andthe rubber-masked,bulbous, purple-eyed aliens—
Ash’s brother-in-law and stepfather—all applauded. “By

the way, everyone, she said yes,” noted Julie Shuster, the
museum’s director, on the sound system.

Savedra, born and raised in Roswell, picked the UFO
Museum as the placc where he would ask for Ash’s hand
because of its “uniqueness,” he said. Although the museum
hosted a wedding three years ago, Savedra made history
with his proposal.

“Being from Roswell, he thought, whataperfectplace,”
Shuster said earlier. Perfect—and original.

“He’sthe first person in the world who gets to propose
here,” Shuster said.

“She’s always calling me her alien man,” Savedra said
of his fiancée, as they exchanged nervous glances and
caresses.—Roswell (N. Mex.) Daily Record, July 17.
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CONDlGN—C()minueafﬁ'om page 13
METEORIC DUSTY PLASMAS

Meteoric dusty plasmas certainly exist, but whether they can
be charged or otherwise visually incandesce beyond their
initial entry into the atmosphere is debatable. Certainly
dusty plasmas can interfere with radio and are made more
turbulent by bombardment with high-frequency emissions
(HF). What is not explained is how these could cause
someone to undergo a “close encounter.” After all, most
plasma phenomena described occur in the upper portions of
the Earth’s atmosphere. What about plasmas and UAP
effects in the lower atmosphere?

UAP-METEOR CORRELATION

The Condignreportclaims to have established a correlation
between meteor-shower peak dates and UAP activity (see
Figure 3, but note the dates for peak meteor-showeractivity
in the associated table are incorrect). This supposition is a
strong point in one of Mr. X’s arguments, a correlation
between possible metcoric dust—generated plasmas account-
ing for UAP reports. It is not disputed that meteors produce
plasma when they enter the atmosphere, and their micro-
scopic debris contributes to atmospheric dusty plasmas.

However, since the MoD has not been careful in col-
lecting the eyewitness information, there is noway to filter
out possible direct observation of meteoric phenomena as
probable misperceptions. In fact, there is a more logical
assertion that canbe made. Any such correlation may be due
todirect misperception. (Note previous comments concern-
ing the information recorded on the standard report form
and the fact that Mr. X was unable to recheck facts.)

Mr. X places too much trust in the public being able to
report meteoric phenomena accurately. Suffice it to say that
although many people can rccognize meteoric phenomena

there is stillasignificant proportion who can’t, and it is these
who occasionally file UFO reports.

We can state this quite confidently, drawing compari-
sons with data from the BUFOR A Astronomical Reference
Point (ARP). The ARP continually received UFO reports
from all over the UK in the period covered by Condign. The
data demonstrates the fluctuating fraction of yearly UFO
reports that were actually produced by direct observations
of meteors, satisfactorily determined by rechecking infor-
mation with witnesses.

Guess what? These too show a similar correlation to
meteor-shower peak dates.

DUSTY PLASMAS

Much new scientific research is being conducted into the
subject of dusty plasmas. For example, in relation to atmo-
spheric plasmas, the European Incoherent Scatter (EISCAT)
Scientific Association in northern Scandinavia bombards
the atmosphere in the polarregions with HF and then studies
the resultant plasma turbulence. The European Cluster 11
spacecratt wasalso tasked to investigate plasmaphenomena
and the Earth’s magnetosphere. The more we observe Earth
with spaceborne remote-sensing and optical equipment cov-
ering the full range of the radiation spectrum, the more
unusual, rare, and as yct undiscovered visual atmospheric
phenomena yield to detection and study. One example is the
observation of three types of transient optical phenomena at
high altitudes above thunderstorms. These are now fully
integrated into the scientific nomenclature as sprites, elves,
and blue jets (see Working Paper 24 in Volume 2 of the
Condign report).

UAPS ON RADAR

Working Paper 5 in Volume 2 and Chapter [ in Volume 3
deal with the technical capabilities of UK air defensc radar
within the context of UAPs. A number
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vey of DI55’s report archive is that “there is a significant
absence of radar plots/tracks on UAPs” in the UKADGE
when contrasted with the numerous visual reports made to
MoD. He considers a number of possible explanations,
three of which havebeen deleted forreasons ot'security, and
concludes: “Clearly, some UAP response to radar is vari-
able, otherwise all radars would see all the objects which
entered their respective coverage zones all the time.” The
implication is that theradarwavefront ofa UAP target is not
consistent with a solid craft but may be consistent with
atmospheric phenomena, such as adusty plasma. This leads
him to speculate that variability in radar detection “may be
due to aspect or orientation, material composition or both.”
Hence, “it UAPs arc plasmas, theirintensity would probably
be diminishing as their physical life decays,” which might
explain the variability inradardetectionsboth by air defense
and civil air traffic radars.

As we expected, the sections dealing with radar have
had large sections deleted under exemption Section 26 of
the FOIA. According to the author, these sections “contain
performance values of the UKADR radars [and] radar
performance is directly relevant to whether UAPs can cnter
and leave UK airspace and whether they constitute a threat.”
Asaresult, the MoD decided the release of this information
“could be of significant value to the planning of an attack on
the UK, including from terrorism.” These exemptions are
currently the subject of appeal.

HAZARDS TO AIRCRAFT

Although the Condign report concludes there is no evidence
that solid craft exist which are unidentified and could pose
a collision hazard, Chapter 2 of Volume 3 examines seven
unexplained fatal accidents involving RAF aircraft. It also
scrutinizes scven unexplained air-miss incidents reported
by civilian aircrews “where the identity of one of the
conflicting objects is never explained.” Just one of these
incidents involved a simultaneous radar trace of a unidenti-
fiedtarget. All seven air-miss events were reported between
1988 and 1996 and were investigated by the Joint CAA and
MoD Airprox Section (JAS). The study states that, while
there is no evidence for any fatal accident resulting from a
collision witha UAP in the UK, fatalities have occurred in
the former Soviet Union and elsewhere.

UAPs are deemed to pose little or no danger to aircraft
(a risk assessed as being lower than bird strikes), unless
violent maneuvers are undertaken to either intercept or
avoid them. It adds that ““despite . . . hundreds of reports of
low altitude UAP activity, there is no firm evidence in the
available reports that a RAF crew has ever encountered or
evaded a low altitude UAP event” or that any RAF aircraft
has been involved in an interception involving this type of
phenomenon.

Nevertheless, Mr. X makes a number of “subsidiary
recommendations” resulting from the findings of this sec-
tion of the report. He feels the air-miss database for higher

altitude reports (up to 20,000 feet) is lacking data because
of reluctance on the part of airline crews to make formal
UAP reports. Here again the “bad press” which UFOs
receive in the media and via the activities of ufologists is
blamed, asMr. X observes: “There is evidence that [crews]
are seeing far more than they are reporting for fear of
ridicule or the potential effect on company business.”

He recommends that military and civilian aircrews
should be advised that “no attempt should be made to out-
manoeuvrea UAP during interception” and civilianaircrews
“should beadvised notto manoeuvre, other than to place the
object astern, if possible.”

Wemadea follow-uprequestinMay 2006 for evidence
of'action taken as a direct result of these recommendations.
The MoD confirmed the findings had been sent to the
Directorate of Air Operations (DAO) who would have been
responsible for further dissemination to the Civil Aviation
Authorityand RAF. However, it said “‘no further correspon-
dence regarding the ‘subsidiary recommendations’ have
been found on the accessible files for the period in ques-
tion.”

UAP WORK IN OTHER COUNTRIES

Volume 3 of the report referstoresearchandstudies carried
out in a number of foreign nations into UAPs, atmospheric
plasmas, and their potential military applications. This short
chapterincludes sections on the former Soviet Union, China,
Spain, the United States, and Canada. Despite claims of an
international UFO coverup, the author notes “there is no
intelligence exchange or collaboration of any sort on the
topic of *"UFOs’”between the UK and foreign governments.

CONCLUSIONS

Tosumup, wehave foundthe Condignreportisreplete with
errors and reads like an intelligence report rather than a
scientific memorandum. Knee-jerk dismissals of the docu-
mentsasa “whitewash” and mishandling by the media have
only slightly hampered our attempts to reveal the actual
meaning and context of these documents. The research we
havepresentedso far on our website and elsewhere refute all
ignorant and idle guesses, and leave no doubt in our minds
that Condign—whatever its flaws—is an important docu-
ment in the history of ufology. This should be apparent to
anyone who spends sufficient time delving into these mat-
ters for themselves.

Ifthe report is a whitewash and the MoD really knows
“the truth” about UFOs, this poses an interesting question.
Ifevidenceofan ET presence onEarthhadbeenestablished,
why would the MoD need to commission a three-year
study—carried out in secret—to tell them what they already
knew?

As this article has demonstrated, the internal docu-
ments show the study was commissioned aftera long battle
against internal prejudice in the MoD over three decades,
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many years before Britain had a Freedom of Information
Actonits statute books. Unless all these internal documents
are fakes ordeliberate plants, claims by conspiracy theorists
that the report was produced specifically for public con-
sumption can be confidently dismissed as nonsense.

The contents of the report suggest the MoD actually
knows very little about UFOs and even that some civilian
ufologists know farmore. Its mainrecommendation (imple-
mented in December 2000) is that “it should no longer be a
requirement for D155 to monitor UAP reports as they do not
demonstrably provide information useful to Defence Intel-
ligence.”

This coalesces into its main raison d’étre, to remove the
sensitive Defence Intelligence section of the MoD from the
unwelcome publicity it had received as a result of its
involvement in the UFO business. This hidden agendamay
wellexplain the restricted distribution of thereportand why
the public “UFO desk,” Sec(AS), werekept out of the “need
to know™ loop.

Unlike Edward Condon, who had ateam, Condign was
the product of one man (Mr. X), working with inadequate
dataand a tight budget. He was not authorized to interview
witnesses or speak to scientists. Under these circum-
stances, it seems he did the best he could, and although his
report is unscientific there are some resourceful aspects to
the outcome. The study also works well as an example of
how not to scientifically study UFOs. The limited remit of
Mr. X's aim is underlined by the TORS (Terms of Refer-
ence)in Annex A of Volume |—"to determine the potential
value, if any, of UAP sighting reports to defence intelli-
gence.”

Despite its many and varied tlaws and false supposi-
tions, we have to accept that the Condign report is likely to
be the most detailed attempt by the Ministry of Defence to
assess this multifaceted phenomenon for many years to
come.

Again, this raises another question. It DI55 are no
longer interested in UAPs or UFOs, why do they still
maintain an open file on the subject,as we have established
using the FOI? The clue that could explain this continuing
interest is found in the Executive Summary: ““The conditions
for the initial formation and sustaining of . . . buoyant
charged masses . . . are not completely understood. . . .
nevertheless, the underlying physics may have some mili-
tary application in the future in the form of active visual,
radarand IR decoys andpassive electromagnetic spectrum
energy absorbers.” The recommendation is that “further
investigation should be [made] into the applicability of
various characteristics of plasmas in novel military applica-
tions.”

Many other unanswered questions remain. There are
background details to uncover, more documents to request,
andtheidentityoftheauthortopursue.Theseavenues could
all provide missing information to complete the jigsaw.

Despite claiming from the outset that he was working
from raw data and had made a conscious effort to avoid

influence from the media or the UFO industry, ultimately
Mr. X was unable to escape the pervasive influence of
ufology on popular culture. On our first reading of his
report, we were quite surprisedtofind his conclusions do
indeed show such influences drawn from his literature
search, particularly the works of Paul Devereux and
Jenny Randles.* These influences make Mr. X’s quote at
the beginning of Volume | (“prejudice will take you
further from the truth than ignorance”) sound rather
ironic!

Onthisnote we shall conclude with a finalmessageboth
directed toufologists and the author of Condign: “Prejudice
will take you further from the truth than ignorance.”

RESOURCES

The latestnews on UK FOIA releases along with extensive
commentary on the Condign report can be found at our
website, www.uk-ufo.org/condign/.

Allfour volumes of the reportcan be downloaded in pdf
format from the UK Ministry of Defence FOIA website at
www.mod.uk/Detencelnternet/FreedomOfInformation/
PublicationScheme/SearchPublicationScheme/
UnidentifiedAerialPhenomenauapInTheUkAirDefence
Region.htm.

David Clarke and Andy Roberts, Out of the Shadows:
UFOs, the Establishment, and the Official Cover-up (Lon-
don: Piatkus, 2002), is a detailed analysis of the MoD’s
interest in UFOs from World War Il to the present.

Recent papers and research on atmospheric plasmas
include:

EISCAT, www.eiscat.com/about.html.

Cluster spacecraft, clusterlaunch.esa.int/science-e/
www/area/index.ctim?fareaid=8.

New Microscopic Properties of MagneticReconnection
Derived by Cluster, May 19, 2006, clusterlaunch.esa.int/
science-e/www/object/index.cfm?fobjectid=39246.

Research Activities of the Dusty Plasma Group,
debye.colorado.edu/research.html.

NOTES AND REFERENCES

1. The team of researchers who uncovered the Con-
dignreportandassociated documentsincluded David Clarke,
Gary Anthony, Joe McGonagle, and Andy Roberts.

2. Magonia 92 (June 2006): 2, I 1.

3. Facsimilies of'the Flying Saucer Working Party and
Rendlesham files can be found at the two websites listed in
Resources.

4. Photocopied maps and graphics from two identifi-
able books appear in Volume 2 of the report. They are (a)
Paul Devereux, with David Clarke, Andy Roberts, and Paul
McCartney, Earthlights Revelation (London: Blandford,
1989), in Working Paper 18; and (b) Jenny Randles, UFOs
and How to See Them (London: Anaya, 1992), in Working
Paper 3.
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APPENDIX A: UAPs

The acronym UAP is used both in the title and throughout
the main body of the study commissioned by MoD. The
Defence Intelligence Staff has long regarded the acronym
UFO as discredited, because of the connotation that objects
or craft of extraterrestrial origin have been observed. This
idea is endemic both in the media and popular culture. It
becomes apparent that UFOs and ufologists have such a
negative press that it was impossible for any branch or
individual within the MoD to commission studies of the
material they hold. Attempts to do so were stymied because
of'the perception that any work on UFOs would be seen as
“a waste of public money™ particularly during the 1980s
when the defense budget was pruned to the bone. The
creation of an alternative, more definitive, term—UAP
(unidentified aerial phenomena)—todescribe the residue of
inexplicable incidents was the solution. By the early 1990s,
UAP was frequently used by the British defense intelligence
staff while their civilian colleagues in Sec(AS) continued to
use UFO.

However, UAP (pronounced “whap”) was not new,
because the phrase *“‘aerial phenomena’ has been in use by
the RAF since at least 1952. While UAP appears in DIS
documents as early as 1962, shortly afterwards ufologists
began to adopt an alternative version of the term. UAP, with
the meaning “unidentified atmospheric phenomenon,” was
coined by UFO investigator/writer Jenny Randles in her
discussions with J. Allen Hynek during the late 1 970s. Jenny
recalls that “‘we talked about his classitication scheme and
how I felt it needed to be updated. I argued that UAP was a
better term to use in order to interest scientists because it
presumed less and was more accurately descriptive than
UFO, which, both by its usc of the word objectand by years
of presumed application now inferred a material craft,
usually a spacecraft, in many people’s minds.”

APPENDIX B:
UK SECURITY CLASSIFICATIONS

The MoD has stated publicly on many occasions over the
past 40 years that the topic of UFOs was not classified. The
material released both at the National Archives and under
the FOIA suggests, however, that on occasions when UFO
reports impinged upon other areas that were covered by
security—tfor example, the capabilities of defense radars—
they could become subject to the Official Secrets Act
(OSA). For example, an Air Ministry document from 1960
states clearly: “The Press are never to be given information
about unusual radar sightings. . . . unauthorised disclosures
of this type will be viewed as offences under the Official
Secrets Act.”

In the UK there aretwolevels of security classification
for official documents: secret and top secret. The UAP
Study ot 2000 was classified at the lower level of **Secret/
UK Eyes Only.” However, in 1998 the MoD released a

group of UFO documents classified at the higherlevel oftop
secret atthe National Archives. These are the minutes of the
DSI/JJTIC committee, 1950—-1951, which established the
Flying Saucer Working Party at the height of the Cold War.
The FSWP report itself was classified “Secret/Discreet”
andboth sets of documents dismissed all reports received to
date (1951) as optical illusions, misperceptions of man-
made and natural phenomena, and hoaxes.

In the House of Lords, on January 25, 2001, the late
Lord Hill-Norton asked MoD “what is the highest classifi-
cationthathasbeenappliedtoanyMoD documentconcerning
UFOs.” Thereply was, “*A limited search through available
files has identitied a number of documents graded Secret.
The overall classification of the documents was not dictated
by details of specific sightings of “UFOs.”” Hill-Norton
followed up his question with another on May 3, asking
“why the UFO documents referred towereclassified secret;
whether these documents had any caveats attached to them;
and what was the reason for any such caveats.” The answer
was, “One document was classified ‘Secret’ with a ‘UK
Eyes Only’ caveat because it contained information about
the UK air defence ground environment that could be of
significant value to hostile or potentially hostile states.
Associated correspondence was given the same classifica-
tion. Generally, however, notifications of and corres-
pondence on the subject of ‘“UFO’ sightings are
unclassified.” 4

GrassRoors UFOs:
CASE REPORTS FROM
THE TIMMERMAN
FILES
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surface mail to all over-
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